
Bastrop, TX City Council Meeting Agenda 
Ba�trop City Hall City Council Chambers 

1311 Che�tnut �treet 
Ba�trop, TX 78602 
(512) 332-8800

December 10, 101q at b:30 P.M. 

BASTROPTX 
Heart of the loit Pinei / fit. 1�2 

City of Bastrop City Council meetings are available to all persons regardless of disability. If you 

require special assistance, please contact the City Secretary at (512) 332-8800 or write 1311 

Chestnut Street, 78602, or by calling through a T.D.D. (Telecommunication Device for the Deaf) to 

Relay Texas at 1-800-735-2989 at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting. 

As authorized by Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, this meeting may be 

convened into closed Executive Session for the purposes of seeking confidential legal advice 

from the City Attorney on any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. 

The City of Bastrop reserves the right to reconvene, recess, or realign the Regular Session or 

called Executive Session or order of business at any time prior to adjournment. 

PLEASE NOTE: ANYONE WISHING TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL MUST COMPLETE A CITIZEN 

COMMENT FORM AND GIVE THE COMPLETED FORM TO THE CITY SECRETARY PRIOR TO THE 

START OF THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING. 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - Gabriel Guerrero and Kylie Cannady, Art Club, Emile
Elementary

TEXAS PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Honor the Texas Flag; I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one and indivisible.

3. INVOCATION - Jimmie Cottle, Police Chaplain

4. PRESENTATIONS

4A. Mayor's Report

48. Councilmembers' Report

4C. City Manager's Report

Bamop City Council Agenda December 10, 201q Page 1 of 5 



5. WORK SESSION/BRIEFINGS

5A. Receive presentation on the proposed budget amendments for FY2020.

6. STAFF AND BOARD REPORTS

6A. Receive presentation on the unaudited Monthly Financial Report for the period ending
September 30, 2019.

6B. Receive presentation on the unaudited Monthly Financial Report for the period ending
October 31, 2019.

7. CITIZEN COMMENTS

At this time, three (3) minute comments will be taken from the audience on any topic. To
address the Council, please submit a fully completed request card to the City Secretary
prior to the beginning of the Council meeting. In accordance with the Texas Open
Meetings Act, if a citizen discusses any item not on the agenda, City Council cannot
discuss issues raised or make any decision at this time. Instead, City Council is limited to
making a statement of specific factual information or a recitation of existing policy in
response to the inquiry. Issues may be referred to City Staff for research and possible
future action.

To address the Council concerning any item on the agenda, please submit a fully
completed request card to the City Secretary prior to the start of the meeting.

It is not the intention of the City of Bastrop to provide a public forum for the embarrassment
or demeaning of any individual or group. Neither is it the intention of the Council to allow
a member of the public to slur the performance, honesty and/or integrity of the Council, as
a body, or any member or members of the Council individually or collectively, or members
of the City's staff. Accordingly, profane, insulting or threatening language directed toward
the Council and/or any person in the Council's presence will not be tolerated.

8. CONSENT AGENDA

The following may be acted upon in one motion. A Council member or a citizen may request
items be removed from the Consent Agenda for individual consideration.

8A. Consider action to approve City Council minutes from November 26, 2019, Regular
meeting.

88. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2018-122 of the City Council of the City of
Bastrop, Texas approving the 2019 Council Meeting Schedule, attached as Exhibit A; and
providing an effective date.

8C. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-63 of the City

Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning Farms End Estates Lot 3 from P-5, Core,

to P-4, Mix, located at 1706 Farm Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown

in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

8D. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-67 of the City
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of Main
Street from P-3 Neighborhood to P-5 Core, located 1302 SH 95, within the City Limits of

Ba1trop City Council Agenda December 10, 201q Page 2 of 5 



Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an 
effective date. 

SE. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-68, of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of 
Water Street, from P-5 Core to P-4 Mix, located 111 O Water Street within the City Limits 
of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing 
an effective date. 

8F. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-69 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.129 acres of Building Block 6, West of 
Water Street, from P-5 Core to P-4 Mix, located 703 Farm Street, within the City Limits of 
Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an 
effective date. 

BG Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-70 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.353 acres of Building Block 8, West of 
Water Street, from P-CS Civic Space to P-5 Core, located 1028 Main Street, within the 
City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and 
establishing an effective date. 

8H. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-72 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.214 acres of Building Block 1 West of 
Water Street from P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located at 701 Austin Street, within the 
city limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and 
establishing an effective date. 

81. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-73 of the City
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 1.866 acres of Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2
Fraction from P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located at 1903 Main Street, within the city
limits of Bastrop, Texas, as shown in Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and
establishing an effective date.

BJ. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-74 of the City
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main
Street, located at 1910 Main Street and 2.467 acres of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street, to
the west of 191 O Main Street from P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, within the city limits of
Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and establishing an 
effective date.

8K. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-75 of the City
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas amending the Bastrop Building Block Code (B3) as
adopted by Ordinance No 2019-51, Chapter 2, titled "Zoning Procedures", Article 2.4, titled
"Administration," Sections 2.4.002(b) and 2.4.003(b); allowing Zoning Board of
Adjustment members to be alternates for the Planning and Zoning Commission, attached
as Exhibit A; providing for findings of fact, enactment, repealer, severability, effective date,
and proper notice and meeting.

9. ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION

9A. Conduct public hearing and consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-134 of the
City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, granting Historic Landmark status for 0.470
acres of Building Block 54, East of Water Street, located at 1305 Pine Street, also known

8a1trop City Council Agenda December 10, 201q Page 3 of 5 



as the Beverly & Lula Kerr House, within the city limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas, as 
attached in Exhibit A; providing for findings of fact; providing for a repealing clause; and 
establishing an effective date. 

98. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-131 of the City Council of the City of
Bastrop, Texas adopting the Budget Planning Calendars for Fiscal Year 2021, as shown
in Exhibit A; repealing all resolutions in conflict; and establishing an effective date.

9C. Consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 2019-76 of the City Council 
of the City of Bastrop, Texas, amending the budget for the Fiscal Year 2020 in accordance 
with existing statutory requirements; appropriating the various amounts herein as attached 
in Exhibit A; repealing all prior ordinances and actions in conflict herewith; establishing an 
effective date, and move to include on the January 14, 2020 City Council Consent agenda 
for a second reading. 

9D. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-132 of the City Council of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas, expressing official intent to reimburse certain water and wastewater 
expenditures of the City of Bastrop, Texas; attached In Exhibit A; providing a severability 
clause; and providing an effective date. 

9E. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-120 of the City Council of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas approving an Amendment to Task Order No. BAS.006C to KSA Engineers 
for additional engineering services to receive sanitary sewer flows from the north side of 
Highway 71 in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-one Thousand Five Hundred Dollars 
and Zero Cents ($121,500.00) as attached in Exhibit A. authorizing the City Manager to 
execute all necessary documents; providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an 
effective date. 

9F. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-135 of the City Council of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas awarding a contract in the amount of one million seven hundred fifty-one 
thousand two hundred fifty-four dollars and zero cents ($1,751,254.00) to Muniz Concrete 
and Contracting, INC. for the construction of the Main Street Rehabilitation project as 
shown in Exhibit A; authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary documents; 
providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 

10. EXECUTIVE SESSION

1 0A. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.074 to 
conduct an annual performance evaluation of the City Manager as required by her 
employment agreement. 

1 OB. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.072 of 
the Texas Government Code to deliberate the acquisition of outstanding easements on 
Main Street. 

1 0C. City Council shall convene into closed executive session for a Legal Briefing by the City 
Attorney pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.071 regarding legal aspects 
of the City of Bastrop's Personnel Policies Manual. 

1 OD. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.072 of 
the Texas Government Code to deliberate the acquisition of property located on MLK 
Drive. 

Bamop City Council Agenda Oecembmo, 201q Page 4 of s 



1 OE. City Council shall convene into closed executive session for a Legal Briefing by the City 
Attorney pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.071 regarding the law applying 
to the formation, adoption and implementation of land use, construction, and development 
codes, including public notices, public hearings, and public communications. 

11. TAKE ANY NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE ACTION ON MATTERS POSTED FOR

CONSIDERATION IN CLOSED/EXECUTIVE SESSION

12. ADJOURNMENT

I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify that this Notice of Meeting as posted in accordance 
with the regulations of the Texas Open Meetings Act on the bulletin board located at the entrance 
to the City of Bastrop City Hall, a place of convenient and readily accessible to the general public, 
as well as to the City's website, www.cityofbastrop.org and said Notice was posted on the 
followin d time: Friday, December 6, 2019 at 7: 15 p.m. and remained posted for at least 

ing was convened. 

Bamop City Council Agenda December 10, 201q Page 5 of 5 



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: 4A 

TITLE:  
Mayor’s Report 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Power Point Presentation

Texas Local Government Code, Section 551.045 – Governing Body of Municipality or County: 
Reports about Items of Community Interest Regarding Which No Action Will Be Taken: 

(a) Notwithstanding Sections 551.041 and 551.042, a quorum of the governing body of a
municipality or county may receive from staff of the political subdivision and a member of the
governing body may make a report about items of community interest during a meeting of the
governing body without having given notice of the subject of the report as required by this
subchapter if no action is taken and, except as provided by Section 551.042, possible action
is not discussed regarding the information provided in the report.

(b) For purposes of Subsection (a), "items of community interest" includes:

(1) expressions of thanks, congratulations, or condolence;
(2) information regarding holiday schedules;
(3) an honorary or salutary recognition of a public official, public employee, or other

citizen, except that a discussion regarding a change in the status of a person's
public office or public employment is not an honorary or salutary recognition for
purposes of this subdivision;

(4) a reminder about an upcoming event organized or sponsored by the governing
body;

(5) information regarding a social, ceremonial, or community event organized or
sponsored by an entity other than the governing body that was attended or is
scheduled to be attended by a member of the governing body or an official or
employee of the political subdivision; and

(6) announcements involving an imminent threat to the public health and safety of
people in the political subdivision that has arisen after the posting of the agenda.



Mayor’s Report
December 10, 2019



Latest Activities
November 15 - December 3

Events in 2019: 304  

TML 
Region
10 Mtg

Mina Elementary Career Day

CRCA Interview

Wassail Fest Judges

Feed the Need
Gobble Kits

Men Who Cook

Tree Lighting



Planned Events
December 6 - 31

• December 6 – “Best Christmas Pageant Ever – The Musical” (Opera House)
• December 10

• Generation Citizen Project Judge
• Bastrop County Complete Count Committee meeting
• Council Meeting

• December 11 – CAPCOG Lunch
• December 12 – Chamber “Mingle Jingle”
• December 13

• TX21 Regional Meeting
• BCHS “Rendezvous”

• December 14 –
• Holiday Open House in Downtown Bastrop
• Annual Holiday Open House at the Library
• Lost Pines Christmas Snow Day
• Lighted Christmas Parade

• December 16 – BEDC Board Meeting
• December 19 – Kovar Land Services Ribbon Cutting
• December 20 – Reception for 1st Sgt. Filipowski



Upcoming Events & City Meetings

• January 6 – Library Board Meeting
• January 8 – Chamber Luncheon
• January 11 – Happy Healthy New Years Bash (ITT Kick-off)
• January 14 – City Council Meeting



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM:  4B 

TITLE:  
Councilmembers’ Report 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
 
   Texas Local Government Code, Section 551.045 – Governing Body of Municipality or County: 
Reports about Items of Community Interest Regarding Which No Action Will Be Taken: 

(a) Notwithstanding Sections 551.041 and 551.042, a quorum of the governing body of a
municipality or county may receive from staff of the political subdivision and a member of the
governing body may make a report about items of community interest during a meeting of the
governing body without having given notice of the subject of the report as required by this
subchapter if no action is taken and, except as provided by Section 551.042, possible action is
not discussed regarding the information provided in the report.

(b) For purposes of Subsection (a), "items of community interest" includes:

(1) expressions of thanks, congratulations, or condolence;
(2) information regarding holiday schedules;
(3) an honorary or salutary recognition of a public official, public employee, or other

citizen, except that a discussion regarding a change in the status of a person's public
office or public employment is not an honorary or salutary recognition for purposes
of this subdivision;

(4) a reminder about an upcoming event organized or sponsored by the governing body;
(5) information regarding a social, ceremonial, or community event organized or

sponsored by an entity other than the governing body that was attended or is
scheduled to be attended by a member of the governing body or an official or
employee of the political subdivision; and

(6) announcements involving an imminent threat to the public health and safety of people
in the political subdivision that has arisen after the posting of the agenda.



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: 4C 

TITLE:  
City Manager’s Report 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
 Texas Local Government Code, Section 551.045 – Governing Body of Municipality or County: 
Reports about Items of Community Interest Regarding Which No Action Will Be Taken: 

(a) Notwithstanding Sections 551.041 and 551.042, a quorum of the governing body of a
municipality or county may receive from staff of the political subdivision and a member of the
governing body may make a report about items of community interest during a meeting of the
governing body without having given notice of the subject of the report as required by this
subchapter if no action is taken and, except as provided by Section 551.042, possible action
is not discussed regarding the information provided in the report.

(b) For purposes of Subsection (a), "items of community interest" includes:

(1) expressions of thanks, congratulations, or condolence;
(2) information regarding holiday schedules;
(3) an honorary or salutary recognition of a public official, public employee, or other

citizen, except that a discussion regarding a change in the status of a person's
public office or public employment is not an honorary or salutary recognition for
purposes of this subdivision;

(4) a reminder about an upcoming event organized or sponsored by the governing
body;

(5) information regarding a social, ceremonial, or community event organized or
sponsored by an entity other than the governing body that was attended or is
scheduled to be attended by a member of the governing body or an official or
employee of the political subdivision; and

(6) announcements involving an imminent threat to the public health and safety of
people in the political subdivision that has arisen after the posting of the agenda.



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: 5A 

TITLE:  
Receive presentation on the proposed budget amendments for FY2020. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Tracy Waldron, Chief Financial Officer 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The FY2020 budget was approved by City Council on September 24, 2019. Since that approval, 
the City has closed the FY2019 fiscal year and needs to carry-over amounts relating to ongoing 
projects. The budget amendment explanations are detailed in the Exhibit A to the ordinance.  

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The Financial Management Policy states that the level of budgetary control is at the department 
level in all Funds. If transfers are required between departments, this must be approved by 
Council.  

The City Charter requires that when the budget is amended, that the amendment be made by 
Ordinance. 

FUNDING SOURCE: 
Various – See All Funds Summary 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Exhibit A to Ordinance
• All Funds Summary FY2020 – updated to reflect proposed amendments



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: 6A  

TITLE:  
Receive presentation on the unaudited Monthly Financial Report for the period ending September 
30, 2019. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Tracy Waldron, Chief Financial Officer 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The Chief Financial Officer provides the City Council a monthly financial report overview for all 
funds to include detailed analysis for General Fund, Water-Wastewater Fund, Bastrop Power & 
Light and the HOT Tax Fund. 

The General Fund ended the year with revenues exceeding expenditures by 3%. The revenue 
exceeded the budgeted amount by 1.6%. All departments in the General Fund ended the year at 
98% of budget expectations. This strong finish leaves the General Funds fund balance at 26%, 
exceeding the 25% required by the Financial Management Policy.   

Funds with negative variances: 
REVENUE 

• Water/Wastewater Fund – the revenue was higher than in the previous year but short of
the forecast. The forecast includes estimates of when business and homes will come
online.

• Impact Fund – the revenue was based on 100 new Service Unit Equivalent (SUE) on the
system this year. We are YTD at 77.

• Vehicle/Equipment Replacement Fund – this funds revenue was short because of gain on
sales was not realized. We did not auction as many vehicles as we had projected.

• Electric – the pass-through generation charge that comes from LCRA has been going
down over the past several years. Even though we have added more customers,
consumption billed is down.

• Cemetery – the revenue was based on 15 resident and 55 non-resident fees. We have
sold 34 resident and 22 non-resident YTD. Because the fee is not the same for both our
revenue is less than forecasted.

EXPENDITURES 

• Water/Wastewater Debt Fund- The was one payment for interest on a bond that was
issued right at the end of last year that made this fund negative.

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
This reporting requirement is set forth by the City of Bastrop Financial Management Policies, 
Chapter IV. Operating Budget, Section D. Reporting, as adopted by Resolution R-2019-90 on 
October 22, 2019. 

FUNDING SOURCE: 



N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Unaudited Monthly Financial Report for the period ending September 30, 2019



CITY OF BASTROP
Comprehensive Monthly Financial Report

September 2019

………



Performance at a Glance as of September 30, 2019
YEAR TO DATE REFERENCE

ALL FUNDS SUMMARY POSITIVE Page 4-5
GENERAL FUND REV VS EXP POSITIVE Page 6
SALES TAXES POSITIVE Page 7
PROPERTY TAXES POSITIVE Page 8
WATER/WASTEWATER FUND REV VS EXP POSITIVE Page 9
WATER/WASTEWATER REVENUES WARNING Page 10
ELECTRIC FUND REV VS EXP POSITIVE Page 11
ELECTRIC REVENUES WARNING Page 12
HOT TAX FUND REV VS EXP POSITIVE Page 13
HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX REVENUES POSITIVE Page 14
Legal fees N/A Page 15

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
POSITIVE  = Positive variance or negative variance < 1% compared to seasonal trends

WARNING  = Negative variance of 1-5% compared to seasonal trends

NEGATIVE  = Negative variance of >5% compared to seasonal trends



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT – September 2019
ECONOMIC INDICATORS September 30, 2019– NEWS FOR YOU

ECONOMY

Attached is the Comprehensive Monthly Financial 
report for September 2019. This is 12 months of FY 
2019, or 100% of the fiscal year is complete.

Revenues: Overall, the City has earned 
$38,001,353. This amount is 96% of the approved 
budget of  $39,425,537 and is .6% higher than the 
amount forecasted through the month of 
September.

Expense: Overall, the City has spent 15% less than 
forecasted.

National:
Real gross domestic product (GDP) increased at an annual rate of 1.9% in the 3rd

quarter of 2019. This is down from 2.0% from 2nd quarter 2019. The personal 
income increased by .3% in September 2019 after increasing in August 2019 by .5%. 
(All of these reported by the Bureau of Economic Analysis.)

U.S. Retail Sales:
Down .3% in September 2019

Texas Leading Index:
This index is a single summary statistic that sheds light on the future of the state’s 
economy. The index is a composition of eight leading indicators. The index is at 
128.05 in September 2019, down .26% from  August 2019 and down 1.03% from one 
year ago.

Noteworthy
N/A

UNEMPLOYMENT
State-wide:
The state unemployment is 3.3% in September 2019 which is  down from August 
2019.

Bastrop:
Bastrop County has an unemployment rate of 2.9% in September 2019  which is up 
from 3.5% in July 2019. 



FY2019 FY2019 FY2019

Budget Forecast YTD Variance

Revenues:

General 11,610,702$  11,610,702$       11,790,748$       1.6%

Designated 58,100            58,100          67,999       17.0%

Innovation 928,825          928,825         1,007,213   8.4%

Street Maintenance 1,106,000       1,106,000      1,124,827   1.7%

Debt Service 2,637,663       2,637,663      2,659,797   0.8%

Water/Wastewater 5,707,190       5,707,190      5,625,297   -1.4%

Water/Wastewater Debt 2,235,643       2,235,643      2,319,037   3.7%

Water/Wastewater Capital Proj 155,000          155,000         177,971      14.8%

Impact Fees 509,600          509,600         434,000      -14.8%

Vehicle & Equipment Replacement 611,563          611,563         602,256      -1.5%

Electric 7,721,040       7,721,040      7,541,492   -2.3%

HOT Tax Fund 3,614,246       3,614,246      3,692,645   2.2%

Library Board 20,550            20,550          30,426       48.1%

Park/Trail Land Dedicaiton (1) 102,791          500 22,991       4498.2%

Cemetery 113,700          113,700         88,903       -21.8%

Capital Bond Projects 75,000            68,750          112,097      63.1%

Grant Fund 1,644,576       115,250         121,606      5.5%

Hunter's Crossing PID 573,348          573,348         582,048      1.5%

TOTAL REVENUES 39,425,537$  37,787,670$       38,001,353$       0.6%

POSITIVE  = Positive variance or negative variance < 1% compared to forecast
WARNING  = Negative variance of 1-5% compared to forecast
NEGATIVE  = Negative variance of >5% compared to forecast

BUDGET SUMMARY OF ALL FUNDS

COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT – September 2019

(1) Budgeted 
revenue was 
received at end of
FY18



FY2019 FY2019 FY2019

Budget Forecast YTD Variance

Expense:

General 11,620,703$    11,620,703$     11,405,955$   -1.8%

Designated 535,150   535,150  78,353 -85.4%

Innovation 2,375,488  2,375,488  1,667,947   -29.8%

Street Maintenance 566,797   566,797  87,470 -84.6%

Debt Service 2,716,641  2,716,641  2,716,675   0.0%

Water/Wastewater 5,821,984  5,821,984  5,712,213   -1.9%

Water/Wastewater Debt 1,425,805  1,425,805  1,441,890   1.1%

Water/Wastewater Capital Proj. 2,857,105  2,857,105  1,402,789   -50.9%

Impact Fees 972,647   972,647  762,396   -21.6%

Vehicle & Equipment Replacement 423,764   423,764  323,971   -23.5%

Electric 8,344,778  8,344,778  7,725,876   -7.4%

HOT Tax Fund 3,972,045  3,972,045  3,449,636   -13.2%

Library Board 21,475  21,475 16,435 -23.5%

Park Dedication 107,977   - -  0.0%

Cemetery 210,680   210,680  194,770   -7.6%

Hunter's Crossing PID 142,720   142,720  97,240 -31.9%

Capital Projects (Bond) 5,551,132  3,551,132  1,861,539   -47.6%

Grant Fund 1,644,576  604,576  284,631   -52.9%

TOTAL EXPENSES 49,311,467$    46,163,490$     39,229,786$   -15.0%

Surplus/(Shortfall) (9,772,730)$                      (8,375,820)$             (1,228,433)$             -85.3%

POSITIVE  = Negative variance or positive variance < 1% compared to forecast
WARNING  = Positive variance of 1-5% compared to forecast
NEGATIVE  = Positive variance of >5% compared to forecast

BUDGET SUMMARY OF ALL FUNDS

COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT – September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



Legal fees by Attorney/Category
FIRM CASE FY16-17 FY17-18 FY18-19

BUNDREN
Pine Forest Interlocal 83,620$       26,612$       6,195$        
Vandiver 2,343$    -$  -$    
Aqua CCN 12,898$       -$  -$    
Red Light Camera Suit -$    -$  -$    

TERRELL LAW  FIRM Summary by Case/Type
Water permit 37,630$       135$      -$       

DAVID BRAGG, P.C. Row Labels Sum of FY16‐17 Sum of FY17‐18 Sum of FY18‐19
General legal 48,215$       -$  -$  Aqua CCN 12,898$       ‐$             ‐$            
Vandiver 9,640$    -$  -$  General legal 51,514$       245,168$           432,931$          
Water Permit 3,120$    -$  -$  Hunters Crossing PID 17,927$       83,524$             89,899$            
Pine Forest Interlocal 3,560$    -$  -$  Pine Forest Interlocal 87,180$       36,728$             6,195$              

BOJORQUEZ LAW FIRM Prosecutor ‐$       19,633$             23,358$            
General legal 3,299$    245,168$     432,931$     Red Light Camera Suit 443$      2,124$         717$           
Vandiver 4,546$    5,079$   1,857$        Vandiver 16,529$       5,079$         1,857$              
Pine Forest Interlocal -$    10,116$       -$     Water permit 40,750$       135$            ‐$            
Prosecutor -$    19,633$       23,358$       Water/Wastewater ‐$       19,335$             46,721$            
Water/Wastewater -$    18,425$       46,721$       XS Ranch Bankruptcy 7,415$         11,770$             ‐$            

MULTIPLE FIRMS XS Ranch Water Rights 7,607$         27,965$             6,204$              
XS Ranch Bankruptcy 7,415$    11,770$       -$    Grand Total 242,263$           451,460$          607,882$          

RUSSEL RODRIGUEZ HYDE
XS Ranch Water Rights 7,607$    27,965$       6,204$        
Hunters Crossing PID 17,927$       83,524$       89,899$       
Water/Wastewater -$           910$      -$       

TAYLOR, OLSON, ADKINS, SRALLA & ELAM, LLP
Red Light Camera Suit 443$       2,124$   717$       

Total Legal 242,263$     451,460$     607,882$     

COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –September 2019



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: 6B  

TITLE:  
Receive presentation on the unaudited Monthly Financial Report for the period ending October 
31, 2019. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Tracy Waldron, Chief Financial Officer 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The Chief Financial Officer provides the City Council a monthly financial report overview for all 
funds to include detailed analysis for General Fund, Water-Wastewater Fund, Bastrop Power & 
Light and the HOT Tax Fund. 

FY2020 is starting out strong with total revenue 2.4% over forecast. The total expenditures are 
1.5% less than forecast.  General Fund revenue is 7.7% actual over forecast. This is attributed to 
a large development fee collected during this reporting period.  

Funds with negative variances: 

REVENUE 

• Water/Wastewater Debt – the shortfall in actual to forecast is just the return projected
through investments is lower than anticipated.

• Cemetery – this fund is hard to forecast when revenue will be received.

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
This reporting requirement is set forth by the City of Bastrop Financial Management Policies, 
Chapter IV. Operating Budget, Section D. Reporting, as adopted by Resolution R-2019-90 on 
October 22, 2019. 

FUNDING SOURCE: 
N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Unaudited Monthly Financial Report for the period ending October 31, 2019



CITY OF BASTROP
Comprehensive Monthly Financial Report

October 2019

………



Performance at a Glance as of October 31, 2019
YEAR TO DATE REFERENCE

ALL FUNDS SUMMARY POSITIVE Page 4-5
GENERAL FUND REV VS EXP POSITIVE Page 6
SALES TAXES POSITIVE Page 7
PROPERTY TAXES POSITIVE Page 8
WATER/WASTEWATER FUND REV VS EXP POSITIVE Page 9
WATER/WASTEWATER REVENUES POSITIVE Page 10
ELECTRIC FUND REV VS EXP POSITIVE Page 11
ELECTRIC REVENUES POSITIVE Page 12
HOT TAX FUND REV VS EXP POSITIVE Page 13
HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX REVENUES POSITIVE Page 14
Legal fees N/A Page 15

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
POSITIVE  = Positive variance or negative variance < 1% compared to seasonal trends

WARNING  = Negative variance of 1-5% compared to seasonal trends

NEGATIVE  = Negative variance of >5% compared to seasonal trends



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019

ECONOMIC INDICATORS October 31, 2019– NEWS FOR YOU

ECONOMY

Attached is the Comprehensive Monthly Financial 
report for Oct 2019. This is 1 month of FY2020, or 
8.3% of the fiscal year is complete.

Revenues: Overall, the City has earned $5,268,269. 
This amount is 11.6% of the approved budget of  
$45,171,978 and is 2.4% higher than the amount 
forecasted through the month of Oct.

Expense: Overall, the City has spent 1.5% less than 
forecasted.

National:
Real gross domestic product (GDP) increased at an annual rate of 1.9% in the 3rd

quarter of 2019. This is down from 2.0% from 2nd quarter 2019. The personal 
income increased by .3% in September 2019 after increasing in August 2019 by .5%. 
(All of these reported by the Bureau of Economic Analysis.)

U.S. Retail Sales:
Down .3% in September 2019

Texas Leading Index:
This index is a single summary statistic that sheds light on the future of the state’s 
economy. The index is a composition of eight leading indicators. The index is at 
128.05 in September 2019, down .26% from  August 2019 and down 1.03% from one 
year ago.

Noteworthy
N/A

UNEMPLOYMENT
State-wide:
The state unemployment is 3.3% in September 2019 which is  down from August 
2019.

Bastrop:
Bastrop County has an unemployment rate of 2.9% in September 2019  which is up 
from 3.5% in July 2019. 



FY2020 FY2020 FY2020

Budget Forecast YTD Variance

Revenues:

General 12,229,361$   736,960$   793,594$   7.7%

Designated 59,710  11,951  14,476  21.1%

Innovation 77,000  1,225  1,346    9.9%

Street Maintenance 164,000  154,833  156,056  0.8%

Debt Service 2,787,826  536,091  578,587  7.9%

Water/Wastewater 6,211,564  497,087  501,916  1.0%

Water/Wastewater Debt 1,900,885  111,099  109,894  -1.1%

Water/Wastewater Capital Proj 3,070,000  2,090,167  2,091,986   0.1%

Impact Fees 420,850  16,834  16,838  0.0%

Vehicle & Equipment Replacement 461,692  107,224  107,890  0.6%

Electric 7,126,562  517,966  520,687  0.5%

HOT Tax Fund 3,696,556  320,568  332,664  3.8%

Library Board 20,550  496  530  6.9%

Cemetery 106,250  6,071  6,003    -1.1%

Capital Bond Projects 3,349,644  10,304  10,256  -0.5%

Grant Fund 2,863,125  -  -   0.0%

Park/Trail Land Dedicaiton 1,000  83  191  130.1%

Hunter's Crossing PID 625,403  25,016  25,355  1.4%

TOTAL REVENUES 45,171,978$   5,143,975$   5,268,269$   2.4%

POSITIVE  = Positive variance or negative variance < 1% compared to forecast
WARNING  = Negative variance of 1-5% compared to forecast
NEGATIVE  = Negative variance of >5% compared to forecast

BUDGET SUMMARY OF ALL FUNDS

COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



FY2020 FY2020 FY2020

Budget Forecast YTD Variance

Expense:

General 12,030,369$      743,120$  709,385$   -4.5%

Designated 471,950         1,098     403         -63.3%

Innovation 976,059         94,000   93,993    0.0%

Street Maintenance 1,183,945      - - 0.0%

Debt Service 2,752,618      806        806         0.0%

Water/Wastewater 6,174,738      451,735 434,708  -3.8%

Water/Wastewater Debt 3,870,887      2,000,000 2,000,000 0.0%

Water/Wastewater Capital Proj. 4,150,400      - - 0.0%

Impact Fees 732,691         - - 0.0%

Vehicle & Equipment Replacement 356,500         94,950   94,940    0.0%

Electric 7,702,248      683,958 655,090  -4.2%

HOT Tax Fund 4,204,066      1,160,003 1,120,211 -3.4%

Library Board 23,453           1,790     45           -97.5%

Park Dedication 100,000         - - 0.0%

Cemetery 118,429         7,732     7,007      -9.4%

Hunter's Crossing PID 1,036,148      451,286 451,114  0.0%

Capital Projects (Bond) 7,687,289      2,746,320 2,746,319 0.0%

Grant Fund 2,863,125      - - 0.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 56,434,915$      8,436,798$  8,314,021$  -1.5%

Surplus/(Shortfall) (11,262,938)$         (601,398)$     (337,354)$        -43.9%

POSITIVE  = Negative variance or positive variance < 1% compared to forecast
WARNING  = Positive variance of 1-5% compared to forecast
NEGATIVE  = Positive variance of >5% compared to forecast

BUDGET SUMMARY OF ALL FUNDS

COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



Legal fees by Attorney/Category
FIRM CASE FY17-18 FY18-19 FY19-20

BUNDREN
Pine Forest Interlocal 26,612$       6,195$        -$   

TERRELL LAW  FIRM
Water permit 135$           -$  -$  

BOJORQUEZ LAW FIRM Summary by Case/Type
General legal 245,168$     432,931$     38,715$       
Vandiver 5,079$        1,857$        -$   Row Labels Sum of FY17‐18 Sum of FY18‐19 Sum of FY19‐20
Pine Forest Interlocal 10,116$       -$  -$  General legal 245,168$      432,931$      38,715$        
Prosecutor 19,633$       23,358$       1,737$        Hunters Crossing PID 83,524$        89,899$        ‐$      
Water/Wastewater 18,425$       46,721$       1,328$        Pine Forest Interlocal 36,728$        6,195$      ‐$      

MULTIPLE FIRMS Prosecutor 19,633$        23,358$        1,737$      
XS Ranch Bankruptcy 11,770$       -$ -$ Red Light Camera Suit 2,124$    717$       ‐$      

RUSSEL RODRIGUEZ HYDE Vandiver 5,079$      1,857$      ‐$      
XS Ranch Water Rights 27,965$       6,204$        -$  Water permit 135$       ‐$       ‐$      
Hunters Crossing PID 83,524$       89,899$       -$  Water/Wastewater 19,335$        46,721$        1,328$      
Water/Wastewater 910$           -$ -$ XS Ranch Bankruptcy 11,770$        ‐$       ‐$      

TAYLOR, OLSON, ADKINS, SRALLA & ELAM, LLP XS Ranch Water Rights 27,965$        6,204$      ‐$      
Red Light Camera Suit 2,124$        717$           -$  Grand Total 451,460$     607,881$     41,779$       

Total Legal 451,460$     607,881$     41,779$       

COMPREHENSIVE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT –October 2019



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM: 7 

TITLE:   

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

At this time, three (3) minute comments will be taken from the audience on any topic.  To address 
the Council, please submit a fully completed request card to the City Secretary prior to the 
beginning of the Citizens’ Comment portion of the Council meeting.  In accordance with the Texas 
Open Meetings Act, if a citizen discusses any item not on the agenda, City Council cannot discuss 
issues raised or make any decision at this time.  Instead, City Council is limited to making a 
statement of specific factual information or a recitation of existing policy in response to the inquiry. 
Issues may be referred to City Staff for research and possible future action. 

To address the Council concerning any item on the agenda, please submit a fully completed 
request card to the City Secretary prior to the start of the meeting. 

It is not the intention of the City of Bastrop to provide a public forum for the embarrassment or 
demeaning of any individual or group.  Neither is it the intention of the Council to allow a member 
of the public to slur the performance, honesty and/or integrity of the Council, as a body, or any 
member or members of the Council individually or collectively, or members of the City’s staff. 
Accordingly, profane, insulting or threatening language directed toward the Council and/or any 
person in the Council’s presence will not be tolerated. 



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM:  8A 

TITLE:  
Consider action to approve City Council minutes from November 26, 2019, Regular Meeting. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
N/A 

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Section 551.021 of the Government Code provides as follows: 

(a) A governmental body shall prepare and keep minutes or make a tape recording of
each open meeting of the body.

(b) The minutes must:
1. State the subject of each deliberation; and
2. Indicate the vote, order, decision, or other action taken.

FUNDING SOURCE: 
N/A 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve City Council minutes from November 26, 2019, Regular Meeting. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• November 26, 2019, DRAFT Regular Meeting Minutes.



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 11 

November 26, 2019 

The Bastrop City Council met in a Regular Meeting on Tuesday, November 26, 2019, at 5:30 
p.m. at the Bastrop City Hall Council Chambers, located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop,
Texas.  Members present were Mayor Schroeder, Mayor Pro Tem Nelson and Council Members
Jackson, Ennis, Rogers and Peterson.  Officers present were City Manager Lynda Humble, City
Secretary Ann Franklin and Assistant City Attorney, Erin Higginbotham.

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The City Council met at 5:31 p.m. in a closed/executive session pursuant to the Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 551, et seq, to discuss the following: 

10A. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.072 
of the Texas Government Code to deliberate the acquisition of outstanding 
easements on Main Street. 

10C. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.072 
of the Texas Government Code to deliberate the acquisition of property located on 
MLK Drive. 

The Bastrop City Council reconvened at 6:32 p.m. into open (public) session. 

TAKE ANY NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE ACTION ON MATTERS POSTED FOR 
CONSIDERATION IN CLOSED/EXECUTIVE SESSION  
No action taken. 

CALL TO ORDER 
At 6:32 p.m. Mayor Schroeder called the meeting to order with a quorum being present. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

INVOCATION

Pastor Travis Fitzgold, Good Shepherd Lutheran Church gave the invocation. 

PRESENTATIONS 

4A. Mayor’s Report 

4B. Councilmembers’ Report 

4C. City Manager’s Report 

WORK SESSION/BRIEFINGS 

5A. Discuss City of Bastrop’s proposed submittal to the CAMPO Transportation Plan. 
Presentation was made by City Engineer, Tony Buonodono. 

ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 11 

9C Conduct public hearing and consider action to deny the first reading of Ordinance No. 
2019-73 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 1.866 acres of 
Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction from P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located at 
1903 Main Street, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas, as shown in Exhibit A; 
including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Planning and Zoning Assistant Director, Jennifer Bills. 

Public hearing was opened. 

SPEAKERS 

Alice Traugott 
1902 Main St. 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 636-2447

Ardas Khalsa 
102 Bush Cove  
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 415-1444

Siri Khalsa 
102 Bush Cove  
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 415-1444

Brittney Benton 
1905 Main Street 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 786-2531

Ellen Tanner 
1911 Main St. 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 985-7209

Joshua Gordon 
1911 Main St. 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 636-8259

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-73, seconded by Council Member Rogers, motion was 

approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9N. Conduct public hearing and consider action to deny the first reading of Ordinance No. 
2019-74 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.760 acres of 
Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street, located at 1910 Main Street and 2.467 acres of 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 11 

Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street, to located to the west of 1910 Main Street from P-3 
Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit 
A; including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Planning and Zoning Assistant Director, Jennifer Bills. 

Public hearing was opened. 

SPEAKERS 

Alice Traugott 
1902 Main St. 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 636-2447

Brittney Benton 
1905 Main Street 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 786-2531

Ardas Khalsa 
102 Bush Cove  
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 415-1444

Siri Khalsa 
102 Bush Cove  
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 415-1444

Joshua Gordon 
1911 Main St. 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(512) 636-8259

David Barrow 
1910 Main St. 
Bastrop, Tx 78602 
(512) 501-5505

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Nelson to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-74, seconded by Council Member Jackson, motion was 

approved on a 5-0 vote.  

9B. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-119 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas approving an Amendment to Task Order No. BAS.006A with KSA 
Engineering for supplemental engineering services associated with the acquisition of 
350 feet of Wastewater Treatment Plant Land in the amount of Twenty-four Thousand 
Five Hundred Dollars and Zero cents ($24,500.00) as attached in Exhibit A, 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 4 of 11 

authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary documents; providing for a 
repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Assistant City Manager of Development Services, Trey 
Job. 

A motion was made by Council Member Rogers to approve Resolution No. R 2019-

119, seconded by Council Member Peterson, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote.  

9W. Public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 
2019-63 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning Farms End Estates 
Lot 3 from P-5, Core, to P-4, Mix, located at 1706 Farm Street, within the City Limits 
of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and 
establishing an effective date, and move to include on the December 10, 2019 
Consent Agenda for second reading. 
Presentation was made by Planner and GIS Coordinator, Allison Land. 

Public hearing was opened. 

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Council Member Jackson to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-63, seconded by Council Member Ennis, motion was approved 

on a 5-0 vote. 

Mayor Schroeder recessed the Council Meeting at 7:49 p.m. 

Mayor Schroeder called the meeting back to order at 7:54 p.m. 

ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION CONTINUED

9T. Conduct public hearing and consider action to deny the first reading of No. Ordinance 
2019-71 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.2067 acres of 
Farm Lot 3 West of Main Street from P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located at 606 
Cedar Street, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including 
a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Planning and Zoning Assistant Director, Jennifer Bills. 

Public hearing was opened. 

SPEAKERS 

Kerry Fossler 
1903 Main St. 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
(713)882-7218 

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-71, seconded by Council Member Jackson, motion failed on a 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 5 of 11 

2-3 vote. Those voting aye were: Council Members Ennis and Jackson.  Those
voting nay were: Mayor Pro Tem Nelson and Council Members Rogers and
Peterson.

9A. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019
-118 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas supporting the Bastrop County
2020 Census Complete Count Committee; and establishing an effective date.
Presentation was made by Director, Bastrop Public Library, Becca Sexton. 

A motion was made by Council Member Rogers to approve Resolution No. R-2019-

118, seconded by Council Member Ennis, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote.  

9F. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-113 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas awarding a contract for the City of Bastrop Streets, Pavement and 
Preventative Maintenance Project to Angel Brothers Enterprises, Ltd. in the amount 
of One Million One Hundred Eighty-nine Thousand  One Hundred Thirty-nine Dollars 
and Eighty Cents ($1,189,139.80) as attached in Exhibit A; authorizing the City 
Manager to execute all necessary documents; providing for a repealing clause; and 
establishing an effective date.   
Presentation was made by Assistant City Manager of Development Services, Trey 
Job. 

A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve Resolution No. R 2019-

113, seconded by Council Member Peterson, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9I. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-115 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas awarding a task order to Halff Associates, Inc. for engineering 
design services related to the Gills Branch Drainage Flood Mitigation Project. in the 
amount of Five hundred fifteen thousand Ninety dollars and zero cents ($515,090.00) 
as attached in Exhibit A; Authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary 
documents; providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Paul Morales, Halff Associates. 

A motion was made by Council Member Rogers to approve Resolution No. R 2019-

115, seconded by Council Member Ennis, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9D. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-100 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas, adopting a wholesale wastewater agreement with West Bastrop 
Village Municipal Utility District of Bastrop County and West Bastrop Village, Ltd.; 
attached as Exhibit A; authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary 
documents; providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble. 

A motion was made by Council Member Rogers to approve Resolution No. R 2019-

100, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Nelson, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9E. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-99 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas, adopting a wholesale water agreement with West Bastrop Village 
Municipal Utility District of Bastrop County and West Bastrop Village Ltd.; attached in 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 6 of 11 

Exhibit A; authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary documents; 
providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Council Member Peterson to approve Resolution No. R-

2019-99, seconded by Council Member Ennis, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9G. Consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 2019-75 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas amending the Bastrop City Code of Ordinances, 
Chapter 2, titled “Zoning Procedures”, Article 2.4, titled “Administration,” Sections 
2.4.002(b) and  2.4.003(b); allowing  Zoning Board of Adjustment members to be 
alternates to the Planning and Zoning Commission, attached as Exhibit A; providing 
for findings of fact; enactment; dissolution; repealer; severability; and providing an 
effective date, proper notice and meeting and move to include on the December 10, 
2019 Consent agenda for a second reading. 
Presentation was made by Chief Financial Officer, Tracy Waldron. 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Nelson to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-75, seconded by Council Member Rogers, motion was 

approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9H. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-122 of the City Council of the 
City of Bastrop, Texas authorizing a License to Encroach with TDS Solutions, LLC 
to erect a sign for Stem & Stone Restaurant in a public utility easement, as attached 
as Exhibit A; authorizing the City Manager to execute necessary documents; 
providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 

Presentation was made by Assistant City Manager of Development Services, Trey 
Job. 

A motion was made by Council Member Rogers to approve Resolution No. R 2019-

122, seconded by Council Member Ennis, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9J. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-128 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas supporting the extension of Jessica Place to Blakey Lane for 
inclusion in Capital Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO) Regional 
Transportation Plan 2045 Call for Projects; authorizing the City Manager to execute 
all necessary documentation; and establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve Resolution No. R 2019-

128, seconded by Council Member Rogers, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9K. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-125 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas supporting the submission of State Highway 95 in the city limits of 
Bastrop for inclusion in Capital Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO) 
Regional Transportation Plan 2045 Call for Projects as a co-sponsor with Texas 
Department of Transportation (TxDOT); authorizing the City Manager to execute all 
necessary documentation; and establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve Resolution No. R-2019-

125, seconded by Council Member Peterson, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote.  

9L. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-126 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas supporting the submission of Farm-to-Market Road 969 in the city 
limits of Bastrop for inclusion in Capital Area Metropolitan Planning Organization 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 7 of 11 

(CAMPO) Regional Transportation Plan 2045 Call for Projects as a co-sponsor with 
Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT); authorizing the City Manager to 
execute all necessary documentation; and establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve Resolution No. R-2019-

126, seconded by Council Member Rogers, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9M. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-130 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas supporting Bastrop County’s submission of a new bridge across 
the Colorado River connecting SH 304/Shiloh Rd. to S.H.71 through Tahitian Village 
connecting with Margie’s Way with an additional segment within the City of Bastrop 
at Lover’s Lane connecting to SH 71 for inclusion in Capital Area Metropolitan 
Planning Organization (CAMPO) Regional Transportation Plan 2045 Call for Projects; 
authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary documentation; and 
establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Council Member Jackson to approve Resolution No. R-

2019-130, seconded by Council Member Rogers, motion was approved on a 5-0 
vote. 

9O. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-129 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas supporting the rehabilitation of the Old Iron Bridge for inclusion in 
Capital Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO) Regional Transportation 
Plan 2045 Call for Projects; authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary 
documentation; and establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve Resolution No. R-2019-

129, seconded by Council Member Rogers, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9P. Public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 
2019-67 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.683 acres of 
Farm Lot 37 East of Main Street from P-3 Neighborhood to P-5 Core, located 1302 
SH 95, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a 
severability clause; and establishing an effective date, and move to include on the 
December 10, 2019 Consent Agenda for second reading.    
Presentation was made by Planner, Allison Long. 

Public hearing was opened. 

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Council Member Peterson to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-67, seconded by Council Member Ennis, motion was approved 

on a 5-0 vote. 

9Q. Public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 
2019-68, of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.193 acres of 
Building Block 6 West of Water Street, from P-5 Core to P-4 Mix, located 1110 Water 
Street within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as showing in Exhibits A, including a 
severability clause; and establishing an effective date, and move to include on the 
December 10, 2019 Consent Agenda for second reading.   
Presentation was made by Planner, Allison Long. 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 8 of 11 

Public hearing was opened. 

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Council Member Rogers to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-68, seconded by Council Member Peterson, motion was 

approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9R. Public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 
2019-69 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.129 acres of 
Building Block 6, West of Water Street, from P-5 Core to P-4 Mix, located 703 Farm 
Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a 
severability clause; and establishing an effective date, and move to include on the 
December 10, 2019 Consent Agenda for second reading. 
Presentation was made by Planner, Allison Long. 

Public hearing was opened. 

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-69, seconded by Council Member Peterson, motion was 

approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9S. Conduct public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance 
No. 2019-70 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.353 acres 
of Building Block 8, West of Water Street, from P-CS Civic Space to P-5 Core, 
Located 1028 Main Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as showing in 
Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date, and 
move to include on the December 10, 2019 Consent Agenda for second reading.    
Presentation was made by Planner, Allison Long. 

Public hearing was opened. 

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Council Member Peterson to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-70, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Nelson, motion was approved 

on a 4-0-1 vote. Council Member Ennis recused himself. 

9U. Conduct public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance 
No. 2019-72 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.214 acres 
of Building Block 1 West of Water Street from P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located 
at 701 Austin Street, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A; 
including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date; and move to 
include on the December 10, 2019 Consent Agenda for second reading. 
Presentation was made by Planning and Zoning Assistant Director, Jennifer Bills. 

Public hearing was opened. 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 9 of 11 

Public hearing was closed. 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Nelson to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2019-72, seconded by Council Member Ennis, motion was approved 

on a 5-0 vote. 

9V. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-127 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas supporting the completion of Agnes Street for inclusion in Capital 
Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO) Regional Transportation Plan 
2045 Call for Projects; authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary 
documentation; and establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve Resolution No. R-2019-

127, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Nelson, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

9X. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-124 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas ratifying the Mayor’s Board Appointments; providing for a repealing 
clause; and establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve Resolution No. R-2019-

124, seconded by Council Member Jackson, motion was approved on a 5-0 vote. 

CITIZEN COMMENTS - NONE 

CONSENT AGENDA 

A motion was made by Council Member Peterson to approve Items 8A, 8B, 8C, 8D, 8E 
and 8F listed on the Consent Agenda after being read into the record by Ann Franklin, 
City Secretary.  Seconded by Council Member Rogers, motion was approved on a 5-0 
vote.  

8A.  Consider action to approve City Council minutes from November 12, 2019, Regular 
Meeting and November 13, 2019 Special Meeting. 

8B. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No 2019-59 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, Rezoning 65.926 acres out of the Nancy Blakey 
Survey, Abstract 98, from GR, General Retail to Bastrop Grove Planned 
Development District with a base residential use, located south of Agnes Street and 
east of State Highway 304, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in 
Exhibits A, B, & C; including a severability clause; and establishing and effective date. 

8C. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-44 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas amending the Bastrop City Code of Ordinances, 
Chapter 1, titled “General Provisions”, Article 1.02, titled “Administration,” Section 
1.02.002, Article 1.04, titled “Boards, Committees and Commissions,” Sections 
1.04.001,1.04.002, and adding 1.04.003; Article 1.05, titled “Housing Authority,” 
Section 1.05.002, Article 1.10, titled “Parks,” Section 1.10.001, Article 1.12, titled 
“Libraries,” Division 2, titled “Library Board,” Section 1.12.062, Article 1.15, titled 
“Code of Ethics,” Division 3, titled “Implementation,” Section 1.15.013, Article 1.16, 
titled “Art in Public Places,” Section 1.16.002 and 1.16.003, Article 1.17, titled "Main 
Street Advisory Board", Section 1.17.001; Chapter 3, titled “Building Regulations,” 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 10 of 11 

Article 3.02, titled “Construction Standards Board of Adjustments and Appeals,” 
Sections 3.02.001, 3.02.002, and 3.02.003; Chapter 15, titled “Cemeteries,” Article 
15.01, titled, “Fairview Cemetery,” Section. 15.01.002; unifying appointments, terms, 
number of members, residency requirements, and the filling of vacancies for city 
boards and commissions attached as Exhibit A; providing for findings of fact; 
enactment; dissolution; repealer; severability; and providing an effective date, proper 
notice and meeting. 

8D. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-61 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas adopting the International Building Code (2018), 
amending Chapter 3, “Building Regulations”, Section 3.04.001, Building Code 
Adopted; adopting the National Electric Code (2017), amending Section 3.05.031, 
Electrical Code Adopted; adopting International Plumbing Code (2018), amending 
Section 3.06.031, Plumbing Code Adopted; adopting International Mechanical Code 
(2018), amending Section 3.07.001, Mechanical Code Adopted; adopting 
International Fuel Gas Code (2018), amending Section 3.08.001, Fuel Gas Code; 
adopting International Residential Code (2018), amending Section 3.09.001, 
Residential Code; adopting International Energy Conservation Code (2018), 
amending Section 3.10.001, Energy Conservation Code; adopting International 
Green Construction Code (2018), amending Section 3.14.001, International Green 
Construction Code; adopting the International Swimming Pool and Spa Code (2018), 
amending Section 3.15.001, Swimming Pool Code Adopted; repealing Section 
3.15.002, Screening and fencing, adopting International Existing Building Code 
(2018), amending Section 3.13.001, Existing Building Code Adopted; and adopting 
the International Fire Code (2018), amending Chapter 5, “Fire Prevention and 
Protection”, Section 5.02.001, Fire Code Adopted, repealing Article 5.03, Life Safety 
Code, repealing Article 5.04-5.06 Reserved, repealing Article 5.07 Fire Lanes, 
repealing Article 5.08 Reserved, as attached in Exhibit A; and providing for findings 
of fact, adoption and amendment, repealer, severability, and enforcement; 
establishing an effective date; and proper notice and meeting. 

8E. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-56 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas repealing and replacing Chapter Six, Health and 
Sanitation, as attached in Exhibit A; and repealing and replacing Chapter Eight 
Offenses and Nuisances, as attached in Exhibit B; and providing for findings of fact, 
adoption, repealer, severability, and enforcement; establishing an effective date; and 
proper notice and meeting. 

8F. Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-60 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas amending the Bastrop City Code of Ordinances, 
Chapter 13, “Utilities,” adding Article 13.12 “Impact Fees,” and providing for findings 
of fact, enactment, enforcement, a repealer, and severability; establishing an effective 
date; and proper notice and meeting. 

STAFF AND BOARD REPORTS 

6A. Receive Monthly Development Update. 
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble. 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES NOVEMBER 26, 2019 

Page 11 of 11 

WORK SESSION/BRIEFINGS CONTINUED 

5C. Receive presentation of the FY 2019 Workplan and Accomplishments. 
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble. 

5B. Discuss Live Streaming Challenges in City Council Chambers. 
Presentation was made by Chief Storyteller, Colin Guerra. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION  

The City Council met at 9:54 p.m. in a closed/executive session pursuant to the Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 551, et seq, to discuss the following: 

10B. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.074 
to conduct an annual performance evaluation of the City Manager as required by her 
employment agreement. 

The Bastrop City Council reconvened at 11:04 p.m. into open (public) session. 

TAKE ANY NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE ACTION ON MATTERS POSTED FOR 
CONSIDERATION IN CLOSED/EXECUTIVE SESSION  
No action taken. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Adjourned at 11:04 p.m. without objection.

APPROVED:  ATTEST: 
_____________________________ ______________________________ 

 Mayor Connie B. Schroeder  City Secretary Ann Franklin 

The Minutes were approved on December 10, 2019, by Council Member  motion, Council 
Member  second.  The motion was approved on a vote.  



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM:  8B 

TITLE:  
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-133 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas approving the 2020 Council Meeting Schedule, attached as Exhibit A; and providing an 
effective date. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
Council dates are set at the beginning of each calendar year and brought before Council for 
approval. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-133 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas approving the 2020 Council Meeting Schedule, attached as Exhibit A; and providing an 
effective date. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution
• Exhibit A - 2020 Council Meeting Schedule



RESOLUTION NO. R-2019-133 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 
APPROVING THE 2020 COUNCIL MEETING SCHEDULE, ATTACHED AS 
EXHIBIT A; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, The City of Bastrop, Texas City Council meetings are held on the second and 
fourth Tuesdays of each month in the Council Chambers of City Hall, 1311 Chestnut Street, 
Bastrop, Texas in accordance with City of Bastrop Code of Ordinances, Section 1.03.061; and 

WHEREAS, Section 3.12 of the City of Bastrop’s Home-Rule Charter states the Council 
shall meet regularly and at least once each month; and 

WHEREAS, the regular meetings will begin at 6:30 PM. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS: 

Section 1: The City Secretary is hereby directed to post the list of dates of the City of 
Bastrop Council Meetings to be held during the year 2020, as attached in Exhibit A.  

Section 2:  That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage, and it 
is so resolved. 

DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 10th Day 
of December 2019. 

APPROVED: 

________________________________ 
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_____________________________ 
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



EXHIBIT A 

COUNCIL REGULAR MEETINGS - 2020 

MEETING MEETING 

DATE 

TIME LOCATION AGENDA ITEM 

DEADLINE 

5:00PM 

Regular Council Meeting January 14 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

January 2 

Regular Council Meeting January 28 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

January 16 

Regular Council Meeting February 11 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

January 30 

Regular Council Meeting February 25 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

February 13 

Regular Council Meeting March 10 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

February 27 

Regular Council Meeting March 24 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

March 12 

Regular Council Meeting April 14 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

April 12* 

Regular Council Meeting April 28 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

April 16 

Regular Council Meeting May 12 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

April 30 

Regular Council Meeting May 26 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

May 14 

Regular Council Meeting June 9 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

May 28 

Regular Council Meeting June 23 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

June 11 

Regular Council Meeting July 14 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

July 1** 

Regular Council Meeting July 28 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

July 16 

Regular Council Meeting August 11 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

July 30 

Regular Council Meeting August 25 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

August 13 

Regular Council Meeting September 8 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

August 27 

Regular Council Meeting September 22 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

September 10 

Regular Council Meeting October 13 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

October 1 

Regular Council Meeting October 27 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

October 15 

Regular Council Meeting November 10 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

October 29 

Regular Council Meeting November 24*** 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

1311 Chestnut 

November 12 

Regular Council Meeting December 8 6:30 PM Council Chambers 
1311 Chestnut 

November 25 
BY NOON 

MEETING CANCELED 

DUE TO WEEK OF 
CHRISTMAS  

December 22 

* Posting on April 9th due to April 10th being Good Friday Holiday

**July 3rd Holiday

***November 23rd - November 27th Thanksgiving Week



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM:  8C 

TITLE:

Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-63 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning Farms End Estates Lot 3 from P-5, Core, to P-4, Mix, located 
at 1706 Farm Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a 
severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Allison Land, Planner and GIS Coordinator 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 1706 Farm Street (Exhibit A)
Total Acreage: 0.4 acres
Legal Description: Farms End Estates Lot 3 
Property Owners: Ronald H Jr and Carole Reynolds 

Existing Use: Vacant 
Existing Zoning: P-5 Core (Formerly Form-Based Code – Commercial Mixed Use)

(Attachment 3)
Requested Zoning: P-4 Mix
Future Land Use: Rural Residential (Attachment 4) 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY:
The property owners are building a duplex on Lot 3. Duplexes were allowed in the Form-Based 
Code – Commercial Mixed Use zoning district but are not an allowed building type in P-5 Core. 
P-4 Mix does allow for the duplex building type. The requested change in zoning would allow the
duplex under construction to remain a conforming structure under the new Bastrop Building Block
Code.

PUBLIC COMMENTS:
Property owner notifications were sent to 6 adjacent property owners on November 5, 2019 
(Attachment 2). At the time of this report, no responses have been received. 

POLICY EXPLANATION:
Texas Local Government Code 

Sec. 211.006. PROCEDURES GOVERNING ADOPTION OF ZONING REGULATIONS AND 
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. (a) The governing body of a municipality wishing to exercise the 
authority relating to zoning regulations and zoning district boundaries shall establish procedures 
for adopting and enforcing the regulations and boundaries. A regulation or boundary is not 
effective until after a public hearing on the matter at which parties in interest and citizens have an 
opportunity to be heard. Before the 15th day before the date of the hearing, notice of the time and 
place of the hearing must be published in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general 
circulation in the municipality. 



Notice was published in the Bastrop Advertiser and notice was sent to property owners within 200 
feet of the property boundary. 

(b) In addition to the notice required by Subsection (a), a general-law municipality that does not
have a zoning commission shall give notice of a proposed change in a zoning classification to
each property owner who would be entitled to notice under Section 211.007(c) if the municipality
had a zoning commission.  That notice must be given in the same manner as required for notice
to property owners under Section 211.007(c).  The governing body may not adopt the proposed
change until after the 30th day after the date the notice required by this subsection is given.

N/A. Bastrop is not a general-law municipality. 

(c) If the governing body of a home-rule municipality conducts a hearing under Subsection (a),
the governing body may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time
and place of the public hearing.  Notice requirements prescribed under this subsection are in
addition to the publication of notice required by Subsection (a).

Notice of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours in advance. 

(d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this
subsection, the proposed change must receive, in order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at
least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed
by the owners of at least 20 percent of either:

(1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or

(2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed
change and extending 200 feet from that area.

(e) In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection (d), the area of streets and alleys
shall be included.

At the time of this report, no protest has been received. 

(f) The governing body by ordinance may provide that the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of all its members is required to overrule a recommendation of the municipality's zoning
commission that a proposed change to a regulation or boundary be denied.

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

Compliance with 2036 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Future Land Use Plan – Rural Residential: The Rural Residential character area is for lands

that are, and will continue to be, sparsely populated and largely undeveloped. Primarily found
on the City’s periphery, this area is characterized by large lot single-family residences, as well
as agriculture, ranching, silviculture, and natural landscape. Unlike the Parks and Open Space
character area, Rural Residential areas which retain a pastoral setting have not always been
set aside for conservation or public use, but may eventually be subject to subdivision, and/or
conversion to agricultural or other similar uses.

The request for P-4 Mix is appropriate since it is less intense than the current P-5 Core 
designation, will allow for the planned residential duplex use, and blend with the character of the 
existing development in the area. This property is in a residential area near the northeast corner 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007


of State Highway 95 and State Highway 21. The zoning allows for a transition between the 
residential houses and the potential commercial corridor along the highway perimeter. 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission unanimously voted to 
approve the rezoning request. 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
At the November 26, 2019 meeting, City Council conducted the public hearing and first reading 
and moved to approved the request by a vote of 5-0. 

RECOMMENDATION:
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-63 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning Farms End Estates Lot 3 from P-5, Core, to P-4, Mix, located 
at 1706 Farm Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in Exhibit A, including a 
severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance
• Exhibit A: Location Map
• Attachment 1:  Applicant Request
• Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners Notification
• Attachment 3:  Zoning Map
• Attachment 4:  Future Land Use Map



1 

ORDINANCE 2019-63 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, REZONING FARMS END ESTATES LOT 3 FROM P-5, CORE, 
TO P-4, MIX, LOCATED 1706 FARM STREET, WITHIN THE CITY 
LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS; AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A, INCLUDING 
A SEVERABLILITY CLAUSE; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

WHEREAS, Ronald and Carole Reynolds (hereinafter referred to as “Property 
Owner”) submitted a request to rezone Farms End Estates, Lot 3, within the City limits 
of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the Property”; and 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as P-5, Core; and  

WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Designation for this Property is Rural 
Residential, which allows low-density residential and agricultural uses; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211, notice of 
the rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of 
the Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a 
public hearing on the rezoning request on November 21, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission has 
recommended approval of the proposed request by a unanimous vote; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop held a public hearing on 
November 26, 2019 to consider the Property Owner’s request; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicants, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds that it is in the public interest to approve the rezoning. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1:    The Property, situated on Farms End Estates, Lot 3, located 1706 
Farm Street, in the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more particularly shown and Exhibit 
A is rezoned to P-4 Mix.  

Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 



2 

provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 

Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in 
accordance with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of 
Texas. 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 
2019. 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 
2019. 

APPROVED: 

___________________________
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



¬« 95

FARM ST

Exhibit A
Location Map

¬«21
¬«150

¬« 95

PINE ST

FARM ST

FAYETTE ST

SPRING ST

C
P JO

H
N

SO
N

 LN

C
H

AM
BE

R
S 

ST
FARM ST

1 inch = 83 feet
0 50 10025

Feet

Date: 11/12/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

Farms End Estates, Lot 3
Rezone Request



Attachment 1



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019 
at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 
on changing the Farms End Estates, Lot 3, from the existing Form-Based Code - Commercial Mixed Use 
district (which is being rezoned to P-5 Core with the B³ Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of 
Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1706 Farm Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 32810 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Commercial Mixed Use 
Proposed B³ Code Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

PROPERTY OWNER’S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
☐ I am in favor of the change.
☐ I am opposed to the change.
☐ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address:  

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

Phone (optional):   Email (optional): 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Additional Comments (Optional):  

Re: Place Type Change 32810_Farms End Estates, Lot 3_1706 Farm Street 

Attachment 2

https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop


1104

17061706
1712

1510

1107

1103

1302

1206

1204

1305

1201

1100

1712

1708

17161712

SH
 95

FARM

C
P 

JO
H

N
SO

N

C
P JO

H
N

SO
N

Location Map
Zoning Change
1706 Farm St ³Date: 11/1/2019

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   1 inch = 150 feet

PINE

CEDAR

FARM

H
A

Y
S

E
L

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

M
 L

 K
 JR

L
IN

D
A

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S

ELM

SPRING

P
IT

T

WALNUT

C
P

 J
O

H
N

S
O

N

LOST PINES

ROSANKY

Y
O

U
N

G

BEECH

CEDAR
C

H
A

M
B

E
R

S

SPRING

WALNUT

FARM

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

¬«95

Fairview Cemetery

Legend
Place Type Zoning

Overlay
Nature
Rural
Neighborhood
Mix
Core
Civic Space
Employment Center
Planned Development



¬« 95
FARM ST

SPRING ST
C

P 
JO

H
N

SO
N

 L
N

C
P JO

H
N

SO
N

 LN

Attachment 4
Future Land Use Map

¬«21

¬« 95

¬«150

FARM ST

PINE ST

SPRING ST

C
P JO

H
N

SO
N

 LN

C
H

AM
BE

R
S 

ST

1 inch = 167 feet
0 110 22055

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1706 Farm Street
Rezone Request

Legend
Land Use

Parks and Open Space
Rural Residential
Neighborhood Commercial
Downtown Bastrop



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM: 8D 

TITLE:

Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-67 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of Main Street from P-3 
Neighborhood to P-5 Core, located 1302 SH 95, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown 
in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Allison Long, Planner 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 1302 SH 95 (Exhibit A)
Total Acreage: 0.683 acres
Legal Description: 0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of Main Street 

Property Owners: Morris J & Diana L Mach Revocable Trust 

Existing Use: Vacant 
Existing Zoning: P-3 Zoning (Formerly Form-Based Code—Neighborhood District)

(Attachment 3)
Requested Zoning: P-5 - Core
Future Land Use: Downtown Bastrop (Attachment 4) 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY:
This lot is bisected by Gill’s Branch. At a previous point, it was deemed appropriate to apply 
different zoning categories to each half. Previously, the half closest to SH 95 was zoned 
Commercial Mixed Use and the other half was zoned Neighborhood. The property owner is 
requesting for both halves to be zoned P-5 under the new code. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:
Property owner notifications were sent to 6 adjacent property owners on  November 5, 2019. At 
the time of this report, no responses have received. (Attachment 2)

POLICY EXPLANATION:

Texas Local Government Code 

Sec. 211.006. PROCEDURES GOVERNING ADOPTION OF ZONING REGULATIONS AND 
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. (a) The governing body of a municipality wishing to exercise the 
authority relating to zoning regulations and zoning district boundaries shall establish procedures 
for adopting and enforcing the regulations and boundaries. A regulation or boundary is not 
effective until after a public hearing on the matter at which parties in interest and citizens have an 
opportunity to be heard. Before the 15th day before the date of the hearing, notice of the time and 
place of the hearing must be published in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general 
circulation in the municipality. 



Notice was published in the Bastrop Advertiser and notice was sent to property owners within 200 
feet of the property boundary. 

(b) In addition to the notice required by Subsection (a), a general-law municipality that does not
have a zoning commission shall give notice of a proposed change in a zoning classification to
each property owner who would be entitled to notice under Section 211.007(c) if the municipality
had a zoning commission.  That notice must be given in the same manner as required for notice
to property owners under Section 211.007(c).  The governing body may not adopt the proposed
change until after the 30th day after the date the notice required by this subsection is given.

N/A. Bastrop is not a general-law municipality. 

(c) If the governing body of a home-rule municipality conducts a hearing under Subsection (a),
the governing body may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time
and place of the public hearing.  Notice requirements prescribed under this subsection are in
addition to the publication of notice required by Subsection (a).

Notice of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours in advance. 

(d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this
subsection, the proposed change must receive, in order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at
least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed
by the owners of at least 20 percent of either:

(1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or

(2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed
change and extending 200 feet from that area.

(e) In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection (d), the area of streets and alleys
shall be included.

At the time of this report, no protest has been received. 

(f) The governing body by ordinance may provide that the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of all its members is required to overrule a recommendation of the municipality's zoning
commission that a proposed change to a regulation or boundary be denied.

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

Compliance with 2036 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Future Land Use Plan – Downtown Bastrop:  The Downtown Bastrop character area allows

for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional service, and institutional land
uses. The character area’s range of land uses may be mixed on individual parcels or
developments sites, and within individual buildings. Building form and lot arrangement will
support an urban character with structures framing the street. The scale of land uses, and
transitions between them will compliment historic building form and intensity, but increased
development intensity may be allowed on a case-by-case basis to encourage viable
investment in center city Bastrop.

A future commercial use is consistent with the Downtown Bastrop future land use 
category. 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007


PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission unanimously voted to 
approve the rezoning request. 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
At the November 26, 2019 meeting, City Council conducted the public hearing and first reading 
and moved to approve the request by a vote of 5-0. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-67 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of Main Street from P-3 
Neighborhood to P-5 Core, located 1302 SH 95, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown 
in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance
• Exhibit A: Location Map
• Attachment 1:  Letter from Applicant
• Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners Notification
• Attachment 3:  Zoning Map
• Attachment 4:  Future Land Use Map



1 

ORDINANCE 2019-67 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, REZONING 0.683 ACRES OF FARM LOT 37 EAST OF MAIN 
STREET FROM P-3 NEIGHBORHOOD TO P-5 CORE, LOCATED 1302 
SH 95, WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS; AS SHOWN 
IN EXHIBIT A, INCLUDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Morris J & Diana L Mach Revocable Trust (hereinafter referred to 
as “Property Owner”) submitted a request to rezone 0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of 
Main Street within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the 
Property”; and 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as P-3 Neighborhood and  

WHEREAS, the Property Owner is requesting to be rezoned to P-5 Core and  

WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Designation for this Property is Downtown 
Bastrop, which allows for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional 
service, and institutional land uses; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211, notice of 
the rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of 
the Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a 
public hearing on the rezoning request on November 21, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission has 
recommended approval of the proposed request by a unanimous vote; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop held a public hearing on 
November 26, 2019 to consider the Property Owner’s request; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicants, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds that it is in the public interest to approve the rezoning. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1:    The Property, situated on 0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of Main 
Street, located 1302 SH 95, in the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more particularly 
shown on attachment Exhibit A is rezoned to P-5 Core.  



2 

Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 

Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in 
accordance with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of 
Texas. 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 
2019. 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 
2019. 

APPROVED: 

___________________________
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



¬« 95

FARM ST

CEDAR ST

LI
N

D
A

ROSANKY ST

C
H

AM
BE

R
S 

ST

C
P JO

H
N

SO
N

 LN

CEDAR ST

ROSANKY ST

FARM ST

C
H

AM
BER

S ST

Exhibit A
Location Map

¬« 95¬«150 ¬«21

H
ILL STM

AIN
 ST

PINE ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

CEDAR ST

HAWTHORNE ST

FARM ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 ST

BEECH ST

LIN
D

A

FAYETTE ST
H

AYSEL ST

C
H

AM
BER

S ST

ELM ST

ALLEY A

CYPRESS ST

BUTTONWOOD ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

SPRING ST

FAYETTE ST

CEDAR ST

ELM ST

FARM ST

ELM ST

1 inch = 266 feet
0 180 36090

Feet

Date: 11/12/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1302 SH 95
Rezone Request



Attachment 1



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019 
at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 
on changing part of 0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of Main Street located at 1302 State Highway 95, from 
the existing Form-Based Code Neighborhood District (which is being rezoned to P-3 Neighborhood with 
the B³ Code rezoning) to P-5 Core, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1302 State Highway 95 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 32405 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code – Neighborhood & Commercial 
Mixed Use 

Proposed B³ Code Zoning (Place Type): P-3 Neighborhood & P-5 Core
Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

PROPERTY OWNER’S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
☐ I am in favor of the change.
☐ I am opposed to the change.
☐ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address:  

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

Phone (optional):   Email (optional): 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Additional Comments (Optional):  

Re: Place Type Change 32405_0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of Main Street_1302 State Highway 95 

Attachment 2

https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop


17061706

1409

1502

1510

1408

1302

1206

1204

1305

1201 1708

1504

SH
 95

FARM

Location Map
Zoning Change

1302 State Highway 95 ³Date: 11/1/2019

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   1 inch = 150 feet

PINE

CEDAR

FARM

H
A

Y
S

E
L

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

M
 L

 K
 JR

L
IN

D
A

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S

ELM

SPRING

P
IT

T

WALNUT

C
P

 J
O

H
N

S
O

N

LOST PINES

ROSANKY

Y
O

U
N

G

BEECH

CEDAR
C

H
A

M
B

E
R

S

SPRING

WALNUT

FARM

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

¬«95

Fairview Cemetery

Legend
Place Type Zoning

Overlay
Nature
Rural
Neighborhood
Mix
Core
Civic Space
Employment Center
Planned Development



¬« 95

FARM ST

CEDAR ST

C
H

AM
BE

R
S 

ST

Attachment 4
Future Land Use Map

¬«21

¬« 95

¬«150

FARM ST

PINE ST

SPRING ST

C
P JO

H
N

SO
N

 LN

C
H

AM
BE

R
S 

ST

1 inch = 208 feet
0 140 28070

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1302 SH 95
Rezone Request

Legend
Land Use

Parks and Open Space
Rural Residential
Neighborhood Commercial
Downtown Bastrop
Public and Institutional



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM: 8E 

TITLE:

Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-68, of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, from 
P-5 Core to P-4 Mix, located 1110 Water Street within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown
in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:
Allison Long, Planner 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 1110 Water Street (Exhibit A)
Total Acreage: 0.193 acres
Legal Description: 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street 

Property Owners: Rebeca Jensen 

Existing Use: Residential 
Existing Zoning: P-5 Core (Previously Form-Based Code -- Downtown Mixed Use

(Attachment 3)
Requested Zoning: P-4 Mix
Future Land Use: Downtown Bastrop (Attachment 4) 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY:
Currently, this property includes a residential home. If the property were zoned to P-5, it would 
become a non-conforming use.  The P-4 Mix allows for residential homes, as well as commercial 
in residential form, so this district would be appropriate. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:
Property owner notifications were sent to 13 adjacent property owners on  November 5, 2019. 
(Attachment 2) At the time of this report, three responses have been received. (Attachment 5)

POLICY EXPLANATION:
Texas Local Government Code 

Sec. 211.006. PROCEDURES GOVERNING ADOPTION OF ZONING REGULATIONS AND 
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. (a) The governing body of a municipality wishing to exercise the 
authority relating to zoning regulations and zoning district boundaries shall establish procedures 
for adopting and enforcing the regulations and boundaries. A regulation or boundary is not 
effective until after a public hearing on the matter at which parties in interest and citizens have an 
opportunity to be heard. Before the 15th day before the date of the hearing, notice of the time and 
place of the hearing must be published in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general 
circulation in the municipality. 

Notice was published in the Bastrop Advertiser and notice was sent to property owners within 200 
feet of the property boundary. 



(b) In addition to the notice required by Subsection (a), a general-law municipality that does not
have a zoning commission shall give notice of a proposed change in a zoning classification to
each property owner who would be entitled to notice under Section 211.007(c) if the municipality
had a zoning commission.  That notice must be given in the same manner as required for notice
to property owners under Section 211.007(c).  The governing body may not adopt the proposed
change until after the 30th day after the date the notice required by this subsection is given.

N/A. Bastrop is not a general-law municipality. 

(c) If the governing body of a home-rule municipality conducts a hearing under Subsection (a),
the governing body may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time
and place of the public hearing.  Notice requirements prescribed under this subsection are in
addition to the publication of notice required by Subsection (a).

Notice of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours in advance. 

(d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this
subsection, the proposed change must receive, in order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at
least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed
by the owners of at least 20 percent of either:

(1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or

(2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed
change and extending 200 feet from that area.

(e) In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection (d), the area of streets and alleys
shall be included.

At the time of this report, no protest has been received. 

(f) The governing body by ordinance may provide that the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of all its members is required to overrule a recommendation of the municipality's zoning
commission that a proposed change to a regulation or boundary be denied.

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

Compliance with 2036 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Future Land Use Plan – Downtown Bastrop:  The Downtown Bastrop character area allows

for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional service, and institutional land
uses. The character area’s range of land uses may be mixed on individual parcels or
developments sites, and within individual buildings. Building form and lot arrangement will
support an urban character with structures framing the street. The scale of land uses, and
transitions between them will compliment historic building form and intensity, but increased
development intensity may be allowed on a case-by-case basis to encourage viable
investment in center city Bastrop.

The request for P-4 Mix is appropriate in the Downtown Bastrop future land use category, 
as it will allow for a mix of uses for both the site and for the area.  Furthermore, it allows 
for a transition in the intensity of use from adjacent properties, while maintaining the house 
form of the P-4 district. 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007


PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission unanimously voted to 
approve the rezoning request. 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
At the November 26, 2019 meeting, City Council conducted the public hearing and first reading 
and moved to approve the request by a vote of 5-0. 

RECOMMENDATION:
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-68, of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, from 
P-5 Core to P-4 Mix, located 1110 Water Street within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown
in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance
• Exhibit A: Location Map
• Attachment 1:  Letter from Applicant
• Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners Notification
• Attachment 3:  Zoning Map
• Attachment 4:  Future Land Use Map
• Attachment 5:  Responses



1 

ORDINANCE 2019-68 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, REZONING 0.193 ACRES OF BUILDING BLOCK 6 WEST OF 
WATER STREET, FROM P-5 CORE TO P-4 MIX, LOCATED 1110 
WATER STREET WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS; AS 
SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A, INCLUDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Rebeca Jensen (hereinafter referred to as “Property Owner”) 
submitted a request to rezone 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, 
within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the Property”; and 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as P-5 Core; and  

WHEREAS, the Property Owner is requesting to be rezoned to P-4 Mix; and  

WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Designation for this Property is Downtown 
Bastrop, which allows for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional 
service, and institutional land uses; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211, notice of 
the rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of 
the Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a 
public hearing on the rezoning request on November 21, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission has 
recommended approval of the proposed request by a unanimous vote; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop held a public hearing on 
November 26, 2019 to consider the Property Owner’s request; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicants, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds that it is in the public interest to approve the rezoning. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1:    The Property, situated on 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of 
Water Street, located 1110 Water Street, in the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more 
particularly shown on attachment Exhibit A is rezoned to P-4 Mix.  



2 

Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 

Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in 
accordance with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of 
Texas. 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 
2019. 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 
2019. 

APPROVED: 

___________________________
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



FARM ST

W
ATER

 ST

Exhibit A
Location Map

¬«150

FARM ST

M
AIN

 ST

SPRING ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

BEECH ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

ALLEY A

BUTTONWOOD ST

W
ILSO

N
 ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

1 inch = 50 feet
0 30 6015

Feet

Date: 11/12/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1110 Water Street
Rezone Request



From: Rebeca Jensen
To: Jennifer Bills
Subject: Re: Zoning change
Date: Tuesday, October 8, 2019 10:01:23 AM

I am having trouble filling out the form.
My designation was P-4 mixed use
Proposed is P-5
Property is 33610
I want to stay P-4
1110 Water Street is currently a single family home.
Thank you
Rebeca Jensen

Sent from my iPhone

> On Oct 7, 2019, at 2:54 PM, Jennifer Bills <jbills@cityofbastrop.org> wrote:
>
> 33610

WARNING EXTERNAL EMAIL: This email is from an external source. Do not click links or open attachments
without positive sender verification of purpose. Never enter Username, Password or sensitive information on linked
pages from this email. If you are unsure about the message, please contact the IT Department for assistance.

Attachment 1

mailto:smithy2b@yahoo.com
mailto:jbills@cityofbastrop.org


PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019 
at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 
on changing 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, located at 1110 Water Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code – Downtown Mixed Use District (which is being rezoned to P-5 Core with the B³ 
Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1110 Water Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 33610 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code – Downtown Mixed Use 
Proposed B³ Code Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211.  Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

PROPERTY OWNER’S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
☐ I am in favor of the change.
☐ I am opposed to the change.
☐ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address:  

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

Phone (optional):   Email (optional): 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Additional Comments (Optional):  

Re: Place Type Change 33610_ 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street _1110 Water Street 

Attachment 2

https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop


709

705
703

805

711

705

806804802

714

808

1207

1028
1007

1007

1208

1202

1208

1206

1204

1202

1201

1107

1110

1108

1010

1210

1206

1200

1203

1201

1112

1110

11081108

1106

1113

1109

1105

1022

1025

M
AIN

FARM

W
ATER

SPRING

BEECH

Location Map
Zoning Change
1110 Water St ³Date: 11/1/2019

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   1 inch = 100 feet

H
IL

L

M
A

IN

W
A

T
E

R

P
E

C
A

NFARM

CEDAR

PINE

SPRING

H
A

Y
S

E
L

EMILE

AUSTIN

WALNUT

C
H

U
R

C
H

BEECH

W
IL

S
O

N

COLLEGE

W
IL

L
O

W

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

P
E

R
K

IN
S

E
S

K
E

W

JE
F

F
E

R
S

O
N

BUTTONWOOD

A
L

L
E

Y
 A

JONES

CATALPA

A
L

L
E

Y
 B

JE
F

F
E

R
S

O
N

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E
F
A

Y
E

T
T

EBUTTONWOOD

¬«71

¬«150

71

Legend
Place Type Zoning

Overlay
Nature
Rural
Neighborhood
Mix
Core
Civic Space
Employment Center
Planned Development



¬«150

M
AIN

 ST

FARM ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

SPRING ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T BEECH ST

ALLEY A

BUTTONWOOD ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

ALLEY B

WILSON ST

BUTTONWOOD ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

Attachment 4
Future Land Use Map

¬«150

FARM ST

H
ILL ST

SPRING ST

PINE ST

M
AIN

 ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

BEECH ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

ALLEY A
ALLEY B

W
ILSO

N
 ST

1 inch = 250 feet
0 170 34085

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1110 Water Street
Rezone Request

Legend
Land Use

Parks and Open Space
Downtown Bastrop
Public and Institutional



Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

� 
BASTROPTX 
Heart or the Lost Pines 

[II. 1!31 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019

at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas

on changing 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, located at 1110 Water Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use District (which is being rezoned to P-5 Core with the B3 

Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1110 Water Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 33610 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use 
Proposed B3 Code Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 
:}<:------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
0 I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: f?-=..e b ,e_ L- c-- __jO\.S evl

Property Address: /II D VJ cu/-c..,,- S 1"' 

Mailing Address (if different than property address): ho 7' 12. 5�'-{ /3c-<. s-/v-o f

Phone (optional): ___________ Email (optional): ____________ _ 

Property Owner's Signature�h&L.......:�'--"/4"'------=;F
¥--------------------

Additional Comments (Optional): / / f £? IA,
1 o...--1-e..r (s t:- o ,,,z, .-r;,; rv1 ,· I v: h o i.,y;. c_ ,. 

I 

'TI d J / k.e. b {<.. , ·; #tcLf v,n.,1_ - f,vt ',1-t.i, ;u i" x . SG- /J -· i
Re: Place Type Change 3361 O_ 0.193 acres of Buildi g Block 6 West of Water Street_ 111 O Water Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019

at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas

on changing 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, located at 1110 Water Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use District (which is being rezoned to P-5 Core with the B3 

Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1110 Water Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 33610 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use 
Proposed 83 Code Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 
§,,<------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 

(D(_ I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: �,Le__ 'TCU-j { ffV"
Property Address: Jo 3 F(!( "VV\ J�

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

78 6 0 '2-

&, o )(. II 7) 7 8w ·2-

Phone (optional): ___________ Email (optional): _____________ _ 

� Property Owner's Signature: ____ �-::,,.....,.,.,--
--------------------

Additional Comments (Optional): ________________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 3361 O_ 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street_ 111 O Water Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



Notice of Pending Zoning Change 
City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

,,� 

BASTROPTX 
Heart of the Lolt Pines 

!11.1131 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019

at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas

on changing 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, located at 1110 Water Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use District (which is being rezoned to P-5 Core with the 83 

Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 

Current Zoning: 
Proposed 83 Code Zoning (Place Type): 

Requested Zoning (Place Type): 

111 0 Water Street 
33610 
Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use 
P-5 Core
P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 
:}<--------------------------------------------------------------- + 

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
□ I am in favor of the change.
□ I am opposed to the change.

� I have no �ection to the chan�e.
A I) .

. .  
;J 

Property Owner Name: 
� 'tJ� �

PropertyAddress: }2--0/ ��� 

Mailing Address (if different than property address): _,/_wO._. -'-'f3_8-K++---"b_3
_..

J
'---

---------

Additional Comments (Optional): _________________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 3361 O_ 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street_ 1110 Water Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM: 8F 

TITLE:

Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-69 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.129 acres of Building Block 6, West of Water Street, from 
P-5 Core to P-4 Mix, located 703 Farm Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown
in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Allison Long, Planner 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 703 Farm Street (Exhibit A)
Total Acreage: 0.129 acres
Legal Description: 0.129 acres of Building Block 6, West of Water St 

Property Owners: Jonathan Clinton & Annie Marie Taylor 

Existing Use: Residential 
Existing Zoning: P-5 Core (Previously Form-Based Code – Downtown Mixed Use

(Attachment 3)
Requested Zoning: P-4 Mix
Future Land Use: Downtown Bastrop (Attachment 4) 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY:
Currently, this property includes a residential home. If the property were zoned to P-5, it would 
immediately become a non-conforming use. The property owner also provided that this home is 
a State designated historical marker and that they believe the P-4 designation is the place type 
most aligned with the current house form. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:
Property owner notifications were sent to 15 adjacent property owners on  November 5, 2019. 
(Attachment 2) At the time of this report, two responses have been received. (Attachment 5)

POLICY EXPLANATION:
Texas Local Government Code 

Sec. 211.006. PROCEDURES GOVERNING ADOPTION OF ZONING REGULATIONS AND 
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. (a) The governing body of a municipality wishing to exercise the 
authority relating to zoning regulations and zoning district boundaries shall establish procedures 
for adopting and enforcing the regulations and boundaries. A regulation or boundary is not 
effective until after a public hearing on the matter at which parties in interest and citizens have an 
opportunity to be heard. Before the 15th day before the date of the hearing, notice of the time and 
place of the hearing must be published in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general 
circulation in the municipality. 

Notice was published in the Bastrop Advertiser and notice was sent to property owners within 200 
feet of the property boundary. 



(b) In addition to the notice required by Subsection (a), a general-law municipality that does not
have a zoning commission shall give notice of a proposed change in a zoning classification to
each property owner who would be entitled to notice under Section 211.007(c) if the municipality
had a zoning commission.  That notice must be given in the same manner as required for notice
to property owners under Section 211.007(c).  The governing body may not adopt the proposed
change until after the 30th day after the date the notice required by this subsection is given.

N/A. Bastrop is not a general-law municipality. 

(c) If the governing body of a home-rule municipality conducts a hearing under Subsection (a),
the governing body may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time
and place of the public hearing.  Notice requirements prescribed under this subsection are in
addition to the publication of notice required by Subsection (a).

Notice of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours in advance. 

(d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this
subsection, the proposed change must receive, in order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at
least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed
by the owners of at least 20 percent of either:

(1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or

(2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed
change and extending 200 feet from that area.

(e) In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection (d), the area of streets and alleys
shall be included.

At the time of this report, no protest has been received. 

(f) The governing body by ordinance may provide that the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of all its members is required to overrule a recommendation of the municipality's zoning
commission that a proposed change to a regulation or boundary be denied.

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

Compliance with 2036 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Future Land Use Plan – Downtown Bastrop:  The Downtown Bastrop character area allows

for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional service, and institutional land
uses. The character area’s range of land uses may be mixed on individual parcels or
developments sites, and within individual buildings. Building form and lot arrangement will
support an urban character with structures framing the street. The scale of land uses, and
transitions between them will compliment historic building form and intensity, but increased
development intensity may be allowed on a case-by-case basis to encourage viable
investment in center city Bastrop.

The request for P-4 Mix is appropriate in the Downtown Bastrop future land use category, 
as it will allow for a mix of uses for both the site and for the area. Furthermore, it allows 
for an increase of the intensity of use, while maintaining the house form of the P-4 district. 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007


PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission unanimously voted to 
approve the rezoning request. 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
At the November 26, 2019 meeting, City Council conducted the public hearing and first reading 
and moved to approve the request by a vote of 5-0. 

RECOMMENDATION:
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-69 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.129 acres of Building Block 6, West of Water Street, from 
P-5 Core to P-4 Mix, located 703 Farm Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown
in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance
• Exhibit A: Location Map
• Attachment 1:  Letter from Applicant
• Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners Notification
• Attachment 3:  Zoning Map
• Attachment 4:  Future Land Use Map
• Attachment 5:  Responses



1 

ORDINANCE 2019-69 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, REZONING 0.129 ACRES OF BUILDING BLOCK 6, WEST OF 
WATER STREET, FROM P-5 CORE TO P-4 MIX, LOCATED 703 FARM 
STREET, WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS; AS 
SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A, INCLUDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Jonathan Clinton & Annie Marie Taylor (hereinafter referred to as 
“Property Owner”) submitted a request to rezone 0.129 acres of Building Block 6, West 
of Water St, within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the 
Property”; and 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as P-5 Core; and  

WHEREAS, the Property Owner is requesting to be rezoned to P-4 Mix; and  

WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Designation for this Property is Downtown 
Bastrop, which allows for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional 
service, and institutional land uses; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211, notice of 
the rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of 
the Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a 
public hearing on the rezoning request on November 21, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission has 
recommended approval of the proposed request by a unanimous vote; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop held a public hearing on 
November 26, 2019 to consider the Property Owner’s request; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicants, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds that it is in the public interest to approve the rezoning. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1:    The Property, situated on 0.129 acres of Building Block 6, West of 
Water Street, located 703 Farm Street, in the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more 
particularly shown on attachment Exhibit A is rezoned to P-4 Mix.  



2 

Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 

Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in 
accordance with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of 
Texas. 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 
2019. 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 
2019. 

APPROVED: 

___________________________
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



M
AIN

 ST

FARM ST

Exhibit A
Location Map

¬«150

FARM ST

M
AIN

 ST

SPRING ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

BEECH ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

ALLEY A

BUTTONWOOD ST

W
ILSO

N
 ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

1 inch = 50 feet
0 30 6015

Feet

Date: 11/12/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

703 Farm Street
Rezone Request



From: Anne Taylor
To: Jennifer Bills
Subject: Re: Bastrop Building Block Code - Change to Zoning request
Date: Tuesday, October 8, 2019 10:12:39 AM


Jennifer,
I appreciate your assistance this morning and your help with this form. Thank you so much!
 See below for the answers to the form.
Many thanks in advance.
Annie Taylor

Proposed place type zoning: P-5

Requested place type zoning: P-4

Reason for requested place type: 703 Farm is a two-story historic home with a registry
designation built in the 1860s.  It is a single family home. It could potentially house a business
should the character of the home be retained although it’s currently a residence.  The P4-Mix
designation accurately describes this home while P5-Core does not. 

Property owner name: 
Jonathan & Annie Taylor

Property Address:
703 Farm Street-Property ID 33624 

Sent from my iPhone

On Oct 8, 2019, at 10:04 AM, Jennifer Bills <jbills@cityofbastrop.org> wrote:


Hello Ms. Taylor,

Attached is the request form. 

Please provide the information requested on the form in email and I will attach it for
the request.

Thanks,

Jennifer C. Bills, AICP, LEED AP
Assistant Planning Director
City of Bastrop
Office:  512-332-8845

<Property Owner Request to Change Zoning Form.pdf>

Attachment 1

mailto:annebelletaylor@gmail.com
mailto:jbills@cityofbastrop.org


WARNING EXTERNAL EMAIL: This email is from an external source. Do not click links
or open attachments without positive sender verification of purpose. Never enter Username,
Password or sensitive information on linked pages from this email. If you are unsure about
the message, please contact the IT Department for assistance.



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019 
at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 
on changing 0.129 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, located at 703 Farm Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code – Downtown Mixed Use District (which is being rezoned to P-5 Core with the B³ 
Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 703 Farm Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 33624 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code – Downtown Mixed Use 
Proposed B³ Code Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211.  Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

PROPERTY OWNER’S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
☐ I am in favor of the change.
☐ I am opposed to the change.
☐ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address:  

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

Phone (optional):   Email (optional): 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Additional Comments (Optional):  

Re: Place Type Change 33624_ 0.129 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street _703 Farm Street 

Attachment 2

https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop


709

705
703

805

711

705

806804802

714

808

1207

1028
1007

1007

1208

1202

1208

1206

1204

1202

1201

1107

1110

1108

1010

1210

1206

1200

1203

1201

1112

1110

11081108

1106

1113

1109

1105

1022

1025

M
AIN

FARM

W
ATER

SPRING

BEECH

Location Map
Zoning Change

703 Farm St ³Date: 11/1/2019

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   1 inch = 100 feet

H
IL

L

M
A

IN

W
A

T
E

R

P
E

C
A

NFARM

CEDAR

PINE

SPRING

H
A

Y
S

E
L

EMILE

AUSTIN

WALNUT

C
H

U
R

C
H

BEECH

W
IL

S
O

N

COLLEGE

W
IL

L
O

W

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

P
E

R
K

IN
S

E
S

K
E

W

JE
F

F
E

R
S

O
N

BUTTONWOOD

A
L

L
E

Y
 A

JONES

CATALPA

A
L

L
E

Y
 B

JE
F

F
E

R
S

O
N

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E
F
A

Y
E

T
T

EBUTTONWOOD

¬«71

¬«150

71

Legend
Place Type Zoning

Overlay
Nature
Rural
Neighborhood
Mix
Core
Civic Space
Employment Center
Planned Development



¬«150

M
AIN

 ST

FARM ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

SPRING ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T BEECH ST

ALLEY A

BUTTONWOOD ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

ALLEY B

WILSON ST

BUTTONWOOD ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

Attachment 4
Future Land Use Map

¬«150

FARM ST

SPRING ST

M
AIN

 ST

PINE ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

ALLEY A

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 ST

ALLEY B

WILSON ST

1 inch = 250 feet
0 170 34085

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

703 Farm Street
Rezone Request

Legend
Land Use

Parks and Open Space
Downtown Bastrop
Public and Institutional



The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019

at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas

on changing 0.129 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, located at 703 Farm Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use District (which is being rezoned to P-5 Core with the B3 

Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 703 Farm Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 33624 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use 
Proposed B3 Code Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

:}<:-------------------------------------------------------
PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a pro_perty owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 

,0( I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: AnVM' e Tf½4 ( OV-

Property Address: 7 0 3 ,& V--� \j':C(-44:=
C, 

7 B 60 ·2-

Mailing Address (if different than property address): -�p�(.'.)--�-=-· _X�l�l�]�) ____ 7_8_Go_'2-_ 
Phone (optional): ___________ Email (optional): ____________ _ 

Property Owner's Signature: __ �--=-..:,...=:;:=; ____________________ _ 
:2?/ � 3 -r-:.,

1.,,
,Y'-. J' .k- A A - s V\ 

Additional Comments (Optional): ---�l<v ___ � _____ J_ '_ �_.,..-_________ _ ---· 
(( L llY-cl..e_ � . ( �lo bi's �,c.,, I cu1JTY'-a k de � vn h vl8-A, · c/lA_<t) 

Re: Place Type Change 33624_ 0.129 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street _703 Farm Street 

Y't 5,�'5 �

r c,'b ��is "''Y\, 'z. y ( �,

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

BASTROPTX 
Heart of the Lolt Pine1 

Elt.1!31 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019

at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas

on changing 0.129 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street, located at 703 Farm Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use District (which is being rezoned to P-5 Core with the B3 

Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 

Current Zoning: 
Proposed B3 Code Zoning (Place Type): 

Requested Zoning (Place Type): 

703 Farm Street 
33624 
Form-Based Code - Downtown Mixed Use 
P-5 Core
P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 
a,<------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
� I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: ReJ)e... c ,,,_ 0.k:A,\ se...,V'.

Property Address: __ -f _ll_b_\/J_�c��-_· __ S_iY_'�--_· · ______________ _ 

Mailing Address (if different than property address): __ 6.c...._0_/\ __ 1_2_5_'-_I _________ _

Phone (optional): ___________ Email (optional): _____________ _ 

Property Owner's Signature:_�
--�'_d'--__,,�-----------------------

Additional Comments (Optional): 7 ° 3 Fiz .-m Sr 1 .s. cL A , ..s fvy, ·c::.. h o w1 <;:'.....-

hange 33624_ 0.129 acr s of Building Block 6 West of Water Street _703 Farm Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019   AGENDA ITEM: 8G 

TITLE:

Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-70 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.353 acres of Building Block 8, West of Water Street, from 
P-CS Civic Space to P-5 Core, located 1028 Main Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas;
as shown in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Allison Long, Planner 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 1028 Main Street (Exhibit A)
Total Acreage: 0.353 acres
Legal Description: 0.353 acres of Building Block 8, West of Water Street 

Property Owners:  Protestant Episcopal Church 

Existing Use: Commercial/Church 
Existing Zoning: P-CS Civic Space (Previously Form-Based Code – Historic Main Street)

(Attachment 3)
Requested Zoning: P-5 - Core
Future Land Use: Downtown Bastrop (Attachment 4) 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY:
This property is currently the Fellowship Hall for the Calvary Episcopal Church and the lot directly 
faces Main Street. Under the Form-Based Code, it was zoned Historic Main Street. Place Type – 
Civic Space is appropriate for a church but is not the best fit if the church were to use or the 
property as a retail or event space. The previous zoning allowed for commercial uses without a 
civic component if the property were to redevelop. P-5 Core is consistent with the rest of 
downtown Main Street. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:
Property owner notifications were sent to 23 adjacent property owners on  November 5, 2019. 
(Attachment 2) At the time of this report, two responses had been received. (Attachment 5)

POLICY EXPLANATION:
Texas Local Government Code 

Sec. 211.006. PROCEDURES GOVERNING ADOPTION OF ZONING REGULATIONS AND 
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. (a) The governing body of a municipality wishing to exercise the 
authority relating to zoning regulations and zoning district boundaries shall establish procedures 
for adopting and enforcing the regulations and boundaries. A regulation or boundary is not 
effective until after a public hearing on the matter at which parties in interest and citizens have an 
opportunity to be heard. Before the 15th day before the date of the hearing, notice of the time and 
place of the hearing must be published in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general 
circulation in the municipality. 



Notice was published in the Bastrop Advertiser and notice was sent to property owners within 200 
feet of the property boundary. 

(b) In addition to the notice required by Subsection (a), a general-law municipality that does not
have a zoning commission shall give notice of a proposed change in a zoning classification to
each property owner who would be entitled to notice under Section 211.007(c) if the municipality
had a zoning commission.  That notice must be given in the same manner as required for notice
to property owners under Section 211.007(c).  The governing body may not adopt the proposed
change until after the 30th day after the date the notice required by this subsection is given.

N/A. Bastrop is not a general-law municipality. 

(c) If the governing body of a home-rule municipality conducts a hearing under Subsection (a),
the governing body may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time
and place of the public hearing.  Notice requirements prescribed under this subsection are in
addition to the publication of notice required by Subsection (a).

Notice of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours in advance. 

(d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this
subsection, the proposed change must receive, in order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at
least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed
by the owners of at least 20 percent of either:

(1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or

(2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed
change and extending 200 feet from that area.

(e) In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection (d), the area of streets and alleys
shall be included.

At the time of this report, no protest has been received. 

(f) The governing body by ordinance may provide that the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of all its members is required to overrule a recommendation of the municipality's zoning
commission that a proposed change to a regulation or boundary be denied.

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

Compliance with 2036 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Future Land Use Plan – Downtown Bastrop:  The Downtown Bastrop character area allows

for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional service, and institutional land
uses. The character area’s range of land uses may be mixed on individual parcels or
developments sites, and within individual buildings. Building form and lot arrangement will
support an urban character with structures framing the street. The scale of land uses, and
transitions between them will compliment historic building form and intensity, but increased
development intensity may be allowed on a case-by-case basis to encourage viable
investment in center city Bastrop.

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007


The request for P-5 Mix is appropriate in the Downtown Bastrop future land use category, 
as it will allow for a mix of uses for both the site and for the area. Currently, this property 
includes a church, which is also in line with the future land use. 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission unanimously voted to 
approve the rezoning request. 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
At the November 26, 2019 meeting, City Council conducted the public hearing and first reading 
and moved to approved the request by a vote of 4-0-1 (Council Member Ennis abstained). 

RECOMMENDATION:
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-70 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.353 acres of Building Block 8, West of Water Street, from 
P-CS Civic Space to P-5 Core, located 1028 Main Street, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas;
as shown in Exhibit A, including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance
• Exhibit A: Location Map
• Attachment 1:  Letter from Applicant
• Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners Notification
• Attachment 3:  Zoning Map
• Attachment 4:  Future Land Use Map
• Attachment 5:  Responses



1 

ORDINANCE 2019-70 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, REZONING 0.353 ACRES OF BUILDING BLOCK 8, WEST OF 
WATER STREET, FROM P-CS CIVIC SPACE TO P-5 CORE, LOCATED 
1028 MAIN STREET, WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS; 
AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A, INCLUDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Protestant Episcopal Church (hereinafter referred to as “Property 
Owner”) submitted a request to rezone 0.353 acres of Building Block 8, West of Water 
Street, within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the Property”; 
and 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as P-CS Civic Space; and  

WHEREAS, the Property Owner is requesting to be rezoned to P-5 Core; and  

WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Designation for this Property is Downtown 
Bastrop, which allows for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional 
service, and institutional land uses; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211, notice of 
the rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of 
the Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a 
public hearing on the rezoning request on November 21, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission has 
recommended approval of the proposed request by a unanimous vote; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop held a public hearing on 
November 26, 2019 to consider the Property Owner’s request; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicants, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds that it is in the public interest to approve the rezoning. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1:    The Property, situated on 0.353 acres of Building Block 8, West of 
Water Street, located 1028 Main Street, in the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more 
particularly shown on attachment Exhibit A is rezoned to P-5 Core.  



2 

Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 

Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in 
accordance with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of 
Texas. 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 
2019. 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 
2019. 

APPROVED: 

___________________________
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



¬«150

M
AIN

 ST

FARM ST

ALLEY A

SPRING ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

ALLEY B

Exhibit A
Location Map

¬«150

FARM ST

M
AIN

 ST

SPRING ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

PINE ST

BEECH ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

ALLEY A
ALLEY B

W
ILSO

N
 STW

ILLOW
 ST

1 inch = 125 feet
0 80 16040

Feet

Date: 11/12/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1028 Main Street
Rezone Request



Attachment 1



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019 
at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 
on changing 0.353 acres out of Building Block 8, West of Water Street, located at 1028 Main Street, from 
the existing From-Based Code – Historic Main Street District (which is being rezoned to P-CS Civic Space 
with the B³ Code rezoning) to P-5 Core, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1028 Main Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 33792 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code – Historic Main Street 
Proposed B³ Code Zoning (Place Type): P-CS Civic Space

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211.  Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

PROPERTY OWNER’S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
☐ I am in favor of the change.
☐ I am opposed to the change.
☐ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address:  

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

Phone (optional):   Email (optional): 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Additional Comments (Optional):  

Re: Place Type Change 33792_Building Block 8, West of Water Street_1028 Main Street 

Attachment 2

https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop


703

702
702

702
702
702702702

702

709

607

927
930

717715713711

925

921

932932
932

928928

926

924

922

931

925

921

705
703

711

705603

600

710

709707

603

601

100710071007 1007
1007

1007
1007
1007

1010
1010

1010

1010

10111011
1011

10111011

100910091009

1001

1028

1018
1017

1012

1010

11091109
11091109

1106

1107

1104

1006

1110

1108

1008

1114

1112

1110

11081108

1106

1113

1109

1105

1022

1020

10161016

1014

1008

10061006
10061006
1004

1002

1025

1021

1017

1015

1011

1009

1005

1003

1001

M
AINSPRING

ALLEY A

C
H

U
R

C
H

CHESTNUT

LOOP 150 WEST

ALLEY B

Location Map
Zoning Change
1028 Main St ³Date: 11/1/2019

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   1 inch = 100 feet

H
IL

L

M
A

IN

W
A

T
E

R

P
E

C
A

NFARM

CEDAR

PINE

SPRING

H
A

Y
S

E
L

EMILE

AUSTIN

WALNUT

C
H

U
R

C
H

BEECH

W
IL

S
O

N

COLLEGE

W
IL

L
O

W

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

P
E

R
K

IN
S

E
S

K
E

W

JE
F

F
E

R
S

O
N

BUTTONWOOD

A
L

L
E

Y
 A

JONES

CATALPA

A
L

L
E

Y
 B

JE
F

F
E

R
S

O
N

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E
F
A

Y
E

T
T

EBUTTONWOOD

¬«71

¬«150

71

Legend
Place Type Zoning

Overlay
Nature
Rural
Neighborhood
Mix
Core
Civic Space
Employment Center
Planned Development



¬«150

M
AIN

 ST

FARM ST

W
ATER

 ST

SPRING ST
ALLEY A

C
H

U
R

C
H

 ST

PINE ST

ALLEY B

W
ILSO

N
 ST

Attachment 4
Future Land Use Map

¬«150

FARM ST

M
AIN

 ST

SPRING ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 ST

PINE ST

ALLEY A

C
H

U
R

C
H

 ST

ALLEY B

WILSON ST

1 inch = 208 feet
0 140 28070

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1028 Main Street
Rezone Request

Legend
Land Use

Parks and Open Space
Downtown Bastrop
Public and Institutional



Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

�
BASTROPTX 
Heart of the Lost Pines 

[11.1131 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019

at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas

on changing 0.353 acres out of Building Block 8, West of Water Street, located at 1028 Main Street, from
the existing From-Based Code - Historic Main Street District (which is being rezoned to P-CS Civic Space
with the B3 Code rezoning) to P-5 Core, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas.

Property Address: 1028 Main Street
Property ID/Parcel Number: 33792 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Historic Main Street
Proposed B3 Code Zoning (Place Type): P-CS Civic Space

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-5 Core 

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference.

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are
available at this website: https://www .cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org,
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427,
Bastrop, Texas 78602.
8-<------------------------------------------------------------------ -

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one)

A I am in favor of the change. 
D I am opposed to the change. 
□ I have no objection to the change.

TI 
Property Owner Name: \jd/20 M� .&J{Jaal3&?�?a�rc 
Property Address: /()/b Jt/fl;A) 
Mailing Address (if different than g erty address): J/1 [l_ d,1,:tlj/?:$/&l?@.1-j � /<b

f/4,ts;;aq, 79- no 'I l---
Property Owner's Signature:

-r-'----'-<:<l:G'-�,:;..c==-"'7'cwf-::,,,,L....:::.#f---,--"d-_,_��""'--'-V;-"-'"""'""--+----

(._/1 AJIJ4.f i1 fJA{' ;J;l)/3/tiJIJ:i. <\ 
Re: Place Type Change 33792_Building Block 8, West of Water Street_ 1028 Main Street

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840
www.cityofbastrop.org 



�--------------------------------------------------------------------�---------------
PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
IR"' I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: \,J,\ho'\'1) r c\ \-\.S-C� ½. Gc·:::s:c"t"l 

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 3\ lo 'Sct\.o..&,;- �\�11, ((':>C''"5-t"\tit? \X. '13 \.oOd--. 

Phone (optional): ___________ Email (optional): ____________ _ 

Additional Comments (Optional): ________________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 33792_Building Block 8, West of Water Street_ 1028 Main Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street - PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM:  8H 

TITLE:

Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-72 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.214 acres of Building Block 1 West of Water Street from 
P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located at 701 Austin Street, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas;
as shown in Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Jennifer C. Bills, AICP, LEED AP, Assistant Planning Director 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 701 Austin Street (Exhibit A)
Total Acreage: 0.214 acres
Legal Description: 0.214 acres of Building Block 1, West of Water Street 
Property Owners: Patsy Namken Trigg 

Existing Use: Residential 
Existing Zoning: P-3 - Residential (Previously Form-Based Code – Neighborhood)

(Attachment 3)
Requested Zoning: P-4 - Mix
Future Land Use: Downtown Bastrop (Attachment 4) 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY:
The property owner has requested to change the Place Type to P-4 to extend the business area 
further south along Main Street (Attachment 1).  Main Street serves as a major thoroughfare and 
connection from State Highway 71 to the historic downtown.  Allowing for single-family, multi-
family, and commercial businesses in house form will allow for the transition from the 
neighborhood into the downtown. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:
Property owner notifications were sent to 14 adjacent property owners on  November 5, 2019 
(Attachment 2). At the time of this report, two responses have been received, one in favor and 
one opposed to the zoning request (Attachment 5).

POLICY EXPLANATION:

Texas Local Government Code 

Sec. 211.006. PROCEDURES GOVERNING ADOPTION OF ZONING REGULATIONS AND 
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. (a) The governing body of a municipality wishing to exercise the 
authority relating to zoning regulations and zoning district boundaries shall establish procedures 
for adopting and enforcing the regulations and boundaries. A regulation or boundary is not 
effective until after a public hearing on the matter at which parties in interest and citizens have an 
opportunity to be heard. Before the 15th day before the date of the hearing, notice of the time and 
place of the hearing must be published in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general 
circulation in the municipality. 



Notice was published in the Bastrop Advertiser and notice was sent to property owners within 200 
feet of the property boundary. 

(b) In addition to the notice required by Subsection (a), a general-law municipality that does not
have a zoning commission shall give notice of a proposed change in a zoning classification to
each property owner who would be entitled to notice under Section 211.007(c) if the municipality
had a zoning commission.  That notice must be given in the same manner as required for notice
to property owners under Section 211.007(c).  The governing body may not adopt the proposed
change until after the 30th day after the date the notice required by this subsection is given.

N/A. Bastrop is not a general-law municipality. 

(c) If the governing body of a home-rule municipality conducts a hearing under Subsection (a),
the governing body may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time
and place of the public hearing.  Notice requirements prescribed under this subsection are in
addition to the publication of notice required by Subsection (a).

Notice of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours in advance. 

(d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this
subsection, the proposed change must receive, in order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at
least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed
by the owners of at least 20 percent of either:

(1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or

(2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed
change and extending 200 feet from that area.

(e) In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection (d), the area of streets and alleys
shall be included.

At the time of this report, no protest has been received. 

(f) The governing body by ordinance may provide that the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of all its members is required to overrule a recommendation of the municipality's zoning
commission that a proposed change to a regulation or boundary be denied.

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

Compliance with 2036 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Future Land Use Plan – Downtown Bastrop:  The Downtown Bastrop character area allows

for a wide range of residential, retail, entertainment, professional service, and institutional land
uses. The character area’s range of land uses may be mixed on individual parcels or
developments sites, and within individual buildings. Building form and lot arrangement will
support an urban character with structures framing the street. The scale of land uses, and
transitions between them will compliment historic building form and intensity, but increased
development intensity may be allowed on a case-by-case basis to encourage viable
investment in center city Bastrop.

The request for P-4 Mix is appropriate in the Downtown Bastrop Land Use, as it will allow 
for a mix of uses for both the site and for the area.  This property is located on the corner 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007


of Main Street and Austin Street.  The land use allows for an increase of the intensity of 
use, while maintaining the house form of the P-4 district. 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission voted 4 - 3 to approve 
the rezoning request. 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
At the November 26, 2019 meeting, City Council conducted the public hearing and first reading 
and moved to approve the request by a vote of 5-0. 

RECOMMENDATION:
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-72 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.214 acres of Building Block 1 West of Water Street from 
P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located at 701 Austin Street, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas;
as shown in Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date.

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance
• Exhibit A: Location Map
• Attachment 1:  Applicant Request
• Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners Notification
• Attachment 3:  Zoning Map
• Attachment 4:  Future Land Use Map
• Attachment 5:  Property Owner Response



1 

ORDINANCE 2019-72 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, REZONING 0.214 ACRES OF BUILDING BLOCK 1 WEST OF 
WATER STREET FROM P-3 NEIGHBORHOOD, TO P-4 MIX, 
LOCATED AT 701 AUSTIN STREET, WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS; AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A, INCLUDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

WHEREAS, Patsy Namken Trigg (hereinafter referred to as “Property Owner”) 
submitted a request to 0.214 acres of Building Block 1 West of Water Street, within the 
City limits of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the Property”; and 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as P-3 Neighborhood; and  

WHEREAS, the Property Owner is requesting to be rezoned to P-4 Mix; and  

WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Designation for this Property is Downtown 
Bastrop character area which allows for a wide range of residential, retail, 
entertainment, professional service, and institutional land uses; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211, notice of 
the rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of 
the Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a 
public hearing on the rezoning request on November 21, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission has 
recommended approval of the proposed request by a unanimous vote; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop held a public hearing on 
November 26, 2019 to consider the Property Owner’s request; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicants, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds that it is in the public interest to approve the rezoning. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1:    The Property, situated on 0.214 acres of Building Block 1 West of 
Water Street, located at 701 Austin Street, in the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more 
particularly shown on attachment Exhibit A is rezoned to P-4 Mix.  



2 

Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 

Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in 
accordance with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of 
Texas. 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 
2019. 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 
2019. 

APPROVED: 

___________________________
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



M
AIN ST

W
ATER

 ST

AUSTIN ST

Exhibit A
Location Map

¬«71

AUSTIN ST

WALNUT ST

EMILE ST

W
ATER

 ST

H
ILL ST

PEC
AN

 ST

COLLEGE ST

M
AIN ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

H
AYSEL ST

GUTIERREZ ST

W
 SH

 71 FR COLLEGE ST

1 inch = 50 feet
0 30 6015

Feet

Date: 11/12/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

701 Austin Street
Rezone Request



Attachment 1



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019 
at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 
on changing 0.214 acres of Building Block 1 West of Water Street located at 701 Austin Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code - Neighborhood District (which is being rezoned to P-3 Neighborhood with the 
B³ Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 701 Austin Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 32846 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Neighborhood 
Proposed B³ Code Zoning (Place Type): P-3 Neighborhood

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

PROPERTY OWNER’S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
☐ I am in favor of the change.
☐ I am opposed to the change.
☐ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address:  

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

Phone (optional):   Email (optional): 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Additional Comments (Optional):  

Re: Place Type Change 32846_0.214 acres of Building Block 1, West of Water Street _701 Austin 

Attachment 2

https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop


704
704

704

702702

702

802

805710

708

707

705

605

603

601

802

801

712

702

703

701

609

601

708
706

805

803711

701

806

801

805803801703
703701

806804
802708

704

M
AIN

W
ATER

WALNUT

AUSTIN

EMILE

Attachment 3
Place Type Zoning Map 

Zoning Change 701 
Austin St ³Date: 11/1/2019

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   1 inch = 100 feet

H
IL

L

FARM

W
A

T
E

R

PINE

M
A

IN

P
E

C
A

N

SPRING

WALNUT

H
A

Y
S

E
L

EMILE

AUSTIN

COLLEGE

BEECHC
H

U
R

C
H

M
 L

 K
 J

R

L
O

V
E

R
S

P
E

R
K

IN
S

W
IL

L
O

W

W
IL

S
O

N

MILL

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

71

BUTTONWOOD

JASPER
HASLER

GUTIERREZ

MAYNARD

A
L

L
E

Y
 B

JE
F

F
E

R
S

O
N

NEWTON

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

M
 L

 K
 JR

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

BEECH

¬«71

¬«150

71

Legend
Place Type Zoning

Overlay
Nature
Rural
Neighborhood
Mix
Core
Civic Space
Employment Center
Planned Development



M
AIN ST

W
ATER

 ST

WALNUT ST

AUSTIN ST

EMILE ST

Attachment 4
Future Land Use Map

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ATER

 STM
AIN ST

WALNUT ST

AUSTIN ST

EMILE ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

1 inch = 125 feet
0 80 16040

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

701 Austin Street
Rezone Request

Legend
Land Use

Parks and Open Space
Neighborhood Residential
Neighborhood Commercial
Downtown Bastrop



Attachment 5



. �· ------------------------------------------------------------------ . .  - ' 

_,

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
□ I am in favor of the change.
� I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: -�A�m=::\---1\A[;�_a_o���,......_ ______________ _
Property Address: ------->.df.P..,_,0�6..___'\\�Ja.ii,, .. -1.t;;.-€a..•·C----"""'S ....... 1--.-----------

Mailing Address (if different than property address): _________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 32846_0.214 acres of Building Block 1, West of Water $.tr�f1:'.:if·cr1"Ai'.i§fin • 

�?t:!: 8
tl � 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM: 8I 

TITLE:

Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-73 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 1.866 acres of Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction from P-
3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located at 1903 Main Street, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas, 
as shown in Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Jennifer C. Bills, AICP, LEED AP, Assistant Planning Director 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 1903 Main Street (Exhibit A)
Total Acreage: 1.866 acres
Legal Description: 1.866 acres of Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction 
Property Owners: Steve & Kerry Fossler 

Existing Use: Residential 
Existing Zoning: P-3 Neighborhood (Previously Single-Family 7) (Attachment 3)
Requested Zoning: P-4 Mix
Future Land Use: Neighborhood Residential (Attachment 4) 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY:
The property owner has requested to be zoned to P-4 Mix to allow them to install a small take-
out commercial kitchen that would operate on a limited basis.  P-4 Mix will allow commercial uses 
within a house-form structure, as well as single-family and multi-family uses.  This is a larger 
property at 1.866 acres and is bounded by the railroad tracks to the south.  Given the size and 
location constraints, the P-4 Mix is appropriate and the house-form will provide compatibility with 
the neighborhood design.   

PUBLIC COMMENTS:
Property owner notifications were sent to 25 adjacent property owners on  November 5, 2019 
(Attachment 2). At the time of this report, four responses in favor and one opposed have been 
received. (Attachment 5)

POLICY EXPLANATION:
Texas Local Government Code 

Sec. 211.006. PROCEDURES GOVERNING ADOPTION OF ZONING REGULATIONS AND 
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. (a) The governing body of a municipality wishing to exercise the 
authority relating to zoning regulations and zoning district boundaries shall establish procedures 
for adopting and enforcing the regulations and boundaries. A regulation or boundary is not 
effective until after a public hearing on the matter at which parties in interest and citizens have an 
opportunity to be heard. Before the 15th day before the date of the hearing, notice of the time and 
place of the hearing must be published in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general 
circulation in the municipality. 



Notice was published in the Bastrop Advertiser and notice was sent to property owners within 200 
feet of the property boundary. 

(b) In addition to the notice required by Subsection (a), a general-law municipality that does not
have a zoning commission shall give notice of a proposed change in a zoning classification to
each property owner who would be entitled to notice under Section 211.007(c) if the municipality
had a zoning commission.  That notice must be given in the same manner as required for notice
to property owners under Section 211.007(c).  The governing body may not adopt the proposed
change until after the 30th day after the date the notice required by this subsection is given.

N/A. Bastrop is not a general-law municipality. 

(c) If the governing body of a home-rule municipality conducts a hearing under Subsection (a),
the governing body may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time
and place of the public hearing.  Notice requirements prescribed under this subsection are in
addition to the publication of notice required by Subsection (a).

Notice of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours in advance. 

(d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this
subsection, the proposed change must receive, in order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at
least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed
by the owners of at least 20 percent of either:

(1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or

(2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed
change and extending 200 feet from that area.

(e) In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection (d), the area of streets and alleys
shall be included.

At the time of this report, no protest has been received. 

(f) The governing body by ordinance may provide that the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of all its members is required to overrule a recommendation of the municipality's zoning
commission that a proposed change to a regulation or boundary be denied.

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

Compliance with 2036 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Future Land Use Plan – Neighborhood Residential:  The Neighborhood Residential character

area is for single-family residential subdivision development, associated amenities such as
parks, trails, open spaces, and public uses such as schools, fire stations, and more. Although
individual developments may exhibit common features including home size, lot size, setbacks,
impervious surface coverage, etc., the character area supports variations of these spatial and
aesthetics characteristics, subject to appropriate transitions in form, scale, and density
between blocks or adjacent developments. In some instances, transitions between
developments and adjacent character areas may include higher density housing types or
neighborhood oriented commercial uses of limited scale.

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007


The Neighborhood Residential land use supports limit commercial uses that are compatible 
with the neighborhood.  Given the location of the property, and the fact that Main Street is a 
prime thoroughfare for connecting the neighborhood to the downtown, the house-form P-4 
Mix would be compatible with the land use. 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission motion to approve the 
request failed by a vote of three to four. 

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
At the November 26, 2019 meeting, City Council conducted the public hearing and first reading 
and moved to approve the request by a vote of 5-0. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-73 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 1.866 acres of Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction from P-
3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, located at 1903 Main Street, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas, 
as shown in Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance
• Exhibit A: Location Map
• Attachment 1:  Applicant Request
• Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners Notification
• Attachment 3:  Zoning Map
• Attachment 4:  Future Land Use Map
• Attachment 5:  Property Owner Responses



1 

ORDINANCE 2019-73 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, REZONING 1.866 ACRES OF BRADFORD SUBDIVISION, LOT 
2 FRACTION FROM P-3 NEIGHBORHOOD, TO P-4 MIX, LOCATED AT 
1903 MAIN STREET, WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS; 
AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A; INCLUDING A SEVERABLILITY CLAUSE; 
AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Steve & Kerry Fossler (hereinafter referred to as “Property Owner”) 
submitted a request to 1.866 acres of Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction, within the 
City limits of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the Property”; and 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as P-3 Neighborhood; and  

WHEREAS, the Property Owner is requesting to be rezoned to P-4 Mix; and  

WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Designation for this Property is The 
Neighborhood Residential character area is for single-family residential subdivision 
development, associated amenities such as parks, trails, open spaces, and public uses 
such as schools, fire stations, and in some instances, transitions between developments 
and adjacent character areas may include higher density housing types or 
neighborhood oriented commercial uses of limited scale; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211, notice of 
the rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of 
the Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a 
public hearing on the rezoning request on November 21, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
motion to approve the request failed by a vote of three to four; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop held a public hearing on 
November 26, 2019 to consider the Property Owner’s request; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicants, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds by a vote of 5-0 that it is in the public interest to approve the rezoning. 



2 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1:    The Property, situated on 1.866 acres of Bradford Subdivision, Lot 
2 Fraction, located 1903 Main Street, in the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more 
particularly shown on attachment Exhibit A is rezoned to P-4 Mix.  

Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 

Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in 
accordance with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of 
Texas. 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 
2019. 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 
2019. 

APPROVED: 

___________________________
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



M
AIN

 ST

HAWTHORNE ST

Exhibit A
Location Map

H
ILL ST

M
AIN

 ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ILSO

N
 ST

HAWTHORNE ST

ELM ST

BUCHANAN ST

W
ATER

 ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

LAUREL ST

JUNIPER ST

PERSIMMON ST

HICKORY ST

WILHELM ST

ELM ST

HAWTHORNE ST

LAUREL ST

1 inch = 104 feet
0 70 14035

Feet

Date: 11/12/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1903 Cedar Street
Rezone Request



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Individual Property Owner Place Type Change Request 

Proposed Place Type Zoning (from the notice):   

Requested Place Type Zoning:   

Reason for Requested Place Type / Why I would like to change my zoning: 

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address/Parcel ID:  

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Staff Use Only 

Reviewed By:   

Staff Comments: 

Staff Recommendation: ☐ Approve ☐ Deny

Attachment 1

aland
Received



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019 
at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 
on changing 1.866 acres of Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction, located at 1903 Main Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code – Neighborhood District (which is being rezoned to P-3 Neighborhood with the 
B³ Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1903 Main Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 28823 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Neighborhood 
Proposed B³ Code Zoning (Place Type): P-3 Neighborhood

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211.  Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

PROPERTY OWNER’S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
☐ I am in favor of the change.
☐ I am opposed to the change.
☐ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address:  

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

Phone (optional):   Email (optional): 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Additional Comments (Optional):  

Re: Place Type Change 28823_Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction_1903 Main Street 

Attachment 2

https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop


709

800

805
803801

707705

609607605603

802704

610608606604

810

716

805803

711

707
705

1916

2008

2002

2000

2006

2004

1912

1824

1822

1914

1912

1910

1908

1906

1904

1902

2001

1919

1917

1915

1913

1911

1909

1907

1905

1903

1820
1819

2010

2011

M
AIN

LAUREL

HAWTHORNE

PEC
AN

W
ATER

LAUREL

Location Map
Zoning Change
1903 Main St ³Date: 11/1/2019

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   1 inch = 139.95 feet

H
IL

L

M
A

IN

P
E

C
A

N

W
IL

S
O

N

CEDAR

C
A

R
T

E
R

LINDEN

ELM

OAK

JUNIPER

MAGNOLIA

RIVERWOOD

HAWTHORNE

CYPRESS

D
R

A
G

O
N

F
L
Y

MAPLE

REIDS BEND

LOCUST

LAUREL

G
A

R
F

IE
L

D

R
O

O
S

E
V

E
L

T

W
A

T
E

R

B
U

S
H

PERSIMMON
C

H
U

R
C

H

L
IN

C
O

L
N

WILHELM

P
R

IC
K

L
Y

 P
E

A
R

PEA JAY

ELM

MAGNOLIA

LAUREL

W
A

T
E

R



M
AIN

 ST

PEC
AN

 ST

LAUREL ST

HAWTHORNE ST

WILHELM ST

HICKORY ST

W
ATER

 ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

BUCHANAN ST
HAWTHORNE ST

LAUREL ST

Attachment 4
Future Land Use Map

H
ILL ST

M
AIN

 ST

PEC
AN

 ST

HAWTHORNE ST

ELM ST

W
ATER

 ST

BUCHANAN ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

ELM ST
ELM ST

1 inch = 208 feet
0 140 28070

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1903 Main Street
Rezone Request

Legend
Land Use

Neighborhood Residential
Downtown Bastrop



Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

,�_l 
BASTROPTX 
Hmt or thr lolt Pim 

flt.lljl 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019

at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas

on changing 1.866 acres of Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction, located at 1903 Main Street, from the 
existing Form-Based Code - Neighborhood District (which is being rezoned to P-3 Neighborhood with the 
B3 Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1903 Main Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 28823 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Neighborhood 
Proposed B3 Code Zoning (Place Type): P-3 Neighborhood

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 
3-<------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
IQ/"" I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: St�ve., 1 : 'Keet:) L fossl c r
Property Address: \q D!;> fv\a�o 5t. �asfup.. Y 3 g--<oo2

Mailing Address (if different than property address): _________________ _ 

Phone (optional): :) fb. 'B:1?2-TL IR Email (optional): K�l j_
Property Owner's Signature:_.,

�
=>--�Z::::�7.,c._

-::::::::::::::==-"
�

=b,..::;....
--;?��-----------

Additional Comments (Optional): ________________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 28823_Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction_ 1903 Main Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street - PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 

Attachment 5



�----------------------------------------------------------------------

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one)
□ I am in favor of the change. 
if I am opposed to the change. 
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: �,+fmj pe,(l fo71

Property Address: / q DS mmn 5:,=truzf:

Mailing Address (if different than property address): __________________ 

Phone (optional): ? · 7ff.rr 7-S I Email (optional):

Property Owner's Signature: ,t&z�· ) &�

Additional Comments (Optional):··_·· ___ ?!_· ___________________ _ 
Re: Place Type Change 28823_Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction_ 1903 Main Stre;ef

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840
www.cityofbastrop.org 



� .. ·- '"'"' ,. . ,�u••=�• •• u . "' ... • ·"'•--- .,, , .' ;.. ;_ _ �•�•�. -�-•--·, �s •=·-"'-'"� _;_ ;_ � _.,�.:. ;,.;.;· •·· ·• �•�•--•-

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
J( I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: �¥ [ DD c.a e,.n:t� r D
Property Address: \C\ b'1 ffi(:U)i\ :± ;:ibf\strl2p L:X

Mailing Address (if different than property address): _________________ _ 

Phone (optional): SJ� - 3:}_J- Qbl/5 Email (optional): bCc.,ef\¼:rD @< �hbD, � 
Property Owner's Signature: J!f� C-,_ {...JZ-...<..4=� 
Additional Comments (Optional): _______________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 28823_Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction_ 1903 Main Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 

')i.. I am in favor of the change.
D I am opposed to the change. 

Property

0

owner�"a::

n

lk�;�r:t�t�. lru��-tf 
Property Address ,ci�tJJ� S:::t ;na..s=tRcr';:J)C Z:S2:ooct= 
Mailing Address (if different than property address): _________________ _ 

-

Phone (optional):_:)' ;}- IJ;(!,{, �(/4 / �ail (optional): , 
1 

Property Owners Signatua� � -��-r:-&i-t---
Additional Comments (Optional): _______________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 28823_Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction_ 1903 Mal� i�et\
1
'' ·· 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



From: David Barrow
To: Planning Dept; Allison Land
Subject: Property Owner Response for Zone Change - 1903 Main St.
Date: Thursday, November 21, 2019 2:38:01 PM

SUBJECT LINE: Property Owner Response for Zone Change - 1903 Main St.

Good afternoon Allison and Planning Dept,
Could you kindly add this response form the P&Z and City Council Packets:

Property Address:  1903 Main St, Bastrop, TX 78602
Property ID: 28823
Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Neighborhood
Proposed B3 Code Zoning: P-3 Neighborhood
Requested Zoning: P-4 Mix

PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE:

I AM IN FAVOR OF THE CHANGE

Property Owner's Name: Sonya Coté & David Barrow
Property Address: 1910 Main St, Bastrop, TX 78602
Phone: 510-501-5505
Email: edeneastfarm@gmail.com

Thank you!
Sonya Coté & David Barrow

-- 
Eden East Farm

https://edeneastaustin.com/
https://www.facebook.com/edeneastfarm/
https://www.instagram.com/farmeredeneast/?hl=en

WARNING EXTERNAL EMAIL: This email is from an external source. Do not click links
or open attachments without positive sender verification of purpose. Never enter Username,
Password or sensitive information on linked pages from this email. If you are unsure about
the message, please contact the IT Department for assistance.

mailto:edeneastfarm@gmail.com
mailto:plan@cityofbastrop.org
mailto:aland@cityofbastrop.org
mailto:edeneastfarm@gmail.com
https://edeneastaustin.com/
https://www.facebook.com/edeneastfarm/
https://www.instagram.com/farmeredeneast/?hl=en


STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM: 8J 

TITLE:

Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-74 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street, located at 
1910 Main Street and 2.467 acres of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street, to the west of 1910 Main 
Street from P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in 
Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Jennifer C. Bills, AICP, LEED AP, Assistant Planning Director 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 1910 Main Street, Property ID #s 29031 & 47880 (Exhibit A)
Total Acreage: 3.227 acres
Legal Description: 3.227 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street 
Property Owner: Charles Wilkins 

Existing Use: Residential 
Existing Zoning: P-3 Neighborhood (Previously Single-Family 7) (Attachment 3)
Requested Zoning: P-4 Mix
Future Land Use: Neighborhood Residential (Attachment 4) 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY:
The property owner has requested to be zoned to P-4 Mix to allow them to run an urban farm. 
According to the property owner, the site has a long history of running a flower farm.  The site is 
comprised of two tracts; 1910 Main Street has frontage onto the street and is single-family house. 
To the west of this property is a land-locked, 2.467 acre tract that is the remainder of Farm Lot 5. 
This piece does not have any street access, which is required for subdivision or development. 
Given that further subdivision will be very difficult without the ability to provide a new public street, 
P-4 Mix would allow the tract to be developed together.

As an accessory use to the property at 1910 Main Street, an urban farm would be an appropriate 
use.  P-4 Mix will allow commercial uses within a house-form structure, as well as single-family 
and multi-family uses on both parcels, however additional development process (subdivision, site 
development plans) would be required in order to provide access and build on the 2.467 acres. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:
Property owner notifications were sent to 37 adjacent property owners on  November 5, 2019 
(Attachment 2). At the time of this report, five responses in favor, two opposed, one with no 
objection, and one that provided comment with no direction have been received. (Attachment 5)

POLICY EXPLANATION:
Texas Local Government Code 

Sec. 211.006. PROCEDURES GOVERNING ADOPTION OF ZONING REGULATIONS AND 
DISTRICT BOUNDARIES. (a) The governing body of a municipality wishing to exercise the 
authority relating to zoning regulations and zoning district boundaries shall establish procedures 



for adopting and enforcing the regulations and boundaries. A regulation or boundary is not 
effective until after a public hearing on the matter at which parties in interest and citizens have an 
opportunity to be heard. Before the 15th day before the date of the hearing, notice of the time and 
place of the hearing must be published in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general 
circulation in the municipality. 

Notice was published in the Bastrop Advertiser and notice was sent to property owners within 200 
feet of the property boundary. 

(b) In addition to the notice required by Subsection (a), a general-law municipality that does not
have a zoning commission shall give notice of a proposed change in a zoning classification to
each property owner who would be entitled to notice under Section 211.007(c) if the municipality
had a zoning commission.  That notice must be given in the same manner as required for notice
to property owners under Section 211.007(c).  The governing body may not adopt the proposed
change until after the 30th day after the date the notice required by this subsection is given.

N/A. Bastrop is not a general-law municipality. 

(c) If the governing body of a home-rule municipality conducts a hearing under Subsection (a),
the governing body may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time
and place of the public hearing.  Notice requirements prescribed under this subsection are in
addition to the publication of notice required by Subsection (a).

Notice of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours in advance. 

(d) If a proposed change to a regulation or boundary is protested in accordance with this
subsection, the proposed change must receive, in order to take effect, the affirmative vote of at
least three-fourths of all members of the governing body.  The protest must be written and signed
by the owners of at least 20 percent of either:

(1) the area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change; or

(2) the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed
change and extending 200 feet from that area.

(e) In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection (d), the area of streets and alleys
shall be included.

At the time of this report, no protest has been received. 

(f) The governing body by ordinance may provide that the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of all its members is required to overrule a recommendation of the municipality's zoning
commission that a proposed change to a regulation or boundary be denied.

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

Compliance with 2036 Comprehensive Plan: 
• Future Land Use Plan –Neighborhood Residential:  The Neighborhood Residential character

area is for single-family residential subdivision development, associated amenities such as
parks, trails, open spaces, and public uses such as schools, fire stations, and more. Although
individual developments may exhibit common features including home size, lot size, setbacks,
impervious surface coverage, etc., the character area supports variations of these spatial and

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=211.007


aesthetics characteristics, subject to appropriate transitions in form, scale, and density 
between blocks or adjacent developments. In some instances, transitions between 
developments and adjacent character areas may include higher density housing types or 
neighborhood oriented commercial uses of limited scale.   

The Neighborhood Residential land use supports limit commercial uses that are compatible 
with the neighborhood.  Given the size of the property, and the fact that providing full street 
accesses for further subdivision would be difficult, allowing P-4 Mix with single-family, multi-
family and house-form commercial would allow the parcels to develop without further 
subdivision.  

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
At the November 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission motion to approve 
failed by a vote of three to four. 

If the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends denial of the zoning request, the City Council 
must have a minimum vote of 4 out of 5 members to approve the zoning request. 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
At the November 26, 2019 meeting, City Council conducted the public hearing and first reading 
and moved to approve the request by a vote of 5-0. 

RECOMMENDATION:
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-74 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, rezoning 0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street, located at 
1910 Main Street and 2.467 acres of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street, to the west of 1910 Main 
Street from P-3 Neighborhood, to P-4 Mix, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas; as shown in 
Exhibit A; including a severability clause; and establishing an effective date. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance
• Exhibit A: Location Map
• Attachment 1:  Applicant Request
• Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners Notification
• Attachment 3:  Zoning Map
• Attachment 4:  Future Land Use Map
• Attachment 5:  Property Owner Responses



1 

ORDINANCE 2019-74 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, REZONING 0.760 ACRES OF FARM LOT 5, WEST OF MAIN 
STREET, LOCATED AT 1910 MAIN STREET AND 2.467 ACRES OF 
FARM LOT 5 WEST OF MAIN STREET, TO THE WEST OF 1910 MAIN 
STREET FROM P-3 NEIGHBORHOOD, TO P-4 MIX, WITHIN THE CITY 
LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS; AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A; INCLUDING 
A SEVERABLILITY CLAUSE; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

WHEREAS, Charles Wilkins (hereinafter referred to as “Property Owner”) 
submitted a request to 0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street, within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter 
referred to as “the Property”; and 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as P-3 Neighborhood; and  

WHEREAS, the Property Owner is requesting to be rezoned to P-4 Mix; and  

WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Designation for this Property is The 
Neighborhood Residential character area is for single-family residential subdivision 
development, associated amenities such as parks, trails, open spaces, and public uses 
such as schools, fire stations, and in some instances, transitions between developments 
and adjacent character areas may include higher density housing types or 
neighborhood oriented commercial uses of limited scale; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211, notice of 
the rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of 
the Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a 
public hearing on the rezoning request on November 21, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
motion to approve failed by a vote of three to four; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop held a public hearing on 
November 26, 2019 to consider the Property Owner’s request; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicants, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds by a vote of 5-0 that it is in the public interest to approve the rezoning. 



2 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT:

Section 1:    The Property, situated on 0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main 
Street, located at 1910 Main Street and 2.467 acres of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street, 
to the west of 1910 Main Street, in the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more particularly 
shown on attachment Exhibit A is rezoned to P-4 Mix.  

Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 

Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in 
accordance with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of 
Texas. 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 
2019. 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 
2019. 

APPROVED: 

___________________________
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



M
AIN

 ST

W
ILSO

N
 ST

LAUREL ST

HICKORY ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

JUNIPER ST

LAUREL ST

Exhibit A
Location Map

¬«95

H
ILL ST

M
AIN

 ST

CEDAR ST

PEC
AN

 ST

LINDEN ST

W
ILSO

N
 ST

C
AR

TER
 ST

JUNIPER ST

ELM ST

OAK ST

CYPRESS ST

LAUREL ST

R
O

O
SEVELT ST

LOCUST ST

G
AR

FIELD
 ST

W
ATER

 ST

CATALPA ST

BU
SH

 C
V

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

HICKORY ST

PEA JAY CV

ELM ST

LAUREL ST

ELM ST

1 inch = 125 feet
0 80 16040

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1910 Main
Rezone Request



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Individual Property Owner Place Type Change Request 

Proposed Place Type Zoning (from the notice): 

Requested Place Type Zoning: 

Reason for Requested Place Type / Why I would like to change my zoning: 

             

             

              

     

Property Owner Name:     

Property Address/Parcel ID:             

Property Owner’s Signature:  
 

Staff Use Only 

Reviewed By:   

Staff Comments: 

Staff Recommendation: ☐ Approve ☐ Deny

P-3 Neighborhood

P-4 Mixed Use

Charles Wilkins

1910 Main St (R29031) and 1911 Wilson St (R47880) Bastrop, TX 78602
dotloop verified
10/04/19 11:33 AM EDT
XS2F-MGLP-QFRK-YVHX

Charles R. Wilkins, Trustee of The CE Wilkins Separate Property Living Trust dated Dec 18

dotloop signature verification: dtlp.us/PxG6-0Wis-XzFU

The property has a long history of running a flower farm. We would like to continue this tradition,

but run an urban farm. Our goal would be to grow a variety of vegetables that we would

sell to the public  - at farmers markets and to restaurants. We are low maintenance and

would like to keep the property as a green space, along with inviting schools and other groups to 

come learn and walk the gardens.

DocuSign Envelope ID: DE4A5D01-93F2-45AF-B5D9-A33AEF03E6F6

David Barrow

Sonya Cote

aland
Received



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
1311 Chestnut Street – PO Box 427 – Bastrop, Texas 78602 – 512.332.8840 

www.cityofbastrop.org 

Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

And City Council 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019 
at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 
on changing 0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street, located at 1910 Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street, to the west of 1910 Main Street, from the existing Form-Based Code – 
Neighborhood District (which is being rezoned to P-3 Neighborhood with the B³ Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, 
within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1910 Main Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 29031 & 47880 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Neighborhood 
Proposed B³ Code Zoning (Place Type): P-3 Neighborhood

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211.  Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 

PROPERTY OWNER’S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
☐ I am in favor of the change.
☐ I am opposed to the change.
☐ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name:   

Property Address:  

Mailing Address (if different than property address): 

Phone (optional):   Email (optional): 

Property Owner’s Signature: 

Additional Comments (Optional):  

Re: Place Type Change 29031 & 47880_0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street_1910 Main Street 

Attachment 2

https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop


416412

605 605603 603509 509507 507

506

413
411

412410

609607605603601

610608606604
602

509

508

507

506

505

504

503

502

501

500

413

412

411

410

413
411

412
410

507

503

504

502
500

414

2008
2008

2007

2007

191019101910191019101910
1910

1910
1910

19101910

1910
1910
1910

1910

1910

19101910 1910

1910
1910

2006

1914

1912

1910

1908

1906

1904

2009

2001

1919

1917

1915

1913

1911

1909

1907

19031903

2005

2003

1913

2003

1907

M
AIN

W
ILSO

N

LAUREL

OAK

HICKORY

JUNIPER

C
H

U
R

C
H

PERSIMMON

LAUREL

LAUREL

Location Map
Zoning Change
1910 Main St ³Date: 11/1/2019

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   1 inch = 139.95 feet

H
IL

L

M
A

IN

P
E

C
A

N

W
IL

S
O

N

CEDAR

C
A

R
T

E
R

LINDEN

ELM

OAK

JUNIPER

MAGNOLIA

RIVERWOOD

HAWTHORNE

CYPRESS

D
R

A
G

O
N

F
L
Y

MAPLE

REIDS BEND

LOCUST

LAUREL

G
A

R
F

IE
L

D

R
O

O
S

E
V

E
L

T

W
A

T
E

R

B
U

S
H

PERSIMMON
C

H
U

R
C

H

L
IN

C
O

L
N

WILHELM

P
R

IC
K

L
Y

 P
E

A
R

PEA JAY

ELM

MAGNOLIA

LAUREL

W
A

T
E

R



M
AIN

 ST

W
ILSO

N
 ST

OAK ST

LAUREL ST

JUNIPER ST

W
ATER

 ST

HICKORY ST

PERSIMMON ST

WILHELM ST

HAWTHORNE ST

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

LAUREL ST

LAUREL ST

HAWTHORNE ST

Attachment 4
Future Land Use Map

LINDEN ST

H
ILL ST

M
AIN

 ST

PEC
AN

 ST

W
ILSO

N
 ST

C
AR

TER
 ST

HAWTHORNE ST

JUNIPER ST

ELM ST

OAK ST

LAUREL ST

G
AR

FIELD
 ST

BUCHANAN ST

W
ATER

 ST

PERSIMMON ST

JEFFER
SO

N
 ST

WILHELM ST

PIN
ES PO

IN
TE D

R

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

ELM ST
ELM ST

LAUREL ST

1 inch = 208 feet
0 140 28070

Feet

Date: 11/13/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1910 Main Street
Rezone Request

Legend
Land Use

Neighborhood Residential
Downtown Bastrop



Attachment 5



Notice of Pending Zoning Change 

City of Bastrop 

Planning & Zoning Commission

And City Council 

� 

BASTROPTX 
Hmt of tht Lolt Pint! 

flt. lljl 

The Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a public hearing on Thursday, November 21, 2019

at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council will conduct a public hearing (first reading) Tuesday, November 26,

2019 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas

on changing 0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street, located at 1910 Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street, to the west of 1910 Main Street, from the existing Form-Based Code -
Neighborhood District (which is being rezoned to P-3 Neighborhood with the 83 Code rezoning) to P-4 Mix, 
within the City Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 

Property Address: 1910 Main Street 
Property ID/Parcel Number: 29031 & 47880 

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Neighborhood 
Proposed 83 Code Zoning (Place Type): P-3 Neighborhood

Requested Zoning (Place Type): P-4 Mix

You are receiving this notice as a property owner within 200 feet of the subject property, in accordance with 
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211. Attached is a site location map for reference. 

Additional information on the Bastrop Building Block Code Place Types and a zoning/place type map are 
available at this website: https://www.cityofbastrop.org/page/buildingbastrop 

You may also contact the Planning & Development Department at (512) 332-8840, plan@cityofbastrop.org, 
visit the office at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas, or mail the response card below to PO Box 427, 
Bastrop, Texas 78602. 
a-c------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
� I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: ,Steve � ; Ke.n2.) L. fussler 
Property Address: j;ffp \ 9 04 Ma..' n St-' fuske ,T,)C -:::i 3�02-...:���==�� 

Mailing Address (if different than property address): lq 03 Vvt,a..,n s+. �tisl� / TX 4 8'�2

Phone (optional): '.J 12, $'82--. :} 2.J 'i5 Email (optional): � @ ma,; J. tsn--,

Property Owner's Signature: �
�� 

Additional Comments (Optional): ________________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 29031 & 47880_0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street_ 1910 Main Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street - PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a proper:!¥ owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
if I am in favor of the change. 
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: � n
1 

/::}-(ltv{ $en W n
j 

Property Address: / C{ 0,5 main S�f-

Mailing Address (if different than property address): _________________ _ 

Phone (optional): S/2-7/w 2s3 J
< 

Email (optional): alchemysdpofkcatyGJj171cZl! 
� Ii) -T""-""" 

Gn-;
Property Owner's Signature: ___ s,""--"-�...;...:;_:..........,,,..;=.-J..'0-'Je.c..s.A=,=�-=---"--""<"---------------

Additional Comments (Optional): _______________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 29031 & 47880_0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street_ 1910 Main Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332:8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 

-� I am in favor of the change.
□ I am opposed to the change.
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: n�- f'tsr"\ �£ �f D 

')'t} 

,,ti:tlr
1

it 18 2019 

Property Address: \9'Di 'Ct\Ovi>f) :S\-: �stmp ll 7�\ oD�
Mailing Address (if different than property address): _________________ _ 

Phone (optional): 21�-3(1)- j Dl/5 Email (optional):tc rent±-fD ct. �oJnDD i f 1501 
Property Owners Signature: By- _ C:: . 4 �------.. ~·--·· ·  · 

Additional Comments (Optional): _______________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 29031 & 47880_0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street_ 1910 Main Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840
www.cityofbastrop.org 



:r<--------------· --------------------------

PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 
□ I am in favor of the change.
D I am opposed to the change.

X I have no objection to the cha�gf- /J

Property Owner Name: m ;1Jln..J /1..JfurLJ..JL,,,-,.-
, 

Property Address: 0 / 6 Ltw-.--� � ·

Mailing Ad.dress (if different than property address): J;!1f:: /JO 7.Jij/� S'J.-, tZ.0-T &-sJr
Phone (optional): ___________ Email (optional): _____________ _ 

Property Owner's Signature: �d{ 'ZJ� 
Additional Comments (Optional): ________________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 29031 & 47880_0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street_ 191 O Main Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 





Co»� &�£',{ ✓�cit; � �✓u--4, d � U--u Jd/J/4-�L 

�· .
::Lh,,, 

� � � � _,,?� � "'fr 
� � �J � J M ;_, � ·� 

'f ��, !fJ �d�v �·· � ·-��VJA� 

C0Ld c<L,f J°-4� .�d. g.-



PROPERTY OWNER'S RESPONSE 

As a property owner within 200 feet: (please check one) 

� / 
I am in favor of the change.

� I am opposed to the change. 
□ I have no objection to the change.

Property Owner Name: tJ ;;t L i-.e r 7"i y b cac � , 

Property Address: 5 D 7 Ii, (!, Ir & i/y s t:

r,:,t;u 
' _,} • "-�"· ,.,,,_,,�¼��m,,,,,�,-•"'-""'"'�"·. 

'"'·" ¼"''''-""'' '<•¼ Ms. , 

Mailing Address (if different than property address): _________________ _ 

Phone (optional): , £/,:J.,.. 7 / 3-�ail (optional): __________ _ 

Property Owner's Signature: =zt_ )d,t;t;;;;:_, cf/2,,� 1 

Additional Comments (Optional): ________________________ _ 

Re: Place Type Change 29031 & 47880_0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street and 2.467 acres 
of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street_ 191 0 Main Street 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

1311 Chestnut Street- PO Box 427 - Bastrop, Texas 78602 - 512.332.8840 
www.cityofbastrop.org 



From: David Barrow
To: Allison Land; Planning Dept
Subject: Property Owner Response for Zone Change - 1910 Main St
Date: Thursday, November 21, 2019 2:40:04 PM

Good afternoon Allison and Planning Dept,

Could you kindly add this response form to the P&Z and City Council Packets:

Property Address:  1910 Main St, Bastrop, TX 78602

Property ID: 29031 & 47880

Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Neighborhood

Proposed B3 Code Zoning: P-3 Neighborhood

Requested Zoning: P-4 Mix

PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE:

I AM IN FAVOR OF THE CHANGE.

We are not developing the property. Our intentions are to keep it a green space and encourage our neighbors to participate in

anything we do in the future. 

Property Owner's Name: Sonya Cote and David Barrow

Property Address: 1910 Main St, Bastrop, TX 78602

Phone: 510-501-5505

Email: edeneastfarm@gmail.com

Thank you!

Sonya Coté & David Barrow

-- 
Eden East Farm
Farm Stand hours every Wednesday and Saturday 9 AM -1 PM
755 Springdale Rd.
Austin, Texas 78702
https://edeneastaustin.com/
https://www.facebook.com/edeneastfarm/
https://www.instagram.com/farmeredeneast/?hl=en

WARNING EXTERNAL EMAIL: This email is from an external source. Do not click links or open attachments without
positive sender verification of purpose. Never enter Username, Password or sensitive information on linked pages from this
email. If you are unsure about the message, please contact the IT Department for assistance.

mailto:edeneastfarm@gmail.com
mailto:aland@cityofbastrop.org
mailto:plan@cityofbastrop.org
mailto:edeneastfarm@gmail.com
https://edeneastaustin.com/
https://www.facebook.com/edeneastfarm/
https://www.instagram.com/farmeredeneast/?hl=en


From: Ellen Tanner
To: Planning Dept; Allison Land
Subject: Property Owner Response for Zone Change - 1910 Main St.
Date: Thursday, November 21, 2019 2:56:37 PM

Good morning Allison and Planning Dept,
Could you kindly add this response form the the P&Z and City Council Packets:

Property Address:  1910 Main St, Bastrop, TX 78602
Property ID: 28823
Current Zoning: Form-Based Code - Neighborhood
Proposed B3 Code Zoning: P-3 Neighborhood
Requested Zoning: P-4 Mix

PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE:
While I am in very much in favor of the proposed use of the property across the street
from us by the current buyer I am a bit reticent to cast my vote in favor of an all time
change to the zoning of properties on Main St. It seems to me to make good sense that
this zoning change should come up for a review if a potential future buyer plans to do
something exponentially different, such as build a bunch of cheap apartment buildings
which will create more noise and traffic on the street. There is a huge difference between
a gardening venture which has been pitched as an effort to beautify and support the
existing community and some of the other scenarios suggested in the language of the zone
change. Is there any way these zoning changes could be made on more of a case by case
basis so that those of us who live in the neighborhood can still object to some
unforeseen possibility which will change the landscape of the street in a way which could
potentially have a negative impact on the value of our properties?

Property Owner's Name: Ellen Marie Tanner & Josh Lee Gordon
Property Address: 1911 Main St, Bastrop, TX 78602
Phone: 512-985-7209
Email: lntann75@gmail.com

Thank you!
Ellen Tanner

WARNING EXTERNAL EMAIL: This email is from an external source. Do not click links
or open attachments without positive sender verification of purpose. Never enter Username,
Password or sensitive information on linked pages from this email. If you are unsure about
the message, please contact the IT Department for assistance.

mailto:lntann75@gmail.com
mailto:plan@cityofbastrop.org
mailto:aland@cityofbastrop.org
mailto:lntann75@gmail.com


 STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: 8K 

TITLE: 
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-75 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas amending the Bastrop Building Block Code (B3) as adopted by 
Ordinance No 2019-51, Chapter 2, titled “Zoning Procedures”, Article 2.4, titled “Administration,” 
Sections 2.4.002(b) and  2.4.003(b); allowing Zoning Board of Adjustment members to be 
alternates for the Planning and Zoning Commission, attached as Exhibit A; providing for findings 
of fact, enactment, repealer, severability, effective date, and proper notice and meeting. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Tracy Waldron, Chief Financial Officer 

BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The City Council, at a meeting held on November 12, 2019, discussed proposed changes to the 
Boards & Commissions Ordinance. One of the changes council included in the motion was to add 
the language to the Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) code that allowed those members to be 
alternates to the Planning and Zoning Commission.  

Due to the passing of H.B. 3167 that places a “shot clock” on certain development submittals, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission will need to be able to meet with regular consistence. With 
additional alternates available to this board, the ability to get a quorum for regular meetings is 
increased.   

Because the ZBA code was not in the original Boards and Commissions Ordinance we are bring 
forth this ordinance to include the councils requested language to the code. 

This ordinance was approved at the November 26, 2019 Council Meeting.

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The City Charter states the act of amending or repealing an existing ordinance shall be done by 
City Council through approval of an ordinance. 

FUNDING SOURCE: 
N/A 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2019-75 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas amending the Bastrop Building Block Code (B3) as adopted by 
Ordinance No 2019-51, Chapter 2, titled “Zoning Procedures”, Article 2.4, titled “Administration,” 
Sections 2.4.002(b) and  2.4.003(b); allowing Zoning Board of Adjustment members to be 
alternates for the Planning and Zoning Commission, attached as Exhibit A; providing for findings 
of fact, enactment, repealer, severability, effective date, and proper notice and meeting. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance 2019-75



City of Bastrop Ord #Boards and Commissions 
Chapter 1 General Provisions Page 1 of 6 

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-75 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS, AMENDING THE 
BASTROP BUILDING BLOCK CODE (B3) AS ADOPTED BY ORDINANCE 
NO. 2019-51, CHAPTER 2, TITLED “ZONING PROCEDURES,” ARTICLE 
2.4, TITLED “ADMINISTRATION,” SECTIONS 2.4.002(b) AND 2.4.003(b); 
ALLOWING ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEMBERS TO BE 
ALTERNATES FOR THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION, 
ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT A; PROVIDING FOR FINDINGS OF 
FACT, ENACTMENT, REPEALER, SEVERABILITY, 
EFFECTIVE DATE, AND PROPER NOTICE AND MEETING. 

WHEREAS,  the City of Bastrop, Texas (the “City”) is a Home-Rule City acting 
under its Charter adopted by the electorate pursuant to Article XI, Section 5 of the Texas 
Constitution and Chapter 9 of the Local Government Code; and  

WHEREAS, the City is authorized by Texas Local Government Code § 51.001 to 
adopt or amend any ordinance is for the good government, peace, or order of the 
municipality or for the trade and commerce of the municipality; and 

WHEREAS,  Article III, Section 3.01 of the Bastrop City Charter gives the City 
Council the authority to provide for boards and commissions, and to appoint the members 
of all such boards and commissions; and 

WHEREAS, the City is authorized by Texas Local Government Code §211.007 to 
appoint a zoning commission; and 

WHEREAS,  the passage of H.B. 3167 requires Planning and Zoning Commission 
to meet regularly to comply with this new legislation; and 

WHEREAS,  the Planning and Zoning Commission has had to cancel meetings in 
the past due to lack of a quorum of their members; and 

WHEREAS,  the City Council has determined that allowing Zoning Board of 
Adjustment members to serve as alternates to the Planning and Zoning Commission will 
improve this issue. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. FINDINGS OF FACT 

The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Ordinance by reference as findings 
of fact as if expressly set forth herein. 



SECTION 2. ENACTMENT 

Chapter 2, Article 2.4, Sections 2.4.002(b) and 2.4.003(b) of the Bastrop Building 
Block (B3) Code, as adopted into the City’s Code of Ordinances by Ordinance No. 2019-
51, of the City of Bastrop are amended to read as described and attached here to as 
Exhibit “A.” 

SECTION 3. REPEALER 

In the case of any conflict between the other provisions of this Ordinance and any 
existing Ordinance of the City, the provisions of this Ordinance will control. 

SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 
circumstances is held invalid, that invalidity or the unenforceability will not affect any other 
provisions or applications of this Ordinance that can be given effect without the invalid 
provision. 

SECTION 5. ENFORCEMENT

The City shall have the power to administer and enforce the provisions of this 
ordinance as may be required by governing law.  Any person violating any provision of 
this ordinance is subject to suit for injunctive relief as well as prosecution for criminal 
violations, and such violation is hereby declared to be a nuisance. Nothing in this 
ordinance shall be construed as a waiver of the City’s right to bring a civil action to enforce 
the provisions of this ordinance and to seek remedies as allowed by law and/or equity.   

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE 

This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon passage and publication. 

SECTION 7. PROPER NOTICE AND MEETING 

It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this Ordinance 
was passed was open to the public, and that public notice of the time, place and purpose 
of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act, Texas Government 
Code, Chapter 551. 

READ & APPROVED on First Reading on the 26th day of November 2019. 

READ & ADOPTED on the Second Reading on the 10th day of December 2019. 



APPROVED: 

by: _______________________ 
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor   

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

___________________________ 
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



Exhibit A 

City of Bastrop, TX  

BASTROP BUILDING BLOCK (B3), CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 2 – ZONING PROCEDURES 

ARTICLE 2.4- ADMINISTRATION 

Sec. 2.4.002 – Planning & Zoning Commission 

(b) Created Membership, Officers and Alternates:

(1) There is hereby created, in accordance with Subchapter 211.007 of

the Texas Local Government Code and the City's Charter, a

Planning & Zoning Commission that shall consist of 9 citizens who

reside in the City Limits. Members shall be appointed by the Mayor

and confirmed by City Council for a term of 3 years. Terms of 1/3 of

the Planning & Zoning Commission shall expire each year upon

September 30th, or until a successor is appointed. Vacancies and

unexpired terms of members shall be filled by the appointment of

the Mayor and confirmed by City Council. These appointments shall

be for the remainder of the term.

(2) Members may be removed from office at any time by a majority vote

of the City Council for any reason. All members serve without

compensation.

(3) Attendance requirements for the Planning & Zoning Commission

members are set forth in the Code of Ordinances, Section

1.02.002(b), et seq.

(4) The City staff shall keep minutes of all meetings held by the

Planning & Zoning Commission and full record of all

recommendations to be made by the Planning & Zoning



Commission to the City Council. Minutes shall constitute a report 

and record of all Planning & Zoning Commission meetings, including 

hearings. 

(5) A Chair and Vice-chairman shall be elected by the Planning &

Zoning Commission from its membership, each to hold office for 1

year or until replaced by a majority vote of the Planning & Zoning

Commission.

(6) Alternates may be appointed by the Council when it’s deemed

necessary, and occurs in the same manner as the appointment of

members. Members of the Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) serve

as alternates to the Planning and Zoning Commission.

(67) Additional alternates may be appointed by the Council when it’s

deemed necessary and occurs in the same manner as the

appointment of members.

Sec. 2.4.003 – Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) 

(b) Membership; Terms of Office:

(1) The ZBA shall consist of 5 regular members and 2 alternate
members who shall be appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by
the City Council, in accordance with state law.

(2) Members of the ZBA shall regularly attend meetings and public
hearings of the ZBA and shall serve without compensation.
Attendance requirements for the ZBA members are set forth in the
Bastrop Code of Ordinances, Section 1.02.002(b).

(3) Members may be removed by majority vote of the members of the
City Council, for cause on a written charge after a public hearing. 
ZBA members may be appointed to succeed themselves. 
Members of the ZBA can serve as alternates to the Planning and 
Zoning Commission. 



(34) Members may be removed by majority vote of the members of the
City Council, for cause on a written charge after a public hearing.
ZBA members may be appointed to succeed themselves.

(45) Any vacancy of a regular member shall be filled by an alternate
member only for the unexpired term of the member whose term
becomes vacant.



STAFF REPORT 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019  AGENDA ITEM: 9A 

TITLE:  
Conduct public hearing and consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-134 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, granting Historic Landmark status for 0.470 acres of Building 
Block 54, East of Water Street, located at 1305 Pine Street, also known as the Beverly & Lula 
Kerr House, within the city limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas, as attached in Exhibit A; providing 
for findings of fact; providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 

Jennifer C. Bills, AICP, LEED AP, Assistant Planning Director/Historic Preservation Officer 

ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 1305 Pine Street (Attachment 1)
Property Owner: Jensey and Kathleen Lund 
Current Use: Residence/Short-term Rental
Existing Zoning: P-4 Mix
Designations: National Register of Historic Places

BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The property owners at 1305 Pine Street have requested the Historic Landmark Commission 
consider this property for local Historic Landmark designation.  Once the Commission makes a 
recommendation, it will be placed on the next available City Council agenda for public hearing 
and consideration. 

This property was designated on the National Register of Historic Places on September 28, 1978 
as the Beverly & Lula Kerr House.  The structure was built between 1890-1895 and is a raised 



one-story wood frame Victorian residence with a full basement.  The structure is shown on the 
1921 Sanborn Insurance map (blocks are mislabeled), which shows that the footprint of the 
structure has not been significantly altered. 

In addition to the architectural significance, the property holds historical significant for black history 
in Bastrop.  Beverly Kerr was a barber and a band and orchestral teacher, leading the group 
known as “Kerr’s Orchestra” which played engagements in the city.  Lula Kerr taught music at the 
primary level for the school for 40 years.  A site layout, National Register history, and current 
pictures of the property are attached and were provided to the Commission to review.  The 
Commission determined that due to the significance to local culture and association with 
signification people in Bastrop, the property meets criteria A and C. 

POLICY EXPLANATION:
Chapter 14 – Zoning, Article 14.03.002 
(b) Criteria for historic landmark status.

(2) A structure or site also may be designated by the city as a historic landmark if it
meets two (2) or more of the criteria set out below.

(A) Possesses significance in history, architecture, archeology, or
culture;

(B) Is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of local, regional, state, or national history;
(C) Is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past;

(D) Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction;

(E) Represents the work of a master designer, builder, or craftsman; or
(F) Represents an established and familiar visual feature of the city.

(c) Process for designation of historic landmarks.

(1) Owners of property being considered for designation as a historic landmark shall
be notified prior to the Commission hearing on the recommended designation. The
Commission shall provide notice to property owners within two hundred (200) feet
of the property and conduct a public hearing.

(2) After consideration by the Historic Landmark Commission, a recommendation
regarding designations shall be submitted the City Council to conduct a public
hearing and consider the designations of a historic landmark. The adoption of the
landmark shall be through a resolution.

(3) Upon designation of a historic landmark, the City Council shall cause the
designation to be noted as follows:

(A) Recorded in the official real property records of Bastrop County.
(B) Designated on the historic resource map of the city.
(C) Provide the property owner with a plaque and require the installation

indicating the designation of the landmark as a city historic landmark.



86th Legislature House Bill 2496 
Effective May 25, 2019 the Texas State Legislature adopted additional regulations 
municipalities must follow for designating historic landmarks.  Most of the regulations are 
already present in the Bastrop Historic Landmark Preservation Ordinance.  One additional 
requirement with which the city must comply is sending the property owner a statement that 
describes the impact of the designation to the property 15 days before the first hearing.  Staff 
sent this letter on November 1, 2019. 

NOTIFICATION: 
Twelve property owners within 200 feet 1305 Pine Street were notified of the public hearing on 
November 1, 2019. 

HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
The HLC, the regular meeting on November 20, 2019, recommended approval for 1305 Pine 
Street to be a local Historic Landmark, provide the owner a marker and add to the inventory for 
rebates. 

RECOMMENDATION:
Conduct public hearing and consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-134 of the City 
Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, granting Historic Landmark status for 0.470 acres of Building 
Block 54, East of Water Street, located at 1305 Pine Street, also known as the Beverly & Lula 
Kerr House, within the city limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas, as attached in Exhibit A; providing 
for findings of fact; providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution
• Exhibit A – Agreement
• Attachment 1 – Location Map
• Attachment 2 – Site Layout
• Attachment 3 – National Register Information
• Attachment 4 – 2019 Property Pictures



Page 1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2019-134 

A RESOLUTION  OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS, 
GRANTING HISTORIC LANDMARK STATUS FOR 0.470 ACRES OF 

BUILDING BLOCK 54, EAST OF WATER STREET,  LOCATED AT 1305 
PINE STREET, ALSO KNOWN AS THE BEVERLY & LULA KERR HOUSE, 
WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS, AS ATTACHED IN EXHIBIT 
A; PROVIDNG FOR FINDINGS OF FACT; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALING 
CLAUSE; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Jensey and Kathleen Lund (“the Owner”) has submitted a request for Historic 
Landmark status for the structure at 1305 Pine Street; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 9: Historic Landmark Preservation & Iredell District of the B³ Code 
adopted with Ordinance No. 2019-51 provides a designation process for historic sites and 
structures; and 

WHEREAS, notice of the historic designation was sent in accordance the B³ Code to notify 
property owners within 200 feet of the property and Texas Local Government Code Section 
211.0165 to notify the property owner of the impact of the designation; and 

WHEREAS, the Historic Landmark Commission held a public hearing and considered the 
request on November 20, 2019 and voted to recommend approval by a vote of 6-0. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS:  

Section 1:  The Historic Landmark status for 0.470 acres of Building Block 54, East of 
Water Street, also known as 1305 Pine Street, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas, is hereby 
approved and Exhibit A, a copy of agreement to be signed by the Property Owner, and 
incorporated herein for all purposes. 

Section 2:  The following findings of fact were established for the structures at 1305 Pine 
Street: 

Structure meets the following criteria: 
(A) Possesses significance in history, architecture, archeology, or culture;
(C) Is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past;

Section 3:  All orders, ordinances and resolutions, or parts thereof, which are in conflict 
or inconsistent with any provision of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such 
conflict, and the provisions of this Resolution shall be and remain controlling as to the matters 
resolved herein.    

Section 4:  This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Texas. 



Page 2 

DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 10th day of 
December, 2019. 

APPROVED: 

________________________________ 
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_____________________________ 
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 



Historic Landmark Designation Agreement

As owner(s) of a the property located on 0.470 acres of Building Block 54, East of 
Water Street  commonly known as 1305 Pine Street; 

We, Jensey and Kathleen Lund, wish to have said property designated as a 
Historic Landmark; 

By the signature(s) below, we, the property owner(s) hereby acknowledge that we 
have received a copy of the current Chapter 9: Historic Landmark Preservation and Iredell 
District from the B³ Code (Ordinance #2019-51), and any amendments thereto; that we 
understand and agree to abide by the terms and obligations related to a Historic Landmark 
designation; and, in obtaining Historic Landmark status for this property, we agree to 
maintain said property in accordance with provisions governing Historic Landmarks in the 
Ordinance and the design guidelines governing same, as adopted by the Bastrop City 
Council, as such ordinance and guidelines now exist or may exist in the future. 

Furthermore, we understand that by entering into this agreement with the City of 
Bastrop, we will be entitled to all incentives specified within Ordinance 2019-51 “Historic 
Landmark Preservation and Iredell District” and amendments thereto. 

____________ 
Signature of Property Owner(s) Date 

Subscribed and sworn to before me on this the _____ day of _____________, 2019 to 
certify which witness my hand and official seal. 

___________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of Texas 

My Commission Expires: _________, 20__ 

____________ 
Signature for Historic Landmark Commission  Date 

Subscribed and sworn to before me on this the _____ day of _____________, 2019 to 
certify which witness my hand and official seal. 

___________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of Texas 

My Commission Expires: _________, 20__ 

Approved by the Bastrop City Council on the 10th day of December, 2019. 

APPROVED: ATTEST: 

Mayor City Secretary 



1305 Pine

PINE ST

M
ARTIN

 LU
TH

ER
 KIN

G
 JR

 D
R

Attachment 1
Location Map

¬«150

¬« 95
¬« 95

PINE ST

FAYETTE ST

M
ARTIN

 LU
TH

ER
 KIN

G
 JR

 D
R

FAYETTE ST

1 inch = 67 feet
0 40 8020

Feet

Date: 10/31/2019
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.   ³

1305 Pine St
Historic Landmark

Designation



PAGE I OF 2

KERR COMMUNITY CENTER
CAB. 5, PGS.86A & 868

P.R.B.C.T.

s 89'50'16"W 89.13'

tU

tro
TE

-
CIz
v
E
tU
-F:f
J
z
trE

WALTER REED AND
WFE, SANDM S. BEED

vol.7/8, PG.547
o.R.B.C.T.

s 89'53',05" W

FENCE CON, BEARS
N 13" 5A W 3.5'

/,(REFERENCEBEAPJNG)' //,/,/,/, 
PINE STREET

IRE EASED ON TH€ o€ED RECOROED tN INST. ilo. mor 1 3156, O.P.R.S.C.T.

01t3060

-

SCAEI 1'- 3O

aI
(L
(r
UJ
(L
F
u.l
UJ
EF
U)
z
a
E

3

9ao3ro
lo;Ec)
HF

hsE :,
E5E5 E
=6Re 

o
EEer 3
gEE" H

CLYDE E. CLARDY, JR.
|NST. NO.200406394

(DESC. BY METES/EOUNDS
rN INST. NO. 2001 13156)

O.P.R.B.C.T.

MAP OF BASTROP, TEXAS
CAB. 1, PAGE 23A

P.R.B.C.T.

Uro
EHf;'aEut

H[=
"EH

+WBEFEW 
^s&T+CH{NUN(FruE

..=-wnecmrmffi ffiE'E
#w@ffi mvEL
+FVilEFffi TU
<+nEECTHCffi m
EU = E6Nb [ftF BFEX
IF IrcN ffi FQND
Itr.Fqmuo s]w
tN-lndMsT

- iriiiiiiir'ifriimwm $m) nAi.JwnE

*IreA POAT& G UIDre *GKg, Sru MP OFBSTROEBAS.N MDlmTON@ffi,TEXN,AffiOSEIOIH€ UT
THEBrcF AE@BDEO N CffiINET 1, PAGE AA PUT RECSIDS, BmP ffi, TEXAE BErc ru THAT ffiTM TPICT G IANO DESCAE€D i.I
DEEO IO CLYDE E. CURDY, JB., AS RrcOFDEO N INSTRWffi rc. MOE3$ {D€SCTISED BY MEES M SO(k{O8 N NSTRUSEM NO. Ml 131S),
OFFEIE PUSLIC RECOAAS, AASTEOP Cffi, TEUS, ND BEM rcBE PffiTHffiLY D€SCFtsED BY METES AID ffi E$RM
AfrACHED HEFHO AND MADE A PM ffiG o.{ PreE ?,
SMVE\O*S CEETIFioATION:
THIS IS TO CENTIFY THAT OII THS OATE A SIJRE WAS MADE ONT# GAfl]S,I'{D€N MYSUP€RVISId tr.ID BEFTTCTSATRUE IIIO@MECT
REPE€SEMATON OFTHE DMEI{slOilS SD CAU-S OF PROPEFTY ffi€S AllD LOCA'NOil $loWPE OF TPBOVEilENTS, NERE ARE iI] V6laf AI{)
ffiAFilT EASEMENIS. CONFLETS, NMUSlore OA PROTNUSBq EXGEtr S SffiN. THS SURVEY 6 ITOT TO BE IJSED FOR CSIS'BtrcNOil
Pffi ES ND E Fffi THE SCLGIVE ffi OF THE HBEff WO PUffi AS€N, Mffirc ffNY. M Tru ff N MY ND ft E
SUR\GY 6 UADE PUBSUM TO frAT CEfiTAil TITE @TTMIilHT I}ID€B THE GF M.f,,lAEF SHOW{ HEREOI. PtsOYIOEO BY AE NTLE COWA'.IY
I{MED HEREOII AI{D T}TAT THtS OAIE, IHE EAS€M€MS. RIGffiS# WAY, S OffEB LMATEE TANEre OF RECORO TTiA' 

'HE 
I,I{D€RSISI€O

HAS XHOWGOOE OB HAS BEEN AOUSED ARE S SrcW ffi rcTED ENSil. HIS STNW ESURECTTO ffiND M @WfiffiS M

FLOOO IMORUTIil:
THE SUAJECT PHOPEffi APPEARS TO UE MHIN
TE LIMITS G A 1OGYEAR ROOD HMRD ZdE
AC,COHOII{G TO THE MAP PUSLISHED BY THE
FEDERAL ETERGENCY MANAGEMEMT AGEI{CY, AND
HAS A ZONE 'AE' RATING AS SHOW'T BY MAP llo,
EICO$O E. DAIEDJANIJAFY IS ffi.

1305 PINE STREET, BASTFOP, TX7II6O2DATE: 01/10/17 JOA},O.:
FIEI-D: 01/05/17 OF BUILDING BLOCK 54, MAP OF BASTROP, TE

mW.hhrysft2m
PhETB 7ffi&msu-m
F*92-WML

hk$ffik.roffi



COUNTY BLOCK 

NAME: Sei/gf-// \ f^i^H Hsn- House. 
AnnRF^<;- 11365- P/he St-

ARCHITECT/.ByiLDER: TECIVBU 
OWNER: 7: ^. hMnK/jn F^nKlAn 

COUNTY 
CITY 
PERIOD 
DATE: t i r 
THEME: M ^ . ^ 
<:TYI P . l/ie/if-Rn 

SIGNIFICXNCE 

DESIGNATTONr NR m i RTHL̂ ^HAfeS HAER OTHER: — ' DESIGNAT 
ORIGINAL USE: 
PRESENT USE:. 
PHYSICAL CONDITION: 

al tered/IJnaHered: 
CONSTRUCTIDN: wall 
RELATIONSHIP TO SURROUNDINGS 
ACREAGE/BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

mod fi^me^ roo f:. 
t- Side. Of- RR. -Vhsclcc. -

BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA: _ ^ 
INFORMANT- A-C. Fk^H^lin 
RECORDED BY:  
DATE: 1^-2-/ 

1 ĝŷ/ PHOTOGRAPHIC DATA: 
SEE INFO/CORRESPONDENCE FILES: 



ARCHITECT/BUILDER:- 
OWNER: TtC TrdHX 

1306 Pi'A< St. 

PERIOD: 
DATE:_ 
THEME:. 

DESCRIPTION 
<tstrpp. TetaS C;TYI r - \/i(Jton'a^ 

ptf^.^ ujltAAfTuib ^ <^l\-'^l/\n.^eA ^f>rrU &^ A)E^r»ynffy. 

HABS HAER OTHER: i l ^ ^ S DESIGNATION: 
ORIGINAL USE 
PRESENT USE: 
PHYSICAL CONDITION: 

NR NHL RTHL  
Kf^'iA(^^€ 
5aiM€ 

aUered/UriilLexfiil/ 
CONSTRUCTION: wall:. 
RELATIONSHIP TO SURROUNDINGS: 
ACREAGE/BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION: 

\^)C(>A tram^ roof: 

BIBLIOGRAPHIi: DATA: 
INFORMANT- IxC , f r f lAkJi A 
RECORDED BY:^ 
nATr- \Z'Z\-^(M 

PHOTOGRAPHIC nATA- I lA^ 
e r r I l l r A / n n r r r i A n r N r i i r r r t i r r 



IMAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES 

See continuation sheet 

JGEOGRAPHICAL DATA 
ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY r c s o u r a s a r e a i s a p p r o x . 4 , 0 0 0 a c r e s 

UTM REFERENCES 

(no !ia*|> available w i t h UTM markings Latitude & Long, below) 

I I . I . . I I , I r 1 , I I B L J I I . I . , I I • I . I . • I 
ZONE EASTING NORTHING ZONE EASTING NORTHING 

Ci . I I I • I • . I I • I . I • • 1 D L J I I . I . • 1 I , I , I . • I VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

(A) 30^05 •30V97°16"'38" (B) 30^05'30"/97^ii^-3e^ 
(C) 30^08'14"/97°16'38" (D) 30^08' 14"/97^2CP-^' 

I 9' S-o " 

-

LIST ALL STATES AND COUNTIES FOR PROPERTIES OVERLAPPING STATE OR COUNTY BOUNDARIES 

STATE CODE COUNTY COOE 

— CODE STATE CODE COUNTY ' 

|FORM PREPARED BY 
NAME/TITLE D e a c o n L a n d o n , H i s t o r i a n 

.1 ; . T D P R . W i 1 1 -j 3m.q , P r n j p r - h n i r p c t - n r 

' ' O'TfSi 
Stan K l e i n , Draftsman 

ORGANIZATION 

. 1 V 
~ X I DATE 

STREET* NUMBER TELEPHONE 

CITY OR TOWN STATE 

ISTATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER CERTIFICATION 
THE EVALUATED.SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS PROPERTY WITHIN THE STATE IS. 

LOCAL * NATIONAL STATE. 

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the Nation 

hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Reg 

criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service. 

STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER SIGNATURE 

listoric Preservation 

that it 

of 1966 (Public Law 89-665) , I 

ated according to the 

TITLE 
Texas State H i s t o r i c Preservation Officer 

DATE 

FOR NPS USE ONLY / 

1 HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PROPERTY tS INCLUDED IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER 

In ^c-/"7T 
lm/wC^l~~d-Ls^ - .DATE 

l l 

1 '• 

•UaU 
ATTEST m»mmmmmi DATE 7n 

rinrrenrTiii m I I I I ITI REGTSTWT- ' '̂ " V 

GPO 892. 453 





Please refer to the map in the 

Multiple Property Cover Sheet 

for this property 

Multiple Property Cover Sheet Reference Number: 64000828 



^A 
4 

til 

0 2^ 

u-.^A 
<3 O Qi^C 

yd.<2^£juI.^A^ .£^^r^A/.Aj 



THE NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PUCES 

SEP 2 1 1978. 
DATE RCC'D 

ye 
DATE /C.,.,N 

INITIALS 

ED) 

^ 





'.:il"

: "ii

!a.

_:jffi



1305 Pine Street
Public hearing and consider action to approve Resolution No.
R-2019-xx of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas,
granting Historic Landmark status for 0.470 acres of Building
Block 54, East of Water Street, located at 1305 Pine Street,
also known as the Beverly & Lula Kerr House, within the city
limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas, as attached in Exhibit A;
providing for findings of fact; providing for a repealing clause;
and establishing an effective date.



Location



History
• Built between 1890 and 1895 (according to National 

Register documents)
• Raised one-story wood frame Victoria w/full basement

• Owned by Beverly & Lula Kerr
• Beverly was a barber, and band and orchestral teacher
• Lead the group “Kerr’s Orchestra”
• Lula taught music for 40 years.

• Designated on the National Register of Historic Places 
in 1978.



Site



Structure



Historic Landmark Commission Recommendation
At the regular meeting on November 20, 2019, the
Commission voted unanimously to recommend approval of
request to be designated as a Historic Landmark, per criteria
A and C.



Staff Recommendation
Conduct public hearing and consider action to approve
Resolution No. R-2019-xx of the City Council of the City of
Bastrop, Texas, granting Historic Landmark status for 0.470
acres of Building Block 54, East of Water Street, located at
1305 Pine Street, also known as the Beverly & Lula Kerr
House, within the city limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas, as
attached in Exhibit A; providing for findings of fact; providing
for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date.



 

 
 

                        STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:  December 10, 2019          AGENDA ITEM:  9B 
 
 
TITLE:   
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-131 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas adopting the Budget Planning Calendars for Fiscal Year 2021, as shown in Exhibit A; 
repealing all resolutions in conflict; and establishing an effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Tracy Waldron, Chief Financial Officer 
   
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
Annually, staff provides Council with a calendar outlining the important dates for the upcoming 
fiscal year’s budget process. With the significant changes made by the passing of Senate Bill 2, 
it is necessary to present two calendars for the FY2021 budget process. The deadlines for 
proposing a rate that exceeds the voter-approval rate are very different than if you proposed a 
rate lower than the voter-approval rate.   
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Texas Tax Code 

• Chapter 26 Sec. 26.01 (a) By July 25, the chief appraiser shall prepare and certify to the 
assessor for each taxing unit participating in the district that part of the tax roll for the 
district that lists the property taxable by the unit. 

• Sec. 26.05 (d) the governing body of a taxing unit may not adopt a tax rate that exceeds 
the lower of the voter-approval tax rate or the no-new-revenue tax rate calculated as 
provided by this chapter until the governing body has held one public hearing on the 
proposed tax rate. 

• Sec. 26.06 (a) The public hearing required by Sec. 26.05 may not be held before the fifth 
day after the date the notice of the public hearing is given. (d) The governing body may 
vote on the proposed tax rate at the public hearing (this is new with SB2).  

• Sec. 26.063 municipalities with a population of less than 30,000 are allowed to adopt a 
de minimus tax rate (sum of the no-new-revenue tax rate plus  a rate that will raise 
$500,000 plus the current debt rate) that exceeds voter-approval tax rate but must follow 
the requirements of Sec. 26.07 regarding holding an election. By adopting the de minimus 
rate, qualified voters can petition to require an election, that is why it follows the election 
requirement timeline. 

• Sec. 26.07 The order calling the election may not be issued later than the 71st day before 
the date of the election. 
 

Texas Local Government Code Chapter 102 Municipal Budget 
• 102.0065 (c) Notice under this section shall be published not earlier than the 30th or later 

than the 10th day before the date of the budget hearing. 



 

Texas Local Government Code Chapter 140.010 Proposed Tax Rate notice for Counties and 
Municipalities 

• 140.010 (f) (1) provide the notice required by Subsection (d) or (e), as applicable, not later 
than the later of Sept. 1 or the 30th day after the date that the taxing unit has received each 
applicable certified appraisal roll. 
 

City Charter  
• Sec. 6.02 The City Manager, at least thirty (30) days prior to the commencement of the 

fiscal year, shall prepare and submit a budget to the Council. 
• Sec. 6.04 At the Council meeting at which time the budget is submitted, the Council shall, 

in conformance with the requirement of state law, name the date, time and place of a 
public hearing and shall cause to be published the date, time and place thereof. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-131 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas adopting the Budget Planning Calendars for Fiscal Year 2021, as shown in Exhibit A; 
repealing all resolutions in conflict; and establishing an effective date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution R-2019-131 
• Exhibit A - Budget Planning Calendars FY2020-2021 



RESOLUTION NO. R-2019-131 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS, 
ADOPTING THE BUDGET PLANNING CALENDAR FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021, 
AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A; REPEALING ALL RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Bastrop, Texas states that it is the responsibility of 

the City Council to adopt the budget annually; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Bastrop, Texas, states that it is the responsibility of 

the City Manager to prepare and submit a budget to the City Council 30 days prior to the 
commencement of the fiscal year; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Manager and the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas desire to 

have a budget planning calendar that establishes a timeline with specific dates to ensure 
compliance with the City Charter and all applicable laws. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

BASTROP, TEXAS, THAT: 
 

SECTION 1.  The City Council hereby adopts the Fiscal Year 2020-2021 Budget Planning 
Calendar as shown in the attached Exhibit “A”. Dates are subject to adjustment due to 
scheduling requirements. Meetings will be posted in accordance with the Texas Open Meetings 
Act. 
 

SECTION 2.   Any prior resolution of the City Council in conflict with the provisions 
contained in this resolution are hereby repealed and revoked. 
 

SECTION 3.   Should any part of this resolution be held to be invalid for any reason, the 
remainder shall not be affected thereby, and such remaining portions are hereby declared to be 
severable. 
 

SECTION 4. This resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage, and 
it is duly resolved. 
 
  



DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 10th 
day of December 2019.  

 
 
 APPROVED: 
 
 
 _____________________________ 
 Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 
 



January 13 Staff Budget/CIP Planning Retreat

March 3 Budget Kick-Off Meeting (Manuals Available)

April 16 Mid-Year Budget Workshop

May 1 Receive preliminary notices of appraised value from Chief Appraiser

May 7 Budgets due from Departments

May 11 Cabinet review of budget submittals

May 15 Community Support Applications available at City Hall and on City's website

May 18 Cabinet review of department pages including performance measures

May 25-27 Verify review projections of all funds; Meet with Non-Special Event HOT Tourism Related Organizations

June 8 Budget book to City Manager

June 15-19 City Manager and Directors - Discuss budget submittals and priorities

June 22 Cabinet review of budget priorities and 5 Year Financial Forecast

June 30 Deadline - Community Support Applications & Non-Special Event HOT Organization funding requests 5:00pm

July 14 Community Support Organizations present their funding request to Council (limit 3 minutes)

July 20 Final review of revenue projections for all funds

July 22 Hunter's Crossing Local Government Corporation Meeting to review budget and propose Special Assessments

July 24 Deadline for Chief Appraiser to certify rolls to taxing units 

July 28 Council Meeting - Distribute Budget to Council in Work Session and highlight major topics   Set date, time and place of 
a public hearing  (considered filed with the City Secretary); Review Financial and Purchasing Policies.

July 30 Meeting of the Governing Body to discuss the proposed tax rate; if proposed tax rate will exceed the No-New-Revenue  
 Tax Rate or the Voter-Approval Tax Rate (whichever is lower), take record vote and schedule public hearing

August 1 Publish Notice of proposed Special Assessments (must be posted 5 days prior to Public Hearing)
Published Notice of Budget Hearing (must be posted 10 days prior to Public Hearing) 

August 4 Budget Worshop - Review Proposed Budget

August 5 Budget Worshop#2 - Review Proposed Budget (if needed)

August 6 Publish Notice of proposed Tax Rate (must be posted 5 days prior to Public Hearing)

August 11
Council Meeting - Public Hearing on the Tax Rate; First Reading on Tax Rate Ordinance; Budget Public Hearing; First 
Reading on Budget Ordinance; Public Hearing Special Assessments for Hunter's Crossing PID; First Reading of the 
Amended and Restated Service and Assessment Plan.

August 24
Council Meeting to adopt tax rate and budget (must be done 71 days before election date).  Must adopt budget before 
tax rate. City Council must take a separate ratification vote to adopt any budget that will raise total property tax 
revenue. ORDER THE ELECTION if required (71 days prior to Election Day 11/3/2020)

August 25 Council  Meeting - Second Reading of the Amended and Restated Service and Assessment Plan; Adopt Financial and 
Purchasing Policies.

October 1 Fiscal Year begins

October 27 Distibute Final FY2021 Adopted Budget Book

December 7 Begin FY2020 audit

December 15 Presentation of preliminary unaudited financial report for FY2020

Im
plem

entation
Preparation

Adoption

City of Bastrop 
FY 2020-21 Budget Planning Calendar 



 

 
 

                     STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE: December 10, 2019        AGENDA ITEM: 9C 
 
TITLE:  
Consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 2019-76 of the City Council of the 
City of Bastrop, Texas, amending the budget for the Fiscal Year 2020 in accordance with existing 
statutory requirements; appropriating the various amounts herein as attached in Exhibit A; 
repealing all prior ordinances and actions in conflict herewith; establishing an effective date, and 
move to include on the January 14, 2020 City Council Consent agenda for a second reading. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Tracy Waldron, Chief Financial Officer 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The FY2020 budget was approved by City Council on September 24, 2019. Since that approval, 
the City has closed the FY2019 fiscal year and needs to carry-over amounts relating to ongoing 
projects.  

Budget Amendment #1: General Fund-Revenue & Patrol Budget 

The City received proceeds from an insurance claim. The repair to this vehicle was not 
originally in the FY2020 budget, so these proceeds need to be applied to this expense 
account to cover the repairs. This amendment has a zero-net effect on fund balance. It is 
increasing revenue and increasing the expense by $6,400 each. 
 
Budget Amendment #2: Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue & Main St. Program Expense 

The contract with Décor IQ for the installation of Holiday Lighting was approved by Council 
on August 14, 2018. The motion was to approve the contract with addition lighting 
requests with a not to exceed amount of $136,900. This increase for this contract was not 
picked up in the budget process and the same amount was carried over from FY2019 
original budget ($125,000). This amendment is to increase the amount coming in from 
BP&L and increase the expense account for the contract. This amendment has a zero-
net effect on fund balance. It is increasing revenue and increasing the expense by 
$11,900 each. 
 

Budget Amendment #3: BP&L – Transfer Out 

This amendment is to increase the amount coming from BP&L related to budget 
amendment #2.  This amendment is increasing total expenditures for the BP&L fund by 
$11,900. This amendment is reducing fund balance in this fund. 
 



 

Budget Amendment #4: Water & Wastewater Fund – Expenditures 

The proceeds from an insurance claim for a weather event in FY2019 were received but 
never spent during FY2019. Since the revenue was received in FY2019 it rolled into 
ending fund balance. This amendment is increasing the expense line item and will reduce 
the total fund balance by $4,905. This will allow the department to go ahead with the 
recommended repairs. 
 

Budget Amendment #5: Street Maintenance Fund – Revenue & Expenditures 

The original Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Cost (OPC) from the August 27, 2019 
meeting was eight hundred twenty-six thousand eight hundred dollars and zero cents 
($826,800). Based on the new request for proposals, the total needed is $1,189,139.80. 
The current FY20 budget amount is $1,183,945 (page 270 of the budget book), which 
includes purchase of a Hot Box and the balance of the Engineering contract both totaling 
$95,358. This leaves $1,088,587 for construction. There is an available $17,400 in Fund 
Balance and the interest earned on the 2018 CO issuance of $84,000.00. This will give 
us a combined total of $1,189,987 needed to cover the contract with Angel Brothers, Ltd.  
 

Budget Amendment #6: 2019 Revenue Bond – Expenditures 

This bond fund did not expense as much as previously estimated in FY2019 (page 298), 
leaving a fund balance at the end of the year of $844,347. All balances in this bond fund 
are for wastewater projects. This amendment is a carryover of the available fund balance 
from FY2019 plus budgeted revenue of $8,000 (also on page 298) totaling $852,347. This 
amendment will allow is to spend the balance of this bond fund in FY2020 for the ongoing 
WWTP#3 

Budget Amendment #7: Water & Wastewater Capital Improvement Fund – Expenditures 

This capital fund did not expense as much as previously estimated for capital outlay for 
water CIP projects in FY2019 (page 227). This amendment is a carryover of the available 
fund balance from FY2019 to complete the elevated and ground storage water tanks at 
HWY 20.  
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The Financial Management Policy states that the level of budgetary control is at the department 
level in all Funds. If transfers are required between departments, this must be approved by 
Council.  
 
The City Charter requires that when the budget is amended, that the amendment be made by 
Ordinance. 
 
FUNDING SOURCE: 
Various – see Ordinance Exhibit A 
 
 
 



 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 2019-76 of the City Council of the 
City of Bastrop, Texas, amending the budget for the Fiscal Year 2020 in accordance with existing 
statutory requirements; appropriating the various amounts herein as attached in Exhibit A; 
repealing all prior ordinances and actions in conflict herewith; establishing an effective date, and 
move to include on the January 14, 2020 City Council Consent agenda for a second reading. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance 2019-76 
• Exhibit A 
• All Funds Summary FY2020 – updated to reflect proposed amendments 



ORDINANCE NO. 2019-76 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2020 IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH EXISTING STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS; 
APPROPRIATING THE VARIOUS AMOUNTS HEREIN, AS ATTACHED IN 
EXHIBIT A; REPEALING ALL PRIOR ORDINANCES AND ACTIONS IN 
CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND ESTABLISHING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Manager of the City of Bastrop, Texas has submitted to the Mayor 
and City Council proposed amendment(s) to the budget of the revenues and/or 
expenditures/expenses of conducting the affairs of said city and providing a complete financial 
plan for Fiscal Year 2020; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have now provided for and conducted a public 
hearing on the budget as provided by law.   
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS THAT: 
 

Section 1: That the proposed budget amendment(s) for the Fiscal Year 2020, as 
submitted to the City Council by the City Manager and which budget amendment(s) are 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby adopted and approved as the amended budget of said 
city for Fiscal Year 2020. 

 
Section 2:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 

circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, or 
application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 
application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be 
severable. 

 
Section 3:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted below, 

or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in accordance with the 
City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of Texas. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



READ and APPROVED on First Reading on the 10th day of December 2019. 
 
READ and ADOPTED on Second Reading on the 14th day of January 2020. 
 

 
APPROVED: 

 
 
     ________________________________   
     Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A 

 
 
Budget Amendment #1: General Fund-Revenue & Police Patrol Budget 

FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 110)  
Original Budget      $12,229,361 
Insurance Proceeds (101-00-00-4537)   $         6,400 
New Total Revenue      $12,235,761 

 
The proceeds need to be applied to the following accounts: 
 
FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 151)  
Original Budget      $ 1,735,245 
Maintenance of Vehicle-Patrol (101-09-22-5345) $         6,400 
New Total Expenditure     $ 1,741,745 
 
This additional revenue came from proceeds from an insurance claim. The repair to this 
vehicle was not originally in the FY2020 budget, so these proceeds need to be applied to 
this expense account to cover the repairs. This amendment has a zero-net effect on fund 
balance. It is increasing revenue and increasing the expense. 
 
Budget Amendment #2: Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue & Main St. Program  

FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 196)  
Original Budget     $   3,696,556 
Transfer In-BP&L (501-00-00-4703)  $         11,900 
New Total Revenue     $   3,708,456 
 

The transfer in needs to be applied to the following accounts: 
 
FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 201)  
Original Budget     $       471,642 
Community Event Support (501-85-80-5622) $         11,900 
New Total Expenditure    $      483,542 
 
The contract with Décor IQ for the installation of Holiday Lighting was approved by Council 
on August 14, 2018. The motion was to approve the contract with addition lighting requests 
with a not to exceed amount of $136,900. This increase for this contract was not picked up 
in the budget process and the same amount was carried over from FY2019 original budget 
($125,000). This amendment is to increase the amount coming in from BP&L and increase 
the expense account for the contract. This amendment has a zero-net effect on fund 
balance. It is increasing revenue and increasing the expense. 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A 

Budget Amendment #3: BP&L – Transfer Out  

FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 91)  
Original Budget     $   7,702,248 
Transfer Out-Special Project (404-60-00-8115) $        11,900 
New Total Expenditure    $   7,714,148 
 

This amendment is to increase the amount coming from BP&L related to budget amendment 
#2.  This amendment is increasing total expenditures for the BP&L fund. This amendment 
is reducing fund balance in this fund. 
 
Budget Amendment #4: Water & Wastewater Fund - Expenditures 

FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 223)  
Original Budget      $ 3,600,611 
Maintenance of Building-Admin (202-35-10-5340) $        4,905 
New Total Expenditure     $ 3,605,516 
 
The proceeds from an insurance claim for a weather event in FY2019 were received but 
never spent during FY2019. Since the revenue was received in FY2019 it rolled into ending 
fund balance. This amendment is increasing the expense line item and will reduce the total 
fund balance by $4,905.  
 
 
Budget Amendment #5: Street Maintenance Fund Revenue & Expenditures 

FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 270)  
Original Budget      $      164,000 
Trans In-2018 Bond Fund (110-00-00-4738)  $        84,000 
New Total Revenue      $      248,000 

 
The proceeds need to be applied to the following accounts: 
 
FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 270)  
Original Budget      $ 1,183,945 
Street Improvements (110-18-00-6132)       $      17,400 
Street Improvements (110-18-00-6132)       $      84,000 
New Total Expenditure     $ 1,285,345 
 
The original Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Cost (OPC) from the August 27, 2019 meeting 
was eight hundred twenty-six thousand eight hundred dollars and zero cents ($826,800). 
Based on the new request for proposals, the total needed is $1,189,139.80. The current 
FY20 budget amount is $1,183,945 (page 270 of the budget book), which includes purchase 
of a Hot Box and the balance of the Engineering contract both totaling $95,358. This leaves 
$1,088,587 for construction. There is an available $17,400 in Fund Balance and the interest 
earned on the 2018 CO issuance of $84,000.00. This will give us a combined total of 
$1,189,987 needed to cover the contract with Angel Brothers, Ltd.  



EXHIBIT A 

Budget Amendment #6: 2019 Revenue Bond Expenditures 

FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 298)  
Original Budget      $      57,185 
Capital Outlay (261-35-00-6176)                $    795,162 
New Total Expenditure     $    852,347 
 
This bond fund did not expense as much as previously estimated in FY2019 (page 298), 
leaving a fund balance at the end of the year of $844,347. All balances in this bond fund are 
for wastewater projects. This amendment is a carryover of the available fund balance from 
FY2019 plus budgeted revenue of $8,000 (also on page 298) totaling $852,347. This 
amendment will allow is to spend the balance of this bond fund in FY2020 for the ongoing 
WWTP#3. 

Budget Amendment #7: Water/Wastewater Capital Improvement Fund Expenditures 

FY 2020 Budget Book (Page 227)  
Original Budget      $ 4,150,400 
Elevated Water Tank (250-50-00-6320)               $    463,923  
New Total Expenditure     $ 4,614,323   
 
This capital fund did not expense as much as previously estimated for capital outlay for 
water CIP projects in FY2019 (page 227). This amendment is a carryover of the available 
fund balance from FY2019 to complete the elevated and ground storage water tanks at HWY 
20.  



 GENERAL      

FUND 

 STREET 

MAINTENANCE 

FUND 

DEBT 

SERVICE 

FUNDS

HOTEL TAX 

FUND

SPECIAL 

REVENUE 

FUNDS

WATER/  

WASTEWATER  

 FUNDS

BP&L         

FUND

CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 

FUNDS

INTERNAL 

SERVICE FUND

ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT 

CORP

TOTAL ALL 

FUNDS

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 2,643,264$       1,037,357$        254,780$        3,797,361$     2,758,164$          5,421,836$       3,590,969$     6,230,495$           2,384,291$          4,070,298$          32,188,815$    

AD VALOREM TAXES 3,850,795         2,006,862       - - - - 5,857,657        

SALES TAXES 5,084,400         - - - - 2,560,000            7,644,400        

FRANCHISE & OTHER TAXES 467,830            2,830,500       23,250 - - - 3,321,580        

LICENSES & PERMITS 819,032            2,000              - - - - 821,032           

SERVICE FEES 673,100            275,250          1,116,203            6,163,064         7,037,682       - 371,192 13,800 15,650,291      

FINES & FORFEITURES 349,585            12,650 - - - 362,235           

INTEREST 65,000 10,000 20,000            65,000            44,050 117,000            72,000            110,144 15,500 80,000 598,694           

INTERGOVERNMENTAL 89,878 246,548          62,312            2,863,125            - - - 3,261,863        

OTHER 66,400 - 31,910 6,500 16,880            3,265,000             1,560,000            4,946,690        

TOTAL REVENUES 11,466,020       10,000 2,273,410       3,235,062       4,091,188            6,286,564         7,126,562       3,375,144             386,692 4,213,800            42,464,442      

OTHER SOURCES

Other Financing Sources - 30,000 30,000             

Interfund Transfers 769,741            238,000             514,416          473,394          4,700 4,895,885         - 22,500 75,000 6,993,636        

TOTAL REVENUE & OTHER SOURCES 12,235,761       248,000             2,787,826       3,708,456       4,095,888            11,182,449       7,126,562       3,427,644             461,692 4,213,800            49,488,078      

TOTAL AVAILABLE RESOURCES 14,879,025$     1,285,357$        3,042,606$     7,505,817$     6,854,052$          16,604,285$     10,717,531$   9,658,139$           2,845,983$          8,284,098$          81,676,893$    

EXPENDITURES:

GENERAL GOVERNMENT 4,454,010         3,268,125            - - 123,000 7,845,135        

PUBLIC SAFETY 4,611,708         20,950 - - - 4,632,658        

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 1,084,324         - - - 100,000 1,184,324        

COMMUNITY SERVICES 1,647,736         354,150          305,327 - - - 2,307,213        

UTILITIES 165,000 3,843,951         6,054,651       - 10,063,602      

DEBT SERVICE 2,752,618       - 1,870,887 159,847          143,668 485,453 5,412,473        

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 3,339,899       - - - - 2,066,445            5,406,344        

CAPITAL OUTLAY 1,285,345          911,000 4,614,323         615,000          8,838,851             356,500 2,692,000            19,313,019      

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 11,797,778       1,285,345          2,752,618       3,694,049       4,670,402            10,329,161       6,829,498       9,205,519             356,500 5,243,898            56,164,768      

OTHER USES

Interfund Transfers 238,992            - - 521,916          575,395 4,335,693         884,650          352,991 - 6,909,636        

TOTAL EXPENDITURE & OTHER USES 12,036,770       1,285,345          2,752,618       4,215,965       5,245,797            14,664,854       7,714,148       9,558,510             356,500 5,243,898            63,074,404      

ENDING FUND BALANCES 2,842,255$       12$ 289,988$        3,289,852$     1,608,255$          1,939,431$       3,003,383$     99,629$ 2,489,483$          3,040,200$          18,602,489$    

REVENUES:

ALL FUND SUMMARY - FY 2020

#1

#1

#2

#2

#3

#4

#5

#5

#7 #6



 

 
 

                     STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE: December 10, 2019        AGENDA ITEM: 9D 
 
TITLE:  
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-132 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas, expressing official intent to reimburse certain water and wastewater expenditures of the 
City of Bastrop, Texas; attached In Exhibit A; providing a severability clause; and providing an 
effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Tracy Waldron, Chief Financial Officer 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The City currently has a contract with KSA to design and oversee construction of WWTP#3 along 
with transmission lines, lift station and force main, all related to the new plant. This Engineer has 
provided the City with a draw-down schedule for these projects. It is estimated that an issuance 
of the 2020 Revenue Bond will occur in April 2020. The financial advisor has created the timeline 
(below) for this issuance.  
 
February 25 - Council meeting to discuss W&WW projects and revenue bond issuance timeline. 
Week of March 2 – Rating call with Standard & Poor’s and staff. 
March 16 – Preliminary Official Statement distributed. 
March 17 – Rating received. 
March 24 – City Council adopts an ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bonds. 
April 16 – Delivery Date of the bonds.   
 
This Reimbursement Resolution gives the City a safeguard to manage “timing” in the event the 
City receives invoices after available funds in the Debt Service Fund are exhausted, but before 
bonds are issued.  Approval of this resolution will allow the City to go ahead and pay these 
invoices ensuring that bond funds can reimburse the Debt Service Fund, once bond funds are 
received.   
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
City Charter Sec. 7.01 – Powers to Issue 
In keeping with state law, the City shall have the power to borrow money on the credit of the City 
for any public purpose not now or hereafter prohibited by state law. 
 
FUNDING SOURCE: 
2020 Revenue Bonds 
 
  



 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-132 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas, expressing official intent to reimburse certain water and wastewater expenditures of the 
City of Bastrop, Texas; attached In Exhibit A; providing a severability clause; and providing an 
effective date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution R-2019-132 



Bastrop ReimburseRes 09.2019 

CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION 
 
 

 I, the undersigned City Secretary of the City of Bastrop, Texas, hereby certify as follows: 
 
 1. The City Council of said City convened in Regular Session on December 10, 
2019, at the regular meeting place thereof, and the roll was called of the duly constituted officers 
and members of said City Council, to-wit: 
   
    Connie Schroeder, Mayor 
    Lyle Nelson, Mayor Pro-Tem 
    Willie Lewis "Bill" Peterson, Council Member 
    Drusilla Rogers, Council Member 
    Bill Ennis, Council Member 
    Dock Jackson, Council Member 
 
and all of said persons were present, except for the following:                                                       
; thus constituting a quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted 
at said meeting:  a written Resolution R-2019-132 entitled 
 
 RESOLUTION EXPRESSING OFFICIAL INTENT TO REIMBURSE 
 CERTAIN WATER AND WASTEWATER EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY OF 

BASTROP, TEXAS 
 
was duly introduced for the consideration of the City Council.  It was then duly moved and 
seconded that the said Resolution be passed; and, after due discussion, said motion, carrying 
with it the passage of said Resolution, prevailed and carried by the following vote: 
 
 AYES:                 NOES:                 ABSTENTIONS:                 
 
 2. A true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid Resolution passed at the meeting 
described in the above and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this Certificate; said 
Resolution has been duly recorded in the official minutes of said City Council; the above and 
foregoing paragraph is a true, full and correct excerpt from said minutes of said meeting 
pertaining to the passage of said Resolution; the persons named in the above and foregoing 
paragraph, at the time of said meeting and the passage of said Resolution, were the duly 
chosen, qualified and acting officers and members of said City Council as indicated therein; 
each of said officers and members was duly and sufficiently notified officially and personally in 
advance, of the time, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting and that said Resolution 
would be introduced and considered for passage at said meeting, and each of said officers and 
members consented in advance to the holding of said meeting for such purpose; and said 
meeting was open to the public, and public notice of the time, place and purpose of said 
meeting was given, all as required by Tex. Gov't Code Ann., ch. 551. 



Bastrop ReimburseRes 11.2019 

 SIGNED AND SEALED this December 10, 2019. 
 
           
       
      
 ____________________________________ 
 City Secretary, City of Bastrop, Texas 
 
[CITY SEAL] 



Bastrop ReimburseRes 11.2019 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2019-132 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, EXPRESSING OFFICIAL INTENT TO REIMBURSE CERTAIN WATER 
AND WASTEWATER EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS; 
AS ATTACHED IN EXHIBIT A; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

   
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas (the "Issuer") expects to pay 

expenditures in connection with the projects described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the 
"Project") prior to the issuance of obligations to finance the Project; 
      
 WHEREAS, the Issuer finds, considers and declares that the reimbursement of the 
Issuer for the payment of such expenditures will be appropriate and consistent with the lawful 
objectives of the Issuer and, as such, chooses to declare its intention, in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 1.150-2 of the Treasury Regulations, to reimburse itself for such payments 
at such time as it issues obligations to finance the Project; 
 
 THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS: 
 
 Section 1. The Issuer reasonably expects to incur debt, as one or more separate 
series of various types of obligations, with an aggregate maximum principal amount not to 
exceed $2,000,000 for the purpose of paying the costs of the Project. 
 
 Section 2. All costs to be reimbursed pursuant hereto will be capital expenditures.  
No tax-exempt obligations will be issued by the Issuer in furtherance of this Resolution after a 
date which is later than 18 months after the later of (1) the date the expenditures are paid or (2) 
the date on which the property, with respect to which such expenditures were made, is placed in 
service. 
 
 Section 3. The foregoing notwithstanding, no tax-exempt obligation will be issued 
pursuant to this Resolution more than three years after the date any expenditure which is to be 
reimbursed is paid. 
 
        



Bastrop ReimburseRes 11.2019 

DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 10th 
day of December 2019. 
 
 

APPROVED: 
        
 
             
       Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
      
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 
 
 
 



Bastrop ReimburseRes 11.2019 

EXHIBIT A 
 
To pay costs related to (1) constructing, improving, extending, and equipping the City's water 
and wastewater system related to the WWTP#3 and the XS Ranch Water Plant, and (2) paying 
professional services in connection therewith including legal, fiscal, consulting, engineering fees 
and other related costs. 



 

 
 

     STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019      AGENDA ITEM: 9E 
 
TITLE:   
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-120 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas approving an Amendment to Task Order No. BAS.006C to KSA Engineers for additional 
engineering services to receive sanitary sewer flows from the north side of Highway 71 in the 
amount of One Hundred Twenty-one Thousand  Five Hundred Dollars and Zero Cents 
($121,500.00) as attached in Exhibit A, authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary 
documents; providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Trey Job, Assistant City Manager of Development Services 
   
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
On July 10, 2018, City Council approved a list of qualified consulting firms to provide assistance 
with civil engineering, geotechnical engineering, hydraulic and hydrologic engineering, surveying, 
landscape architecture, land planning and architecture. KSA was identified as a qualified 
consultant in the area of Civil Engineering regarding a wastewater treatment plant.  On August 
28, 2018, City Council approved multiple task orders with KSA Engineering for the design of 
Wastewater Treatment Plant #3 and all ancillary components needed to continue serving our 
customers with wastewater service. 
 
The wastewater collection system, a necessity to the construction of the new wastewater 
treatment plant, includes transferring wastewater from the existing plants to the new plant location 
along with reducing lift stations at Hunters Crossing and allowing for gravity flow to the new plant. 
This portion was the first piece required to “keep the existing customers’ toilets flushing”. This 
portion has been completed and includes plan and profile level engineering for construction of the 
required trunk mains.  
 
Now that the feasibility of the route North of SH 71 has been determined, the second piece is to 
complete the detailed design of the crossing under SH 71. This route, when constructed, will serve 
three (3) functions.  First, the sewage flow, north of SH 71, is required to go through several lift 
stations to arrive at the current treatment facility.  This route, when constructed, will allow these 
lift stations to be removed reducing the system’s overall maintenance costs.  Second, this route 
is much closer to the new plant allowing the system to function more efficiently.  Third, the pipe is 
being sized to accommodate additional development to the north of SH 71. This task order will 
allow engineering of the boring of pipe under SH 71, which will be stubbed out once it is 
constructed. By stubbing out the line north of SH 71, it will provide the City with the ability to 
accommodate growth in a more-timely manner. Future expansions of the wastewater system, 
north of SH 71, will require additional task orders and approval of City Council. 
 



 

The proposed amendment to the Westside collection system, Task Order No. BAS.006C provides 
Highway 71 Bore engineering services to receive sanitary sewer flows from the north side of 
Highway 71. Additional Services are as follows: 
 
Design $ 70,000.00 
Bidding & Construction 10,000.00 
RPR (Inspection) 30,000.00 
Permitting 5,000.00 
Geotechnical 1,500.00 
  
TOTAL $121,500.00 

 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
City Council’s commitment to fiscal sustainability is a driving force that continually promotes future 
planning of the wastewater collection system. Future expansion of the collection system allows 
additional customers to be added and will reduce cost for current and future rate payers.  
 
FUNDING SOURCE: 
Funding for additional engineering and survey work associated with the extension of a wastewater 
trunk main north of SH 71 for WWTP#3 will be made from the Wastewater Capital Fund shown 
on page 227 of the FY 2019-20 Budget Book. A budget amendment to the Capital Fund will be 
made by issuing a bond series in 2020, scheduled to occur in April 2020, to complete the 
engineering for the future wastewater treatment plant. A reimbursement resolution is on the 
December 10, 2019 Regular City Council Meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-120 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas approving an Amendment to Task Order No. BAS.006C to KSA Engineers for additional 
Highway 71 bore engineering services to receive sanitary sewer flows from the north side of 
Highway 71 in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-one Thousand  Five Hundred Dollars and 
Zero cents ($121,500.00) as attached in Exhibit A, Authorizing the City Manager to execute all 
necessary documents; providing for a repealing clause; and establishing an effective date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution 

• Amendment to Task Order No. BAS.006C 
  



1 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-2019-120   

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS, 

APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO TASK ORDER NO. BAS.006C FOR 

HIGHWAY 71 BORE ENGINEERING SERVICES TO RECEIVE SANITARY 

SEWER FLOWS FROM THE NORTH SIDE OF HIGHWAY 71 TO KSA 

ENGINEERS IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-ONE THOUSAND 

FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND NO CENTS, ($121,500.00) ATTACHED AS 

EXHIBIT A; AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL 

NECESSARY DOCUMENTS; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALING CLAUSE; AND 

ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas has appointed the City Manager 

as the Chief Administrative Officer of the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Manager is responsible for the proper administration of all affairs of 
the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the projected growth of the City of Bastrop will soon result in wastewater flow 
rates that will exceed the capacity of the City’s current wastewater collection system and 
treatment facilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas has the vision to improve 

Bastrop’s Community Safety by building Wastewater Treatment Plant No. 3; and 
  
  WHEREAS, engaging KSA Engineers to provide design and construction management 

services for Wastewater Treatment Plant No. 3 meets that intent and is Item CS#15 in the City’s 
Workplan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Bastrop has chosen KSA Engineers from a list of qualified 
consulting firms identified by City Council on July 10, 2018; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas approved a contract for the 

design of Wastewater Treatment Plant #3 and related collection system improvements on August 
28, 2018; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Amendment to Talk Order No. BAS.006c provides for Highway 71 Bore 

engineering services to receive sanitary sewer flows from the north side of Highway 71. 
 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

BASTROP, TEXAS: 
 
Section 1: The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute the Amendment to Task 

Order No. BAS.006C for to KSA Engineers in the amount of one hundred twenty-one thousand 
five hundred dollars and no cents ($121,500.00). 

 



2 
 

Section 2:  The City Council of the City of Bastrop has found KSA Engineers to be a 
subject matter expert in the field of Wastewater Treatment Plants. 
 

Section 3: All orders, ordinances, and resolutions, or parts thereof, which are in 
conflict or inconsistent with any provision of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of 
such conflict, and the provisions of this Resolution shall be and remain controlling as to the 
matters resolved herein. 
  

Section 4:  That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage, and it 
is so resolved.  
 

 DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 10th 
day of December, 2019. 

APPROVED 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 

Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 

 
 



________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 

Exhibit K– Attachment 1 – Task Order Form 
EJCDC E-505 Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Engineer Professional Services—Task Order Edition 

Copyright © 2009 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved 

This is EXHIBIT K, consisting of 1 pages, referred to in 
and part of the Agreement between Owner and Engineer 
for Professional Services – Task Order Edition  
dated October 31, 2018.  

 
 
Amendment To Task Order No. BAS.006C 
 

1. Background Data:  
 
a. 

 
Effective Date of Task Order Agreement: October 31, 2018 

b. Owner: City of Bastrop 

c. Engineer: KSA Engineers, Inc. 
 
d. 

 
Specific Project: Westside Collector Interceptor Sewers 

 
2. Description of Modifications  

 

a. Engineer shall perform the following Additional Services: Highway 71 Bore engineering 
services to receive sanitary sewer flows from the north side of Highway 71. 

 
b. The Scope of Services currently authorized to be performed by Engineer in accordance with 

the Task Order and previous amendments, if any, is modified as follows: N/A 
 
c. The responsibilities of Owner with respect to the Task Order are modified as follows: N/A 
 
d. For the Additional Services or the modifications to services set forth above, Owner shall pay 

Engineer the following additional or modified compensation:       
          Design                                       $ 70,000.00  Lump Sum 
          Bidding & Construction           $ 10,000.00  Lump Sum 
          RPR (Inspection)                      $ 30,000.00  Per Exhibit C 
          Permitting                                 $   5,000.00  Lump Sum  
          Surveying                                  $   5,000.00  Per Exhibit C  
          Geotechnical                             $   1,500.00  Per Exhibit C  
          
          TOTAL                                      $121,500.00 
 
e. The schedule for rendering services under this Task Order is modified as follows: The 

design phase requires two (2) additional months of time.   
 
f. Other portions of the Task Order (including previous amendments, if any) are modified as 

follows: N/A 
 

  



3. Task Order Summary (Reference only)
a. Original Task Order amount:
b. Net change for prior amendments:

c. This amendment amount:
d. Adjusted Task Order amount:

$1,657,439.00
$ -o-

$ 121,500.00
s 1-778.939.00

Name:

Title:

The foregoing Task Order Summary is for reference only and does not alter the terms of the Task Order,

including those set forth in Exhibit C.

Owner and Engineer hereby agree to modifi the above-referenced Task Order as set forth in this

Amendment. All provisions of the Agreement and Task Order not modified by this or previous

Amendments remain in effect. The Effective Date of this Amendment is

OWNER: City of Bastrop E,NGNEER: KSA Inc.

By By:

Name

Title:

Lynda Humble

City Manager Director of Municipal Services

Date Signed: Date Signed:

page2

Exhibit K- Attachment I - Task Order Form
EJCDC E-505 Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Engineer Professional Services-Task Order Edition

@ 2009 National Society of Professional Engineers for E^ICDC. .All rights reservcd



 

 
 

     STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019      AGENDA ITEM: 9F 
 
TITLE:   
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-135 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas awarding a contract in the amount of One Million Seven Hundred Fifty-One Thousand Two 
Hundred Fifty-Four Dollars and Zero Cents ($1,751,254.00) to Muniz Concrete and Contracting, 
Inc. for the construction of the Main Street Rehabilitation project as shown in Exhibit A; authorizing 
the City Manager to execute all necessary documents; providing for a repealing clause; and 
establishing an effective date.   
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Trey Job, Assistant City Manager of Development Services 
   
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
In 2013, the Bastrop Economic Development Corporation issued a 2013 bond series that 
allocated Eight Hundred Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($800,000.00) for the Main Street 
sidewalk and street improvements, of which Seven Hundred Ninety-Four Thousand Five Hundred 
Thirty Dollars and Zero Cents ($794,530.00) is remaining. An additional One Million One Hundred 
Thousand Dollars and Zero cents ($1,100,000.00) has been allocated to Main Street 
improvements from a 2018 Bond series issued by the City of Bastrop. Expanding this project was 
anticipated, but can now come to fruition with the multiple funding sources. 
 
In March of 2019 the City awarded a contract for engineering services to MWM DesignGroup 
(MWM) for the expansion of the Main street project from Pine Street to Water Street. MWM 
worked closely with City Staff and consultants to incorporate the elements of the B³ Code street 
cross-sections into this project. Once the final cross-sections were completed MWM provided 
exhibits for the for the award winning Pop-up event that featured the elements of the new street 
design to the public. 
 
City Council has been very clear on the January 2020 start date for this project.  With that in mind, 
staff has been working towards that goal.  Staff & MWM met with multiple potential bidders on 
November 19, 2019 at City Hall and then continued the meeting on Main Street. The field 
engineering elements were discussed, along with the need for a robust communication with the 
business owners, and the importance of meeting the schedule communicated to our citizens was 
significantly emphasized.  
 
On December 3, 2019 all six (6) bids were opened and read aloud.   Muniz Concrete and 
Contracting, Inc. was the apparent low bidder at that time. The attached recommendation letter 
from MWM DesignGroup confirms the Muniz Concrete and Contracting Inc. as the lowest 
responsible bidder. 
  



 

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The City Council has been clear in their direction on making all street maintenance and multimodal 
transportation projects a priority and is supported by the recent action of adopting the B³ Codes. 
  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
The Main Street Rehabilitation Project is funded from multiple sources:  

(1) 2013 bond series (page 295 of 19-20 budget book) allocated Eight Hundred Thousand 
Dollars and Zero Cents ($800,000.00) for the Main Street sidewalk and street improvements, 
of which Seven Hundred Ninety-Four Thousand Five Hundred Thirty Dollars and Zero Cents 
($794,530.00) is remaining.  
(2) One Million One Hundred Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($1,100,000.00) has been 
allocated to Main Street improvements from a 2018 Certificate of Obligation (CO) (pg. 297) 
for Four Million Seven Hundred Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($4,700,000.00), which 
also included the following: 

 
• Two million dollars and zero cents ($2,000,000.00) for engineering associated with the 

Old Iron Bridge,  
• One million one hundred thousand dollars and zero cents ($1,100,000.00) for the Street 

Maintenance Program, 
• Two hundred twenty-three thousand five hundred dollars and zero cents ($223,500.00) 

for Street improvements related to the North Main Street improvements (in-house), and 
• Six hundred seventy-six four hundred dollars and zero cents ($674,400.00) will be used 

for a match to the hazardous mitigation grant funds for the Public Works Detention Pond 
Project, Pine Street Drainage Channel Improvements, and the Jasper & Newton Street 
Drainage Improvements.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2019-135 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas awarding a contract in the amount of one million seven hundred fifty-one thousand two 
hundred fifty-four dollars and zero cents ($1,751,254.00) to Muniz Concrete and Contracting, Inc. 
for the construction of the Main Street Rehabilitation project as shown in Exhibit A; authorizing 
the City Manager to execute all necessary documents; providing for a repealing clause; and 
establishing an effective date.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution 

• MWM DesignGroup Recommendation Letter & Bid Tabulation 
• Draft contract documents  



RESOLUTION NO. R-2018-135 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS, 
AWARDING A CONTRACT IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE MILLION SEVEN 
HUNDRED FIFTY-ONE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED FIFTY-FOUR DOLLARS 
AND ZERO CENTS ($1,751,254.00) TO MUNIZ CONCRETE AND 
CONTRACTING, INC. FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE MAIN STREET 
REHABILITATION PROJECT AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A; AUTHORIZING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS; PROVIDING 
FOR A REPEALING CLAUSE; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.   
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bastrop City Council understands the importance of public safety 

provided by performing construction management infrastructure improvements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bastrop City Council understands providing maintenance on 

current City Infrastructure should be cost effective; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bastrop understands the importance of focusing on infrastructure 

improvements in the area of street maintenance; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bastrop has chosen MWM DesignGroup from a list of qualified 

consulting firms identified by the City of Bastrop City Council on July 10, 2018; and 
 
WHEREAS, MWM DesignGroup has conducted a Request for Proposals for the City of 

Bastrop Main Street Rehabilitation Project; and  
 
WHEREAS, On December 3, 2019, proposals were received for the City of Bastrop Main 

Street Rehabilitation Project. MWM has reviewed and ranked the proposals and recommends 
that Council allow the City Manager to execute all necessary documents for the Main Street 
Rehabilitation Project.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

BASTROP, TEXAS: 
 

Section 1.  The City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas has found MWM DesignGroup 
to be a subject matter expert in the fields of water/wastewater, streets/drainage, and land survey 
and accepts MWM’s recommendation that Council authorize the City Manager execute all 
necessary documents for the Main Street Rehabilitation Project. 

 
Section 2.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to draft and execute a contract with 

Muniz Concrete and Contracting, INC. in the amount of one million seven hundred fifty-one 
thousand two hundred fifty-four dollars and zero cents ($1,751,254.00), as attached in Exhibit A, 
as well as all other necessary documents.  
 

Section 3.  This resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage, and it 
is duly resolved. 
  



 
DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 10th 

day of December, 2019. 
 

 
APPROVED: 

        
             
       Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
      
Alan Bojorquez, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 



www.mwmdesigngroup.com 
TBAE Firm Registration No.: 1452 

TBPE Firm Registration No.: F-1416 

TBPLS Firm Registration No.: 10065600 

305 East Huntland Drive 

Suite 200 

Austin, Texas 78752 

p: 512.453.0767 

f: 512.453.1734 

1 of 1 

December 4, 2019 
 
Trey Job 
Assistant City Manager of 
Development Services 
City of Bastrop 
1311 Chestnut Street 
Bastrop, Texas 78602 
 
Subject: Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements Project 
  Bid Review and Award Recommendation 
 
Dear Mr. Job, 
 
We reviewed the four bids that were received by the City of Bastrop on Tuesday, December 3, 
2019 for the above referenced project. 
 
The bids ranged from $1,751,254 to $3,108,135, including the base bid and add alternate bid 
items.  There was one mathematical error found but it was not in the low bid and it did not 
change the order of the bids received.  The low bid of $1,751,254 was received from Muniz 
Concrete and Contracting Inc.  The second low bid of $1,864,780 was received from Westar 
Construction, Inc.  The low bid and second low bid both compare favorably with the engineer’s 
opinion of $1,900,000. 
 
MWM reviewed the documents and references.  In addition, we have worked with Muniz 
Concrete and Contracting, Inc. on many successful projects throughout Central Texas.  We 
recommend awarding this contract, with all add alternate bid items, to Muniz Concrete and 
Contracting, Inc. with a low bid of $1,751,254. 
 
Please contact me at 512.992.2969 if you should have any questions regarding this letter.  We 
look forward to working with you through the construction phase of this project. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Anthony D. Buonodono, P.E., PMP 
Senior Associate 
Senior Project Manager 
Infrastructure Group Leader 
 



PROJECT CONSULTANTS: MWM DESIGNGROUP

PROJECT MANAGER: TONY BUONODONO, P.E., PMP

RESPONSES: 6

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE: $1,900,000

BID OPENING: DECEMBER 3, 2019

BID ITEM QTY UNIT ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT 

1 4,900 LF P.C. Concrete Curb and Gutter (Fine Grading) $31.20 $152,880.00 $26.00 $127,400.00 $25.00 $122,500.00

2 6,000 LF Pavement Marking Paint (Reflectorized), 4 in. $2.70 $16,200.00 $3.00 $18,000.00 $1.00 $6,000.00

3 55,000 SF New P.C. Concrete Sidewalk, 5.5 Inch Thickness $14.00 $770,000.00 $7.00 $385,000.00 $8.25 $453,750.00

4 1,100 TON
Hot Mix Asphaltic Concrete Pavement, 2" Type D, 

complete and in place
$215.00 $236,500.00 $118.00 $129,800.00 $148.00 $162,800.00

5 300 CY Flexible Base (12" thick) $154.00 $46,200.00 $135.00 $40,500.00 $200.00 $60,000.00

6 9 EA

Inlet Extension, Standard (10-Foot) Including Removal 

of Existing Inlet lid and all Appurtenances, complete 

and in place

$9,021.00 $81,189.00 $4,000.00 $36,000.00 $7,350.00 $66,150.00

7 1,500 SF
Type II P.C. Concrete Driveway, moderate to high 

expansive soil conditions, complete and in place
$15.80 $23,700.00 $12.00 $18,000.00 $13.00 $19,500.00

8 30 EA
Curb Ramp with Pavers (Type I), complete and in 

place
$2,270.00 $68,100.00 $1,100.00 $33,000.00 $1,800.00 $54,000.00

9 9 EA
Inlet Protection, (Existing Inlet & Future), complete and 

in place
$178.00 $1,602.00 $200.00 $1,800.00 $120.00 $1,080.00

10 9,300 SY Milling Asphaltic Concrete Pavement $10.70 $99,510.00 $6.00 $55,800.00 $4.50 $41,850.00

11 41,000 SF Removing Portland Cement Concrete $4.90 $200,900.00 $2.00 $82,000.00 $4.00 $164,000.00

12 15 EA Temporary Removal and reinstallation of Street Lights(including foundations, conduit, etc.$2,685.00 $40,275.00 $3,680.00 $55,200.00 $6,000.00 $90,000.00

13 12 EA Install Street Lights, foundations, and conduit $13,999.00 $167,988.00 $3,030.00 $36,360.00 $7,250.00 $87,000.00

14 1 LS Tree Irrigation (complete and in place) $101,520.00 $101,520.00 $23,000.00 $23,000.00 $45,000.00 $45,000.00

15 93 EA 3" Shade Tree (incl. top soil in grow trench) $1,881.00 $174,933.00 $1,095.00 $101,835.00 $1,200.00 $111,600.00

16 93 EA Tree Grate $4,426.00 $411,618.00 $3,049.00 $283,557.00 $2,900.00 $269,700.00

17 19 EA Temporary Support of Existing Building Awening, Overhang and/or Balcony$3,804.00 $72,276.00 $2,500.00 $47,500.00 $1,900.00 $36,100.00

18 1 LS Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan $31,724.00 $31,724.00 $7,677.00 $7,677.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00

19 180 CD Traffic Control per MUTCD $307.74 $55,393.00 $300.00 $54,000.00 $125.00 $22,500.00

20 1 LS Mobilization (max 10%) $243,433.00 $243,433.00 $127,208.00 $127,208.00 $180,000.00 $180,000.00

TOTAL BASE BID $2,995,941.00 $1,663,637.00 $2,018,530.00

ADD ALTERNATIVES

21 57 EA
Provide and Install Benches – Belson model CBPB-

65B-BK, or equal
1,647.00$     $93,879.00 1,288.00$    $73,416.00 900.00$       $51,300.00

22 11 EA
Provide and Install Trash Cans – Belson model CBTR-

FT-BK, or equal
1,665.00$     $18,315.00 1,291.00$    $14,201.00 1,000.00$    $11,000.00

TOTAL ADD ALTERNATE BID $112,194.00 $87,617.00 $62,300.00

TOTAL BID PRICE (BASE + ALTERNATE) $3,108,135.00 $1,751,254.00 $2,080,830.00

* MATHMATICAL ERROR FOUND AND CORRECTED

YES

MUNIZ CONCRTE SMITH CONTRACTINGBIDERS: MYERS CONCRETE

12/4/2019

BID TABULATION - PAGE 1 OF 2

MAIN STREET SIDEWALK AND ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS

GUARANTEE: BB BB BB

ADDENDA ACKNOWELDGED: YES YES

*



PROJECT CONSULTANTS: MWM DESIGNGROUP

PROJECT MANAGER: TONY BUONODONO, P.E., PMP

RESPONSES: 6

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE: $1,900,000

BID OPENING: DECEMBER 3, 2019

BID ITEM QTY UNIT ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT 

1 4,900 LF P.C. Concrete Curb and Gutter (Fine Grading) $24.00 $117,600.00 $40.00 $196,000.00 $23.00 $112,700.00

2 6,000 LF Pavement Marking Paint (Reflectorized), 4 in. $1.00 $6,000.00 $3.00 $18,000.00 $1.20 $7,200.00

3 55,000 SF New P.C. Concrete Sidewalk, 5.5 Inch Thickness $8.00 $440,000.00 $18.00 $990,000.00 $7.00 $385,000.00

4 1,100 TON
Hot Mix Asphaltic Concrete Pavement, 2" Type D, 

complete and in place
$105.00 $115,500.00 $145.00 $159,500.00 $140.00 $154,000.00

5 300 CY Flexible Base (12" thick) $85.00 $25,500.00 $200.00 $60,000.00 $110.00 $33,000.00

6 9 EA

Inlet Extension, Standard (10-Foot) Including Removal 

of Existing Inlet lid and all Appurtenances, complete 

and in place

$6,500.00 $58,500.00 $7,500.00 $67,500.00 $8,500.00 $76,500.00

7 1,500 SF
Type II P.C. Concrete Driveway, moderate to high 

expansive soil conditions, complete and in place
$14.00 $21,000.00 $100.00 $150,000.00 $7.00 $10,500.00

8 30 EA
Curb Ramp with Pavers (Type I), complete and in 

place
$2,000.00 $60,000.00 $2,300.00 $69,000.00 $1,400.00 $42,000.00

9 9 EA
Inlet Protection, (Existing Inlet & Future), complete and 

in place
$100.00 $900.00 $125.00 $1,125.00 $250.00 $2,250.00

10 9,300 SY Milling Asphaltic Concrete Pavement $4.50 $41,850.00 $6.00 $55,800.00 $6.00 $55,800.00

11 41,000 SF Removing Portland Cement Concrete $4.55 $186,550.00 $5.00 $205,000.00 $2.50 $102,500.00

12 15 EA Temporary Removal and reinstallation of Street Lights(including foundations, conduit, etc.$5,000.00 $75,000.00 $7,000.00 $105,000.00 $5,500.00 $82,500.00

13 12 EA Install Street Lights, foundations, and conduit $6,500.00 $78,000.00 $9,000.00 $108,000.00 $7,000.00 $84,000.00

14 1 LS Tree Irrigation (complete and in place) $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $47,000.00 $47,000.00 $58,000.00 $58,000.00

15 93 EA 3" Shade Tree (incl. top soil in grow trench) $800.00 $74,400.00 $1,500.00 $139,500.00 $1,000.00 $93,000.00

16 93 EA Tree Grate $3,500.00 $325,500.00 $2,500.00 $232,500.00 $2,810.00 $261,330.00

17 19 EA Temporary Support of Existing Building Awening, Overhang and/or Balcony$3,000.00 $57,000.00 $4,000.00 $76,000.00 $1,000.00 $19,000.00

18 1 LS Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00

19 180 CD Traffic Control per MUTCD $450.00 $81,000.00 $60.00 $10,800.00 $200.00 $36,000.00

20 1 LS Mobilization (max 10%) $190,000.00 $190,000.00 $130,000.00 $130,000.00 $160,000.00 $160,000.00

TOTAL BASE BID $1,989,300.00 $2,828,725.00 $1,779,780.00

ADD ALTERNATIVES

21 57 EA
Provide and Install Benches – Belson model CBPB-

65B-BK, or equal
3,000.00$     $171,000.00 1,700.00$    $96,900.00 1,250.00$    $71,250.00

22 11 EA
Provide and Install Trash Cans – Belson model CBTR-

FT-BK, or equal
3,000.00$     $33,000.00 1,700.00$    $18,700.00 1,250.00$    $13,750.00

TOTAL ADD ALTERNATE BID $204,000.00 $115,600.00 $85,000.00

TOTAL BID PRICE (BASE + ALTERNATE) $2,193,300.00 $2,944,325.00 $1,864,780.00

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS

MAIN STREET SIDEWALK AND ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS

BID TABULATION - PAGE 2 OF 2

12/4/2019

GUARANTEE: BB BB BB

ADDENDA ACKNOWELDGED: YES YES YES

BIDERS: COX COMMERCIAL PATIN CONSTRUCTION WESTAR CONSTRUCTION



Table of Contents 
00 01 10 - 1 

 

DOCUMENT 00 01 10 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Section Title No. of Pages 
 

DIVISION 00 - PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS 

00 01 10 Table of Contents ....................................................................................................... 2 

PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS 

00 11 16 Advertisement for Bids .............................................................................................. 1 
00 21 15 Instructions to Bidders ............................................................................................... 10 
00 41 43 Bid Form .................................................................................................................... 7 
00 42 43 Bid Bond .................................................................................................................... 2 

CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS 

00 45 00 Notice of Award......................................................................................................... 1 
00 46 00 Notice to Proceed ....................................................................................................... 1 
00 52 15 Agreement Form ........................................................................................................ 6 
00 61 00 Performance Bond...................................................................................................... 2 
00 61 50 Payment Bond ............................................................................................................ 2 
00 72 15 General Conditions .................................................................................................... 39 
00 73 13 Supplementary Conditions......................................................................................... 5 
00 91 13 Addenda ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Non-Collusion Affidavit ............................................................................................ 1 
Sample Forms 

Work Change Directive ..................................................................................... 1 
Field Order......................................................................................................... 1 
Change Order ..................................................................................................... 2 
Contractor’s Application for Payment ............................................................... 4 
Certificate of Substantial Completion................................................................ 1 

Technical Specifications No. of Pages 
 

DIVISION 01 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS  

01 10 00 Summary of Work......................................................................................................... 3 
01 20 00 Price and Payment Procedures ...................................................................................... 5 
01 21 00 Mobilization, Traffic Handling, and Incidentals........................................................... 1 
01 25 00 Substitution Procedures................................................................................................. 2 
01 30 00 Administrative Requirements ....................................................................................... 5 
01 32 16 Construction Progress Schedule.................................................................................... 4 
01 33 00 Submittal Procedures .................................................................................................... 6 
01 40 00 Quality Requirements ................................................................................................... 4 
01 50 00 Temporary Facilities and Controls................................................................................ 9 
01 60 00 Product Requirements ................................................................................................... 2 
01 70 00 Execution and Closeout Requirements ......................................................................... 6 



Table of Contents 
00 01 10 - 2 

 

DIVISION 31 – EARTHWORK 

31 25 12 Storm Water Pollution Prevention ................................................................................ 3 

DIVISION 33 – UTILITIES 

33 01 31 Manhole Grade Adjustment .......................................................................................... 4 
 
 

TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (TxDOT) STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 
The Texas Department of Transportation “Standard Specifications for Construction and Maintenance of 
Highways, Streets, and Bridges,” 2014 Edition, is incorporated herein by reference for all intents and 
purposes. If a standard specified in that document conflicts with a standard included within a bid 
specifications document, the standard in the bid specifications document controls. If the standard is still 
unclear, the Engineer will determine which standard controls and his determination shall be final. 

 
TxDOT Special Specifications 

 

3005 – Scrub Seal Treatment 
3028 – Frictional Asphaltic Surface Preservation Treatment 

 
Attachments 

 

1. Special Provisions 
2. General Notes 
3. Program Maintenance Maps 

A: Overview 
A1 
A2 
A3 

4. Program Maintenance Basis of Estimate 
5. Program Preventative Maintenance Maps 

B: Overview 
B1 
B2 
B3 

6. Program Preventative Maintenance Basis of Estimate 
 
 

END OF TABLE OF CONTENTS 



 

ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS 
 

  City of Bastrop  
(Owner) 

 
 

Separate sealed bids for Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 
 

Project for City of Bastrop will be received by the Engineer at Bastrop City Hall, 1311 
 

Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 78602, until 2:00 PM, July 22, 2019 and then publicly opened 
 

and read aloud shortly thereafter at the same location, on the same day. 
 

The information for Bidders, Form of Bid, Form of Contract, Plans Specifications, and 
Forms of Bid Bond, Performance and Payment Bond, and other contract documents may 
be examined at the following: 

 
MWM DesignGroup 

305 E. Huntland Drive, Suite 200, Austin, Texas 78752 
 

Copies of the bidding documents can be obtained electronically online from CivCast 
(www.civcastusa.com). For more information, contact Tony Buonodono, P.E., PMP at 
tonyb@mwmdesigngroup.com 

The owner reserves the right to waive any informalities or to reject any or all bids. 
 

Each bidder must deposit with his bid, security in the minimum amount of 5% of the 
greatest amount of bid. The bid bond and surety's power of attorney must both carry the date of 
the bid opening. 

 

No bidder may withdraw his bid within 60 days after the actual date of the opening 
thereof. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  July 4, 2019  _______________________ 
Date   Engineer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Advertisement for Bids 
00 11 16 - 1 

mailto:tonyb@mwmdesigngroup.com


Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 1 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINED TERMS ............................................................................................................. 1 

ARTICLE 2 - COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS ................................................................................. 1 

ARTICLE 3 - QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS ............................................................................................ 1 

ARTICLE 4 - EXAMINATION OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS, OTHER RELATED  DATA,  AND 
SITE .......................................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 5 - PRE-BID CONFERENCE ............................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE 6 - SITE AND OTHER AREAS ........................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE 7 - INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 8 - BID SECURITY ............................................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT TIMES ............................................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 10 - LIQUIDATED DAMAGES .................................................................................................. 4 

ARTICLE 11 - SUBSTITUTE AND “OR-EQUAL” ITEMS ....................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 12 - SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS ....................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 13 - PREPARATION OF BID ........................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 14 - BASIS OF BID; COMPARISON OF BIDS ............................................................................. 5 

ARTICLE 15 - SUBMITTAL OF BID ................................................................................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 16 - MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID ................................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 17 - OPENING OF BIDS .................................................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE 18 - BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE .............................................................. 6 

ARTICLE 19 – EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT ................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 20 - CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE ....................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE 21 - SIGNING OF AGREEMENT .................................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE 22 - SALES AND USE TAXES ................................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE 23 - RETAINAGE ............................................................................................................................... 7 
 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 2 

 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINED TERMS 
 

 
1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated in the General 
Conditions and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the 
meanings indicated below: 

 
A. Issuing Office--The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued and where the 

bidding procedures are to be administered. 
 
 

ARTICLE 2 - COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS 
 
 

2.01 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents in the number and for the payment sum, if any, stated 
in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid may be obtained from the Issuing Office. The payment is 
nonrefundable. 

 
2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor 
Engineer assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete 
sets of Bidding Documents. 

 
2.03 Owner and Engineer, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, do 
so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not confer a license or grant for any other use. 

 
 

ARTICLE 3 - QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS 
 
 

3.01 To demonstrate Bidder’s qualifications to perform the Work, within five days of Owner’s 
request, Owner may request the Bidder to submit written evidence such as financial data, previous 
experience, present commitments, and such other data as may be requested. 

 
 

ARTICLE 4 - EXAMINATION OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS, OTHER RELATED DATA, AND 
SITE 

 
 

4.01 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 
 

A. The Supplementary Conditions identify: 
 

1. Those reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site that 
Engineer has used in preparing the Bidding Documents. 

 
2. Those drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface and subsurface 

structures at or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) that Engineer has used in 
preparing the Bidding Documents. 

 
B. Copies of reports and drawings referenced in Paragraph 4.01.A will be made available by Owner to 

any Bidder on request. Those reports and drawings are not part of the Contract Documents, but the  
“technical data” contained therein upon which Bidder is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 4.02 of the 
General Conditions has been identified and established in Paragraph 4.02 of the Supplementary Conditions. 
Bidder is responsible for any interpretation or conclusion Bidder draws from any “technical data” or any 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 3 

 

other data, interpretations, opinions or information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such 
drawings. 

 
4.02 Underground Facilities 

 
A. Information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding Documents with respect to existing 

Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based upon information and data furnished to Owner 
and Engineer by owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or others. The Contractor shall 
call Texas 811 at 1-800-344-8377 at least 48 hours prior to digging. 

 
4.03 Hazardous Environmental Condition 

 
A. The Supplementary Conditions identify those reports and drawings relating to a Hazardous 

Environmental Condition identified at the Site, if any, that Engineer has used in preparing the Bidding 
Documents. 

 
B. Copies of reports and drawings referenced in Paragraph 4.03.A will be made available by Owner to 

any Bidder on request. Those reports and drawings are not part of the Contract Documents, but the  
“technical data” contained therein upon which Bidder is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 4.06 of the 
General Conditions has been identified and established in Paragraph 4.06 of the Supplementary Conditions. 
Bidder is responsible for any interpretation or conclusion Bidder draws from any “technical data” or any 
other data, interpretations, opinions, or information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such 
drawings. 

 
4.04 Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders 
with respect to subsurface conditions, other physical conditions and Underground Facilities, and possible 
changes in the Bidding Documents due to differing or unanticipated conditions appear in Paragraphs 4.02, 
4.03, and 4.04 of the General Conditions. Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data 
furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to a Hazardous Environmental Condition at the Site, if any, 
and possible changes in the Contract Documents due to any Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered 
or revealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in 
the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work appear in Paragraph 4.06 of the General  
Conditions. 

 
4.05 On request, Owner will provide Bidder access to the Site to conduct such examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, and studies as Bidder deems necessary for submission of a Bid. Bidder 
shall fill all holes and clean up and restore the Site to its former condition upon completion of such 
explorations, investigations, tests, and studies. Bidder shall comply with all applicable Laws  and 
Regulations relative to excavation and utility locates. 

 
4.06 Reference is made to Article 7 of the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of the 
general nature of other work that is to be performed at the Site by Owner or others (such as utilities and 
other prime contractors) that relates to the Work contemplated by these Bidding Documents (if applicable). 
On request, Owner will provide to each Bidder for examination access to or copies of Contract Documents 
(other than portions thereof related to price) for such other work. 

 
4.07 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to: 

 
A. examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, the other related data identified in the Bidding 

Documents, and any Addenda; 
 

B. visit the Site and become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to the general, local, and Site 
conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work; 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 4 

 

C. become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that 
may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work; 

 
D. carefully study all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to 

the Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at 
or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) which have been identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions as provided in Paragraph 4.02 of the General Conditions, and (2) reports and drawings of 
Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site which have been identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions as provided in Paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions; 

 
E. obtain and carefully study (or accept consequences of not doing so) all additional or supplementary 

examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning conditions  (surface, 
subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the Site which may affect cost, progress, or 
performance of the Work or which relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder, including applying any specific means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Bidding Documents, and 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto; 

 
F. agree at the time of submitting its Bid that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, 

tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for performance of the Work at the 
price(s) bid and within the times and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding 
Documents; 

 
G. become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site 

that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents; 
 

H. correlate the information known to Bidder, information and observations obtained from visits to the 
Site, reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, and all additional examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data with the Bidding Documents; 

 
I. promptly give Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that 

Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution thereof by Engineer is 
acceptable to Bidder; and 

 
J. determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey 

understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance of the Work. 
 

4.08 The submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that Bidder 
has complied with every requirement of this Article 4, that without exception the Bid is premised upon 
performing and furnishing the Work required by the Bidding Documents and applying any specific means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction that may be shown or indicated or expressly 
required by the Bidding Documents, that Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, 
ambiguities, and discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents and the written 
resolutions thereof by Engineer are acceptable to Bidder, and that the Bidding Documents are generally 
sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performing and furnishing  
the Work. 

 
 

ARTICLE 5 - PRE-BID CONFERENCE 
 
 

5.01 There will not be a pre-bid conference. 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 5 

 

ARTICLE 6 - SITE AND OTHER AREAS 
 
 

6.01  The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. Easements for permanent structures or permanent 
changes in existing facilities are to be obtained and paid for by Owner unless otherwise provided in the 
Bidding Documents. All additional lands and access thereto required for temporary construction facilities, 
construction equipment, or storage of materials and equipment to be incorporated in the Work are to be 
obtained and paid for by Contractor. 

 
 

ARTICLE 7 - INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA 
 
 

7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to 
Engineer in writing. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Engineer in response to such 
questions will be issued by Addenda mailed or delivered to all parties recorded by Engineer as having 
received the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than ten days prior to the date for opening of Bids 
may not be answered. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. Oral and other interpretations 
or clarifications will be without legal effect. 

 
7.02 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Documents as deemed 
advisable by Owner or Engineer. 

 
 

ARTICLE 8 - BID SECURITY 
 
 

8.01 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of five (5) 
percent of Bidder’s maximum Bid price and in the form of a certified check or bank money order or a Bid 
Bond (on the form attached) issued by a surety meeting the requirements of Paragraphs 5.01 and 5.02 of the 
General Conditions. 

 
8.02 The Bid security of the Successful Bidder will be retained until such Bidder has executed the 
Contract Documents, furnished the required contract security and met the other conditions of the Notice of 
Award, whereupon the Bid security will be returned. If the Successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the 
Contract Documents and furnish the required contract security within 15 days after the Notice of Award, 
Owner may annul the Notice of Award and the Bid security of that Bidder will be forfeited. The Bid 
security of other Bidders whom Owner believes to have a reasonable chance of receiving the award may be 
retained by Owner until the earlier of seven days after the Effective Date of the Agreement or 61 days after 
the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders will be returned. 

 
8.03 Bid security of other Bidders whom Owner believes do not have a reasonable chance of 
receiving the award will be returned within seven days after the Bid opening. 

 
 

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT TIMES 
 
 

9.01 The Contractor shall have 90 consecutive calendar days to complete the proposed work in 
accordance with Article 4.02 of the Agreement. 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 6 

 

ARTICLE 10 - LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 
 

10.01 Liquidated damages in the amount of $500.00 shall be assessed each day after the number of days 
specified as the contract time as set forth in Article 9, above and in accordance with Article 4.03 of the 
Agreement. 

 
 

ARTICLE 11 - SUBSTITUTE AND “OR-EQUAL” ITEMS 
 
 

11.01 The Contract, if awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment specified or described in 
the Bidding Documents, or those substitute or “or-equal” materials and equipment approved by Engineer 
and identified by Addendum. The materials and equipment described in the Bidding Documents establish a 
standard of required type, function and quality to be met by any proposed substitute or “or-equal” item. No 
item of material or equipment will be considered by Engineer as a substitute or “or-equal” unless written 
request for approval has been submitted by Bidder and has been received by Engineer at least 15 days prior 
to the date for receipt of Bids. Each such request shall conform to the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 of the 
General Conditions. The burden of proof of the merit of the proposed item is upon Bidder. Engineer’s 
decision of approval or disapproval of a proposed item will be final. If Engineer approves any proposed 
item, such approval will be set forth in an Addendum issued to all prospective Bidders. Bidders shall not 
rely upon approvals made in any other manner. 

 
 

ARTICLE 12 - SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS 
 
 

12.01 If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, 
individuals, or entities to be submitted to Owner in advance of a specified date prior to the Effective Date of 
the Agreement, the apparent Successful Bidder, and any other Bidder so requested, shall within five days 
after Bid opening, submit to Owner a list of all such Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities 
proposed for those portions of the Work for which such identification is required. Such list shall be 
accompanied by an experience statement with pertinent information regarding similar projects and other 
evidence of qualification for each such Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity if requested by Owner. 
If Owner or Engineer, after due investigation, has reasonable objection to any proposed Subcontractor, 
Supplier, individual, or entity, Owner may, before the Notice of Award is given, request apparent Successful 
Bidder to submit a substitute, without an increase in the Bid. 

 
12.02 If apparent Successful Bidder declines to make any such substitution, Owner may award the 
Contract to the next lowest Bidder that proposes to use acceptable Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or 
entities. Declining to make requested substitutions will not constitute grounds for forfeiture of the Bid 
security of any Bidder. Any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity so listed and against  which  
Owner or Engineer makes no written objection prior to the giving of the Notice of Award will be deemed 
acceptable to Owner and Engineer subject to revocation of such acceptance after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement as provided in Paragraph 6.06 of the General Conditions. 

 
12.03 Contractor shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity against 
whom Contractor has reasonable objection. 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 7 

 

ARTICLE 13 - PREPARATION OF BID 
 
 

13.01 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents. Additional copies may be obtained from 
Engineer. 

 
13.02 All blanks on the Bid Form shall be completed by printing in ink or by typewriter and the Bid 
signed in ink. Erasures or alterations shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the Bid Form. A Bid 
price shall be indicated for each section, Bid item, alternative, and unit price item listed therein, or the 
words “No Bid,” “No Change,” or “Not Applicable” entered. 

 
13.03 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by the president or a vice-president 
or other corporate officer accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The corporate seal shall be affixed 
and attested by the secretary or an assistant secretary. The corporate address and state of incorporation shall 
be shown below the signature. 

 
13.04 A Bid by a partnership shall be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner (whose 
title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The official address of 
the partnership shall be shown below the signature. 

 
13.05 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member and 
accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of formation of the firm and the official address of 
the firm shall be shown below the signature. 

 
13.06 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder’s name and official address. 

 
13.07 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by each joint venturer in the manner indicated on the Bid 
Form. The official address of the joint venture shall be shown below the signature. 

 
13.08 All names shall be typed or printed in ink below the signatures. 

 
13.09 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall be 
filled in on the Bid Form. 

 
13.10 The address and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall be shown. 

 
13.11 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder’s authority and qualification to do business in the state 
where the Project is located or covenant to obtain such qualification prior to award of the Contract.  
Bidder’s state contractor license number, if any, shall also be shown on the Bid Form. 

 
 

ARTICLE 14 - BASIS OF BID; COMPARISON OF BIDS 
 
 

14.01 Unit Price 
 

A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a unit price basis for each item of Work listed in the Bid schedule. 
 

B. The total of all estimated prices will be the sum of the products of the estimated quantity of each 
item and the corresponding unit price. The final quantities and Contract Price will be determined in 
accordance with Paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions. 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 8 

 

C. Discrepancies between the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in favor 
of the unit prices. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum 
thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum. Discrepancies between words and figures will be 
resolved in favor of the words. 

 
14.02 The Bid price shall include such amounts as the Bidder deems proper for overhead and profit on 
account of cash allowances, if any, named in the Contract Documents as provided in Paragraph 11.02 of the 
General Conditions. 

 
14.03 Bid prices will be compared after adjusting for differences in the time designated by Bidders for 
Substantial Completion. The adjusting amount will be determined at the rate set forth in the Contract  
Documents for liquidated damages for failing to achieve Substantial Completion for each day before or after 
the desired date appearing in Article 9. 

 
 

ARTICLE 15 - SUBMITTAL OF BID 
 
 

15.01 The Bid Form is to be completed and submitted with the Bid Security. 
 

15.02 A Bid shall be submitted no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in the 
Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and shall be enclosed in an opaque sealed envelope plainly marked with 
the Project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for which the Bid is submitted), the 
name and address of Bidder, and shall be accompanied by the Bid security and other required documents. If 
a Bid is sent by mail or other delivery system, the sealed envelope containing the Bid shall be enclosed in a 
separate envelope plainly marked on the outside with the notation “BID ENCLOSED.” A mailed Bid shall 
be addressed to City of Bastrop, Attn: Trey Job, P.O. Box 427, Bastrop, Texas, 78602. 

 
 

ARTICLE 16 - MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID 
 
 

16.01 A Bid may be modified or withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the manner that 
a Bid must be executed and delivered to the place where Bids are to be submitted prior to the date and time 
for the opening of Bids. 

 
16.02 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened, any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with Owner 
and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a material and 
substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid, and the Bid security will 
be returned. Thereafter, if the Work is rebid, that Bidder will be disqualified from further bidding on the 
Work. 

 
ARTICLE 17 - OPENING OF BIDS 

 
 

17.01 Bids will be opened at the time and place indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and, 
unless obviously non-responsive, read aloud publicly. An abstract of the amounts of the base Bids and  
major alternates, if any, will be made available to Bidders after the opening of Bids. 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 9 

 

ARTICLE 18 - BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE 
 
 

18.01 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid Form, but Owner 
may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of this period. 

 
 

ARTICLE 19 – EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 
 
 

19.01 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, 
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. Owner further reserves the right to reject the Bid of any 
Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to not be responsible. Owner may also reject 
the Bid of any Bidder if Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the Project to make an 
award to that Bidder. Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not involving price, time, or 
changes in the Work and to negotiate contract terms with the Successful Bidder. 

 
19.02 More than one Bid for the same Work from an individual or entity under the same or different 
names will not be considered. Reasonable grounds for believing that any Bidder has an interest in more  
than one Bid for the Work may be cause for disqualification of that Bidder and the rejection of all Bids in 
which that Bidder has an interest. 

 
19.03 In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed 
requirements, and such alternates, unit prices and other data, as may be requested in the Bid Form or prior to 
the Notice of Award. 

 
19.04 In evaluating Bidders, Owner will consider the qualifications of Bidders and may consider the 
qualifications and experience of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities proposed for 
those portions of the Work for which the identity of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or 
entities must be submitted as provided in the Supplementary Conditions. 

 
19.05 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to establish the responsibility, 
qualifications, and financial ability of Bidders, proposed Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities to 
perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
19.06 If the Contract is to be awarded, Owner will award the Contract to the Bidder whose Bid is in the 
best interests of the Project. 

 
 

ARTICLE 20 - CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE 
 
 

20.01 Article 5 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets forth 
Owner’s requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the Successful Bidder 
delivers the executed Agreement to Owner, it shall be accompanied by such bonds. 

 
 

ARTICLE 21 - SIGNING OF AGREEMENT 
 
 

21.01 When Owner gives a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the 
required number of unsigned counterparts of the Agreement with the other Contract Documents which are 
identified in the Agreement as attached thereto. Within 15 days thereafter, Successful Bidder shall sign and 
deliver the required number of counterparts of the Agreement and attached documents to Owner. Within 



Instructions to Bidders 
00 21 15 - 10 

 

ten days thereafter, Owner shall deliver one fully signed counterpart to Successful Bidder with a complete 
set of the Drawings with appropriate identification. 

 
 

ARTICLE 22 - SALES AND USE TAXES 
 
 

22.01 Owner is exempt from Texas state sales and use taxes on materials and equipment to be 
incorporated in the Work. Said taxes shall not be included in the Bid. Refer to Paragraph SC-6.10 of the 
Supplementary Conditions for additional information. 

 
 

ARTICLE 23 - RETAINAGE 
 
 

23.01 The amount of retainage shall be 5% of the Work as approved on the “Contractor’s Application 
for Payment,” in which 5% shall be retained on each payment application until the Final Payment. 



Bid Form 
00 41 43 - 1 

 

BID FORM 
 

City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements Project 

Engineer’s Project No. R345-03 
 
 
 

TABLE OF ARTICLES 
 

Article Article No. 
 

Bid Recipient ................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Bidder’s Acknowledgements ........................................................................................................................ 2 

Bidder's Acceptance of Instructions .............................................................................................................. 3 

Bidder's Representations ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Further Representations ................................................................................................................................ 5 

Basis of Bid ................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Time of Completion ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

Attachments to this Bid ................................................................................................................................. 8 

Defined Terms ..............................................................................................................................................10 

Bid Submittal ................................................................................................................................................11 



Bid Form 
00 41 43 - 2 

 

ARTICLE 1 – BID RECIPIENT 

1.01 This Bid is submitted to: 

City of Bastrop 
1311 Chestnut Street 
Bastrop, TX 78602 

 
ARTICLE 2 – BIDDER'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

2.01  The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement 
with Owner in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or 
indicated in the Bidding Documents for the prices and within the times indicated in this Bid and 
in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents. 

 
 

ARTICLE 3 – BIDDER'S ACCEPTANCE OF INSTRUCTIONS 

3.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Instructions to Bidders, including without 
limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. This Bid will remain subject to 
acceptance for 60 days after the Bid opening, or for such longer period of time that Bidder may 
agree to in writing upon request of Owner. 

 
 

ARTICLE 4 – BIDDER'S REPRESENTATIONS 

4.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents that: 

A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, the other related data 
identified in the Bidding Documents, and the following Addenda, receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged. 

 

Addendum No. Addendum Date 
 
 
 

 

 
 

B. Bidder has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local 
and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

C. Bidder is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state and local Laws and Regulations 
that may affect cost, progress and performance of the Work. 

D. Bidder has carefully studied all reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at 
or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing 
surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) 
which have been identified in SC-4.02. 



Bid Form 
00 41 43 - 3 

 

E. Bidder has obtained and carefully studied (or accepts the consequences for not doing so) all 
additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies and  
data concerning conditions (surface, subsurface and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous 
to the Site which may affect cost, progress, or performance of the Work or which relate to 
any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to 
be employed by Bidder, including applying the specific means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Bidding Documents to 
be employed by Bidder, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

F. Bidder does not consider that any further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, 
studies, or data are necessary for the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work 
at the price(s) bid and within the times and in accordance with the other terms and conditions 
of the Bidding Documents. 

G. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the 
Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents. 

H. Bidder has correlated the information known to Bidder, information and observations 
obtained from visits to the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, 
and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data with the 
Bidding Documents. 

I. Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or 
discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and the written 
resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder. 

J. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all 
terms and conditions for the performance of the Work for which this Bid is submitted. 

K. Bidder will submit written evidence of its authority to do business in the state where the 
Project is located not later than the date of its execution of the Agreement. 

 
 

ARTICLE 5 – FURTHER REPRESENTATIONS 

5.01 Bidder further represents that: 

A. this Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed individual 
or entity and is not submitted in conformity with any agreement or rules of any group, 
association, organization or corporation; 

B. Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false or 
sham Bid; 

C. Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and 

D. Bidder has not sought by collusion to obtain for itself any advantage over any other Bidder or 
over Owner. 



Bid Form 
00 41 43 - 4 

 

ARTICLE 6 – BASIS OF BID 

6.01 Bidder will complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents for the following 
price(s): 

BID PROPOSAL 
 

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Amount 

1 P.C. Concrete Curb and Gutter (Fine Grading) 
     

4,805  LF  $   $  

2 Pavement Marking Paint (Reflectorized), 4 in. 
     

5,830  LF  $   $  

3 New P.C. Concrete Sidewalk, 5.5 Inch 
Thickness 

    
54,451  SF  $   $  

4 Hot Mix Asphaltic Concrete Pavement, 2" Type 
D, complete and in place 

     
1,025  TON 

 $  
 $  

5 Flexible Base (12" thick) 
        

291  CY  $   $  

6 
Inlet Extension, Standard (10-Foot) Including 
Removal of Existing Inlet lid and all 
Appurtenances, complete and in place 

            
9  EA 

 $  
 $  

7 
Type II P.C. Concrete Driveway, moderate to 
high expansive soil conditions, complete and in 
place 

     
1,500  SF 

 $  
 $  

8 Curb Ramp with Pavers (Type I), complete and 
in place 

          
30  EA  $   $  

9 Inlet Protection, (Existing Inlet & Future), 
complete and in place 

            
9  EA 

 $  
 $  

10 Milling Asphaltic Concrete Pavement 
    

82,000  SY  $   $  

11 Removing Portland Cement Concrete 
    

40,838  SF  $   $  

12 Temporary Removal of Street Lights 
          

15  EA  $   $  

13 Provide and Install Street Lights 
          

12  EA  $   $  

14 Provide and Install Benches 
          

57  EA  $   $  

15 Provide and Install Trash Cans 
          

11  EA  $   $  

16 Tree Irrigation (complete and in place) 
            

1  LS  $   $  

17 3" Shade Tree (incl. top soil in grow trench) 
          

93  EA  $   $  

18 Tree Grate 
          

93  EA  $   $  

19 Temporary Support of Existing Building 
Awening, Overhang and/or Balcony 

          
19  EA  $   $  

20 Mobilization (max 10%) 
            

1  LS  $   $  
 

                                                                                                                Total Bid Price  $  
Unit Prices have been computed in accordance with Paragraph 11.03.B of the General Conditions. 



Bid Form 
00 41 43 - 5 

 

Bidder acknowledges that estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and are solely for the purpose of 
comparison of Bids, and final payment for all Unit Price Bid items will be based on actual quantities, 
determined as provided in the Contract Documents. 

 
ARTICLE 7 – TIME OF COMPLETION 

7.01 Bidder agrees that the Work will be substantially complete within 80 calendar days after the date 
when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in Paragraph 2.03 of the General 
Conditions, and will be completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 
14.07.B of the General Conditions within 90 calendar days after the date when the Contract 
Times commence to run. 

7.02 Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages in the event of failure to 
complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

 
ARTICLE 8 – ATTACHMENTS TO THIS BID 

8.01 The following documents are attached to and made a condition of this Bid: 

A. Required Bid security in the form of Bid Bond, Certified Check, or Bank Money Order 

B. Affidavit of Non-Collusion 

C. List of Proposed Subcontractors 

D. List of Proposed Suppliers 

E. List of Project References 

F. Required Bidder Qualification Statement with Supporting Data 
 

ARTICLE 9 – LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 
 
 

ARTICLE 10 – DEFINED TERMS 

10.01 The terms used in this Bid with initial capital letters have the meanings stated in the Instructions 
to Bidders, the General Conditions, and the Supplementary Conditions. 

 
 

ARTICLE 11 – BID SUBMITTAL 

11.01 This Bid submitted by: 

If Bidder is: 

An Individual 
 

Name (typed or printed):    
 

By:  (SEAL) 
(Individual’s signature) 



Bid Form 
00 41 43 - 6 

 

 

Doing business as:    
 

A Partnership 
 

Partnership Name:  (SEAL) 
 

By: 
(Signature of general partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 

 

Name (typed or printed):    
 

A Corporation 
 

Corporation Name:  (SEAL) 
 

State of Incorporation:    
 

Type (General Business, Professional, Service, Limited Liability):   
 

By: 
(Signature -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 

 

Name (typed or printed):    
 

Title:  (CORPORATE SEAL) 
 

Attest    
 

Date of Authorization to do business in [State Where Project is Located] is / / . 
 

A Joint Venture 
 

Name of Joint Venture:    
 

First Joint Venturer Name:  (SEAL) 
 
 

By: 
(Signature of first joint venture partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 

Name (typed or printed):    

Title: 
 
 

Second Joint Venturer Name:  (SEAL) 



Bid Form 
00 41 43 - 7 

 

 

By: 
(Signature of second joint venture partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 

Name (typed or printed):    

Title: 
 

(Each joint venturer must sign. The manner of signing for each individual, partnership, and corporation 
that is a party to the joint venture should be in the manner indicated above.) 

 
 

Bidder's Business Address    
 
 
 

Phone No.  Fax No.    
 
 

SUBMITTED on , 20 . 
 
 

State Contractor License No.  . (If applicable) 



Bid Bond 
00 42 43 - 1 

 

BID BOND 
Any singular reference to Bidder, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

 
 

BIDDER (Name and Address): 
 
 
 

SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place of Business): 
 
 
 

OWNER (Name and Address): 
 
 
 

BID 
Bid Due Date: 
Project (Brief Description Including Location): 

 
 
 

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (Not later than Bid due date): 
Penal Sum:       

(Words) (Figures) 
 

Surety and Bidder, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms printed on the reverse side hereof, do each 
cause this Bid Bond to be duly executed on its behalf by its authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

 
BIDDER SURETY 

 
 

    (Seal)   (Seal) 
Bidder’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 

 
 

By:    By:   
Signature and Title  Signature and Title 

(Attach Power of Attorney) 
 

Attest:   Attest:  
Signature and Title  Signature and Title 

 
 
 
 

Note: Above addresses are to be used for giving required notice. 



Bid Bond 
00 42 43 - 2 

 

DAMAGES FORM 
 

1. Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 
themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns to pay to Owner upon default of 
Bidder any difference between the total amount of Bidder's 
Bid and the total amount of the Bid of the next lowest, 
responsible Bidder who submitted a responsive Bid as 
determined by Owner for the work required by the Contract 
Documents, provided that: 

1.1. If there is no such next Bidder, and Owner does not 
abandon the Project, then Bidder and Surety shall 
pay to Owner the penal sum set forth on the face of 
this Bond, and 

1.2. In no event shall Bidder's and Surety's obligation 
hereunder exceed the penal sum set forth on the 
face of this Bond. 

 
2. Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of Bidder 
to deliver within the time required by the Bidding 
Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by 
Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding 
Documents and any performance and payment bonds 
required by the Bidding Documents. 

 
3. This obligation shall be null and void if: 

3.1. Owner accepts Bidder's Bid and Bidder delivers 
within the time required by the Bidding Documents 
(or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by 
Owner) the executed Agreement required by the 
Bidding Documents and any performance and 
payment bonds required by the Bidding 
Documents, or 

3.2. All Bids are rejected by Owner, or 
3.3. Owner fails to issue a Notice of Award to Bidder 

within the time specified in the Bidding Documents 
(or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by 
Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety 
when required by Paragraph 5 hereof). 

 
4. Payment under this Bond will be due and payable upon 
default by Bidder and within 30 calendar days after receipt 
by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default from 
Owner, which notice will be given with reasonable 
promptness, identifying this Bond and the Project and 
including a statement of the amount due. 

 
5. Surety waives notice of any and all defenses based on or 
arising out of any time extension to issue Notice of Award 
agreed to in writing by Owner and Bidder, provided that the 
total time for issuing Notice of Award including extensions 
shall not in the aggregate exceed 120 days from Bid due 
date without Surety's written consent. 

 
6. No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond 
prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default required 
in Paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and Surety and 
in no case later than one year after Bid due date. 

 
7. Any suit or action under this Bond shall be commenced 

only in a court of competent jurisdiction located in the state 
in which the Project is located. 

 
8. Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and sent to 
Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses shown on the 
face of this Bond. Such notices may be sent by personal 
delivery, commercial courier, or by United States Registered 
or Certified Mail, return receipt requested, postage pre-paid, 
and shall be deemed to be effective upon receipt by the 
party concerned. 

 
9. Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a current 
and effective Power of Attorney evidencing the authority of 
the officer, agent, or representative who executed this Bond 
on behalf of Surety to execute, seal, and deliver such Bond 
and bind the Surety thereby. 

 
10. This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable 
statutory requirements. Any applicable requirement of any 
applicable statute that has been omitted from this Bond shall 
be deemed to be included herein as if set forth at length. If 
any provision of this Bond conflicts with any applicable 
statute, then the provision of said statute shall govern and 
the remainder of this Bond that is not in conflict therewith 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

 
11. The term "Bid" as used herein includes a Bid, offer, or 
proposal as applicable. 



45 00 - 1  

Notice of Award 
Dated    

 
Project: Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway 
Improvements 

Owner: City of Bastrop Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: City of Bastrop – Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements Engineer's Project No.: R345-03 

Bidder: 
 

Bidder's Address: (send Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested) 
 
 
 
 
 

You are notified that your Bid dated for the above Contract has been considered. You are the Successful Bidder and are awarded a 

Contract for    

 
(Indicate total Work, alternates or sections or Work awarded.) 

 
The Contract Price of your Contract is  Dollars ($  ). 

 
 

   copies of each of the proposed Contract Documents (except Drawings) accompany this Notice of Award. 

   sets of the Drawings will be delivered separately or otherwise made available to you immediately. 
 

You must comply with the following conditions precedent within [15] days of the date you receive this Notice of Award. 
 

1. Deliver to the Owner [  ] fully executed counterparts of the Contract Documents. 
 

2. Deliver with the executed Contract Documents the Contract security [Bonds] as specified in the Instructions to 
Bidders (Article 20), [and] General Conditions (Paragraph 5.01). 

 
3. Other conditions precedent: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle Owner to consider you in default, annul this 
Notice of Award and declare your Bid security forfeited. 

 
Within ten days after you comply with the above conditions, Owner will return to you one fully executed counterpart of the 

Contract Documents. 
 

Owner 

By:   
Authorized Signature 

 
Title 

 
Copy to Engineer 

 
 
 
 
 

Notice of Award 



46 00 - 1  

Notice to Proceed 
Dated    

 
Project: Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and 
Roadway Improvements 

Owner: City of Bastrop Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements Engineer's Project No.:R345-03 

Contractor: 
 

Contractor's Address: [send Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested] 
 
 
 
 
 
 

You are notified that the Contract Times under the above contract will commence to run on . 
On or before that date, you are to start performing your obligations under the Contract Documents. In accordance with 
Article 4 of the Agreement, the number of days to achieve Substantial Completion is 90, and the number of days to 
achieve readiness for final payment is 10. 

 

Before you may start any Work at the Site, Paragraph 2.01.B of the General Conditions provides that you and 
Owner must each deliver to the other (with copies to Engineer and other identified additional insureds) certificates of 
insurance which each is required to purchase and maintain in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
Also, before you may start any Work at the Site, you must: 

 
1.0 The contractor shall call the Texas One-Call System @ 1-800-344-8377 at least 48 hours prior to digging. 

 

2.0 Prepare a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan. Prepare and submit a Notice of Intent (NOI) to TCEQ as 

prescribed in the Technical Specifications. 

 
 
 

Contractor Owner 
 

Received by: Given by: 

Authorized Signature Authorized Signature 
 
 

Title Title 
 
 

Date Date 
 
 

Copy to Engineer 
 
 
 
 
 

Notice to Proceed 



Agreement Form 
00 52 15 - 1 

 

EJCDC 
STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR FOR 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between  City of Bastrop  
 

(Owner) and    
 

(Contractor). 
 

Owner and Contractor, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth herein, agree as follows: 
 
 

ARTICLE 1 - WORK 
 

1.01  Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is generally 
described as follows: 

 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway improvements consisting of approximately XX,XXX SF of concrete sidewalk, 
XX pedestrian ramps, X,XXX SY of roadway mill and overlay, XX LF of concrete curb and gutter, and other related 
improvements as directed by the Field Engineer and required to provide a complete project for the City of Bastrop on Main 
Street from Water Street to Farm Street. 

 
Contractor shall take special note that this is a Field Engineered project and that detailed design direction will be 
provided in the field by the Field Engineer during construction.  The exhibits provided illustrate the general nature 
and configuration of the improvements and detailed design plans will not be provided. 

 
 

ARTICLE 2 - THE PROJECT 
 

2.01 The Project for which the Work under the Contract Documents may be the whole or only a part is generally described 
as follows: Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements. 

 
 

ARTICLE 3 - ENGINEER 
 

3.01 The Project has been designed by MWM DesignGroup (Engineer) and Field Engineering direction will be provided 
by Engineer, who is to act as Owner’s representative, assume all duties and responsibilities, and have the rights and authority 
assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

 
 

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT TIMES 
 

4.01 Time of the Essence 
 

A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for final payment as stated 
in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. 

 
4.02 Days to Achieve Substantial Completion and Final Payment 

 
A. The Work will be substantially completed within 80 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as 

provided in Paragraph 2.03 of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with 
Paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions within 90 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run. 

 

4.03 Liquidated Damages 



Agreement Form 
00 52 15 - 2 

 

A. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence of this Agreement and that Owner will suffer financial loss 
if the Work is not completed within the times specified in Paragraph 4.02 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in 
accordance with Article 12 of the General Conditions. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties 
involved in proving in a legal or arbitration preceding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the Work is not completed on time. 
Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not 
as a penalty), Contractor shall pay Owner $500.00 for each day that expires after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 for 
Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete. After Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, 
refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time or any proper extension thereof granted by Owner, 
Contractor shall pay Owner $500.00 for each day that expires after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 for completion and 
readiness for final payment until the Work is completed and ready for final payment. 

 
 

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACT PRICE 
 

5.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents an amount in 
current funds equal to the sum of the amounts determined pursuant to Paragraphs 5.01.A, 5.01.B, and 5.01.C below: 

 
A. For all Unit Price Work, an amount equal to the sum of the established unit price for each separately identified item of 

Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of that item as indicated in this paragraph 5.01.B: 
 

As provided in Paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions, estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and determinations of 
actual quantities and classifications are to be made by Engineer as provided in Paragraph 9.07 of the General Conditions. 
Unit prices have been computed as provided in Paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions. 

 

 
 

Item 
No. 

UNIT PRICE WORK 
 

Description Unit 

 
Estimated 
Quantity Unit Price Estimated 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TOTAL OF ALL ESTIMATED PRICES   $   
(words) (numerals) 

 

B. For all Work, at the prices stated in Contractor’s Bid, attached hereto as an exhibit. 
 
 

ARTICLE 6 - PAYMENT PROCEDURES 
 

6.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments 
 

A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 14 of the General Conditions.  
Applications for Payment will be processed by Engineer as provided in the General Conditions. 

 
6.02 Progress Payments; Retainage 

 
A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of Contractor’s Applications for 

Payment on or about the 20th day of each month during performance of the Work as provided in Paragraphs 6.02.A.1 and 
6.02.A.2 below. All such payments will be measured by the schedule of values established as provided in Paragraph 2.07.A 
of the General Conditions (and in the case of Unit Price Work based on the number of units completed) or, in the event there 
is no schedule of values, as provided in the General Requirements: 



Agreement Form 
00 52 15 - 3 

 

1. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the percentage indicated 
below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less such amounts as Engineer may determine 
or Owner may withhold, including but not limited to liquidated damages, in accordance with Paragraph 14.02 of the 
General Conditions: 

 
a. 95 percent of Work completed (with the balance being retainage). If the Work has been 50 percent completed 

as determined by Engineer, and if the character and progress of the Work have been satisfactory to Owner and 
Engineer, Owner, on recommendation of Engineer, may determine that as long as the character and progress of the 
Work remain satisfactory to them, there will be no additional retainage; and 

 
b. 95 percent of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work (with the balance being 

retainage). 
 

2. Upon Substantial Completion, Owner shall pay an amount sufficient to increase total payments to Contractor to 
95 percent of the Work completed, less such amounts as Engineer shall determine in accordance with Paragraph 14.02.B.5 
of the General Conditions and less 100 percent of Engineer’s estimate of the value of Work to be completed or corrected as 
shown on the tentative list of items to be completed or corrected attached to the certificate of Substantial Completion. 

 
6.03 Final Payment 

 
A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions, 

Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by Engineer as provided in said Paragraph 14.07. 
 
 

ARTICLE 7 - INTEREST 
 

7.01 All moneys not paid when due as provided in Article 14 of the General Conditions shall bear interest at the rate of 0.00 
percent per annum. 

 
 

ARTICLE 8 – CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 
 

8.01 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Agreement Contractor makes the following representations: 
 

A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other related data identified in the 
Bidding Documents. 

 
B. Contractor has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions 

that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 
 

C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, 
progress, and performance of the Work. 

 
D. Contractor has carefully studied all reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the 

Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the 
Site (except Underground Facilities) which have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in Paragraph 
4.02 of the General Conditions and (2) reports and drawings of a Hazardous Environmental Condition, if any, at the Site 
which has been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in Paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions. 

 
E. Contractor has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for doing so) all additional or supplementary 

examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning conditions (surface, subsurface, and 
Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the Site which may affect cost, progress, or performance of the Work or which 
relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by 
Contractor, including any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required 
by the Bidding Documents, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 



Agreement Form 
00 52 15 - 4 

 

F. Contractor does not consider that any further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are 
necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, and in accordance with the other 
terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 

 
G. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the 

Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 
 

H. Contractor has correlated the information known to Contractor, information and observations obtained from visits to 
the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, and all additional examinations, investigations, 
explorations, tests, studies, and data with the Contract Documents. 

 
I. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Contractor has 

discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor. 
 

J. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for 
performance and furnishing of the Work. 

 
 

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

9.01 Contents 
 

A. The Contract Documents consist of the following: 
 

1. This Agreement (pages 1 to 6, inclusive). 
 

2. Performance bond (pages 1 to 2, inclusive). 
 

3. Payment bond (pages 1 to 2, inclusive). 
 

4. General Conditions (pages 1 to 39, inclusive). 
 

6. Supplementary Conditions (pages 1 to 5, inclusive). 
 

7. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual. 
 

8. Attachments: 
 

a. Special Provisions (pages 1 to 3, inclusive). 
 

b. General Notes (pages 1 to 1, inclusive). 
 

c. Program Maintenance Maps (sheets A to A3, inclusive). 
 

d. Program Maintenance Basis of Estimate (pages 1 to 4, inclusive). 
 

e. Program Preventative Maintenance Maps (sheets B to B3, inclusive). 
 

f. Program Preventative Maintenance Basis of Estimate (pages 1 to 2, inclusive). 
 

9. Addenda (numbers  to  , inclusive). 
 

10. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows): 
 

a. Contractor’s Bid (pages  to  , inclusive). 
 

b. Documentation submitted by Contractor prior to Notice of Award (pages  to  , inclusive). 



Agreement Form 
00 52 15 - 5 

 

11. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and are not 
attached hereto: 

 
a. Notice to Proceed (pages 1 to 1, inclusive). 

 

b. Work Change Directives. 
 

c. Change Order(s). 
 

B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly noted otherwise above). 
 

C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9. 
 

D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in Paragraph 3.04 of the 
General Conditions. 

 
 

ARTICLE 10 - MISCELLANEOUS 
 

10.01 Terms 
 

A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions and the Supplementary 
Conditions. 

 
10.02 Assignment of Contract 

 
A. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto 

without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, moneys that may become 
due and moneys that are due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction 
may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment 
will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents. 

 
10.03 Successors and Assigns 

 
A. Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party 

hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations 
contained in the Contract Documents. 

 
10.04 Severability 

 
A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law or Regulation shall be 

deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Contractor, who agree 
that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable 
provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision. 

 
10.05 Headings 

 
A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts of these General 

Conditions. 
 

10.06 Other Provisions 



Agreement Form 
00 52 15 - 6 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Agreement in duplicate. One counterpart each has been 
delivered to Owner and Contractor. All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or identified by Owner and 
Contractor or on their behalf. 

 
This Agreement will be effective on  , (which is the Effective Date of the Agreement). 

 

OWNER: CONTRACTOR: 
 

  City of Bastrop     
 

By:   By:      

Title:    Title:    

[CORPORATE SEAL] [CORPORATE SEAL] 

Attest:   Attest:      
 
Title:    Title:    

Address for giving notices: Address for giving notices: 

(If  Owner is a corporation, attach evidence of authority to sign.  If Owner 
is a public body, attach evidence of authority to sign and resolution or 
other documents authorizing execution of Owner-Contractor Agreement.) 

License No.:       
(Where applicable) 

 
Agent for service or process:      

(If Contractor is a corporation or a partnership, attach evidence 
of authority to sign.) 



Performance Bond 
00 61 00 - 1 

 

PERFORMANCE BOND 
Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

 
 

CONTRACTOR (Name and Address): SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place of Business): 

OWNER (Name and Address): 

 
CONTRACT 

Date: 
Amount: 
Description (Name and Location): 

 
 

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (Not earlier than Contract Date): 
Amount: 
Modifications to this Bond Form: 

 
Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms printed on the reverse side hereof, do each cause this 
Performance Bond to be duly executed on its behalf by its authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

 
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY 

Company: 
 

Signature:   (Seal)   (Seal) 
Name and Title:  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 

 

 
 
 

(Space is provided below for signatures of additional 
parties, if required.) 

By:   
Signature and Title 
(Attach Power of Attorney) 

 
 

Attest:   
Signature and Title 

 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY 
Company: 

 
Signature:   (Seal)   (Seal) 
Name and Title:  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 

 

By:   
Signature and Title 
(Attach Power of Attorney) 

 
Attest:   
Signature and Title: 

 

EJCDC No. C-610 (2002 Edition) 
Originally prepared through the joint efforts of the Surety Association of America, Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, the Associated General 
Contractors of America, and the American Institute of Architects. 



Performance Bond 
00 61 00 - 2 

 

1. Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 
executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to Owner for the performance of the 
Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If Contractor performs the Contract, Surety and Contractor have no obligation 
under this Bond, except to participate in conferences as provided in Paragraph 3.1. 

 
3. If there is no Owner Default, Surety's obligation under this Bond shall arise after: 

 
3.1. Owner has notified Contractor and Surety, at the addresses described in 

Paragraph 10 below, that Owner is considering declaring a Contractor 
Default and has requested and attempted to arrange a conference with 
Contractor and Surety to be held not later than 15 days after receipt of 
such notice to discuss methods of performing the Contract. If Owner, 
Contractor and Surety agree, Contractor shall be allowed  a reasonable 
time to perform the Contract, but such an agreement shall not waive 
Owner's right, if any, subsequently to declare a Contractor Default; and 

 
3.2. Owner has declared a Contractor Default and formally terminated 

Contractor's right to complete the Contract. Such Contractor Default shall 
not be declared earlier than 20 days after Contractor and Surety have 
received notice as provided in Paragraph 3.1; and 

 
3.3. Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the Contract Price to: 

 
1. Surety in accordance with the terms of the Contract; 

 
2. Another contractor selected pursuant to Paragraph 4.3 to perform the 

Contract. 
 

4. When Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, Surety shall promptly and 
at Surety's expense take one of the following actions: 

 
4.1. Arrange for Contractor, with consent of Owner, to perform and complete 

the Contract; or 
 

4.2. Undertake to perform and complete the Contract itself, through its agents 
or through independent contractors; or 

 
4.3. Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified contractors acceptable 

to Owner for a contract for performance and completion of the Contract, 
arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by Owner and 
Contractor selected with Owner's concurrence, to be secured with 
performance and payment bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent 
to the bonds issued on the Contract, and pay to Owner the amount of 
damages as described in Paragraph 6 in excess of the Balance of the 
Contract Price incurred by Owner resulting from Contractor Default; or 

 
4.4. Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for completion, or obtain 

a new contractor and with reasonable promptness under the circumstances: 
 

1. After investigation, determine the amount for which it may be liable to 
Owner and, as soon as practicable after the amount is determined, 
tender payment therefor to Owner; or 

 
2. Deny liability in whole or in part and notify Owner citing reasons 

therefor. 
 

5. If Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 4 with reasonable promptness, 
Surety shall be deemed to be in default on this Bond 15 days after receipt of an 
additional written notice from Owner to Surety demanding that Surety perform its 
obligations under this Bond, and Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy 
available to Owner. If Surety proceeds as provided in Paragraph 4.4, and Owner 
refuses the payment tendered or Surety has denied liability, in whole or in 
part, without further notice Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to 
Owner. 

6. After Owner has terminated Contractor's right to complete the Contract, and if 
Surety elects to act under Paragraph 4.1, 4.2, or 4.3 above, then the responsibilities of 
Surety to Owner shall not be greater than those of Contractor under the Contract, and 
the responsibilities of Owner to Surety shall not be greater than those of Owner under 
the Contract. To a limit of the amount of this Bond, but subject to commitment by 
Owner of the Balance of the Contract Price to mitigation of costs and damages on the 
Contract, Surety is obligated without duplication for: 

 
6.1. The responsibilities of Contractor for correction of defective Work and 

completion of the Contract; 
 

6.2. Additional legal, design professional, and delay costs resulting from 
Contractor's Default, and resulting from the actions or failure to act of 
Surety under Paragraph 4; and 

 
6.3. Liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the 

Contract, actual damages caused by delayed performance or non- 
performance of Contractor. 

 
7. Surety shall not be liable to Owner or others for obligations of Contractor that are 
unrelated to the Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced or 
set off on account of any such unrelated obligations. No right of action shall accrue on 
this Bond to any person or entity other than Owner or its heirs, executors, 
administrators, or successors. 

 
8. Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to Contract 
or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations. 

 
9. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be instituted in any court 
of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the Work or part of the Work is 
located and shall be instituted within two years after Contractor Default or within two 
years after Contractor ceased working or within two years after Surety refuses or fails 
to perform its obligations under this Bond, whichever occurs first. If the provisions of 
this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation 
available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 

 
10. Notice to Surety, Owner, or Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address 
shown on the signature page. 

 
11. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory requirement in the 
location where the Contract was to be performed, any provision in this Bond 
conflicting with said statutory requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and 
provisions conforming to such statutory requirement shall be deemed incorporated 
herein. The intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a 
common law bond. 

 
12. Definitions. 

 
12.1 Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount payable by Owner to 

Contractor under the Contract after all proper adjustments have been 
made, including allowance to Contractor of any amounts received or to be 
received by Owner in settlement of insurance or other Claims for damages 
to which Contractor is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper payments 
made to or on behalf of Contractor under the Contract. 

 
12.2. Contract: The agreement between Owner and Contractor identified on the 

signature page, including all Contract Documents and changes thereto. 
 

12.3. Contractor Default: Failure of Contractor, which has neither been 
remedied nor waived, to perform or otherwise to comply with the terms of 
the Contract. 

 
12.4. Owner Default: Failure of Owner, which has neither been remedied nor 

waived, to pay Contractor as required by the Contract or to perform and 
complete or comply with the other terms thereof. 

 
 

 

FOR INFORMATION ONLY – Name, Address and Telephone 
Surety Agency or Broker 
Owner’s Respresentative (engineer or other party) 



Payment Bond 
00 61 50 - 1 

 

PAYMENT BOND 
Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

 
 

CONTRACTOR (Name and Address): SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place of Business): 

OWNER (Name and Address): 

CONTRACT 
Date: 
Amount: 
Description (Name and Location): 

 
 

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (Not earlier than Contract Date): 
Amount: 
Modifications to this Bond Form: 

 
 

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms printed on the reverse side hereof, do each cause this 
Payment Bond to be duly executed on its behalf by its authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

 
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY 

Company: 
 

Signature:   (Seal)   (Seal) 
Name and Title:  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 

 

 
 
 

(Space is provided below for signatures of additional 
parties, if required.) 

By:   
Signature and Title 
(Attach Power of Attorney) 

 
 

Attest:   
Signature and Title 

 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY 
Company: 

 
Signature:   (Seal)   (Seal) 
Name and Title:   Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 

 

By:   
Signature and Title 
(Attach Power of Attorney) 

 
Attest:   
Signature and Title: 

 
 

EJCDC No. C-615 (2002 Edition) 
Originally prepared through the joint efforts of the Surety Association of America, Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, the Associated General 
Contractors of America, the American Institute of Architects, the American Subcontractors Association, and the Associated Specialty Contractors. 



Payment Bond 
00 61 50 - 2 

 

1. Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 
executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to Owner to pay for labor, 
materials, and equipment furnished by Claimants for use in the performance of 
the Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. With respect to Owner, this obligation shall be null and void if Contractor: 

2.1. Promptly makes payment, directly or indirectly, for all sums due 
Claimants, and 

 
2.2. Defends, indemnifies, and holds harmless Owner from all claims, 

demands, liens, or suits alleging non-payment by Contractor by any 
person or entity who furnished labor, materials, or equipment for use in 
the performance of the Contract, provided Owner has promptly notified 
Contractor and Surety (at the addresses described in Paragraph 12) of 
any claims, demands, liens, or suits and tendered defense of such 
claims, demands, liens, or suits to Contractor and Surety, and provided 
there is no Owner Default. 

 
3. With respect to Claimants, this obligation shall be null and void if Contractor 
promptly makes payment, directly or indirectly, for all sums due. 

 
4. Surety shall have no obligation to Claimants under this Bond until: 

 
4.1. Claimants who are employed by or have a direct contract with 

Contractor have given notice to Surety (at the addresses described in 
Paragraph 12) and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to Owner, stating that 
a claim is being made under this Bond and, with substantial accuracy, 
the amount of the claim. 

 
4.2. Claimants who do not have a direct contract with Contractor: 

 
1. Have furnished written notice to Contractor and sent a copy, or 

notice thereof, to Owner, within 90 days after having last performed 
labor or last furnished materials or equipment included in the claim 
stating, with substantial accuracy, the amount of the claim and the 
name of the party to whom the materials or equipment were 
furnished or supplied, or for whom the labor was done or  
performed; and 

 
2. Have either received a rejection in whole or in part from Contractor, 

or not received within 30 days of furnishing the above notice any 
communication from Contractor by which Contractor had indicated 
the claim will be paid directly or indirectly; and 

 
3. Not having been paid within the above 30 days, have sent a written 

notice to Surety and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to Owner, stating 
that a claim is being made under this Bond and enclosing a copy of 
the previous written notice furnished to Contractor. 

 
5. If a notice by a Claimant required by Paragraph 4 is provided by Owner to 
Contractor or to Surety, that is sufficient compliance. 

 
6. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 4, the Surety shall 
promptly and at Surety's expense take the following actions: 

 
6.1. Send an answer to that Claimant, with a copy to Owner, within 45 days 

after receipt of the claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and 
the basis for challenging any amounts that are disputed. 

 
6.2. Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed amounts. 

 
7. Surety's total obligation shall not exceed the amount of this Bond, and the 
amount of this Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good faith by 
Surety. 

8. Amounts owed by Owner to Contractor under the Contract shall be used for 
the performance of the Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, under any 
performance bond. By Contractor furnishing and Owner accepting this Bond, 
they agree that all funds earned by Contractor in the performance of the Contract 
are dedicated to satisfy obligations of Contractor and Surety under this Bond, 
subject to Owner's priority to use the funds for the completion of the Work. 

 
9. Surety shall not be liable to Owner, Claimants, or others for obligations of 
Contractor that are unrelated to the Contract. Owner shall not be liable for 
payment of any costs or expenses of any Claimant under this Bond, and shall 
have under this Bond no obligations to make payments to, give notices on behalf 
of, or otherwise have obligations to Claimants under this Bond. 

 
10. Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the 
Contract or to related Subcontracts, purchase orders and other obligations. 

 
11. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under this Bond other 
than in a court of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the Work or  
part of the Work is located or after the expiration of one year from the date (1)  
on which the Claimant gave the notice required by Paragraph 4.1 or Paragraph 
4.2.3, or (2) on which the last labor or service was performed by anyone or the 
last materials or equipment were furnished by anyone under the Construction 
Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first occurs. If the provisions of this paragraph 
are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to 
sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 

 
12. Notice to Surety, Owner, or Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the 
addresses shown on the signature page. Actual receipt of notice by Surety, 
Owner, or Contractor, however accomplished, shall be sufficient compliance as 
of the date received at the address shown on the signature page. 

 
13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory requirement 
in the location where the Contract was to be performed, any provision in this 
Bond conflicting with said statutory requirement shall be deemed deleted 
herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory requirement shall be 
deemed incorporated herein. The intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a 
statutory Bond and not as a common law bond. 

 
14. Upon request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary 
of this Bond, Contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall 
permit a copy to be made. 

 
15. DEFINITIONS 

 
15.1. Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct contract with 

Contractor, or with a first-tier subcontractor of Contractor, to furnish 
labor, materials, or equipment for use in the performance of the 
Contract. The intent of this Bond shall be to include without limitation 
in the terms "labor, materials or equipment" that part of water, gas, 
power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service, or rental equipment 
used in the Contract, architectural and engineering services required for 
performance of the Work of Contractor and Contractor's 
Subcontractors, and all other items for which a mechanic's lien may be 
asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, materials, or equipment 
were furnished. 

 
15.2. Contract: The agreement between Owner and Contractor identified on 

the signature page, including all Contract Documents and changes 
thereto. 

 
15.3. Owner Default: Failure of Owner, which has neither been remedied nor 

waived, to pay Contractor as required by the Contract or to perform and 
complete or comply with the other terms thereof. 

 
 

 

FOR INFORMATION ONLY – Name, Address and Telephone 
Surety Agency or Broker: 
Owner’s Representative (engineer or other party): 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 1 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

UPage 
 

20TARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY20T  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................4 
20T1.0102T 20TDefined Terms20T .....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................6 
1T02 .0220T 20TTerminology20T  .....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................8 

AT02  RTICLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS0T2 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 
022T .010T2 20TDelivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance02T ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 

20T2.020T2 C20T opies of Documents20T .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 
02T2 .03T02 

2T20 .04T02 

20TCommencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed20T  ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 
20TStarting the Work0T2 ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 

20T2.0520T 

20T2.0620T 

B20T 

P2T0 

efore Starting Construction02T .........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 
reconstruction Conference20T  ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 

20T2.07T02 2IT0 nitial Acceptance of Schedules02T ...............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 
20TARTICLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE0T2 ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................8 

320T .0120T 20TIntent0T2 .........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................8 
20T3.0220T 20TReference Standards20T  .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................8 

23T0 .030T2 T2R0 eporting and Resolving DiscrepanciesT20 ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................8 
20T3.04T20 20TAmending and Supplementing Contract Documents2................................................................................................0T  9 

AT20 

20T3.0520T 20TReuse of Documents2T0 .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................9 
20T3.0602T 20TElectronic Data20T .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................9 

RTICLE 4 - AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS; REFERENCE POINTS20T  ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................9 

20T4.0120T 

20T4.02T02 

20T4.03T20 

20T4.0420T 

20T4.050T2 

02TAvailability of LandsT02  ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................9 
20TSubsurface and Physical Conditions0T2 ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 
02TDiffering Subsurface or Physical Conditions02T ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 
02TUnderground FacilitiesT02  .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................11 
0T2Reference Points0T2 ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

20T4.0620T 20THazardous Environmental Condition at SiteT20  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 11 
20TARTICLE 5 - BONDS AND INSURANCE20T  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

20T5.0120T 

20T5.02T20 

20T5.030T2 

20T5.0420T 

520T .050T2 

20T5.060T2 

T20Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds20T  ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 12 
20TLicensed Sureties and Insurers20T  ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................13 
20TCertificates of InsuranceT02  ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................13 
02TContractor’s Liability InsuranceT20 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 13 
02TOwner’s Liability Insurance20T .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................14 
20TProperty Insurance20T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 14 

5T02 .0720T 20TWaiver of Rights20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 15 
20T5.080T2 2RT0 eceipt and Application of Insurance ProceedsT20 ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

052T .0920T 20TAcceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace0T2 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 15 
T205.10T20 20TPartial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property InsurerT02  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 16 

20TARTICLE 6 - CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES0T2 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 
20T6.0120T 20TSupervision and Superintendence0T2 .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

0T26.02T20 

T260 .03T02 

026T .04T02 

L20T  abor; Working Hours20T  .........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................16 
20TServices, Materials, and Equipment20T ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 
20TProgress ScheduleT20  .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 16 

620T .0520T 20TSubstitutes and “Or-Equals”0T2 .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 17 
02T6.0602T 20TConcerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 18 
6T02 .07T20 20TPatent Fees and RoyaltiesT20  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 
02T6.0820T 20TPermits20T .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 
20T6.0920T 20TLaws and RegulationsT20 ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

20T6.102T0 

20T6.11T20 

20T6.1202T 

TT02  axes20T  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 
20TUse of Site and Other Areas02T ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................20 
02TRecord Documents20T  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 20 

20T6.1320T 20TSafety and Protection0T2  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 20 
T620 .14T02 02TSafety Representative20T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 21 

20T6.15T02 02HT azard Communication Programs0T2 ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 
20T6.1620T 20TEmergencies20T .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 21 
2T60 .170T2 T20Shop Drawings and SamplesT02 .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 
6T20 .1820T 20TContinuing the Work20T ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 2 

 

620T .19T20 

20T6.2020T 

20T6.21T20 

20TContractor’s General Warranty and GuaranteeT02  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 
TI20 ndemnification02T  ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 
20TDelegation of Professional Design Services20T .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 23 

20TARTICLE 7 - OTHER WORK AT THE SITE0T2  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 23 
20T7.0120T RT20 elated Work at Site20T ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................23 

20T7.0220T 20TCoordination02T  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 
20T7.0320T        LT02  egal Relationships0..............................................................................................................................2T  .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 

TA20 RTICLE 8 - OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES20T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 24 
20T8.0120T 20TCommunications to ContractorT02  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 
20T8.0220T 20TReplacement of EngineerT02 .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 24 

20T8.0302T F02T urnish Data20T .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 
20T8.0420T 20TPay When DueT20 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 24 
0T28.05T20        L20T  ands and Easements; Reports and Tests0..............................................................................................................2T  24 
8T02 .0620T 20TInsurance20T  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 

20T8.0702T CT02 hange Orders20T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 
8T20 .0802T 20TInspections, Tests, and ApprovalsT20 ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 
820T .090T2 20TLimitations on Owner’s Responsibilities20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 25 
20T8.1020T 20TUndisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition20T ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 25 
20T8.11T20 20TEvidence of Financial Arrangements0.....................................................................................................................T2  25 

20TARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION0T2  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 
20T9.01T20 

920T .0220T 

OT02 

V20T 

wner’s Representative20T  ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................25 
isits to SiteT02 ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

902T .0320T 20TProject Representative20T  ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 
20T9.0420T 20TAuthorized Variations in Work02T ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 
20T9.0520T 20TRejecting Defective Work20T  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

20T9.06T02 

2T90 .07T20 

ST02 hop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 26 
20TDeterminations for Unit Price Work20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 26 

20T9.0820T 0TD2 ecisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work0T2 ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................26 
20T9.0920T 0LT2  imitations on Engineer’s Authority and ResponsibilitiesT02 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 26 

AT20  RTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS20T ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 26 
20T10.01T20 20TAuthorized Changes in the WorkT02  ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 26 
12T0 0.0202T  20TUnauthorized Changes in the WorkT20  .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 27 
21T0 0.03T20 E20T xecution of Change Orders20T ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................27 
20T10.040T2 20TNotification to Surety20T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 27 
1T02 0.0520T  20TClaims20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 27 

20TARTICLE 11 - COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 28 
20T11.01T20 CT02 ost of the Work0T2  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 28 
20T11.0202T 20TAllowances20T  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 29 
0T12 1.0320T  20TUnit Price WorkT20  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 29 

20TARTICLE 12 - CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES20T ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 30 
20T12.01T20 20TChange of Contract Price2T0 ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 30 
T2012.0220T 20TChange of Contract Times20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 30 
20T12.0320T 0TD2 elays20T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 31 

20TARTICLE 13 - TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK20T .................................................................................................. 31 
20T13.01T20 NT20 otice of Defects0T2 ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 31 
20T13.020T2 T20Access to WorkT..............................................................................................................................02  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 31 
20T13.0320T 20TTests and InspectionsT02  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 31 
20T13.0420T 

T2013.0520T 

TU20 

0O2T 

ncovering Work20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 32 
wner May Stop the Work0T2 ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................32 

01T2 3.06T20 20TCorrection or Removal of Defective WorkT.............................................................................................................02  32 
20T13.0720T 0TC2 orrection Period20T ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 32 
20T13.080T2 20TAcceptance of Defective WorkT02  .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 33 

AT02 

20T13.0920T 20TOwner May Correct Defective Work.20T  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 33 
RTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND COMPLETION02T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 33 

20T14.0120T TS20 chedule of ValuesT20 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 33 
0T12 4.0220T  20TProgress Payments20T ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 34 
01T2 4.03T02 

T2014.040T2 

20TContractor’s Warranty of Title0T2  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 35 
20TSubstantial Completion20T  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 35 

20T14.0520T 20TPartial Utilization20T  .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 36 
T2014.0620T 

20T14.07T20 

TF20 

FT02 

inal Inspection0T2  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 36 
inal Payment20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 36 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 3 

 

10T2 4.08T20 20TFinal Completion Delayed20T  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 37 
20T14.090T2 TW20 aiver of Claims0T2  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 37 

20TARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION20T ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 37 
1T02 5.01T02 

T120 5.02T02 

1T02 5.03T02 

20TOwner May Suspend Work20T  ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 37 
20TOwner May Terminate for Cause20T ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 37 
20TOwner May Terminate For Convenience20T  .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 38 

AT02 

A20T 

10T2 5.0420T  20TContractor May Stop Work or Terminate0T2  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 38 
RTICLE 16 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION20T  ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

T2016.0120T 20TMethods and Procedures2T0  .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 38 
RTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS20T ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 39 

20T17.010T2 20TGiving Notice02T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 39 
1T02 7.0220T  20TComputation of Times20T  .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 39 
0T12 7.0320T  20TCumulative Remedies20T .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 39 
20T17.0420T 20TSurvival of Obligations20T  .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 39 
02T17.0520T 20TControlling Law20T  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 39 
T120 7.06T02 20THeadingsT02 ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 39 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 4 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 
 

 
1.01 Defined Terms 

 
A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements 

or Contract Documents and printed with initial capital 
letters, the terms listed below will have the meanings 
indicated which are applicable to both the singular and 
plural thereof. In addition to terms specifically defined, 
terms with initial capital letters in the Contract 
Documents include references to identified articles and 
paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms. 

 
1. Addenda--Written or graphic instruments 

issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, correct, 
or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed 
Contract Documents. 

 
2. Agreement--The written instrument which is 

evidence of the agreement between Owner and Contractor 
covering the Work. 

 
3. Application for Payment--The form acceptable 

to Engineer which is to be used by Contractor during the 
course of the Work in requesting progress or final 
payments and which is to be accompanied by such 
supporting documentation as is required by the Contract 
Documents. 

 
4. Asbestos--Any material that contains more 

than one percent asbestos and is friable or is releasing 
asbestos fibers into the air above current action levels 
established by the United States Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration. 

 
5. Bid--The offer or proposal of a Bidder 

submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices 
for the Work to be performed. 

 
6. Bidder--The individual or entity who submits 

a Bid directly to Owner. 
 

7. Bidding Documents--The Bidding 
Requirements and the proposed Contract Documents 
(including all Addenda). 

 
8. Bidding Requirements--The Advertisement or 

Invitation to Bid, Instructions to Bidders, bid security of 
acceptable form, if any, and the Bid Form with any 
supplements. 

9. Change Order--A document recommended by 
Engineer which is signed by Contractor and Owner and 
authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work 
or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract 
Times, issued on or after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement. 

 
10. Claim--A demand or assertion by Owner or 

Contractor seeking an adjustment of Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to the 
terms of the Contract. A demand for money or services by 
a third party is not a Claim. 

 
11. Contract--The entire and integrated written 

agreement between the Owner and Contractor concerning 
the Work. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, 
representations, or agreements, whether written or oral. 

 
12. Contract Documents-- Those items so 

designated in the Agreement. Only printed or hard copies 
of the items listed in the Agreement are Contract 
Documents. Approved Shop Drawings, other Contractor’s 
submittals, and the reports and drawings of subsurface 
and physical conditions are not Contract Documents. 

 
13. Contract Price--The moneys payable by 

Owner to Contractor for completion of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents as stated in the 
Agreement (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 11.03 
in the case of Unit Price Work). 

 
14. Contract Times--The number of days or the 

dates stated in the Agreement to: (i) achieve Milestones, if 
any, (ii) achieve Substantial Completion; and (iii) com- 
plete the Work so that it is ready for final payment as 
evidenced by Engineer’s written recommendation of final 
payment. 

 
15. Contractor--The individual or entity with 

whom Owner has entered into the Agreement. 
 

16. Cost of the Work--See Paragraph 11.01.A for 
definition. 

 
17. Drawings--That part of the Contract 

Documents prepared or approved by Engineer which 
graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the 
Work to be performed by Contractor. Shop Drawings and 
other Contractor submittals are not Drawings as so 
defined. 

 
18. Effective Date of the Agreement--The date 

indicated in the Agreement on which it becomes effective, 
but if no such date is indicated, it means the date on  
which the Agreement is signed and delivered by the last 
of the two parties to sign and deliver. 

 
19. Engineer--The individual or entity named as 

such in the Agreement. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 5 

 

20. Field Order--A written order issued by 
Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work but 
which does not involve a change in the Contract Price or 
the Contract Times. 

 
21. General Requirements--Sections of Division 

1 of the Specifications. The General Requirements pertain 
to all sections of the Specifications. 

 
22. Hazardous Environmental Condition--The 

presence at the Site of Asbestos, PCBs, Petroleum, 
Hazardous Waste, or Radioactive Material in such 
quantities or circumstances that may present a substantial 
danger to persons or property exposed thereto in 
connection with the Work. 

 
23. Hazardous Waste--The term Hazardous 

Waste shall have the meaning provided in Section 1004 of 
the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 USC Section 6903) as 
amended from time to time. 

 
24. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations- 

-Any and all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinanc- 
es, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, 
agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction. 

 
25. Liens--Charges, security interests, or 

encumbrances upon Project funds, real property, or 
personal property. 

 
26. Milestone--A principal event specified in the 

Contract Documents relating to an intermediate comple- 
tion date or time prior to Substantial Completion of all the 
Work. 

 
27. Notice of Award--The written notice by 

Owner to the Successful Bidder stating that upon timely 
compliance by the Successful Bidder with the conditions 
precedent listed therein, Owner will sign and deliver the 
Agreement. 

 
28. Notice to Proceed--A written notice given by 

Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which the Con- 
tract Times will commence to run and on which 
Contractor shall start to perform the Work under the 
Contract Documents. 

 
29. Owner--The individual or entity with whom 

Contractor has entered into the Agreement and for whom 
the Work is to be performed. 

 
30. PCBs--Polychlorinated biphenyls. 

 
31. Petroleum--Petroleum, including crude oil or 

any fraction thereof which is liquid at standard conditions 
of temperature and pressure (60 degrees Fahrenheit and 
14.7 pounds per square inch absolute), such as oil, 
petroleum, fuel oil, oil sludge, oil refuse, gasoline, 
kerosene, and oil mixed with other non-Hazardous Waste 
and crude oils. 

32. Progress Schedule--A schedule, prepared and 
maintained by Contractor, describing the sequence and 
duration of the activities comprising the Contractor’s plan 
to accomplish the Work within the Contract Times. 

 
33. Project--The total construction of which the 

Work to be performed under the Contract Documents may 
be the whole, or a part. 

 
34. Project Manual--The bound documentary 

information prepared for bidding and constructing the 
Work. A listing of the contents of the Project Manual, 
which may be bound in one or more volumes,  is 
contained in the table(s) of contents. 

 
35. Radioactive Material--Source, special nucle- 

ar, or byproduct material as defined by the Atomic Energy 
Act of 1954 (42 USC Section 2011 et seq.) as amended 
from time to time. 

 
36. Related Entity -- An officer, director, partner, 

employee, agent, consultant, or subcontractor. 
 

37. Resident Project Representative--The autho- 
rized representative of Engineer who may be assigned to 
the Site or any part thereof. 

 
38. Samples--Physical examples of materials, 

equipment, or workmanship that are representative of 
some portion of the Work and which establish the 
standards by which such portion of the Work will be 
judged. 

 
39. Schedule of Submittals--A schedule, prepared 

and maintained by Contractor, of required submittals and 
the time requirements to support scheduled performance 
of related construction activities. 

 
40. Schedule of Values--A schedule, prepared 

and maintained by Contractor, allocating portions of the 
Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used 
as the basis for reviewing Contractor’s Applications for 
Payment. 

 
41. Shop Drawings--All drawings, diagrams, 

illustrations, schedules, and other data or information 
which are specifically prepared or assembled by or for 
Contractor and submitted by Contractor to illustrate some 
portion of the Work. 

 
42. Site--Lands or areas indicated in the Contract 

Documents as being furnished by Owner upon which the 
Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and 
easements for access thereto, and such other lands 
furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of 
Contractor. 

 
43. Specifications--That part of the Contract 

Documents consisting of written requirements for 
materials, equipment, systems, standards and 
workmanship as applied to the Work, and certain 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 6 

 

administrative requirements and procedural matters 
applicable thereto. 

 
44. Subcontractor--An individual or entity 

having a direct contract with Contractor or with any other 
Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work 
at the Site. 

 
45. Substantial Completion--The time at which 

the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to 
the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or 
a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in 
accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the 
Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the 
purposes for which it is intended. The terms “substantially 
complete” and “substantially completed” as applied to all 
or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion 
thereof. 

 
46. Successful Bidder--The Bidder submitting a 

responsive Bid to whom Owner makes an award. 
 

47. Supplementary Conditions--That part of the 
Contract Documents which amends or supplements these 
General Conditions. 

 
48. Supplier--A manufacturer, fabricator, suppli- 

er, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct 
contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to 
furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the 
Work by Contractor or any Subcontractor. 

 
49. Underground Facilities--All underground 

pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, 
tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and 
any encasements containing such facilities, including 
those that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid 
petroleum products, telephone or other communications, 
cable television, water, wastewater, storm water, other 
liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. 

 
50. Unit Price Work--Work to be paid for on the 

basis of unit prices. 
 

51. Work--The entire construction or the various 
separately identifiable parts thereof required to be 
provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes 
and is the result of performing or providing all labor, 
services, and documentation necessary to produce such 
construction, and furnishing, installing, and incorporating 
all materials and equipment into such construction, all as 
required by the Contract Documents. 

 
52. Work Change Directive--A written statement 

to Contractor issued on or after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement and signed by Owner and recommended by 
Engineer ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the 
Work, or responding to differing or unforeseen subsurface 
or physical conditions under which the Work is to be 
performed or to emergencies. A Work Change Directive 
will not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times 

but is evidence that the parties expect that the change 
ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will 
be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order 
following negotiations by the parties as to its effect, if 
any, on the Contract Price or Contract Times. 

 
1.02 Terminology 

 
A. The following words or terms are not defined 

but, when used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract 
Documents, have the following meaning. 

 
B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives 

 
1. The Contract Documents include the terms “as 

allowed,” “as approved,” “as ordered”, “as directed” or 
terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of 
professional judgment by Engineer. In addition, the 
adjectives “reasonable,” “suitable,” “acceptable,” 
“proper,” “satisfactory,” or adjectives of like effect or 
import are used to describe an action or determination of 
Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that such exercise 
of professional judgment, action or determination will be 
solely to evaluate, in general, the Work for compliance 
with the requirements of and information in the Contract 
Documents and conformance with the design concept of 
the completed Project as a functioning whole as shown or 
indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a 
specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any 
such term or adjective is not intended to and shall not be 
effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to 
supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any 
duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to 
the provisions of Paragraph 9.09 or any other provision of 
the Contract Documents. 

 
C. Day 

 
1. The word “day” means a calendar day 

of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight. 
 

D. Defective 
 

1. The word “defective,” when modifying the 
word “Work,” refers to Work that is unsatisfactory,  
faulty, or deficient in that it: 

 
a. does not conform to the Contract Documents, 
or 

 
b. does not meet the requirements of any 
applicable inspection, reference standard, test, or 
approval referred to in the Contract Documents, 
or 

 
c. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s - 
recommendation of final payment (unless 
responsibility for the protection thereof has been 
assumed by Owner at Substantial Completion in 
accordance with Paragraph 14.04 or 14.05). 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 7 

 

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide 
 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection 
with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to 
supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment 
to the Site (or some other specified location) ready for use 
or installation and in usable or operable condition. 

 
2. The word “install,” when used in connection 

with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to put 
into use or place in final position said services, materials, 
or equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

 
3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used 

in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall 
mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or 
equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

 
4. When “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “pro- 

vide” is not used in connection with services, materials, or 
equipment in a context clearly requiring an obligation of 
Contractor, “provide” is implied. 

 
F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Docu- 

ments, words or phrases which have a well-known 
technical or construction industry or trade meaning are 
used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such 
recognized meaning. 

 
 

ARTICLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
 

 
2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance 

 
A. When Contractor delivers the executed 

counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall 
also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be 
required to furnish. 

 
B. Evidence of Insurance: Before any Work at 

the Site is started, Contractor and Owner shall each 
deliver to the other, with copies to each additional insured 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of 
insurance (and other evidence of insurance which either 
of them or any additional insured may reasonably request) 
which Contractor and Owner respectively are required to 
purchase and maintain in accordance with Article 5. 

 
2.02 Copies of Documents 

 
A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor up to ten 

printed or hard copies of the Drawings and Project 
Manual. Additional copies will be furnished upon request 
at the cost of reproduction. 

 
2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to 
Proceed 

 
A. The Contract Times will commence to run on 

the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Agreement 

or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in 
the Notice to Proceed. A Notice to Proceed may be given 
at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement. In no event will the Contract Times com- 
mence to run later than the sixtieth day after the day of 
Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of 
the Agreement, whichever date is earlier. 

 
2.04 Starting the Work 

 
A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on 

the date when the Contract Times commence to run. No 
Work shall be done at the Site prior to the date on which 
the Contract Times commence to run. 

 
2.05 Before Starting Construction 

 
A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after 

the Effective Date of the Agreement (unless otherwise 
specified in the General Requirements), Contractor shall 
submit to Engineer for timely review: 

 
1. a preliminary Progress Schedule; indicating 

the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting and 
completing the various stages of the Work, including any 
Milestones specified in the Contract Documents; 

 
2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and 

 
3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the 

Work which includes quantities and prices of items which 
when added together equal the Contract Price and subdi- 
vides the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to 
serve as the basis for progress payments during 
performance of the Work. Such prices will include an 
appropriate amount of overhead and profit applicable to 
each item of Work. 

 
2.06 Preconstruction Conference 

 
A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a 

conference attended by Owner, Contractor, Engineer, and 
others as appropriate will be held to establish a working 
understanding among the parties as to the Work and to 
discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 2.05.A, 
procedures for handling Shop Drawings and other 
submittals, processing Applications for Payment, and 
maintaining required records. 

 
2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules 

 
A. At least 10 days before submission of the first 

Application for Payment a conference attended by 
Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be 
held to review for acceptability to Engineer as provided 
below the schedules submitted in accordance with 
Paragraph 2.05.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 
days to make corrections and adjustments and to complete 
and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be 
made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are 
submitted to Engineer. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 8 

 

 
1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to 

Engineer if it provides an orderly progression of the Work 
to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance 
will not impose on Engineer responsibility for the 
Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or 
progress of the Work nor interfere with or relieve 
Contractor from Contractor’s full responsibility therefor. 

 
2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be 

acceptable to Engineer if it provides a workable 
arrangement for reviewing and processing the required 
submittals. 

 
3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be 

acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance if it 
provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to 
component parts of the Work. 

 
 

ARTICLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, 
AMENDING, REUSE 

 

 
3.01 Intent 

 
A. The Contract Documents are complementary; 

what is required by one is as binding as if required by all. 
 

B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to 
describe a functionally complete Project (or part thereof) 
to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Docu- 
ments. Any labor, documentation, services, materials, or 
equipment that may reasonably be inferred from the 
Contract Documents or from prevailing custom or trade 
usage as being required to produce the intended result will 
be provided whether or not specifically called for at no 
additional cost to Owner. 

 
C. Clarifications and interpretations of the 

Contract Documents shall be issued by Engineer as 
provided in Article 9. 

 
3.02 Reference Standards 

 
A. Standards, Specifications, Codes, Laws, and 

Regulations 
 

1. Reference to standards, specifications, 
manuals, or codes of any technical society, organization, 
or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such 
reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the 
standard, specification, manual, code, or Laws or Regula- 
tions in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the 
Effective Date of the Agreement if there were no Bids), 
except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the 
Contract Documents. 

 
2. No provision of any such standard, 

specification, manual or code, or any instruction of a 
Supplier shall be effective to change the duties or 

responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any 
of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, or employees 
from those set forth in the Contract Documents. No such 
provision or instruction shall be effective to assign to 
Owner, or Engineer, or any of, their Related Entities, any 
duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of 
the Work or any duty or authority to undertake respon- 
sibility inconsistent with the provisions of the Contract 
Documents. 

 
3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 

 
A. Reporting Discrepancies 

 
1. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents 

Before Starting Work: Before undertaking each part of the 
Work, Contractor shall carefully study and compare the 
Contract Documents and check and verify pertinent 
figures therein and all applicable field measurements. 
Contractor shall promptly report in writing to Engineer 
any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy which 
Contractor may discover and shall obtain a written 
interpretation or clarification from Engineer before 
proceeding with any Work affected thereby. 

 
2. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents 

During Performance of Work: If, during the performance 
of the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, 
ambiguity, or discrepancy within the Contract Documents 
or between the Contract Documents and any provision of 
any Law or Regulation applicable to the performance of 
the Work or of any standard, specification, manual or 
code, or of any instruction of any Supplier, Contractor 
shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor 
shall not proceed with the Work affected thereby (except 
in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A) until  
an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents 
has been issued by one of the methods indicated in 
Paragraph 3.04. 

 
3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or 

Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, ambigu- 
ity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless 
Contractor knew or reasonably should have known 
thereof. 

 
B. Resolving Discrepancies 

 
1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated 

in the Contract Documents, the provisions of the Contract 
Documents shall take precedence in resolving any 
conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between the 
provisions of the Contract Documents and: 

 
a. the provisions of any standard, specification, 
manual, code, or instruction (whether or not 
specifically incorporated by reference in the 
Contract Documents); or 

 
b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 9 

 

(unless such an interpretation of  the provisions 
of the Contract Documents would result in viola- 
tion of such Law or Regulation). 

 
3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract 
Documents 

 
A. The Contract Documents may be amended to 

provide for additions, deletions, and revisions in the Work 
or to modify the terms and conditions thereof by either a 
Change Order or a Work Change Directive. 

 
B. The requirements of the Contract Documents 

may be supplemented, and minor variations and 
deviations in the Work may be authorized, by one or more 
of the following ways: 

 
1. A Field Order; 

 
2. Engineer’s approval of a Shop Drawing or 

Sample; (Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 
6.17.D.3); or 

 
3. Engineer’s written interpretation or 

clarification. 
 

3.05 Reuse of Documents 
 

A. Contractor and any Subcontractor or Supplier 
or other individual or entity performing or furnishing all 
of the Work under a direct or indirect contract with 
Contractor, shall not: 

 
1. have or acquire any title to or ownership 
rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or 

other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or 
bearing the seal of Engineer or Engineer’s consultants, 
including electronic media editions; or 

 
2. reuse any of such Drawings, Specifications, 
other documents, or copies thereof on extensions 

of the Project or any other project without written consent 
of Owner and Engineer and specific written verification 
or adaption by Engineer. 

 
B. The prohibition of this Paragraph 3.05 will 

survive final payment, or termination of the Contract. 
Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining 
copies of the Contract Documents for record purposes. 

 
3.06 Electronic Data 

 
A. Copies of data furnished by Owner or 

Engineer to Contractor or Contractor to Owner or 
Engineer that may be relied upon are limited to the 
printed copies (also known as hard copies). Files in 
electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or other 
types are furnished only for the convenience of the 
receiving party. Any conclusion or information obtained 
or derived from such electronic files will be at the user’s 

sole risk. If there is a discrepancy between the electronic 
files and the hard copies, the hard copies govern. 

 
B. Because data stored in electronic media 

format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently or 
otherwise without authorization of the data’s creator, the 
party receiving electronic files agrees that it will perform 
acceptance tests or procedures within 60 days, after which 
the receiving party shall be deemed to have accepted the 
data thus transferred. Any errors detected within the 60- 
day acceptance period will be corrected by the 
transferring party.. 

 
C. When transferring documents in electronic 

media format, the transferring party makes no 
representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or 
readability of documents resulting from the use of 
software application packages, operating systems, or 
computer hardware differing from those used by the 
data’s creator. 

 
 

ARTICLE 4 - AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; 
SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; 
HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS; 
REFERENCE POINTS 

 

 
4.01 Availability of Lands 

 
A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall 

notify Contractor of any encumbrances or restrictions not 
of general application but specifically related to use of the 
Site with which Contractor must comply in performing 
the Work. Owner will obtain in a timely manner and pay 
for easements for permanent structures or permanent 
changes in existing facilities. If Contractor and Owner are 
unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or 
extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, as a result of any delay in 
Owner’s furnishing the Site or a part thereof, Contractor 
may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 
10.05. 

 
B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall 

furnish Contractor with a current statement of record legal 
title and legal description of the lands upon which the 
Work is to be performed and Owner’s interest therein as 
necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic's or 
construction lien against such lands in accordance with 
applicable Laws and Regulations. 

 
C. Contractor shall provide for all additional 

lands and access thereto that may be required for 
temporary construction facilities or storage of materials 
and equipment. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 10 

 

4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 
 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary 
Conditions identify: 

 
1. those reports of explorations and tests of 

subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site that 
Engineer has used in preparing the Contract Documents; 
and 

 
2. those drawings of physical conditions in or 

relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or 
contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) 
that Engineer has used in preparing the Contract 
Documents. 

 
B. Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical 

Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the general 
accuracy of the “technical data” contained in such reports 
and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not 
Contract Documents. Such “technical data” is identified 
in the Supplementary Conditions. Except for such reliance 
on such “technical data,” Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of 
their Related Entities with respect to: 

 
1. the completeness of such reports and drawings 

for Contractor’s purposes, including, but not limited to, 
any aspects of the means, methods,  techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed 
by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs 
incident thereto; or 

 
2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and 

information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings; or 

 
3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion 

drawn from any "technical data" or any such other data, 
interpretations, opinions, or information. 

 
4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 

 
A. Notice: If Contractor believes that any subsur- 

face or physical condition at or contiguous to the Site that 
is uncovered or revealed either: 

 
1. is of such a nature as to establish that any 

“technical data” on which Contractor is entitled to rely as 
provided in Paragraph 4.02 is materially inaccurate; or 

 
2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the 

Contract Documents; or 
 

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated 
in the Contract Documents; or 

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially 
from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally 
recognized as inherent in work of the character provided 
for in the Contract Documents; 

 
then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware 
thereof and before further disturbing the subsurface or 
physical conditions or performing any Work in connec- 
tion therewith (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 6.16.A), notify Owner and Engineer in writing 
about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb 
such condition or perform any Work in connection 
therewith (except as aforesaid) until receipt of written 
order to do so. 

 
B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written 

notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A, Engineer will 
promptly review the pertinent condition, determine the 
necessity of Owner's obtaining additional exploration or 
tests with respect thereto, and advise Owner in writing 
(with a copy to Contractor) of Engineer’s findings and 
conclusions. 

 
C. Possible Price and Times Adjustments 

 
1. The Contract Price or the Contract Times, or 

both, will be equitably adjusted to the extent that the 
existence of such differing subsurface or physical 
condition causes an increase or decrease in Contractor’s 
cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; 
subject, however, to the following: 

 
a. such condition must meet any one or more of 
the categories described in Paragraph 4.03.A; 
and 

 
b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a Unit 
Price Basis, any adjustment in Contract Price 
will be subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 
9.07 and 11.03. 

 
2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any 

adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times if: 
 

a. Contractor knew of the existence of such 
conditions at the time Contractor made a final 
commitment to Owner with respect to Contract 
Price and Contract Times by the submission of a 
Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated 
contract; or 

 
b. the existence of such condition could 
reasonably have been discovered or revealed as a 
result of any examination, investigation, explo- 
ration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous 
areas required by the Bidding Requirements or 
Contract Documents to be conducted by or for 
Contractor prior to Contractor's making such 
final commitment; or 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 11 

 

c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as 
required by Paragraph 4.03.A. 

 
3. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree 

on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of 
any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, 
or both, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in 
Paragraph 10.05. However, Owner and Engineer, and any 
of their Related Entities shall not be liable to Contractor 
for any claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but 
not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by 
Contractor on or in connection with any other project or 
anticipated project. 

 
4.04 Underground Facilities 

 
A. Shown or Indicated: The information and data 

shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with 
respect to existing Underground Facilities at or 
contiguous to the Site is based on information and data 
furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such 
Underground Facilities, including Owner, or by others. 
Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Sup- 
plementary Conditions: 

 
1. Owner and Engineer shall not be responsible 

for the accuracy or completeness of any such information 
or data; and 

 
2. the cost of all of the following will be 

included in the Contract Price, and Contractor shall have 
full responsibility for: 

 
a. reviewing and checking all such information 
and data, 

 
b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or 
indicated in the Contract Documents, 

 
c. coordination of the Work with the owners of 
such Underground Facilities, including Owner, 
during construction, and 

 
d. the safety and protection of all such Under- 
ground Facilities and repairing any damage 
thereto resulting from the Work. 

 
B. Not Shown or Indicated 

 
1. If an Underground Facility is uncovered or 

revealed at or contiguous to the Site which was not shown 
or indicated, or not shown or indicated with reasonable 
accuracy in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall, 
promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further 
disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any 
Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as 
required by Paragraph 6.16.A), identify the owner of such 
Underground Facility and give written notice to that 
owner and to Owner and Engineer. Engineer will 

promptly review the Underground Facility and determine 
the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the 
Contract Documents to reflect and document the 
consequences of the existence or location of the Under- 
ground Facility. During such time, Contractor shall be 
responsible for the safety and protection of such 
Underground Facility. 

 
2. If Engineer concludes that a change in the 

Contract Documents is required, a Work Change 
Directive or a Change Order will be issued to reflect and 
document such consequences. An equitable adjustment 
shall be made in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or 
both, to the extent that they are attributable to the 
existence or location of any Underground Facility that 
was not shown or indicated or not shown or indicated 
with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents and 
that Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably 
have been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated. 
If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on 
entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any 
such adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, 
Owner or Contractor may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

 
4.05 Reference Points 

 
A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to 

establish reference points for construction which in 
Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Contractor  
to proceed with the Work. Contractor shall be responsible 
for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the 
established reference points and property monuments, and 
shall make no changes or relocations without the prior 
written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to 
Engineer whenever any reference point or property 
monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation 
because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and 
shall be responsible for the accurate replacement or 
relocation of such reference points or property 
monuments by professionally qualified personnel. 

 
4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site 

 
A. Reports and Drawings: Reference is made to 

the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of 
those reports and drawings relating to a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition identified at the Site, if any, that 
have been utilized by the Engineer in the preparation of 
the Contract Documents. 

 
B. Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical 

Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the general 
accuracy of the “technical data” contained in such reports 
and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not 
Contract Documents. Such “technical data” is identified 
in the Supplementary Conditions. Except for such reliance 
on such “technical data,” Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of 
their Related Entities with respect to: 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 12 

 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings 
for Contractor’s purposes, including, but not limited to, 
any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences 
and procedures of construction to be employed by 
Contractor and safety precautions and programs incident 
thereto; or 

 
2. other data, interpretations, opinions and 

information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings; or 

 
3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion 

drawn from any “technical data” or any such other data, 
interpretations, opinions or information. 

 
C. Contractor shall not be responsible for any 

Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or re- 
vealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated in 
Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract 
Documents to be within the scope of the Work. 
Contractor shall be responsible for a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition created with any materials 
brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, 
Suppliers, or anyone else for whom Contractor is 
responsible. 

 
D. If Contractor encounters a Hazardous 

Environmental Condition or if Contractor or anyone for 
whom Contractor is responsible creates a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition, Contractor shall immediately: 
(i) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (ii) stop all 
Work in connection with such condition and in any area 
affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 6.16.A); and (iii) notify Owner and Engineer 
(and promptly thereafter confirm such notice in writing). 
Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning 
the necessity for Owner to retain a qualified expert to 
evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any. 

 
E. Contractor shall not be required to resume 

Work in connection with such condition or in any affected 
area until after Owner has obtained any required permits 
related thereto and delivered to Contractor written notice: 
(i) specifying that such condition and any affected area is 
or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work; or 
(ii) specifying any special conditions under which such 
Work may be resumed safely. If Owner and Contractor 
cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or 
extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, as a result of such Work stop- 

entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of an 
adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times as a result 
of deleting such portion of the Work, then either party 
may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 
10.05. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work 
performed by Owner’s own forces or others in accordance 
with Article 7. 

 
G. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 

Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless 
Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the 
officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them 
from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution 
costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous 
Environmental Condition: (i) was not shown or indicated 
in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in the 
Contract Documents to be included within the scope of 
the Work, and (ii) was not created by Contractor or by 
anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in 
this Paragraph 4.06. G shall obligate Owner to indemnify 
any individual or entity from and against the conse- 
quences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

 
H. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 

Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them from and against 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition 
created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor 
is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 4.06.H shall 
obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity 
from and against the consequences of that individual’s or 
entity’s own negligence. 

 
I. The provisions of Paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 

4.04 do not apply to a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site. 

 
 

ARTICLE 5 - BONDS AND INSURANCE 
page or such special conditions under which Work is    
agreed to be resumed by Contractor, either party may 
make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

 
F. If after receipt of such written notice 

Contractor does not agree to resume such Work based on 
a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to 
resume such Work under such special conditions, then 
Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the 
area affected by such condition to be deleted from the 
Work. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to 

5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 
 

A. Contractor shall furnish performance and 
payment bonds, each in an amount at least equal to the 
Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and 
payment of all of Contractor’s obligations under the 
Contract Documents. These bonds shall remain in effect 
until one year after the date when final payment becomes 
due or until completion of the correction period specified 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 13 

 

in Paragraph 13.07, whichever is later, except as provided 
otherwise by Laws or Regulations or by the Contract 
Documents. Contractor shall also furnish such other 
bonds as are required by the Contract Documents. 

 
B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by 

the Contract Documents except as provided otherwise by 
Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such 
sureties as are named in the current list of “Companies 
Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties 
on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Compa- 
nies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the 
Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. 
Department of the Treasury. All bonds signed by an agent 
must be accompanied by a certified copy of the agent’s 
authority to act. 

 
C. If the surety on any bond furnished by 

Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent or 
its right to do business is terminated in any state where 
any part of the Project is located or it ceases to meet the 
requirements of Paragraph 5.01.B, Contractor shall 
promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 20 
days after the event giving rise to such notification, 
provide another bond and surety, both of which shall 
comply with the requirements of Paragraphs 5.01.B and 
5.02. 

 
5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers 

 
A. All bonds and insurance required by the 

Contract Documents to be purchased and maintained by 
Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from surety or 
insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized 
in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue 
bonds or insurance policies for the limits and coverages  
so required. Such surety and insurance companies shall 
also meet such additional requirements and qualifications 
as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions. 

 
5.03 Certificates of Insurance 

 
A. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies 

to each additional insured identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence 
of insurance requested by Owner or any other additional 
insured) which Contractor is required to purchase and 
maintain. 

 
B. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies 

to each additional insured identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence 
of insurance requested by Contractor or any other 
additional insured) which Owner is required to purchase 
and maintain. 

 
5.04 Contractor’s Liability Insurance 

 
A. Contractor shall purchase and maintain such 

liability and other insurance as is appropriate for the  
Work being performed and as will provide protection 

from claims set forth below which may arise out of or 
result from Contractor’s performance of the Work and 
Contractor’s other obligations under the Contract 
Documents, whether it is to be performed by Contractor, 
any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the 
Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be 
liable: 

 
1. claims under workers’ compensation, 

disability benefits, and other similar employee benefit 
acts; 

 
2. claims for damages because of bodily injury, 

occupational sickness or disease, or death of Contractor’s 
employees; 

 
3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, 

sickness or disease, or death of any person other than 
Contractor’s employees; 

 
4. claims for damages insured by reasonably 

available personal injury liability coverage which are sus- 
tained: 

 
a. by any person as a result of an offense directly 
or indirectly related to the employment of such 
person by Contractor, or 

 
b. by any other person for any other reason; 

 
5. claims for damages, other than to the Work 

itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible 
property wherever located, including loss of use resulting 
therefrom; and 

 
6. claims for damages because of bodily injury or 

death of any person or property damage arising out of the 
ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle. 

 
B. The policies of insurance required by this 

Paragraph 5.04 shall: 
 

1. with respect to insurance required by 
Paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through 5.04.A.6 inclusive, include 
as additional insured (subject to any customary exclusion 
regarding professional liability) Owner and Engineer, and 
any other individuals or entities identified in the Supple- 
mentary Conditions, all of whom shall be listed as addi- 
tional insureds, and include coverage for the respective 
officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of all such 
additional insureds, and the insurance afforded to these 
additional insureds shall provide primary coverage for all 
claims covered thereby; 

 
2. include at least the specific coverages and be 

written for not less than the limits of liability provided in 
the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws or 
Regulations, whichever is greater; 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 14 

 

3. include completed operations insurance; 
 

4. include contractual liability insurance 
covering Contractor’s indemnity obligations under 
Paragraphs 6.11 and 6.20; 

 
5. contain a provision or endorsement that the 

coverage afforded will not be canceled, materially 
changed or renewal refused until at least 30 days prior 
written notice has been given to Owner and Contractor 
and to each other additional insured identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions to whom a certificate of 
insurance has been issued (and the certificates of 
insurance furnished by the Contractor pursuant to 
Paragraph 5.03 will so provide); 

 
6. remain in effect at least until final payment 

and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be 
correcting, removing, or replacing defective Work in 
accordance with Paragraph 13.07; and 

 
7. with respect to completed operations insur- 

ance, and any insurance coverage written on a claims- 
made basis, remain in effect for at least two years after 
final payment. 

 
a. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other 
additional insured identified in the Supple- 
mentary Conditions, to whom a certificate of 
insurance has been issued, evidence satisfactory 
to Owner and any such additional insured of 
continuation of such insurance at final payment 
and one year thereafter. 

 
5.05 Owner’s Liability Insurance 

 
A. In addition to the insurance required to be 

provided by Contractor under Paragraph 5.04, Owner, at 
Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain at Owner’s 
expense Owner’s own liability insurance as will protect 
Owner against claims which may arise from operations 
under the Contract Documents. 

 
5.06 Property Insurance 

 
A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supple- 

mentary Conditions, Owner shall purchase and maintain 
property insurance upon the Work at the Site in the 
amount of the full replacement cost thereof (subject to 
such deductible amounts as may be provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and 
Regulations). This insurance shall: 

 
1. include the interests of Owner, Contractor, 

Subcontractors, and Engineer, and any other individuals 
or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, 
and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them, 
each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and 
shall be listed as an insured or additional insured; 

2. be written on a Builder’s Risk “all-risk” or 
open peril or special causes of loss policy form that shall 
at least include insurance for physical loss or damage to 
the Work, temporary buildings, false work, and materials 
and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least 
the following perils or causes of loss: fire, lightning, 
extended coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious 
mischief, earthquake, collapse, debris removal,  
demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and 
Regulations, water damage, (other than caused by flood) 
and such other perils or causes of loss as may be specifi- 
cally required by the Supplementary Conditions; 

 
3. include expenses incurred in the repair or 

replacement of any insured property (including but not 
limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects); 

 
4. cover materials and equipment stored at the 

Site or at another location that was agreed to in writing by 
Owner prior to being incorporated in the Work, provided 
that such materials and equipment have been included in 
an Application for Payment recommended by Engineer; 

 
5. allow for partial utilization of the Work by 

Owner; 
 

6. include testing and startup; and 
 

7. be maintained in effect until final payment is 
made unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Owner, 
Contractor, and Engineer with 30 days written notice to 
each other additional insured to whom a certificate of 
insurance has been issued. 

 
B. Owner shall purchase and maintain such 

boiler and machinery insurance or additional property 
insurance as may be required by the Supplementary 
Conditions or Laws and Regulations which will include 
the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and 
Engineer, and any other individuals or entities identified 
in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, 
directors, partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them, each of whom is 
deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as 
an insured or additional insured. 

 
C. All the policies of insurance (and the certifi- 

cates or other evidence thereof) required to be purchased 
and maintained in accordance with Paragraph 5.06 will 
contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage 
afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or 
renewal refused until at least 30 days prior written notice 
has been given to Owner and Contractor and to each other 
additional insured to whom a certificate of insurance has 
been issued and will contain waiver provisions in accor- 
dance with Paragraph 5.07. 

 
D. Owner shall not be responsible for purchasing 

and maintaining any property insurance specified in this 
Paragraph 5.06 to protect the interests of Contractor, 
Subcontractors, or others in the Work to the extent of any 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 15 

 

deductible amounts that are identified in the Supple- 
mentary Conditions. The risk of loss within such 
identified deductible amount will be borne by Contractor, 
Subcontractors, or others suffering any such loss, and if 
any of them wishes property insurance coverage within 
the limits of such amounts, each may purchase and 
maintain it at the purchaser’s own expense. 

 
E. If Contractor requests in writing that other 

special insurance be included in the property insurance 
policies provided under Paragraph 5.06, Owner shall, if 
possible, include such insurance, and the cost thereof will 
be charged to Contractor by appropriate Change Order. 
Prior to commencement of the Work at the Site, Owner 
shall in writing advise Contractor whether or not such 
other insurance has been procured by Owner. 

 
5.07 Waiver of Rights 

 
A. Owner and Contractor intend that all policies 

purchased in accordance with Paragraph 5.06 will protect 
Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and all 
other individuals or entities identified in the Supple- 
mentary Conditions to be listed as insureds or additional 
insureds (and the officers, directors, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them) in such policies and will provide primary coverage 
for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes 
of loss covered thereby. All such policies shall contain 
provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of  
any loss or damage the insurers will have no rights of 
recovery against any of the insureds or additional insureds 
thereunder. Owner and Contractor waive all rights against 
each other and their respective officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them for all losses and 
damages caused by, arising out of or resulting from any of 
the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and 
any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, 
in addition, waive all such rights against Subcontractors, 
and Engineer, and all other individuals or entities 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions to be listed as 
insured or additional insured (and the officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them) under such 
policies for losses and damages so caused. None of the 
above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party 
making such waiver may have to the proceeds of 
insurance held by Owner as trustee or otherwise payable 
under any policy so issued. 

 
B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, 

Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them for: 

1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, 
or other consequential loss extending beyond direct 
physical loss or damage to Owner’s property or the Work 
caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other 
perils whether or not insured by Owner; and 

 
2. loss or damage to the completed Project or 

part thereof caused by, arising out of, or resulting from 
fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any 
property insurance maintained on the completed Project 
or part thereof by Owner during partial utilization 
pursuant to Paragraph 14.05, after Substantial Completion 
pursuant to Paragraph 14.04, or after final payment 
pursuant to Paragraph 14.07. 

 
C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner 

covering any loss, damage or consequential loss referred 
to in Paragraph 5.07.B shall contain provisions to the 
effect that in the event of payment of any such loss, 
damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no 
rights of recovery against Contractor, Subcontractors, or 
Engineer, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them. 

 
5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds 

 
A. Any insured loss under the policies of 

insurance required by Paragraph 5.06 will be adjusted 
with Owner and made payable to Owner as fiduciary for 
the insureds, as their interests may appear, subject to the 
requirements of any applicable mortgage clause and of 
Paragraph 5.08.B. Owner shall deposit in a separate 
account any money so received and shall distribute it in 
accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest 
may reach. If no other special agreement is reached, the 
damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, the moneys 
so received applied on account thereof, and the Work and 
the cost thereof covered by an appropriate Change Order . 

 
B. Owner as fiduciary shall have power to adjust 

and settle any loss with the insurers unless one of the 
parties in interest shall object in writing within 15 days 
after the occurrence of loss to Owner’s exercise of this 
power. If such objection be made, Owner as fiduciary 
shall make settlement with the insurers in accordance with 
such agreement as the parties in interest may reach. If no 
such agreement among the parties in interest is reached, 
Owner as fiduciary shall adjust and settle the loss with the 
insurers and, if required in writing by any party in 
interest, Owner as fiduciary shall give bond for the proper 
performance of such duties. 

 
5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to 
Replace 

 
A. If either Owner or Contractor has any 

objection to the coverage afforded by or other provisions 
of the bonds or insurance required to be purchased and 
maintained by the other party in accordance with Article 5 
on the basis of non-conformance with the Contract 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 16 

 

Documents, the objecting party shall so notify the other 
party in writing within 10 days after receipt of the 
certificates (or other evidence requested) required by 
Paragraph 2.01.B. Owner and Contractor shall each 
provide to the other such additional information in respect 
of insurance provided as the other may reasonably 
request. If either party does not purchase or maintain all 
of the bonds and insurance required of such party by the 
Contract Documents, such party shall notify the other 
party in writing of such failure to purchase prior to the 
start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to 
any change in the required coverage. Without prejudice to 
any other right or remedy, the other party may elect to 
obtain equivalent bonds or insurance to protect such other 
party's interests at the expense of the party who was 
required to provide such coverage, and a Change Order 
shall be issued to adjust the Contract Price accordingly. 

 
5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property 
Insurer 

 
A. If Owner finds it necessary to occupy or use a 

portion or portions of the Work prior to Substantial 
Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 
14.05, no such use or occupancy shall commence before 
the insurers providing the property insurance pursuant to 
Paragraph 5.06 have acknowledged notice thereof and in 
writing effected any changes in coverage necessitated 
thereby. The insurers providing the property insurance 
shall consent by endorsement on the policy or policies, 
but the property insurance shall not be canceled or 
permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or 
occupancy. 

 
 

ARTICLE 6 - CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

 
6.01 Supervision and Superintendence 

 
A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct 

the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such 
attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as 
may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction. Contractor 
shall not be responsible for the negligence of Owner or 
Engineer in the design or specification of a specific 
means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of 
construction which is shown or indicated in and expressly 
required by the Contract Documents. 

 
B. At all times during the progress of the Work, 

Contractor shall assign a competent resident superin- 
tendent who shall not be replaced without written notice 
to Owner and Engineer except under extraordinary 
circumstances. The superintendent will be Contractor’s 
representative at the Site and shall have authority to act on 
behalf of Contractor. All communications given to or 

received from the superintendent shall be binding on 
Contractor. 

 
6.02 Labor; Working Hours 

 
A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably 

qualified personnel to survey and lay out the Work and 
perform construction as required by the Contract Docu- 
ments. Contractor shall at all times maintain good disci- 
pline and order at the Site. 

 
B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or 

protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site 
or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the 
Contract Documents, all Work at the Site shall be 
performed during regular working hours. Contractor will 
not permit the performance of Work on a Saturday, 
Sunday, or any legal holiday without Owner’s written 
consent (which will not be unreasonably withheld) given 
after prior written notice to Engineer. 

 
6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment 

 
A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract 

Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full 
responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, 
transportation, construction equipment and machinery, 
tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, 
water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other 
facilities and incidentals necessary for the performance, 
testing, start-up, and completion of the Work. 

 
B. All materials and equipment incorporated into 

the Work shall be as specified or, if not specified, shall be 
of good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in 
the Contract Documents. All special warranties and 
guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly 
run to the benefit of Owner. If required by Engineer, 
Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including 
reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and 
quality of materials and equipment. 

 
C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, 

applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, 
cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions 
of the applicable Supplier, except as otherwise may be 
provided in the Contract Documents. 

 
6.04 Progress Schedule 

 
A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress 

Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.07 
as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided 
below. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 17 

 

1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for 
acceptance (to the extent indicated in Paragraph 2.07) 
proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will 
not result in changing the Contract Times. Such adjust- 
ments will comply with any provisions of the General Re- 
quirements applicable thereto. 

 
2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress 

Schedule that will change the Contract Times shall be 
submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 
12. Adjustments in Contract Times may only be made by 
a Change Order. 

 
6.05 Substitutes and “Or-Equals” 

 
A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is 

specified or described in the Contract Documents by 
using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a 
particular Supplier, the specification or description is 
intended to establish the type, function, appearance, and 
quality required. Unless the specification or description 
contains or is followed by words reading that no like, 
equivalent, or “or-equal” item or no substitution is 
permitted, other items of material or equipment or 
material or equipment of other Suppliers may be 
submitted to Engineer for review under the circumstances 
described below. 

 
1. “Or-Equal” Items: If in Engineer’s sole 

discretion an item of material or equipment proposed by 
Contractor is functionally equal to that named and 
sufficiently similar so that no change in related Work will 
be required, it may be considered by Engineer as an “or-
equal” item, in which case review and approval of the 
proposed item may, in Engineer’s sole discretion, be 
accomplished without compliance with some or all of the 
requirements for approval of proposed substitute items. 
For the purposes of this Paragraph 6.05.A.1, a proposed 
item of material or equipment will be considered 
functionally equal to an item so named if: 

 
a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment 
Engineer determines that: 

 
1) it is at least equal in materials of 

construction, quality, durability, appearance, 
strength, and design characteristics; 

 
2) it will reliably perform at least 

equally well the function and achieve the results 
imposed by the design concept of the completed 
Project as a functioning whole, 

 
3) it has a proven record of performance 

and availability of responsive service; and 
 

b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and 
incorporated into the Work: 

 
1) there will be no increase in cost to 

the Owner or increase in Contract Times, and 

 
2) it will conform substantially to the 

detailed requirements of the item named in the 
Contract Documents. 

 
2. Substitute Items 

 
a. If in Engineer’s sole discretion an item of 
material or equipment proposed by Contractor 
does not qualify as an “or-equal” item under 
Paragraph 6.05.A.1, it will be considered a 
proposed substitute item. 

 
b. Contractor shall submit sufficient information 
as provided below to allow Engineer to 
determine that the item of material or equipment 
proposed is essentially equivalent to that named 
and an acceptable substitute therefor. Requests 
for review of proposed substitute items of 
material or equipment will not be accepted by 
Engineer from anyone other than Contractor. 

 
c. The requirements for review by Engineer will 
be as set forth in Paragraph 6.05.A.2.d, as 
supplemented in the General Requirements and 
as Engineer may decide is appropriate under the 
circumstances. 

 
d. Contractor shall make written application to 
Engineer for review of a proposed substitute item 
of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to 
furnish or use. The application: 

 
1) shall certify that the proposed substi- 

tute item will: 
 

a) perform adequately the functions and 
achieve the results called for by the 
general design, 

 
b) be similar in substance to that 
specified, and 

 
c) be suited to the same use as that 
specified; 

 
2) will state: 

 
a) the extent, if any, to which the use of 
the proposed substitute item will preju- 
dice Contractor’s achievement of 
Substantial Completion on time; 

 
b) whether or not use of the proposed 
substitute item in the Work will require 
a change in any of the Contract Docu- 
ments (or in the provisions of any other 
direct contract with Owner for other 
work on the Project) to adapt the design 
to the proposed substitute item; and 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 18 

 

c) whether or not incorporation or use 
of the proposed substitute item in con- 
nection with the Work is subject to 
payment of any license fee or royalty; 

 
3) will identify: 

 
a) all variations of the proposed 
substitute item from that specified , and 

 
b) available engineering, sales, 
maintenance, repair, and replacement 
services; 

 
4) and shall contain an itemized esti- 

mate of all costs or credits that will result 
directly or indirectly from use of such substitute 
item, including costs of redesign and claims of 
other contractors affected by any resulting 
change, 

 
B. Substitute Construction Methods or Proce- 

dures: If a specific means, method, technique, sequence, 
or procedure of construction is expressly required by the 
Contract Documents, Contractor may furnish or utilize a 
substitute means, method, technique, sequence, or 
procedure of construction approved by Engineer. 
Contractor shall submit sufficient information to allow 
Engineer, in Engineer’s sole discretion, to determine that 
the substitute proposed is equivalent to that expressly 
called for by the Contract Documents. The requirements 
for review by Engineer will be similar to those provided 
in Paragraph 6.05.A.2. 

 
C. Engineer’s Evaluation: Engineer will be 

allowed a reasonable time within which to evaluate each 
proposal or submittal made pursuant to Paragraphs 6.05.A 
and 6.05.B. Engineer may require Contractor to furnish 
additional data about the proposed substitute item. 
Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No “or 
equal” or substitute will be ordered, installed or utilized 
until Engineer’s review is complete, which will be 
evidenced by either a Change Order for a substitute or an 
approved Shop Drawing for an “or equal.” Engineer will 
advise Contractor in writing of any negative 
determination. 

 
D. Special Guarantee: Owner may require 

Contractor to furnish at Contractor’s expense a special 
performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any 
substitute. 

 
E. Engineer’s Cost Reimbursement: Engineer 

will record Engineer’s costs in evaluating a substitute 
proposed or submitted by Contractor pursuant to 
Paragraphs 6.05.A.2 and 6.05.B Whether or not Engineer 
approves a substitute item so proposed or submitted by 
Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for the 
charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed 
substitute. Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the 
charges of Engineer for making changes in the Contract 

Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct 
contract with Owner) resulting from the acceptance of 
each proposed substitute. 

 
F. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall 

provide all data in support of any proposed substitute or 
“or-equal” at Contractor’s expense. 

 
6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and 
Others 

 
A. Contractor shall not employ any Subcon- 

tractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity (including 
those acceptable to Owner as indicated in Paragraph 
6.06.B), whether initially or as a replacement, against 
whom Owner may have reasonable objection. Contractor 
shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or other individual or entity to furnish or 
perform any of the Work against whom Contractor has 
reasonable objection. 

 
B. If the Supplementary Conditions require the 

identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other 
individuals or entities to be submitted to Owner in 
advance for acceptance by Owner by a specified date 
prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, and if 
Contractor has submitted a list thereof in accordance with 
the Supplementary Conditions, Owner’s acceptance 
(either in writing or by failing to make written objection 
thereto by the date indicated for acceptance or objection 
in the Bidding Documents or the Contract Documents) of 
any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity so identified may be revoked on the basis of reason- 
able objection after due investigation. Contractor shall 
submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, and 
the Contract Price will be adjusted by the difference in the 
cost occasioned by such replacement, and an appropriate 
Change Order will be issued . No acceptance by Owner of 
any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity, whether initially or as a replacement, shall consti- 
tute a waiver of any right of Owner or Engineer to reject 
defective Work. 

 
C. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner 

and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or 
entities performing or furnishing any of the Work just as 
Contractor is responsible for Contractor’s own acts and 
omissions. Nothing in the Contract Documents: 

 
1. shall create for the benefit of any such 

Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity any 
contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and 
any such Subcontractor, Supplier or other individual or 
entity, nor 

 
2. shall anything in the Contract Documents 

create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to 
pay or to see to the payment of any moneys due any 

such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 19 

 

or entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws 
and Regulations. 

 
D. Contractor shall be solely responsible for 

scheduling and coordinating the Work of Subcontractors, 
Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or 
furnishing any of the Work under a direct or indirect 
contract with Contractor. 

 
E. Contractor shall require all Subcontractors, 

Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities per- 
forming or furnishing any of the Work to communicate 
with Engineer through Contractor. 

 
F. The divisions and sections of the Specifica- 

tions and the identifications of any Drawings shall not 
control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcon- 
tractors or Suppliers or delineating the Work to be 
performed by any specific trade. 

 
G. All Work performed for Contractor by a 

Subcontractor or Supplier will be pursuant to an appro- 
priate agreement between Contractor and the 
Subcontractor or Supplier which specifically binds the 
Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and 
conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of 
Owner and Engineer. Whenever any such agreement is 
with a Subcontractor or Supplier who is listed as an 
additional insured on the property insurance provided in 
Paragraph 5.06, the agreement between the Contractor 
and the Subcontractor or Supplier will contain provisions 
whereby the Subcontractor or Supplier waives all rights 
against Owner, Contractor, and Engineer,, and all other 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions to be listed as insureds or additional insureds 
(and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them) 
for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, 
relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of 
loss covered by such policies and any other property 
insurance applicable to the Work. If the insurers on any 
such policies require separate waiver forms to be signed 
by any Subcontractor or Supplier, Contractor will obtain 
the same. 

 
6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties 

 
A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and 

royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the 
performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work 
of any invention, design, process, product, or device 
which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by 
others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, 
or device is specified in the Contract Documents for use 
in the performance of the Work and if to the actual 
knowledge of Owner or Engineer its use is subject to 
patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any 
license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such 
rights shall be disclosed by Owner in the Contract 
Documents. 

B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 
Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them from and against 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to any infringement of patent rights or 
copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the 
Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of 
any invention, design, process, product, or device not 
specified in the Contract Documents. 

 
6.08 Permits 

 
A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supple- 

mentary Conditions, Contractor shall obtain and pay for 
all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist 
Contractor, when necessary, in obtaining such  permits 
and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental 
charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution 
of the Work which are applicable at the time of opening 
of Bids, or, if there are no Bids, on the Effective Date of 
the Agreement. Owner shall pay all charges of utility 
owners for connections for providing permanent service 
to the Work. 

 
6.09 Laws and Regulations 

 
A. Contractor shall give all notices required by 

and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations applica- 
ble to the performance of the Work. Except where 
otherwise expressly required by applicable Laws and 
Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be 
responsible for monitoring Contractor’s compliance with 
any Laws or Regulations. 

 
B. If Contractor performs any Work knowing or 

having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or 
Regulations, Contractor shall bear all claims,  costs, 
losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees 
and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work. 
However, it shall not be Contractor’s primary 
responsibility to make certain that the Specifications and 
Drawings are in accordance with Laws and Regulations, 
but this shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor’s 
obligations under Paragraph 3.03. 

 
C. Changes in Laws or Regulations not known at 

the time of opening of Bids (or, on the Effective Date of 
the Agreement if there were no Bids) having an effect on 
the cost or time of performance of the Work shall be the 
subject of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract 
Times. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on 
entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any 
such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 20 

 

 
6.10 Taxes 

 
A. Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, 

and other similar taxes required to be paid by Contractor 
in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place 
of the Project which are applicable during the 
performance of the Work. 

 
6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas 

 
A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas 

 
1. Contractor shall confine construction equip- 

ment, the storage of materials and equipment, and the 
operations of workers to the Site and other  areas 
permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not 
unreasonably encumber the Site and other areas with 
construction equipment or other materials or equipment. 
Contractor shall assume full responsibility for  any 
damage to any such land or area, or to the owner or 
occupant thereof, or of any adjacent land or areas 
resulting from the performance of the Work. 

 
2. Should any claim be made by any such owner 

or occupant because of the performance of the Work, 
Contractor shall promptly settle with such other party by 
negotiation or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration 
or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law. 

 
3. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 

Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them from and against 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, 
brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, 
Engineer, or any other party indemnified hereunder to the 
extent caused by or based upon Contractor's performance 
of the Work. 

 
B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the 

Work: During the progress of the Work Contractor shall 
keep the Site and other areas free from accumulations of 
waste materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and 
disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other debris 
shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 

 
C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of 

the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and the Work 
and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the com- 
pletion of the Work Contractor shall remove from the Site 
all tools, appliances, construction equipment and 
machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to 
original condition all property not designated for 
alteration by the Contract Documents. 

D. Loading Structures: Contractor shall not load 
nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any 
manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall 
Contractor subject any part of the Work or adjacent 
property to stresses or pressures that will endanger it. 

 
6.12 Record Documents 

 
A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the 

Site one record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, 
Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field 
Orders, and written interpretations and clarifications in 
good order and annotated to show changes made during 
construction. These record documents together with all 
approved Samples and a counterpart of all approved Shop 
Drawings will be available to Engineer for reference. 
Upon completion of the Work, these record documents, 
Samples, and Shop Drawings will be delivered to Engi- 
neer for Owner. 

 
6.13 Safety and Protection 

 
A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for 

initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precau- 
tions and programs in connection with the Work. 
Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the 
safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to 
prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

 
1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected 

by the Work; 
 

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to 
be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the 
Site; and 

 
3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, 

including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, 
roadways, structures, utilities, and Underground Facilities 
not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in 
the course of construction. 

 
B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable 

Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of persons or 
property, or to the protection of persons or property from 
damage, injury, or loss; and shall erect and maintain all 
necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. 
Contractor shall notify owners of adjacent property and of 
Underground Facilities and other utility owners when 
prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall 
cooperate with them in the protection, removal, 
relocation, and replacement of their property. 

 
C. All damage, injury, or loss to any property 

referred to in Paragraph 6.13.A.2 or 6.13.A.3 caused, 
directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, 
any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any other individual or 
entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to 
perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of 
them may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor 
(except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Draw- 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 21 

 

ings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of 
Owner or Engineer or , or anyone employed by any of 
them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may  be 
liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor or any 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them). 

 
D. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for 

safety and for protection of the Work shall continue until 
such time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has 
issued a notice to Owner and Contractor in accordance 
with Paragraph 14.07.B that the Work is acceptable 
(except as otherwise expressly provided in connection 
with Substantial Completion). 

 
6.14 Safety Representative 

 
A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and 

experienced safety representative at the Site whose duties 
and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents 
and the maintaining and supervising of safety precautions 
and programs. 

 
6.15 Hazard Communication Programs 

 
A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordi- 

nating any exchange of material safety data sheets or 
other hazard communication information required to be 
made available to or exchanged between or among 
employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or 
Regulations. 

 
6.16 Emergencies 

 
A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protec- 

tion of persons or the Work or property at the Site or 
adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent 
threatened damage, injury, or loss. Contractor shall give 
Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that 
any significant changes in the Work or variations from the 
Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are 
required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a 
change in the Contract Documents is required because of 
the action taken by Contractor in response to such an 
emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order 
will be issued. 

 
6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples 

 
A. Contractor shall submit Shop Drawings and 

Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accor- 
dance with the acceptable Schedule of Submittals (as 
required by Paragraph 2.07). Each submittal will be 
identified as Engineer may require. 

 
1. Shop Drawings 

 
a. Submit number of copies specified in the 
General Requirements. 

b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be 
complete with respect to quantities, dimensions, 
specified performance and design criteria, 
materials, and similar data to show Engineer the 
services, materials, and equipment Contractor 
proposes to provide and to enable Engineer to 
review the information for the limited purposes 
required by Paragraph 6.17.D. 

 
2. Samples: Contractor shall also submit 

Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accor- 
dance with the acceptable schedule of Shop Drawings and 
Sample submittals. 

 
a. Submit number of Samples specified in the 
Specifications. 

 
b. Clearly identify each Sample as to material, 
Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers, 
the use for which intended and other data as 
Engineer may require to enable Engineer to 
review the submittal for the limited purposes 
required by Paragraph 6.17.D. 

 
B. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required 

by the Contract Documents or the Schedule of Submittals 
, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s review 
and approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole 
expense and responsibility of Contractor. 

 
C. Submittal Procedures 

 
1. Before submitting each Shop Drawing or 

Sample, Contractor shall have determined and verified: 
 

a. all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, 
specified performance and design criteria, 
installation requirements, materials, catalog 
numbers, and similar information with respect 
thereto; 

 
b. the suitability of all materials with respect to 
intended use, fabrication, shipping, handling, 
storage, assembly, and installation pertaining to 
the performance of the Work; 

 
c. all information relative to Contractor’s 
responsibilities for means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction, and 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto; 
and 

 
d. shall also have reviewed and coordinated each 
Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop 
Drawings and Samples and with the 
requirements of the Work and the Contract 
Documents. 

 
2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific 

written certification that Contractor has satisfied 
Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 22 

 

with respect to Contractor’s review and approval of that 
submittal. 

 
3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give 

Engineer specific written notice of any variations, that the 
Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements 
of the Contract Documents. This notice shall be both a 
written communication separate from the Shop Drawing’s 
or Sample Submittal; and, in addition, by a specific 
notation made on each Shop Drawing or Sample submit- 
ted to Engineer for review and approval of each such 
variation. 

 
D. Engineer’s Review 

 
1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop 

Drawings and Samples in accordance with the Schedule 
of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer’s review 
and approval will be only to determine if the items 
covered by the submittals will, after installation or 
incorporation in the Work, conform to the information 
given in the Contract Documents and be compatible with 
the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Docu- 
ments. 

 
2. Engineer’s review and approval will not 

extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 
procedures of construction (except where a particular 
means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of con- 
struction is specifically and expressly called for by the 
Contract Documents) or to safety precautions or programs 
incident thereto. The review and approval of a separate 
item as such will not indicate approval of the assembly in 
which the item functions. 

 
3. Engineer’s review and approval shall not 

relieve Contractor from responsibility for any variation 
from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless 
Contractor has complied with the requirements of 
Paragraph 6.17.C.3 and Engineer has given written 
approval of each such variation by specific written 
notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the 
Shop Drawing or Sample. Engineer’s review and approval 
shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for 
complying with the requirements of Paragraph 6.17.C.1. 

 
E. Resubmittal Procedures 

 
1. Contractor shall make corrections required by 

Engineer and shall return the required number of cor- 
rected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, 
new Samples for review and approval. Contractor shall 
direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than 
the corrections called for by Engineer on previous 
submittals. 

 
6.18 Continuing the Work 

 
A. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere 

to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or 

disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or 
postponed pending resolution of any disputes or 
disagreements, except as permitted by Paragraph 15.04 or 
as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing. 

 
6.19 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

 
A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner 

that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract 
Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its 
Related Entities shall be entitled to rely on representation 
of Contractor’s warranty and guarantee. 

 
B. Contractor’s warranty and guarantee 

hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by: 
 

1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance 
or operation by persons other than Contractor, Sub- 
contractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for 
whom Contractor is responsible; or 

 
2. normal wear and tear under normal usage. 

 
C. Contractor’s obligation to perform and 

complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will 
constitute an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance 
with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor’s 
obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents: 

 
1. observations by Engineer; 

 
2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by 

Owner of any progress or final payment; 
 

3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial 
Completion by Engineer or any payment related thereto 
by Owner; 

 
4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part 

thereof by Owner; 
 

5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or 
Sample submittal or the issuance of a notice of acceptabil- 
ity by Engineer; 

 
6. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or 

 
7. any correction of defective Work by Owner. 

 
6.20 Indemnification 

 
A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 

Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them from and against 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 23 

 

arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that 
any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to 
bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or 
destruction of tangible property (other than the Work 
itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but 
only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission 
of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any 
individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any 
of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose 
acts any of them may be liable . 

 
B. In any and all claims against Owner or 

Engineer or any of their respective consultants, agents, 
officers, directors, partners, or employees by any employ- 
ee (or the survivor or personal representative of such 
employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any 
Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the 
indemnification obligation under Paragraph 6.20.A shall 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount 
or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or 
other individual or entity under workers’ compensation 
acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit 
acts. 

 
C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor 

under Paragraph 6.20.A shall not extend to the liability of 
Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, partners, 

shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, 
certifications, Shop Drawings and other submittals 
prepared by such professional. Shop Drawings and other 
submittals related to the Work designed or certified by 
such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such 
professional’s written approval when submitted to 
Engineer. 

 
C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely 

upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the 
services, certifications or approvals performed by such 
design professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have 
specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria 
that such services must satisfy. 

 
D. Pursuant to this Paragraph 6.21, Engineer’s 

review and approval of design calculations and design 
drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking 
for conformance with performance and design criteria 
given and the design concept expressed in the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s review and approval of Shop 
Drawings and other submittals (except design calculations 
and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated 
in Paragraph 6.17.D.1. 

 
E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the 

adequacy of the performance or design criteria required 
by the Contract Documents. 

 
 

ARTICLE 7 - OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors arising                                                                                                             
out of: 

 
1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to 

prepare or approve, maps, Drawings, opinions, reports, 
surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or 

 
2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to 

give them, if that is the primary cause of the injury or 
damage. 

 
6.21 Delegation of Professional Design Services 

 
A. Contractor will not be required to provide 

professional design services unless such services are 
specifically required by the Contract Documents for a 
portion of the Work or unless such services are required 
to carry out Contractor’s responsibilities for construction 
means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. 
Contractor shall not be required to provide professional 
services in violation of applicable law. 

 
B. If professional design services or 

certifications by a design professional related to systems, 
materials or equipment are specifically required of 
Contractor by the Contract Documents, Owner and 
Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria 
that such services must satisfy. Contractor shall cause 
such services or certifications to be provided by a 
properly licensed professional, whose signature and seal 

7.01 Related Work at Site 
 

A. Owner may perform other work related to the 
Project at the Site with Owner’s employees, or via other 
direct contracts therefor, or have other work performed by 
utility owners. If such other work is not noted in the Con- 
tract Documents, then: 

 
1. written notice thereof will be given to 

Contractor prior to starting any such other work; and 
 

2. if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree 
on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of 
any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times 
that should be allowed as a result of such other work, a 
Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 
10.05. 

 
B. Contractor shall afford each other contractor 

who is a party to such a direct contract, each utility owner 
and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with 
Owner’s employees, proper and safe access to the Site, a 
reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of 
materials and equipment and the execution of such other 
work, and shall properly coordinate the Work with theirs. 
Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the 
Work that may be required to properly connect or 
otherwise make its several parts come together and 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 24 

 

properly integrate  with  such other work. Contractor shall ARTICLE 8 - OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating,                                                                                                              
or otherwise altering their work and will only cut or alter 
their work with the written consent of Engineer and the 
others whose work will be affected. The duties and 
responsibilities of Contractor under this Paragraph are for 
the benefit of such utility owners and other contractors to 
the extent that there are comparable provisions for the 
benefit of Contractor in said direct contracts between 
Owner and such utility owners and other contractors. 

 
C. If the proper execution or results of any part 

of Contractor’s Work depends upon work performed by 
others under this Article 7, Contractor shall inspect such 
other work and promptly report to Engineer in writing any 
delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that 
render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper 
execution and results of Contractor’s Work. Contractor’s 
failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such 
other work as fit and proper for integration with 
Contractor’s Work except for latent defects and 
deficiencies in such other work. 

 
7.02 Coordination 

 
A. If Owner intends to contract with others for 

the performance of other work on the Project at the Site, 
the following will be set forth in Supplementary Condi- 
tions: 

 
1. the individual or entity who will have 

authority and responsibility for coordination of the 
activities among the various contractors will be identified; 

 
2. the specific matters to be covered by such 

authority and responsibility will be itemized; and 
 

3. the extent of such authority and responsibili- 
ties will be provided. 

 
B. Unless otherwise provided in the 

Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole 
authority and responsibility for such coordination. 

 
7.03 Legal Relationships 

 
A. Paragraphs 7.01.A and 7.02 are not applicable 

for utilities not under the control of Owner. 
 

B. Each other direct contract of Owner under 
Paragraph 7.01.A shall provide that the other contractor is 
liable to Owner and Contractor for the reasonable direct 
delay and disruption costs incurred by Contractor as a 
result of the other contractor’s actions or inactions. 

 
C. Contractor shall be liable to Owner and any 

other contractor for the reasonable direct delay and 
disruption costs incurred by such other contractor as a 
result of Contractor’s action or inactions. 

8.01 Communications to Contractor 
 

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General 
Conditions, Owner shall issue all communications to 
Contractor through Engineer. 

 
8.02 Replacement of Engineer 

 
A. In case of termination of the employment of 

Engineer, Owner shall appoint an engineer to whom 
Contractor makes no reasonable objection, whose status 
under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former 
Engineer. 

 
8.03 Furnish Data 

 
A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data 

required of Owner under the Contract Documents. 
 

8.04 Pay When Due 
 

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor 
when they are due as provided in Paragraphs 14.02.C and 
14.07.C. 

 
8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests 

 
A. Owner’s duties in respect of providing lands 

and easements and providing engineering surveys to 
establish reference points are set forth in Paragraphs 4.01 
and 4.05. Paragraph 4.02 refers to Owner’s identifying 
and making available to Contractor copies of reports of 
explorations and tests of subsurface conditions and 
drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing 
surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the 
Site that have been utilized by Engineer in preparing the 
Contract Documents. 

 
8.06 Insurance 

 
A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, in respect to 

purchasing and maintaining liability and property insur- 
ance are set forth in Article 5. 

 
8.07 Change Orders 

 
A. Owner is obligated to execute Change Orders 

as indicated in Paragraph 10.03. 
 

8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 
 

A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to certain 
inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in Paragraph 
13.03.B. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 25 

 

8.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities 
 

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have 
control or authority over, nor be responsible for, 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 
procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor 
to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the 
performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible 
for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental 
Condition 

 
A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undis- 

closed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set forth in 
Paragraph 4.06. 

 
8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 

 
A. If and to the extent Owner has agreed to 

furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that financial 
arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner’s 
obligations under the Contract Documents, Owner’s 
responsibility in respect thereof will be as set forth in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

 
 

ARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING 
CONSTRUCTION 

 

 
9.01 Owner’s Representative 

 
A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative 

during the construction period. The duties and responsi- 
bilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as 
Owner’s representative during construction are set forth  
in the Contract Documents and will not be changed 
without written consent of Owner and Engineer. 

 
9.02 Visits to Site 

 
A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at inter- 

vals appropriate to the various stages of construction as 
Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an 
experienced and qualified design professional the 
progress that has been made and the quality of the various 
aspects of Contractor’s executed Work. Based on 
information obtained during such visits and observations, 
Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in 
general, if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. Engineer will not be required to 
make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to 
check the quality or quantity of the Work. Engineer’s 
efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a 
greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will 
conform generally to the Contract Documents. On the 
basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep 

Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will 
endeavor to guard Owner against defective Work. 

 
B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject 

to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority and 
responsibility set forth in Paragraph 9.09. Particularly, but 
without limitation, during or as a result of Engineer's 
visits or observations of Contractor's Work Engineer will 
not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be 
responsible for Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any 
failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and 
Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. 

 
9.03 Project Representative 

 
A. If Owner and Engineer agree, Engineer will 

furnish a Resident Project Representative to assist 
Engineer in providing more extensive observation of the 
Work. The authority and responsibilities of any such 
Resident Project Representative and assistants will be as 
provided in the Supplementary Conditions, and 
limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as 
provided in Paragraph 9.09. If Owner designates another 
representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who 
is not Engineer’s consultant, agent or employee, the 
responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of 
such other individual or entity will be as provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

 
9.04 Authorized Variations in Work 

 
A. Engineer may authorize minor variations in 

the Work from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents which do not involve an adjustment in the 
Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible 
with the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Docu- 
ments. These may be accomplished by a Field Order and 
will be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, who 
shall perform the Work involved promptly. If Owner or 
Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an 
adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or 
both, and the parties are unable to agree on entitlement to 
or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment 
, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 
10.05. 

 
9.05 Rejecting Defective Work 

 
A. Engineer will have authority to reject Work 

which Engineer believes to be defective, or that Engineer 
believes will not produce a completed Project that 
conforms to the Contract Documents or that will prejudice 
the integrity of the design concept of the completed 
Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the 
Contract Documents. Engineer will also have authority to 
require special inspection or testing of the Work as 
provided in Paragraph 13.04, whether or not the Work is 
fabricated, installed, or completed. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 26 

 

 
9.06 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments 

 
A. In connection with Engineer’s authority, and 

limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, see 
Paragraph 6.17. 

 
B. In connection with Engineer’s authority, and 

limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design 
drawings submitted in response to a delegation of 
professional design services, if any, see Paragraph 6.21. 

 
C. In connection with Engineer’s authority as to 

Change Orders, see Articles 10, 11, and 12. 
 

D. In connection with Engineer’s authority as to 
Applications for Payment, see Article 14. 

 
9.07 Determinations for Unit Price Work 

 
A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities 

and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by 
Contractor. Engineer will review with Contractor the 
Engineer’s preliminary determinations on such matters 
before rendering a written decision thereon (by 
recommendation of an Application for Payment or 
otherwise). Engineer’s written decision thereon will be 
final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to 
reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate data) 
upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of 
Paragraph 10.05. 

 
9.08 Decisions on Requirements of Contract 
Documents and Acceptability of Work 

 
A. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the 

requirements of the Contract Documents and judge of the 
acceptability of the Work thereunder. All matters in 
question and other matters between Owner and Contractor 
arising prior to the date final payment is due relating to 
the acceptability of the Work, and the interpretation of the 
requirements of the Contract Documents pertaining to the 
performance of the Work, will be referred initially to 
Engineer in writing within 30 days of the event giving rise 
to the question 

 
B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, 

render a written decision on the issue referred. If Owner 
or Contractor believe that any such decision entitles them 
to an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times 
or both, a Claim may be made under Paragraph 10.05. 
The date of Engineer’s decision shall be the date of the 

partiality to Owner or Contractor and will not be liable in 
connection with any interpretation or decision rendered in 
good faith in such capacity. 

 
9.09 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and 
Responsibilities 

 
A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility 

under this Article 9 or under any other provision of the 
Contract Documents nor any decision made by Engineer 
in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such 
authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or 
performance of any authority or responsibility by 
Engineer shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in 
contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to 
Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other 
individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or 
agent of any of them. 

 
B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or 

have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of 
construction, or the safety precautions and programs 
incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the 
performance of the Work. Engineer will not be respon- 
sible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts 

or omissions of Contractor or of any Subcontractor, any 
Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing 
any of the Work. 

 
D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for 

Payment and accompanying documentation and all 
maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, 
guarantees, bonds, certificates of inspection, tests and 
approvals, and other documentation required to be 
delivered by Paragraph 14.07.A will only be to determine 
generally that their content complies with the require- 
ments of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, 
tests, and approvals that the results certified indicate 
compliance with the Contract Documents. 

 
E. The limitations upon authority and responsi- 

bility set forth in this Paragraph 9.09 shall also apply to, 
the Resident Project Representative, if any, and assistants, 
if any. 

 
 

ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS 
event giving rise to the issues referenced for the purposes                                                                                                              
of Paragraph 10.05.B. 

 
C. Engineer’s written decision on the issue 

referred will be final and binding on Owner and 
Contractor, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 10.05. 

 
D. When functioning as interpreter and judge 

under this Paragraph 9.08, Engineer will not show 

10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work 
 

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without 
notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or from time 
to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the 
Work by a Change Order, or a Work Change Directive. 
Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 27 

 

promptly proceed with the Work involved which will be 
performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract 
Documents (except as otherwise specifically provided). 

 
B. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree 

on entitlement to, or on the amount or extent, if any, of an 
adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or 
both, that should be allowed as a result of a Work Change 
Directive, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in 
Paragraph 10.05. 

 
10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work 

 
A.Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase 

in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract 
Times with respect to any work performed that is not 
required by the Contract Documents as amended, 
modified, or supplemented as provided in Paragraph 3.04, 
except in the case of an emergency as provided in 
Paragraph 6.16 or in the case of uncovering Work as 
provided in Paragraph 13.04.B. 

 
10.03 Execution of Change Orders 

 
A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropri- 

ate Change Orders recommended by Engineer covering: 
 

1. changes in the Work which are: (i) ordered by 
Owner pursuant to Paragraph 10.01.A, (ii) required 
because of acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 
13.08.A or Owner’s correction of defective Work under 
Paragraph 13.09, or (iii) agreed to by the parties; 

 
2. changes in the Contract Price or Contract 

Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any 
undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually 
performed in accordance with a Work Change Directive; 
and 

 
3. changes in the Contract Price or Contract 

Times which embody the substance of any written 
decision rendered by Engineer pursuant to Paragraph 
10.05; provided that, in lieu of executing any such  
Change Order, an appeal may be taken from any such 
decision in accordance with the provisions of the Contract 
Documents and applicable Laws and Regulations, but 
during any such appeal, Contractor shall carry on the 
Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule as provided in 
Paragraph 6.18.A. 

 
10.04 Notification to Surety 

 
A. If notice of any change affecting the general 

scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract 
Documents (including, but not limited to, Contract Price 
or Contract Times) is required by the provisions of any 
bond to be given to a surety, the giving of any such notice 
will be Contractor’s responsibility. The amount of each 
applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of 
any such change. 

10.05 Claims 
 

A. Engineer’s Decision Required: All Claims, 
except those waived pursuant to Paragraph 14.09, shall be 
referred to the Engineer for decision. A decision by 
Engineer shall be required as a condition precedent to any 
exercise by Owner or Contractor of any rights or remedies 
either may otherwise have under the Contract Documents 
or by Laws and Regulations in respect of such Claims. 

 
B. Notice: Written notice stating the general 

nature of each Claim, shall be delivered by the claimant to 
Engineer and the other party to the Contract promptly (but 
in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event 
giving rise thereto. The responsibility to substantiate a 
Claim shall rest with the party making the Claim. Notice 
of the amount or extent of the Claim, with supporting data 
shall be delivered to the Engineer and the other party to 
the Contract within 60 days after the start of such event 
(unless Engineer allows additional time for claimant to 
submit additional or more accurate data in support of such 
Claim). A Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price shall 
be prepared in accordance with the provisions of 
Paragraph 12.01.B. A Claim for an adjustment in Contract 
Time shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions 
of Paragraph 12.02.B. Each Claim shall be accompanied 
by claimant's written statement that the adjustment 
claimed is the entire adjustment to which the claimant 
believes it is entitled as a result of said event. The 
opposing party shall submit any response to Engineer and 
the claimant within 30 days after receipt of the claimant’s 
last submittal (unless Engineer allows additional time). 

 
C. Engineer’s Action: Engineer will review each 

Claim and, within 30 days after receipt of the last 
submittal of the claimant or the last submittal of the 
opposing party, if any, take one of the following actions 
in writing: 

 
1. deny the Claim in whole or in part, 

 
2. approve the Claim, or 

 
3. notify the parties that the Engineer is unable to 

resolve the Claim if, in the Engineer’s sole discretion, it 
would be inappropriate for the Engineer to do so. For 
purposes of further resolution of the Claim, such notice 
shall be deemed a denial. 

 
D. In the event that Engineer does not take action 

on a Claim within said 30 days, the Claim shall be 
deemed denied. 

 
E. Engineer’s written action under Paragraph 

10.05.C or denial pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 
10.05.D will be final and binding upon Owner and 
Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor invoke the 
dispute resolution procedure set forth in Article 16 within 
30 days of such action or denial. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 28 

 

F. No Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price 
or Contract Times will be valid if not submitted in 
accordance with this Paragraph 10.05. 

 
 

ARTICLE 11 - COST OF THE WORK; 
ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

 

 
11.01 Cost of the Work 

 
A. Costs Included: The term Cost of the Work 

means the sum of all costs, except those excluded in 
Paragraph 11.01.B, necessarily incurred and paid by 
Contractor in the proper performance of the Work. When 
the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or 
when a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is 
determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, the costs to 
be reimbursed to Contractor will be only those additional 
or incremental costs required because of the change in the 
Work or because of the event giving rise to the Claim. 
Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by 
Owner, such costs shall be in amounts no higher than 
those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall include 
only the following items, and shall not include any of the 
costs itemized in Paragraph 11.01.B. 

 
1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct 

employ of Contractor in the performance of the Work 
under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by 
Owner and Contractor. Such employees shall include, 
without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other 
personnel employed full time at the Site. Payroll costs for 
employees not employed full time on the Work shall be 
apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. 
Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries 
and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall 
include social security contributions, unemployment, 
excise, and payroll taxes, workers’ compensation, health 
and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, vacation and 
holiday pay applicable thereto. The expenses of 
performing Work outside of regular working hours, on 
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in 
the above to the extent authorized by Owner. 

 
2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished 

and incorporated in the Work, including costs of 
transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field 
services required in connection therewith. All cash 
discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner 
deposits funds with Contractor with which to make pay- 
ments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to 
Owner. All trade discounts, rebates and refunds and 
returns from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall 
accrue to Owner, and Contractor shall make provisions so 
that they may be obtained. 

 
3. Payments made by Contractor to 

Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If 
required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive 
bids from subcontractors acceptable to Owner and 

Contractor and shall deliver such bids to Owner, who will 
then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, 
if any, will be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that 
the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the 
Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work 
and fee shall be determined in the same manner as 
Contractor’s Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this 
Paragraph 11.01. 

 
4. Costs of special consultants (including but not 

limited to Engineers, architects, testing laboratories, 
surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for 
services specifically related to the Work. 

 
5. Supplemental costs including the following: 

 
a. The proportion of necessary transportation, 
travel, and subsistence expenses of Contractor’s 
employees incurred in discharge of duties 
connected with the Work. 

 
b. Cost, including transportation and mainte- 
nance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, 
machinery, appliances, office, and temporary 
facilities at the Site, and hand tools not owned by 
the workers, which are consumed in the perfor- 
mance of the Work, and cost, less market value, 
of such items used but not consumed which 
remain the property of Contractor. 

 
c. Rentals of all construction equipment and 
machinery, and the parts thereof whether rented 
from Contractor or others in accordance with 
rental agreements approved by Owner with the 
advice of Engineer, and the costs of 
transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, 
dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs 
shall be in accordance with the terms of said 
rental agreements. The rental of any such equip- 
ment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the 
use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work. 

 
d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes 
related to the Work, and for which Contractor is 
liable, imposed by Laws and Regulations. 

 
e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence 
of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them or 
for whose acts any of them may be liable, and 
royalty payments and fees for permits and 
licenses. 

 
f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) 
caused by damage to the Work, not compensated 
by insurance or otherwise, sustained by 
Contractor in connection with the performance 
of the Work (except losses and damages within 
the deductible amounts of property insurance 
established in accordance with Paragraph 
5.06.D), provided such losses and damages have 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 29 

 

resulted from causes other than the negligence of 
Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them or 
for whose acts any of them may be liable. Such 
losses shall include settlements made with the 
written consent and approval of Owner. No such 
losses, damages, and expenses shall be included 
in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of 
determining Contractor’s fee. 

 
g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary 
facilities at the Site. 

 
h. Minor expenses such as telegrams, long 
distance telephone calls, telephone service at the 
Site, expresses, and similar petty cash items in 
connection with the Work. 

 
i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and 
insurance Contractor is required by the Contract 
Documents to purchase and maintain. 

 
B. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work 

shall not include any of the following items: 
 

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of 
Contractor’s officers, executives, principals (of 
partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, 
safety managers, engineers, architects, estimators, attor- 
neys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting 
agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other 
personnel employed by Contractor, whether at the Site or 
in Contractor’s principal or branch office for general 
administration of the Work and not specifically included 
in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred 
to in Paragraph 11.01.A.1 or specifically covered by 
Paragraph 11.01.A.4, all of which are to be considered 
administrative costs covered by the Contractor’s fee. 

 
2. Expenses of Contractor’s principal and branch 

offices other than Contractor’s office at the Site. 
 

3. Any part of Contractor’s capital expenses, 
including interest on Contractor’s capital employed for 
the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent 
payments. 

 
4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any 

Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed 
by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be 
liable, including but not limited to, the correction of 
defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment 
wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to 
property. 

 
5. Other overhead or general expense costs of 

any kind and the costs of any item not specifically and 
expressly included in Paragraphs 11.01.A and 11.01.B. 

 
C. Contractor’s Fee: When all the Work is 

performed on the basis of cost-plus, Contractor’s fee shall 

be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the 
value of any Work covered by a Change Order or when a 
Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is determined 
on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor’s fee shall be 
determined as set forth in Paragraph 12.01.C. 

 
D. Documentation: Whenever the Cost of the 

Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to 
Paragraphs 11.01.A and 11.01.B, Contractor will establish 
and maintain records thereof in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices and submit in a form 
acceptable to Engineer an itemized cost breakdown 
together with supporting data. 

 
11.02 Allowances 

 
A. It is understood that Contractor has included 

in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the 
Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered 
to be performed for such sums and by such persons or 
entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

 
B. Cash Allowances 

 
1. Contractor agrees that: 

 
a. the cash allowances include the cost to 
Contractor (less any applicable trade discounts) 
of materials and equipment required by the 
allowances to be delivered at the Site, and all 
applicable taxes; and 

 
b. Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling 
on the Site, labor, installation , overhead, profit, 
and other expenses contemplated for the cash 
allowances have been included in the Contract 
Price and not in the allowances, and no demand 
for additional payment on account of any of the 
foregoing will be valid. 

 
C. Contingency Allowance 

 
1. Contractor agrees that a contingency 

allowance, if any, is for the sole use of Owner to cover 
unanticipated costs. 

 
D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change 

Order will be issued as recommended by Engineer to 
reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work 
covered by allowances, and the Contract Price shall be 
correspondingly adjusted. 

 
11.03 Unit Price Work 

 
A. Where the Contract Documents provide that 

all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially 
the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit 
Price Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price 
for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work 
times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in 
the Agreement. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 30 

 

 
B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit 

Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the 
purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial 
Contract Price. Determinations of the actual quantities 
and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by 
Contractor will be made by Engineer subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph 9.07. 

 
C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an 

amount considered by Contractor to be adequate to cover 
Contractor’s overhead and profit for each separately 
identified item. 

 
D. Owner or Contractor may make a Claim for 

an adjustment in the Contract Price in accordance with 
Paragraph 10.05 if: 

 
1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work 

performed by Contractor differs materially and signifi- 
cantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated 
in the Agreement; and 

 
2. there is no corresponding adjustment with 

respect any other item of Work; and 
 

3. Contractor believes that Contractor is entitled 
to an increase in Contract Price as a result of having 
incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner 
is entitled to a decrease in Contract Price and the parties 
are unable to agree as to the amount of any such increase 
or decrease. 

 
 

ARTICLE 12 - CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; 
CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES 

 

 
12.01 Change of Contract Price 

 
A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a 

Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the 
Contract Price shall be based on written notice submitted 
by the party making the Claim to the Engineer and the 
other party to the Contract in accordance with the 
provisions of Paragraph 10.05. 

 
B. The value of any Work covered by a Change 

Order or of any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract 
Price will be determined as follows: 

 
1. where the Work involved is covered by unit 

prices contained in the Contract Documents, by applica- 
tion of such unit prices to the quantities of the items 
involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 11.03);  
or 

allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in 
accordance with Paragraph 12.01.C.2); or 

 
3. where the Work involved is not covered by 

unit prices contained in the Contract Documents and 
agreement to a lump sum is not reached under Paragraph 
12.01.B.2, on the basis of the Cost of the Work 
(determined as provided in Paragraph 11.01) plus a 
Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit (determined as 
provided in Paragraph 12.01.C). 

 
C. Contractor’s Fee: The Contractor’s fee for 

overhead and profit shall be determined as follows: 
 

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or 
 

2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee 
based on the following percentages of the various portions 
of the Cost of the Work: 

 
a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 
and 11.01.A.2, the Contractor’s fee shall be 15 
percent; 

 
b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 11.01.A.3, 
the Contractor’s fee shall be five percent; 

 
c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on 
the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee and no 
fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraph 
12.01.C.2.a is that the Subcontractor who 
actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, will 
be paid a fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred 
by such Subcontractor under Paragraphs 
11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2 and that any higher tier 
Subcontractor and Contractor will each be paid a 
fee of five percent of the amount paid to the next 
lower tier Subcontractor; 

 
d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs 
itemized under Paragraphs 11.01.A.4, 11.01.A.5, 
and 11.01.B; 

 
e. the amount of credit to be allowed by 
Contractor to Owner for any change which 
results in a net decrease in cost will be the 
amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a 
deduction in Contractor’s fee by an amount equal 
to five percent of such net decrease; and 

 
f. when both additions and credits are involved 
in any one change, the adjustment in 
Contractor’s fee shall be computed on the basis 
of the net change in accordance with Paragraphs 
12.01.C.2.a through 12.01.C.2.e, inclusive. 

 
12.02 Change of Contract Times 

2. where the Work involved is not covered by 
unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by a 
mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an 

 
A. The Contract Times may only be changed by 

a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the 
Contract Times shall be based on written notice submitted 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 31 

 

by the party making the Claim to the Engineer and the 
other party to the Contract in accordance with the 
provisions of Paragraph 10.05. 

 
B. Any adjustment of the Contract Times 

 
 

ARTICLE 13 - TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; 
CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF 
DEFECTIVE WORK 

covered by a Change Order or any Claim for an    
adjustment in the Contract Times will be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of this Article 12. 

 
12.03 Delays 

 
A. Where Contractor is prevented from 

completing any part of the Work within the Contract 
Times due to delay beyond the control of Contractor, the 
Contract Times will be extended in an amount equal to 
the time lost due to such delay if a Claim is made therefor 
as provided in Paragraph 12.02.A. Delays beyond the 
control of Contractor shall include, but not be limited to, 
acts or neglect by Owner, acts or neglect of utility owners 
or other contractors performing other work as contemplat- 
ed by Article 7, fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal 
weather conditions, or acts of God. 

 
B. If Owner, Engineer, or other contractors or 

utility owners performing other work for Owner as 
contemplated by Article 7, or anyone for whom Owner is 
responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the 
performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor 
shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract 
Price or the Contract Times , or both. Contractor’s 
entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is 
conditioned on such adjustment being essential to 
Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the 
Contract Times. 

 
C If Contractor is delayed in the performance or 

progress of the Work by fire, flood, epidemic, abnormal 
weather conditions, acts of God, acts or failures to act of 
utility owners not under the control of Owner, or other 
causes not the fault of and beyond control of Owner and 
Contractor, then Contractor shall be entitled to an 
equitable adjustment in Contract Times, if such 
adjustment is essential to Contractor’s ability to complete 
the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment 
shall be Contractor’s sole and exclusive remedy for the 
delays described in this Paragraph 12.03.C. 

 
D. Owner, Engineer and the Related Entities of 

each of them shall not be liable to Contractor for any 
claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of Engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by 
Contractor on or in connection with any other project or 
anticipated project. 

 
E. Contractor shall not be entitled to an 

adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delays 
within the control of Contractor. Delays attributable to 
and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall 
be deemed to be delays within the control of Contractor. 

13.01 Notice of Defects 
 

A. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which 
Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to 
Contractor. All defective Work may be rejected, 
corrected, or accepted as provided in this Article 13. 

 
13.02 Access to Work 

 
A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other 

representatives and personnel of Owner, independent 
testing laboratories, and governmental agencies with 
jurisdictional interests will have access to the Site and the 
Work at reasonable times for their observation, 
inspecting, and testing. Contractor shall provide them 
proper and safe conditions for such access and advise 
them of Contractor’s Site safety procedures and programs 
so that they may comply therewith as applicable. 

 
13.03 Tests and Inspections 

 
A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice 

of readiness of the Work for all required  inspections, 
tests, or approvals and shall cooperate with inspection and 
testing personnel to facilitate required inspections or tests. 

 
B. Owner shall employ and pay for the services 

of an independent testing laboratory to perform all 
inspections, tests, or approvals required by the Contract 
Documents except: 

 
1. for inspections, tests, or approvals covered by 

Paragraphs 13.03.C and 13.03.D below; 
 

2. that costs incurred in connection with tests or 
inspections conducted pursuant to Paragraph 13.04.B 
shall be paid as provided in said Paragraph 13.04.C; and 

 
3. as otherwise specifically provided in the Con- 

tract Documents. 
 

C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body 
having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) 
specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an 
employee or other representative of such public body, 
Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging 
and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all 
costs in connection therewith, and furnish Engineer the 
required certificates of inspection or approval. 

 
D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging 

and obtaining and shall pay all costs in connection with 
any inspections, tests, or approvals required for Owner’s 
and Engineer’s acceptance of materials or equipment to 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 32 

 

be incorporated in the Work; or acceptance of materials, 
mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to 
Contractor’s purchase thereof for incorporation in the 
Work. Such inspections, tests, or approvals shall be 
performed by organizations acceptable to Owner and 
Engineer. 

 
E. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to 

be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Contractor 
without written concurrence of Engineer, it must, if 
requested by Engineer, be uncovered for observation. 

 
F. Uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 

13.03.E shall be at Contractor’s expense  unless 
Contractor has given Engineer timely notice of 
Contractor’s intention to cover the same and Engineer has 
not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such 
notice. 

 
13.04 Uncovering Work 

 
A. If any Work is covered contrary to the written 

request of Engineer, it must, if requested by Engineer, be 
uncovered for Engineer’s observation and replaced at 
Contractor’s expense. 

 
B. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable 

that covered Work be observed by Engineer or inspected 
or tested by others, Contractor, at Engineer’s request, 
shall uncover, expose, or otherwise make available for 
observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may 
require, that portion of the Work in question, furnishing 
all necessary labor, material, and equipment. 

 
C. If it is found that the uncovered Work is 

defective, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such 
uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and 
testing, and of satisfactory replacement or reconstruction 
(including but not limited to all costs of repair or 
replacement of work of others); and Owner shall be 
entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price. If 
the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, 
Owner may make a Claim therefor as provided in 
Paragraph 10.05. 

 
D. If, the uncovered Work is not found to be 

defective, Contractor shall be allowed an increase in the 
Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or 
both, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, 
observation, inspection, testing, replacement, and 
reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the 
amount or extent thereof, Contractor may make a Claim 
therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

 
13.05 Owner May Stop the Work 

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to 
supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or 
equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way 
that the completed Work will conform to the Contract 
Documents, Owner may order Contractor to stop the 
Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such 
order has been eliminated; however, this right of Owner 
to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part 
of Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of 
Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other 
individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or 
agent of any of them. 

 
13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work 

 
A. Promptly after receipt of notice, Contractor 

shall correct all defective Work, whether or not 
fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if the Work has 
been rejected by Engineer, remove it from the Project and 
replace it with Work that is not defective. Contractor shall 
pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but 
not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to such correction or removal (including but 
not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of 
others). 

 
B. When correcting defective Work under the 

terms of this Paragraph 13.06 or Paragraph 13.07, 
Contractor shall take no action that would void or 
otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, 
if any, on said Work. 

 
13.07 Correction Period 

 
A. If within one year after the date of Substantial 

Completion (or such longer period of time as may be 
prescribed by the terms of any applicable special 
guarantee required by the Contract Documents) or by any 
specific provision of the Contract Documents, any Work 
is found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to 
the land or areas made available for Contractor’s use by 
Owner or permitted by Laws and Regulations as 
contemplated in Paragraph 6.11.A is found to be 
defective, Contractor shall promptly, without cost to 
Owner and in accordance with Owner’s written 
instructions: 

 
1. repair such defective land or areas; or 

 
2. correct such defective Work; or 

 
3. if the defective Work has been rejected by 

Owner, remove it from the Project and replace it with 
Work that is not defective, and 

 
4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and 

replace any damage to other Work, to the work of others 
or other land or areas resulting therefrom. 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 33 

 

B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with 
the terms of Owner’s written instructions, or in an 
emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss 
or damage, Owner may have the defective Work  
corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work re- 
moved and replaced. All claims, costs, losses, and 
damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges 
of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution 
costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair 
or such removal and replacement (including but not 
limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of 
others) will be paid by Contractor. 

 
C. In special circumstances where a particular 

item of equipment is placed in continuous service before 
Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction 
period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if 
so provided in the Specifications . 

 
D. Where defective Work (and damage to other 

Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed 
and replaced under this Paragraph 13.07, the correction 
period hereunder with respect to such Work will be 
extended for an additional period of one year after such 
correction or removal and replacement has been 
satisfactorily completed. 

 
E. Contractor’s obligations under this Paragraph 

13.07 are in addition to any other obligation or warranty. 
The provisions of this Paragraph 13.07 shall not be 
construed as a substitute for or a waiver of the provisions 
of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 

 
13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work 

 
A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal 

and replacement of defective Work, Owner (and, prior to 
Engineer’s recommendation of final payment, Engineer) 
prefers to accept it, Owner may do so. Contractor shall 
pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but 
not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) attributable to 
Owner’s evaluation of and determination to accept such 
defective Work (such costs to be approved by Engineer as 
to reasonableness) and the diminished value of the Work 
to the extent not otherwise paid by Contractor pursuant to 
this sentence. If any such acceptance occurs prior to 
Engineer’s recommendation of final payment, a Change 
Order will be issued incorporating the necessary revisions 
in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work, and 
Owner shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the 
Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work  
so accepted. If the parties are unable to agree as to the 

13.09 Owner May Correct Defective Work 
 

A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time 
after written notice from Engineer to correct defective 
Work or to remove and replace rejected Work as required 
by Engineer in accordance with Paragraph 13.06.A, or if 
Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, or if Contractor fails to comply 
with any other provision of the Contract Documents, 
Owner may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, 
correct or remedy any such deficiency. 

 
B. In exercising the rights and remedies under 

this Paragraph 13.09, Owner shall proceed expeditiously. 
In connection with such corrective or remedial action, 
Owner may exclude Contractor from all or part of the 
Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and 
suspend Contractor’s services related thereto, take posses- 
sion of Contractor’s tools, appliances, construction 
equipment and machinery at the Site, and incorporate in 
the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or 
for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored 
elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner’s 
representatives, agents and employees, Owner’s other 
contractors, and Engineer and Engineer’s consultants 
access to the Site to enable Owner to exercise the rights 
and remedies under this Paragraph. 

 
C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages 

(including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution 
costs) incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the 
rights and remedies under this Paragraph 13.09 will be 
charged against Contractor, and a Change Order will be 
issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the 
Contract Documents with respect to the Work; and Owner 
shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract 
Price. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of 
the adjustment, Owner may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. Such claims, costs, losses 
and damages will include but not be limited to all costs of 
repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or 
damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of 
Contractor’s defective Work. 

 
D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension 

of the Contract Times because of any delay in the 
performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by 
Owner of Owner’s rights and remedies under this 
Paragraph 13.09. 

 
 

ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND 
COMPLETION 

amount thereof, Owner may make a Claim therefor as    
provided in Paragraph 10.05. If the acceptance occurs 
after such recommendation, an appropriate amount will be 
paid by Contractor to Owner. 

14.01 Schedule of Values 
 

A. The Schedule of Values established as provid- 
ed in Paragraph 2.07.A will serve as the basis for progress 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 34 

 

payments and will be incorporated into a form of Applica- 
tion for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress 
payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on 
the number of units completed. 

 
14.02 Progress Payments 

 
A. Applications for Payments 

 
1. At least 20 days before the date established in 

the Agreement for each progress payment (but not more 
often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to 
Engineer for review an Application for Payment filled out 
and signed by Contractor covering the Work completed as 
of the date of the Application and accompanied by such 
supporting documentation as is required by the Contract 
Documents. If payment is requested on the basis of 
materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but 
delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another 
location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment 
shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or 
other documentation warranting that Owner has received 
the materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens 
and evidence that the materials and equipment are 
covered by appropriate property insurance or other 
arrangements to protect Owner’s interest therein, all of 
which must be satisfactory to Owner. 

 
2. Beginning with the second Application for 

Payment, each Application shall include an affidavit of 
Contractor stating that all previous progress payments 
received on account of the Work have been applied on 
account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate obligations 
associated with prior Applications for Payment. 

 
3. The amount of retainage with respect to 

progress payments will be as stipulated in the Agreement. 
 

B. Review of Applications 
 

1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of 
each Application for Payment, either indicate in writing a 
recommendation of payment and present the Application 
to Owner or return the Application to Contractor 
indicating in writing Engineer’s reasons for refusing to 
recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor may 
make the necessary corrections and resubmit the 
Application. 

 
2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment 

requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a 
representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s 
observations on the Site of the executed Work as an 
experienced and qualified design professional and on 
Engineer's review of the Application for Payment and the 
accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of 
Engineer’s knowledge, information and belief: 

 
a. the Work has progressed to the point indicat- 
ed; 

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accor- 
dance with the Contract Documents (subject to 
an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole 
prior to or upon Substantial Completion, to the 
results of any subsequent tests called for in the 
Contract Documents, to a final determination of 
quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work 
under Paragraph 9.07, and to any other 
qualifications stated in the recommendation); and 

 
c. the conditions precedent to Contractor’s being 
entitled to such payment appear to have been 
fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s  
responsibility to observe the Work. 

 
3. By recommending any such payment Engineer 

will not thereby be deemed to have represented that: 
 

a. inspections made to check the quality or the 
quantity of the Work as it has been performed 
have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect 
of the Work in progress, or involved detailed 
inspections of the Work beyond the responsi- 
bilities specifically assigned to Engineer in the 
Contract Documents; or 

 
b. that there may not be other matters or issues 
between the parties that might entitle Contractor 
to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle 
Owner to withhold payment to Contractor. 

 
4. Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s 

Work for the purposes of recommending payments nor 
Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including 
final payment, will impose responsibility on Engineer: 

 
a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or 

 
b. for the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto, 
or 

 
c. for Contractor’s failure to comply with Laws 
and Regulations applicable to Contractor’s 
performance of the Work, or 

 
d. to make any examination to ascertain how or 
for what purposes Contractor has used the 
moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or 

 
e. to determine that title to any of the Work, 
materials, or equipment has passed to Owner free 
and clear of any Liens. 

 
5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole 

or any part of any payment if, in Engineer’s opinion, it 
would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner 
stated in Paragraph 14.02.B.2. Engineer may also refuse 
to recommend any such payment or, because of subse- 
quently discovered evidence or the results of subsequent 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 35 

 

inspections or tests, revise or revoke any such payment 
recommendation previously made, to such extent as may 
be necessary in Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from 
loss because: 

 
a. the Work is defective, or completed Work has 
been damaged, requiring correction or replace- 
ment; 

 
b. the Contract Price has been reduced by 
Change Orders; 

 
c. Owner has been required to correct defective 
Work or complete Work in accordance with 
Paragraph 13.09; or 

 
d. Engineer has actual knowledge of the 
occurrence of any of the events enumerated in 
Paragraph 15.02.A. 

 
C. Payment Becomes Due 

 
1. Ten days after presentation of the Application 

for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s recommendation, 
the amount recommended will (subject to the provisions 
of Paragraph 14.02.D) become due, and when due will be 
paid by Owner to Contractor. 

 
D. Reduction in Payment 

 
1. Owner may refuse to make payment of the full 

amount recommended by Engineer because: 
 

a. claims have been made against Owner on 
account of Contractor’s performance or furnish- 
ing of the Work; 

 
b. Liens have been filed in connection with the 
Work, except where Contractor has delivered a 
specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the 
satisfaction and discharge of such Liens; 

 
c. there are other items entitling Owner to a set-
off against the amount recommended; or 

 
d. Owner has actual knowledge of the occurrence 
of any of the events enumerated in Paragraphs 
14.02.B.5.a through 14.02.B.5.c or Paragraph 
15.02.A. 

 
2. If Owner refuses to make payment of the full 

amount recommended by Engineer, Owner will give 
Contractor immediate written notice (with a copy to 
Engineer) stating the reasons for such action and promptly 
pay Contractor any amount remaining after deduction of 
the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay 
Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment 
thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, when 
Contractor corrects to Owner’s satisfaction the reasons for 
such action. 

3. If it is subsequently determined that Owner’s 
refusal of payment was not justified, the amount 
wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as 
determined by Paragraph 14.02.C.1. 

 
14.03 Contractor’s Warranty of Title 

 
A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title 

to all Work, materials, and equipment covered by any 
Application for Payment, whether incorporated in the 
Project or not, will pass to Owner no later than the time of 
payment free and clear of all Liens. 

 
14.04 Substantial Completion 

 
A. When Contractor considers the entire Work 

ready for its intended use Contractor shall notify Owner 
and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is 
substantially complete (except for items specifically listed 
by Contractor as incomplete) and request that Engineer 
issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. 

 
B. Promptly after Contractor’s notification, , 

Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an  
inspection of the Work to determine the status of 
completion. If Engineer does not consider the Work 
substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in 
writing giving the reasons therefor. 

 
C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially 

complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a tentative 
certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the 
date of Substantial Completion. There shall be attached to 
the certificate a tentative list of items to be completed or 
corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven 
days after receipt of the tentative certificate during which 
to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions 
of the certificate or attached list. If, after considering such 
objections, Engineer concludes that the Work is not 
substantially complete, Engineer will within 14 days after 
submission of the tentative certificate to Owner notify 
Contractor in writing, stating the reasons therefor. If, after 
consideration of Owner’s objections, Engineer considers 
the Work substantially complete, Engineer will within 
said 14 days execute and deliver to Owner and Contractor 
a definitive certificate of Substantial Completion (with a 
revised tentative list of items to be completed or correct- 
ed) reflecting such changes from the tentative certificate 
as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any 
objections from Owner. 

 
D. At the time of delivery of the tentative 

certificate of Substantial Completion, Engineer will 
deliver to Owner and Contractor a written recommen- 
dation as to division of responsibilities pending final 
payment between Owner and Contractor with respect to 
security, operation, safety, and protection of the Work, 
maintenance, heat, utilities, insurance, and warranties and 
guarantees. Unless Owner and Contractor agree otherwise 
in writing and so inform Engineer in writing prior to 
Engineer’s issuing the definitive certificate of Substantial 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 36 

 

Completion, Engineer’s aforesaid recommendation will 
be binding on Owner and Contractor until final payment. 

 
E. Owner shall have the right to exclude 

Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial 
Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable 
access to complete or correct items on the tentative list. 

 
14.05 Partial Utilization 

 
A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the 

Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially 
completed part of the Work which has specifically been 
identified in the Contract Documents, or which Owner, 
Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately 
functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used 
by Owner for its intended purpose without significant 
interference with Contractor’s performance of the 
remainder of the Work, subject to the following condi- 
tions. 

 
1. Owner at any time may request Contractor in 

writing to permit Owner to use or occupy any such part of 
the Work which Owner believes to be ready for its 
intended use and substantially complete. If and when 
Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is 
substantially complete, Contractor will certify to Owner 
and Engineer that such part of the Work is substantially 
complete and request Engineer to issue a certificate of 
Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

 
2. Contractor at any time may notify Owner and 

Engineer in writing that Contractor considers any such 
part of the Work ready for its intended use and substan- 
tially complete and request Engineer to issue a certificate 
of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

 
3. Within a reasonable time after either such 

request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an 
inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status 
of completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of 
the Work to be substantially complete, Engineer will 
notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons 
therefor. If Engineer considers that part of the Work to be 
substantially complete, the provisions of Paragraph 14.04 
will apply with respect to certification of Substantial 
Completion of that part of the Work and the division of 
responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto. 

 
4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of 

part of the Work may occur prior to compliance with the 
requirements of Paragraph 5.10 regarding property 
insurance. 

 
14.06 Final Inspection 

 
A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the 

entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, 
Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with 
Owner and Contractor and will notify Contractor in 
writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals 

that the Work is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall 
immediately take such measures as are necessary to 
complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies. 

 
14.07 Final Payment 

 
A. Application for Payment 

 
1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of 

Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections 
identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in 
accordance with the Contract Documents, all maintenance 
and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, 
certificates or other evidence of insurance certificates of 
inspection, marked-up record documents (as provided in 
Paragraph 6.12), and other documents, Contractor may 
make application for final payment following the 
procedure for progress payments. 

 
2. The final Application for Payment shall be 

accompanied (except as previously delivered) by: 
 

a. all documentation called for in the Contract 
Documents, including but not limited to the 
evidence of insurance required by Paragraph 
5.04.B.7; 

 
b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment; 

 
c. a list of all Claims against Owner that 
Contractor believes are unsettled; and 

 
d. complete and legally effective releases or 
waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien rights 
arising out of or Liens filed in connection with 
the Work. 

 
3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens 

specified in Paragraph 14.07.A.2 and as approved by 
Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full 
and an affidavit of Contractor that: (i) the releases and 
receipts include all labor, services, material, and 
equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (ii) all 
payrolls, material and equipment bills, and other 
indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner 
or Owner's property might in any way be responsible have 
been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or 
Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, 
Contractor may furnish a bond or other collateral 
satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner against any 
Lien. 

 
B. Engineer’s Review of Application and 

Acceptance 
 

1. If, on the basis of Engineer’s observation of 
the Work during construction and final inspection, and 
Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment 
and accompanying documentation as required by the 
Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work 
has been completed and Contractor’s other obligations 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 37 

 

under the Contract Documents have been fulfilled, 
Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final 
Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer’s 
recommendation of payment and present the Application 
for Payment to Owner for payment. At the same time 
Engineer will also give written notice to Owner and 

with the requirements herein and expressly acknowledged 
by Owner in writing as still unsettled. 

 
 

ARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND 
TERMINATION 

Contractor that the Work is acceptable subject to the    
provisions of Paragraph 14.09. Otherwise, Engineer will 
return the Application for Payment to Contractor, indicat- 
ing in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final 
payment, in which case Contractor shall make the 
necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for 
Payment. 

 
C. Payment Becomes Due 

 
1. Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of 

the Application for Payment and accompanying docu- 
mentation, the amount recommended by Engineer, less 
any sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer’s 
recommendation, including but not limited to liquidated 
damages, will become due and , will be paid by Owner to 
Contractor. 

 
14.08 Final Completion Delayed 

 
A. If, through no fault of Contractor, final 

completion of the Work is significantly delayed, and if 
Engineer so confirms, Owner shall, upon receipt of 
Contractor’s final Application for Payment (for Work 
fully completed and accepted) and recommendation of 
Engineer, and without terminating the Contract, make 
payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work 
fully completed and accepted. If the remaining balance to 
be held by Owner for Work not fully completed or 
corrected is less than the retainage stipulated in the 
Agreement, and if bonds have been furnished as required 
in Paragraph 5.01, the written consent of the surety to the 
payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work 
fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by 
Contractor to Engineer with the Application for such 
payment. Such payment shall be made under the terms 
and conditions governing final payment, except that it 
shall not constitute a waiver of Claims. 

 
14.09 Waiver of Claims 

 
A. The making and acceptance of final payment 

will constitute: 
 

1. a waiver of all Claims by Owner against 
Contractor, except Claims arising from unsettled Liens, 
from defective Work appearing after final inspection 
pursuant to Paragraph 14.06, from failure to comply with 
the Contract Documents or the terms of any special 
guarantees specified therein, or from Contractor’s 
continuing obligations under the Contract Documents; 
and 

 
2. a waiver of all Claims by Contractor against 

Owner other than those previously made in accordance 

15.01 Owner May Suspend Work 
 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may 
suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of 
not more than 90 consecutive days by notice in writing to 
Contractor and Engineer which will fix the date on which 
Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work 
on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be granted an adjust- 
ment in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract 
Times, or both, directly attributable to any such 
suspension if Contractor makes a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

 
15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

 
A. The occurrence of any one or more of the 

following events will justify termination for cause: 
 

1. Contractor’s persistent failure to perform the 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents 
(including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient 
skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment or 
failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule established 
under Paragraph 2.07 as adjusted from time to time 
pursuant to Paragraph 6.04); 

 
2. Contractor’s disregard of Laws or Regulations 

of any public body having jurisdiction; 
 

3. Contractor’s disregard of the authority of 
Engineer; or 

 
4. Contractor’s violation in any substantial way 

of any provisions of the Contract Documents. 
 

B. If one or more of the events identified in 
Paragraph 15.02.A occur, Owner may, after giving 
Contractor (and surety ) seven days written notice of its 
intent to terminate the services of Contractor: 

 
1. exclude Contractor from the Site, and take 

possession of the Work and of all Contractor’s tools, 
appliances, construction equipment, and machinery at the 
Site, and use the same to the full extent they could be  
used by Contractor (without liability to Contractor for 
trespass or conversion), 

 
2. incorporate in the Work all materials and 

equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid 
Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 38 

 

3. complete the Work as Owner may deem 
expedient. 

 
C. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 

15.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any 
further payment until the Work is completed. If the 
unpaid balance of the Contract Price exceeds all claims, 
costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all 
fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) sustained by Owner arising out 
of or relating to completing the Work, such excess will be 
paid to Contractor. If such claims, costs, losses, and 
damages exceed such unpaid balance, Contractor shall 
pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, 
and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by 
Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when so 
approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. 
When exercising any rights or remedies under this 
Paragraph Owner shall not be required to obtain the 
lowest price for the Work performed. 

 
D. Notwithstanding Paragraphs 15.02.B and 

15.02.C, Contractor’s services will not be terminated if 
Contractor begins within seven days of receipt of notice 
of intent to terminate to correct its failure to perform and 
proceeds diligently to cure such failure within no more 
than 30 days of receipt of said notice. 

 
E. Where Contractor’s services have been so 

terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect any 
rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then 
existing or which may thereafter accrue. Any retention or 
payment of moneys due Contractor by Owner will not 
release Contractor from liability. 

 
F. If and to the extent that Contractor has 

provided a performance bond under the provisions of 
Paragraph 5.01.A, the termination procedures of that bond 
shall supersede the provisions of Paragraphs 15.02.B, and 
15.02.C. 

 
15.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience 

 
A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor 

and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and without 
prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, 
terminate the Contract. In such case, Contractor shall be 
paid for (without duplication of any items): 

 
1. completed and acceptable Work executed in 

accordance with the Contract Documents prior to the 
effective date of termination, including fair and 

2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date 
of termination in performing services and furnishing 
labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract 
Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus 
fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such 
expenses; 

 
3. all claims, costs, losses, and damages 

(including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution 
costs) incurred in settlement of terminated contracts with 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and others; and 

 
4. reasonable expenses directly attributable to 

termination. 
 

B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss 
of anticipated profits or revenue or other economic loss 
arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

 
15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 

 
A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (i) 

the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days 
by Owner or under an order of court or other public 
authority, or (ii) Engineer fails to act on any Application 
for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or (iii) 
Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally 
determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven 
days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided 
Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or 
failure within that time, terminate the Contract and 
recover from Owner payment on the same terms as 
provided in Paragraph 15.03. 

 
B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and 

without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if 
Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment 
within 30 days after it is submitted, or Owner has failed 
for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined 
to be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice 
to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until payment is 
made of all such amounts due Contractor, including 
interest thereon. The provisions of this Paragraph 15.04 
are not intended to preclude Contractor from making a 
Claim under Paragraph 10.05 for an adjustment in 
Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for 
expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor’s 
stopping the Work as permitted by this Paragraph. 

 
 

ARTICLE 16 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such Work;    

 

16.01 Methods and Procedures 
 

A. Either Owner or Contractor may request 
mediation of any Claim submitted to Engineer for a 
decision under Paragraph 10.05 before such decision 
becomes final and binding. The mediation will be 



General Conditions 
00 72 15 - 39 

 

governed by the Construction Industry Mediation Rules  
of the American Arbitration Association in effect as of the 
Effective Date of the Agreement. The request for 
mediation shall be submitted in writing to the American 
Arbitration Association and the other party to the 
Contract. Timely submission of the request shall stay the 
effect of Paragraph 10.05.E. 

 
B. Owner and Contractor shall participate in the 

mediation process in good faith. The process shall be 
concluded within 60 days of filing of the request. The  
date of termination of the mediation shall be determined 
by application of the mediation rules referenced above. 

 
C. If the Claim is not resolved by mediation, 

Engineer’s action under Paragraph 10.05.C or a denial 
pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 10.05.D shall become 
final and binding 30 days after termination of the 
mediation unless, within that time period, Owner or 
Contractor: 

 
1. elects in writing to invoke any dispute 

resolution process provided for in the Supplementary 
Conditions, or 

 
2. agrees with the other party to submit the 

Claim to another dispute resolution process, or 
 

3. gives written notice to the other party of their 
intent to submit the Claim to a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

 
 

ARTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS 
 

 
17.01 Giving Notice 

 
A. Whenever any provision of the Contract 

Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will be 
deemed to have been validly given if: 

 
1. delivered in person to the individual or to a 

member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for 
whom it is intended, or 

2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified 
mail, postage prepaid, to the last business address known 
to the giver of the notice. 

 
17.02 Computation of Times 

 
A. When any period of time is referred to in the 

Contract Documents by days, it will be computed to 
exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If 
the last day of any such period falls on a Saturday or 
Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the 
applicable jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the 
computation. 

 
17.03 Cumulative Remedies 

 
A. The duties and obligations imposed by these 

General Conditions and the rights and remedies available 
hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are 
not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any 
rights and remedies available to any or all of them which 
are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regula- 
tions, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other 
provisions of the Contract Documents. The provisions of 
this Paragraph will be as effective as if repeated 
specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with 
each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to 
which they apply. 

 
17.04 Survival of Obligations 

 
A. All representations, indemnifications, warran- 

ties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in 
accordance with the Contract Documents, as well as all 
continuing obligations indicated in the Contract Docu- 
ments, will survive final payment, completion, and 
acceptance of the Work or termination or completion of 
the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor. 

 
17.05 Controlling Law 

 
A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of 

the state in which the Project is located. 
 

17.06 Headings 
 

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted 
for convenience only and do not constitute parts of these 
General Conditions. 



Supplementary Conditions 
00 73 13 - 1 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS 
 

These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the Standard General Conditions of the 
Construction Contract (No. C-700) and other provisions of the Contract Documents as indicated 
below. All provisions which are not so amended or supplemented remain in full force and effect: 

 
 

SC-4.02 Delete Paragraphs 4.02.A and 4.02.B in their entirety and insert the following: 
 

A. No Geotechnical Report is known to Owner or Engineer. 
 
 

SC-4.06 Delete Paragraphs 4.06.A and 4.06.B in their entirety and insert the following: 
 

A. No reports or drawings related to Hazardous Environmental Conditions are 
known to Owner or Engineer. 

 
B. Left Blank Intentionally. 

 
 

SC-5.04 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 5.04.B: 
 

CONTRACTOR’S Insurance. Before commencing the work, and as a condition of payment, the 
CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain insurance that will protect it from the claims arising 
out of its operations under this Agreement, whether the operations are by the CONTRACTOR, or 
any of its consultants or subcontractors or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, 
or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. 

 
C. Minimum Limits of Liability. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain insurance with 

limits of liability equal to the limits of liability as set forth below. 
 

1. Workers Compensation 
 

A. Statutory Workers Compensation Benefits 
B. Employer Liability: 

Bodily Injury by Accident - $1,000,000 Each Accident 
Bodily Injury by Disease - $1,000,000 Policy Limit 
Bodily Injury by Disease - $1,000,000 Each Employee 

 
2. Commercial General Liability 

 
$1,000,000 Combined Single Limit of Bodily Injury 
Liability and Property Damage Liability Per Occurrence 

 
$2,000,000 General Aggregate Limit 
$2,000,000 Products & Completed Operations Aggregate Limit 
$1,000,000 Personal and Advertising Injury Limit 

 
Products and Completed Operations Coverage must be maintained for not 

less than two full years after final payment. 



Supplementary Conditions 
00 73 13 - 2 

 

 

3. Business Auto Liability 
 

A. $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit of Bodily Injury 
Liability and Property Damage Liability 

 
4. Excess Liability 

 
A. $2,000,000 Each Occurrence Limit 

$2,000,000 Aggregate Limit 
 

D. Number of Policies. Commercial General Liability Insurance and other 
liability insurance may be arranged under a single policy for the full limits required or by a 
combination of underlying policies with the balance provided by an Excess or Umbrella Liability 
Policy. 

 
E. Additional Insured. The CONTRACTOR shall endorse all policies 

identified in Subparagraph 5.04(C) (with the exception of Workers Compensation) to name 
Owner as an Additional Insured. On the Commercial General Liability Policy, the Owner shall 
be given Additional Insured status for BOTH the ongoing operations of the CONTRACTOR and 
the completed operations of the CONTRACTOR. Also, the coverage provided to the Owner as 
an Additional Insured shall be written on a Primary Basis. 

 
F. Waiver of Subrogation Endorsements. The CONTRACTOR shall 

endorse all policies identified in Subparagraph 5.04(C) with a Waiver of Subrogation in favor of 
the Owner. The CONTRACTOR shall also require similar waivers from its subcontractors in 
favor of the CONTRACTOR and Owner. 

 
G. Acceptable Insurance Companies. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain 

in effect all insurance coverages under this Agreement at the CONTRACTOR’S sole expense and 
with insurance companies acceptable to the Owner and which have an A. M. Best Company rating 
of A- VII or better. 

 
H. Notice of Cancellation or Non-Renewal. The CONTRACTOR’S 

insurance policies identified in Subparagraph 5.04(C) shall contain a provision that coverage will 
not be cancelled or non-renewed until at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice has been given 
to the Owner. 

 
I. Certificates of Insurance. Certificates of insurance showing required 

coverage to be in force pursuant to Subparagraph 5.04(C) shall be filed with the Owner prior to 
commencement of the CONTRACTOR’S work. In the event the CONTRACTOR fails to obtain 
or maintain any insurance coverage required under this Agreement, the Owner may purchase such 
coverage as desired for Owner’s benefit and charge the expense to the CONTRACTOR, or 
terminate this Agreement. 

 
J. Continuation of Coverage. The CONTRACTOR shall continue to carry 

Completed Operations Liability Insurance for at least two years after either ninety (90) days 
following substantial completion of the work or final payment to the CONTRACTOR, whichever 
is earlier. The CONTRACTOR shall furnish the Owner evidence of such insurance at final 
payment and one year from final payment. 



Supplementary Conditions 
00 73 13 - 3 

 

 

SC-5.06.A. Delete Paragraph 5.06.A in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 
 

A. Contractor shall purchase and maintain property insurance upon the Work at the Site in the 
amount of the full replacement cost thereof. 

 
1. This insurance shall: 

 
a. include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, 

Engineer and any other individuals or entities identified herein, and the officers, 
directors, partners, employees, agents and other consultants and subcontractors of 
any of them each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be 
listed as an insured or additional insured; 

 
b. be written on a Builder’s Risk “all-risk” or open peril or special 

causes of loss policy form that shall at least include insurance for physical loss and 
damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and equipment 
in transit and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes of loss: fire, 
lightning, extended coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious mischief, earthquake, 
collapse, debris removal, demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and 
Regulations, water damage (other than that caused by flood), and such other perils 
or causes of loss as may be specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions; 

 
c. include expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any 

insured property (including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and 
architects); 

 
d. cover materials and equipment stored at the Site or at another 

location that was agreed to in writing by Owner prior to being incorporated in the 
Work, provided that such materials and equipment have been included in an 
Application for Payment recommended by Engineer; 

 
e. allow for partial utilization of the Work by Owner; 

 
f. include testing and startup; and 

 
g. be maintained in effect until final payment is made unless 

otherwise agreed to in writing by Owner, Contractor and Engineer with 30 days 
written notice to each other additional insured to whom a certificate of insurance 
has been issued. 

 
2. Contractor shall be responsible for any deductible or self-insured retention. 

 
3. The policies of insurance required to be purchased and maintained by Contractor 

in accordance with this Paragraph SC-5.06.A shall comply with the requirements of 
paragraph 5.06.C of the General Conditions. 

 
 

SC-5.06.E. Delete Paragraph GC-5.06.E in its entirety. 



Supplementary Conditions 
00 73 13 - 4 

 

 

SC-6.02 Add a new sentence immediately after Paragraph 6.02A: 
 

A1. The scope of Contractor’s work does not require a need for line and grade staking. 
The Engineer will provide direction for locations and details of work in the field during 
construction, on behalf of the Owner, and at no expense to the Contractor. 

 
 

SC-6.10 Add a new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.10.A: 
 

B. Owner is exempt from payment of sales and compensating use taxes of the Texas 
and of cities and counties thereof on all materials to be incorporated into the public streets, 
drainage, and sanitary sewer portions of the Work. 

 
1. Owner will furnish the required certificates of tax exemption to Contractor for 

use in the purchase of supplies and materials to be incorporated into the Work. 
 

2. Owner’s exemption does not apply to construction tools, machinery, equipment, 
or other property purchased by or leased by Contractor, or to supplies or materials not 
incorporated into the Work. 

 
 

SC-7.04 Claims Between Contractors 
 

A. Should Contractor cause damage to the work or property of any other contractor at the Site, 
or should any claim arising out of Contractor’s performance of the Work at the Site be made by any 
other contractor against Contractor, Owner, Engineer, or the construction coordinator, Contractor 
shall promptly attempt to settle with such other contractor by agreement, or to otherwise resolve the 
dispute by arbitration or at law. 

 
B. Contractor shall, to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, 

indemnify and hold harmless Owner, Engineer, the construction coordinator and the officers, 
directors, partners, employees, agents and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them from and against all claims, costs, losses and damages (including, but not limited to, fees 
and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and court and arbitration 
costs) arising directly, indirectly or consequentially out of any action, legal or equitable, brought 
by any other contractor against Owner, Engineer, Engineer’s Consultants, or the construction 
coordinator to the extent said claim is based on or arises out of Contractor’s performance of the 
Work. Should another contractor cause damage to the Work or property of Contractor or should 
the performance of work by any other contractor at the Site give rise to any other Claim, 
Contractor shall not institute any action, legal or equitable, against Owner, Engineer, or the 
construction coordinator or permit any action against any of them to be maintained and continued 
in its name or for its benefit in any court or before any arbiter which seeks to impose liability on 
or to recover damages from Owner, Engineer, or the construction coordinator on account of any 
such damage or Claim. 

 
C. If Contractor is delayed at any time in performing or furnishing Work by any act or neglect 

of another contractor, and Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as to the extent of any adjustment 
in Contract Times attributable thereto, Contractor may make a Claim for an extension of times in 
accordance with Article 12. An extension of the Contract Times shall be Contractor’s exclusive 



Supplementary Conditions 
00 73 13 - 5 

 

remedy with respect to Owner, Engineer, and construction coordinator for any delay, disruption, 
interference, or hindrance caused by any other contractor. This paragraph does not prevent recovery 
from Owner, Engineer, or construction coordinator for activities that are their respective 
responsibilities. 



 

ADDENDUM NO. 

OWNER 

PROJECT NAME 

PROJECT NO.: 

DATE OF ADDENDUM: 

BID OPENING DATE: 

 
 

This Addendum forms a part of Contract and clarifies, corrects or modifies original Bid Documents, dated 
  . Acknowledge receipt of this addendum in space provided on 
Bid Form. Failure to do so may subject bidder to disqualification. 

 
 

1) 
 

2) 
 

3) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Approved by: 
 
 
 
 

Engineer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Addendum 
00 91 13 - 1 



 

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT 

 

STATE OF TEXAS § 
§ 

COUNTY OF § 
 

By the signature below, the signatory for the bidder certifies that neither he nor the firm, 

corporation, partnership or institution represented by the signatory or anyone acting for 

the firm bidding this project has violated the antitrust laws of this State, codified at 

Section 15.01, et seq., Texas Business and Commerce Code, or the Federal antitrust 

laws, nor communicated directly or indirectly the bid made to any competitor or any 

other person engaged in the same line of business, nor has the signatory or anyone 

acting for the firm, corporation or institution submitting a bid committed any other act of 

collusion related to the development and submission of this bid proposal. 

Signature: 
 

Printed Name: 

Title: 

Company: 

Date: 
 

 

SUBSCRIBED and  sworn  to before me the undersigned authority by  the  
of,  on behalf of said bidder. 

 
 

Notary Public in and for the 
State of Texas 

 
My commission expires:    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revised May 2007 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SAMPLE FORMS 



EJCDC No. C-940 (2002 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the 
Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 1  

Work Change Directive 

No.    
 

Date of Issuance:  Effective Date:    

 
Project: Owner: Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Date of Contract: 

Contractor: Engineer's Project No.: 

 
 

You are directed to proceed promptly with the following change(s): 
 

 

Attachments (list documents supporting change): 
 

 

 

Purpose for Work Change Directive: 
 

Authorization for Work described herein to proceed on the basis of Cost of the Work due to: 
 
 

Nonagreement on pricing of proposed change. 
 

Necessity to expedite Work described herein prior to agreeing to changes on Contract Price and Contract Time. 
 
 

Estimated change in Contract Price and Contract Times: 

 
Contract Price $  (increase/decrease) Contract Time  (increase/decrease) 

days 

 
If the change involves an increase, the estimated amounts are not to be exceeded without further authorization. 

 
Recommended for Approval by Engineer: Date 

Authorized for Owner by: Date 

Accepted for Contractor by: Date 

Approved by Funding Agency (if applicable): Date: 

Item No. Description 



EJCDC No. C-942 (2002 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the 
Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 1  

Field Order 

No.    
 

Date of Issuance:  Effective Date:    

 
Project: Owner: Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Date of Contract: 

Contractor: Engineer's Project No.: 

 
Attention: 

You are hereby directed to promptly execute this Field Order issued in accordance with General Conditions Paragraph 9.05A., for 
minor changes in the Work without changes in Contract Price or Contract Times. If you consider that a change in Contract Price or 
Contract Times is required, please notify the Engineer immediately and before proceeding with this Work. 

 
Reference: 

  

(Specification Section(s)) (Drawing(s) / Detail(s)) 
 

 Description:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Attachments:  
 
 
 
 
 

 

Copy to Owner 

Engineer: 

Receipt Acknowledged by (Contractor): Date: 



EJCDC No. C-941 (2002 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the 
Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 2  

Change Order 
No.    

 
Date of Issuance:    Effective Date:      

 
Project: Owner: Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Date of Contract: 

Contractor: Engineer's Project No.: 

 
The Contract Documents are modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order: 

 

Description: 
 

 
 

Attachments: (List documents supporting change): 
 

 
 
 

  CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:   CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:  

Original Contract Price: Original Contract Times:   Working days   Calendar days 
Substantial completion (days or date):     

$   Ready for final payment (days or date):    
 

[Increase] [Decrease] from previously approved Change Orders 
No.  to No.  : 

[Increase] [Decrease] from previously approved Change Orders 
No.  to No.  : 

Substantial completion (days):    

$   Ready for final payment (days):    

 
Contract Price prior to this Change Order: Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 

Substantial completion (days or date):    

$   Ready for final payment (days or date):    

 
[Increase] [Decrease] of this Change Order: [Increase] [Decrease] of this Change Order: 

Substantial completion (days or date):    

$   Ready for final payment (days or date):    

 
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order: Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 

Substantial completion (days or date):    

$   Ready for final payment (days or date):    
 
 

RECOMMENDED: ACCEPTED: ACCEPTED: 

By:    By:    By:    
Engineer (Authorized Signature) Owner (Authorized Signature) Contractor (Authorized Signature) 

Date:    Date:    Date:    

 
Approved by Funding Agency (if applicable): 

 
   

 
Date:    



EJCDC No. C-941 (2002 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the 
Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 2 of 2  

Change Order 
Instructions 

 
 
 

A. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

This document was developed to provide a uniform format for handling contract changes that affect Contract Price or 
Contract Times. Changes that have been initiated by a Work Change Directive must be incorporated into a subsequent 
Change Order if they affect Price or Times. 

 
Changes that affect Contract Price or Contract Times should be promptly covered by a Change Order. The practice of 
accumulating Change Orders to reduce the administrative burden may lead to unnecessary disputes. 

 
If Milestones have been listed in the Agreement, any effect of a Change Order thereon should be addressed. 

 
For supplemental instructions and minor changes not involving a change in the Contract Price or Contract Times, a 
Field Order should be used. 

 
 

B. COMPLETING THE CHANGE ORDER FORM 
 

Engineer normally initiates the form, including a description of the changes involved and attachments based upon 
documents and proposals submitted by Contractor, or requests from Owner, or both. 

 
Once Engineer has completed and signed the form, all copies should be sent to Owner or Contractor for approval, 
depending on whether the Change Order is a true order to the Contractor or the formalization of a negotiated agreement 
for a previously performed change. After approval by one contracting party, all copies should be sent to the other party 
for approval. Engineer should make distribution of executed copies after approval by both parties. 

 
If a change only applies to price or to times, cross out the part of the tabulation that does not apply. 



EJCDC No. C-620 (2002 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 3  

Contractor’s Application For Payment No.    
 Application Period: Application Date: 

To (Owner): From (Contractor): Via (Engineer) 

Project: Contract:  

Owner's Contract No.: Contractor's Project No.: Engineer's Project No.: 

 

APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT 

Change Order Summary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CONTRACTOR’S CERTIFICATION 

The undersigned Contractor certifies that: (1) all previous  progress  payments 
received from Owner on account of Work done under the Contract have been applied 
on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations incurred in connection with 
Work covered by prior Applications for Payment; (2) title of all Work, materials and 
equipment incorporated in said Work or otherwise listed in or covered by this 
Application for Payment will pass to Owner at time of payment free and clear of all 
Liens, security interests and encumbrances (except such as are covered by a Bond 
acceptable to Owner indemnifying Owner against any such Liens, security interest or 
encumbrances); and (3) all Work covered by this Application for Payment is in 
accordance with the Contract Documents and is not defective. 

By: Date: 

 
 

 
1.  ORIGINAL CONTRACT PRICE ..........................................................   $      

2.  Net change by Change Orders .........................................................   $      

3.  CURRENT CONTRACT PRICE (Line 1 ± 2) ......................................   $      

4. TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE 

(Column F on Progress Estimate) .................................................. $      

5. RETAINAGE: 

a.  % x $  Work Completed.....................    $      

b.  % x $  Stored Material .......................   $      

c.  Total Retainage (Line 5a + Line 5b)  ...........................................    $      

6.  AMOUNT ELIGIBLE TO DATE (Line 4 - Line 5c)..............................    $      

7.  LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS (Line 6 from prior Application).......    $      

8.  AMOUNT DUE THIS APPLICATION ..................................................   $      

9. BALANCE TO FINISH, PLUS RETAINAGE 

(Column G on Progress Estimate + Line 5 above) ......................... $      
 
 
Payment of: $   

(Line 8 or other - attach explanation of other amount) 
 
 
is recommended by:           

(Engineer) (Date) 
 
Payment of: $   

(Line 8 or other - attach explanation of other amount) 
 
 
is approved by:         

(Owner) (Date) 
 
Approved by:        

Funding Agency (if applicable) (Date) 

Approved Change Orders 

Number Additions Deductions 
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

TOTALS 
 

NET CHANGE BY 
CHANGE ORDERS 

  

 

 



EJCDC No. C-620 (2002 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 2 of 3  

Progress Estimate Contractor’s Application 
 

For (contract): Application Number: 

Application Period: Application Date: 

A B Work Completed E F G 

Item  
Scheduled 

Value 

C D  
Materials Presently 

Stored (not in C or D) 

Total Completed 
and Stored to Date 

(C + D + E) 

% 
(F) 
B 

Balance to 
Finish 
(B - F) 

Specification 
Section No. 

Description From Previous 
Application (C + D) 

This Period 

         

 Totals        



EJCDC No. C-620 (2002 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 2a of 3  

Progress Estimate Contractor’s Application 
 

For (contract): Application Number: 

Application Period: Application Date: 

A B C D E F G 

Item Bid 
Quantity 

Unit 
Price 

Bid 
Value 

Estimated 
Quantity 
Installed 

Value Materials 
Presently Stored 

(not in C) 

Total Completed 
and Stored to 
Date (D + E) 

% 
(F) 
B 

Balance to 
Finish 
(B - F) 

Bid Item No. Description 

           

 Totals          



EJCDC No. C-620 (2002 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 3 of 3  

Stored Material Summary Contractor's Application 
 

For (contract): Application Number: 

Application Period: Application Date: 

A B C D E F G 
 

Invoice No. 
Shop Drawing 
Transmittal No. 

 

Materials Description 
Stored Previously Stored this Month Incorporated in Work  

Materials Remaining 
in Storage ($) 

(D + E - F) 

Date 
(Month/Year) 

Amount 
($) 

Amount 
($) 

 

Subtotal 
Date 

(Month/Year) 
Amount 

($) 

          

  Totals        



 

Certificate of Substantial Completion 
 

Project: Owner: Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Date of Contract: 

Contractor: Engineer's Project No.: 

This [tentative] [definitive] Certificate of Substantial Completion applies to: 

 All Work under the Contract Documents:  The following specified portions: 

 
 
 
 
 

Date of Substantial Completion 

 
The Work to which this Certificate applies has been inspected by authorized representatives of Owner, Contractor and Engineer, 
and found to be substantially complete. The Date of Substantial Completion of the Project or portion thereof designated above is 
hereby declared and is also the date of commencement of applicable warranties required by the Contract Documents, except as 
stated below. 

 
A [tentative] [revised tentative] [definitive] list of items to be completed or corrected, is attached hereto. This list may not be all- 
inclusive, and the failure to include any items on such list does not alter the responsibility of the Contractor to complete all Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
The responsibilities between OWNER and CONTRACTOR for security, operation, safety, maintenance, heat, utilities, 

insurance and warranties shall be as provided in the Contract Documents except as amended as follows: 

 Amended Responsibilities  Not Amended 

Owner's Amended Responsibilities: 

 
 
 

Contractor's Amended Responsibilities: 

 
 
 

The following documents are attached to and made part of this Certificate: 

 
 

This Certificate does not constitute an acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents nor is it a release of 
Contractor's obligation to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
Executed by Engineer Date 

 
 

Accepted by Contractor Date 
 
 

Accepted by Owner Date 
 
 
 

EJCDC No. C-625 (2002 Edition) Page 1 of 1 
Prepared by the Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the 
Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

00 01 10 - 1 

 

 

 
 

DIVISION 1 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Section Title 
 

DIVISION 1 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

01 10 00 Summary 
01 20 00 Price and Payment Procedures 
01 21 00 Mobilization, Traffic Handling, and Incidentals 
01 25 00 Substitution Procedures 
01 30 00 Administrative Requirements 
01 32 16 Construction Progress Schedule 
01 33 00 Submittal Procedures 
01 40 00 Quality Requirements 
01 50 00 Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 60 00 Product Requirements 
01 70 00 Execution and Closeout Requirements 

 
 
 
 

END OF SECTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Summary 
01 10 00 - 3 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 10 00 - SUMMARY 
 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SUMMARY 
 

A. Section Includes: 
1. Contract description. 
2. Work by Owner or other Work at the Site. 
3. Owner-furnished products. 
4. Contractor's use of Site and premises. 
5. Future work. 
6. Work sequence. 
7. Owner occupancy. 
8. Permits. 
9. Specification conventions. 
10. Reference specifications and standards. 

 
1.2 CONTRACT DESCRIPTION 

 
A. Work of the Project includes construction of sidewalks, streetscape, pedestrian ramps, 

and mill and overlay of roadway. 
 

B. Construct the Work in accordance with the Bid Items listed on the Bid Form and as generally 
described below: 
1. Mobilization/Demobilization. 
2. Sidewalk and Streetscape Improvements 
3. Roadway mill and overlay 
4. All other Work. 

a. Install all other project Work as presented in the Project Manual. 
 

1.3 WORK BY OWNER OR OTHERS 
 

A. If Owner-awarded contracts interfere with each other due to work being performed at the same 
time or at the same Site, Owner will determine the sequence of work under all contracts 
according to "Work Sequence" and "Contractor's Use of Site and Premises" Articles in this 
Section. 

 
B. Coordinate Work with utilities of Owner and public or private agencies. 

 
1.4 OWNER-FURNISHED PRODUCTS 

 
A. Not Used. 

 
1.5 CONTRACTOR'S USE OF SITE AND PREMISES 

 
A. Limit use of Site and premises to allow: 

1. Owner occupancy. 
2. Use of Site by the public. 

 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Summary 
01 10 00 - 4 

 

 

B. Construction Operations: Limited to areas indicated on Drawings. 
1. Noisy and Disruptive Operations (such as Use of Jack Hammers and Other Noisy 

Equipment): Coordinate such operations with Field Engineer and/or Owner to minimize 
disruptions. 

 
C. Time Restrictions for Performing Work: normal work hours per City code. 

 
D. Construction Plan: Coordinate with Field Engineer and/or Owner prior to starting 

construction activities. 
 

1.6 WORK SEQUENCE 
 

A. Sequencing of Construction Plan: Before start of construction, submit one copy of 
construction plan regarding phasing of construction and new Work for acceptance by Owner. 
After acceptance of plan, construction sequencing shall comply with accepted plan unless 
deviations are accepted by Owner in writing. 

 
1.7 OWNER OCCUPANCY 

 
A. Cooperate with Owner to minimize conflict and to facilitate Owner's operations. 

 
B. Schedule the Work to accommodate Owner occupancy. 

 
1.8 PERMITS 

 
A. Furnish all necessary permits for construction of Work including the following: 

1. Stormwater permit. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Summary 
01 10 00 - 5 

 

 

 

1.9 SPECIFICATION CONVENTIONS 
 

A. These Specifications are written in imperative mood and streamlined form. This imperative 
language is directed to Contractor unless specifically noted otherwise. The words "shall be" 
are included by inference where a colon (:) is used within sentences or phrases. 

 
1.10 REFERENCE SPECIFICATIONS AND STANDARDS 

 
A. Materials which are specified by reference to Federal Specifications; ASTM, ASME, ANSI or 

AWWA specifications; Federal Standards; or other standard specifications must comply with 
latest editions, revisions, amendments or supplements in effect on date bids are received. 
Requirements in reference specifications and standards are considered minimum acceptable 
quality for all equipment, material and work. In instances where capacities, size or other 
feature of equipment, devices or materials exceed these minimums, meet listed or shown 
capacities. 

 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION - Not Used 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Price and Payment Procedures 
01 20 00 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 20 00 - PRICE AND PAYMENT PROCEDURES 
 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
 

A. Contingency allowances. 
 

B. Testing and inspection allowances. 
 

C. Schedule of Values. 
 

D. Application for Payment. 
 

E. Change procedures. 
 

F. Defect assessment. 
 

G. Unit prices. 
 

H. Alternates. 
 

1.2 CONTINGENCY ALLOWANCES 
 

A. Not used. 
 

1.3 SCHEDULE OF VALUES 
 

A. Not used.



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Price and Payment Procedures 
01 20 00 - 2 

 

 

 

1.4 APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT 
 

A. Submit three copies of each Application for Payment on EJCDC C-620 - Contractor's 
Application for Payment or a Contractor’s electronic media driven form as approved by the 
Engineer. 

 
B. Content and Format: Use Bid Form for listing items in Application for Payment. 

 
C. Submit updated construction schedule with each Application for Payment. 

 
D. Payment Period: Submit at intervals stipulated in the Agreement. 

 
E. Submit submittals with transmittal letter as specified in Section 01 33 00 - Submittal 

Procedures. 
 

F. Substantiating Data: When Engineer requires substantiating information, submit data 
justifying dollar amounts in question. Include the following with Application for Payment: 
1. Partial release of liens from major Subcontractors and vendors. 
2. Record Documents as specified in Section 01 70 00 - Execution and Closeout 

Requirements, for review by Owner, which will be returned to Contractor. 
3. Affidavits attesting to off-Site stored products. 
4. Construction Progress Schedule, revised and current as specified in Section 01 32 16 – 

Construction Project Schedule. 
 

1.5 CHANGE PROCEDURES 
 

A. Submittals: Submit name of individual who is authorized to receive change documents and is 
responsible for informing others in Contractor's employ or Subcontractors of changes to the 
Work. 

 
B. Carefully study and compare Contract Documents before proceeding with fabrication and 

installation of Work. Promptly advise Architect/Engineer of any error, inconsistency, 
omission, or apparent discrepancy. 

 
C. Engineer will advise of minor changes in the Work not involving adjustment to Contract 

Sum/Price or Contract Time by issuing supplemental instructions on EJCDC C-942. 
 

D. Engineer may issue Proposal Request including a detailed description of proposed change 
with supplementary or revised Drawings and Specifications, a change in Contract Time for 
executing the change and with the period of time during which the requested price will be 
considered valid. Contractor will prepare and submit estimate within 10 calendar days. 

 
E. Contractor may propose changes by submitting a request for change to Engineer, describing 

proposed change and its full effect on the Work. Include a statement describing reason for the 
change and the effect on Contract Sum/Price and Contract Time with full documentation and a 
statement describing effect on the Work by separate or other Contractors. Document requested 
substitutions according to Section 01 60 00 – Product Requirements. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Price and Payment Procedures 
01 20 00 - 3 

 

 

 

F. Stipulated Sum/Price Change Order: Based on Proposal Request and Contractor's fixed price 
quotation or Contractor's request for Change Order as recommended by Engineer and 
approved by Owner. 

 
G. Unit Price Change Order: For Contract unit prices and quantities, the Change Order will be 

executed on a fixed unit price basis. For unit costs or quantities of units of that which are not 
predetermined, execute Work under Work Directive Change. Changes in Contract Sum/Price 
or Contract Time will be computed as specified for Time and Material Change Order. 

 
H. Work Directive Change: Engineer may issue directive, on EJCDC C-940 - Work Change 

Directive signed by Owner, instructing Contractor to proceed with change in the Work, for 
subsequent inclusion in a Change Order. Document will describe changes in the Work and 
designate method of determining any change in Contract Sum/Price or Contract Time. 
Promptly execute change. 

 
I. Document each quotation for change in Project Cost or Time with sufficient data to allow 

evaluation of quotation. 
 

J. Change Order Forms: EJCDC C-941 - Change Order or as approved by Engineer. 
 

K. Execution of Change Orders: Engineer will issue Change Orders for signatures of parties as 
provided in Conditions of the Contract. 

 
L. Correlation of Contractor Submittals: 

1. Promptly revise Schedule of Values and Application for Payment forms to record each 
authorized Change Order as separate line item and adjust Contract Sum/Price. 

2. Promptly revise Progress Schedules to reflect change in Contract Time, revise 
subschedules to adjust times for other items of Work affected by the change, and 
resubmit. 

3. Promptly enter changes in Record Documents. 
 

1.6 DEFECT ASSESSMENT 
 

A. Replace the Work, or portions of the Work, not conforming to specified requirements. 
 

B. If, in the opinion of Engineer, it is not practical to remove and replace the Work, Engineer will 
direct appropriate remedy or adjust payment. 

 
C. The defective Work may remain, but unit sum/price will be adjusted to new sum/price at 

discretion of Engineer and Owner. 
 

D. Individual Specification Sections may modify these options or may identify specific formula 
or percentage sum/price reduction. 

 
E. Authority of Engineer and Owner to assess defects and identify payment adjustments is final. 

 
F. Nonpayment for Rejected Products: Payment will not be made for rejected products for any of 

the following reasons: 
1. Products wasted or disposed of in a manner that is not acceptable. 
2. Products determined as unacceptable before or after placement. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Price and Payment Procedures 
01 20 00 - 4 

 

 

 

3. Products not completely unloaded from transporting vehicle. 
4. Products placed beyond lines and levels of the required Work. 
5. Products remaining on hand after completion of the Work. 
6. Loading, hauling, and disposing of rejected products. 

 
1.7 UNIT PRICES 

 
A. Authority: Measurement methods are delineated in individual Specification Sections. 

 
B. Measurement methods delineated in individual Specification Sections complement criteria of 

this Section. In event of conflict, requirements of individual Specification Section govern. 
 

C. Take measurements and compute quantities. Engineer will verify measurements and 
quantities. 

 
D. Unit Quantities: Quantities and measurements indicated on Bid Form are for Contract 

purposes only. Actual quantities provided shall determine payment. 
1. When actual Work requires more or fewer quantities than those quantities indicated, 

provide required quantities at contracted unit sum/prices. 
2. When actual Work requires 25 percent or greater change in quantity than those quantities 

indicated, Owner or Contractor may claim a Contract Price adjustment. 
 

E. Payment Includes: Full compensation for required labor, products, tools, equipment, plant and 
facilities, transportation, services and incidentals; erection, application, or installation of item 
of the Work; overhead and profit. 

 
F. Final payment for Work governed by unit prices will be made on basis of actual measurements 

and quantities accepted by Architect/Engineer multiplied by unit sum/price for Work 
incorporated in or made necessary by the Work. 

 
G. Measurement of Quantities: 

1. Measurement by Volume: Measured by cubic dimension using mean length, width, and 
height or thickness. 

2. Measurement by Area: Measured horizontally by square dimension using mean length 
and width or radius. 

3. Linear Measurement: Measured horizontally by linear dimension, at item centerline or 
mean chord. 

4. Stipulated Sum/Price Measurement: Items measured by weight, volume, area, or linear 
means or combination, as appropriate, as completed item or unit of the Work. 

 
1.8 ALTERNATES 

 
A. Alternates quoted on Bid Forms will be reviewed and accepted or rejected at Owner's option. 

Accepted Alternates will be identified in Owner-Contractor Agreement. 
 

1.9 MOBILIZATION, TRAFFIC HANDLING, AND INCIDENTALS 
 

A. As specified in Section 01 21 00. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Price and Payment Procedures 
01 20 00 - 5 

 

 

 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION - Not Used 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

01 21 00 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 21 00 – MOBILIZATION, TRAFFIC HANDLING, AND INCIDENTALS 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SUMMARY 
 

A. Section Includes: 
1. Project Mobilization and Demobilization. 
2. Traffic Handling. 
3. All project costs (incidentals) not included in the contract bid items. 

 
1.2 UNIT PRICE - MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 

 
A. Basis of Measurement: By the Lump Sum as the work progresses. 

 
B. Basis of Payment: This item will be paid for at the contract unit price bid for “Mobilization, 

Traffic Handling, and Project Incidentals,” which price shall be full compensation for 
mobilization and demobilization of all contractor personnel, facilities, equipment, and 
supplies, for all equipment, labor, and material associated with traffic handling, and all other 
project costs not specifically covered in the contract bid items. 

 
C. Partial payments for this item will be administered as follows. The adjusted contract amount 

for construction items as used below is defined as the total contract amount less the lump sum 
bid for mobilization. 
1. When 1% of the adjusted contract amount for construction items is earned, 50% of the 

mobilization lump sum bid will be paid. 
2. When 5% of the adjusted contract amount for construction items is earned, 75% of the 

mobilization lump sum bid will be paid. 
3. When 10% of the adjusted contract amount for construction items is earned, 90% of the 

mobilization lump sum bid will be paid. 
4. Upon completion of all work items, payment for the remainder of the mobilization lump 

sum bid will be made. 
 

D. The lump sum bid for mobilization shall not exceed 10% of the total contract. 
 

1.3 REFERENCES – Not used. 
 

1.4 QUALITY ASSURANCE – Not used. 
 

PART 2 PRODUCTS – Not used. 

PART 3 EXECUTION – Not used. 

END OF SECTION 
 
 
 
 

Mobilization, Traffic Handling, and Incidentals 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Substitution Procedures 
01 25 00 - 1 

 

 

SECTION 01 25 00 - SUBSTITUTION PROCEDURES 
 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
 

A. Quality assurance. 
 

B. Product options. 
 

C. Product substitution procedures. 
 

1.2 QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 

A. Contract is based on products and standards established in Contract Documents without 
consideration of proposed substitutions. 

 
B. Products specified define standard of quality, type, function, dimension, appearance, and 

performance required. 
 

C. Substitution Proposals: Permitted for specified products except where specified otherwise. Do not 
substitute products unless substitution has been accepted and approved in writing by Owner. 

 
1.3 PRODUCT OPTIONS 

 
A. See Section 01 60 00 - Product Requirements 

 
1.4 PRODUCT SUBSTITUTION PROCEDURES 

 
A. Engineer will consider requests for substitutions only within 15 days after date of Owner- 

Contractor Agreement. 
 

B. Substitutions may be considered when a product becomes unavailable through no fault of 
Contractor. 

 
C. Document each request with complete data, substantiating compliance of proposed substitution 

with Contract Documents, including: 
1. Manufacturer's name and address, product, trade name, model, or catalog number, 

performance and test data, and reference standards. 
2. Itemized point-by-point comparison of proposed substitution with specified product, listing 

variations in quality, performance, and other pertinent characteristics. 
3. Reference to Article and Paragraph numbers in Specification Section. 
4. Cost data comparing proposed substitution with specified product and amount of net change to 

Contract Sum. 
5. Changes required in other Work. 
6. Availability of maintenance service and source of replacement parts as applicable. 
7. Certified test data to show compliance with performance characteristics specified. 
8. Samples when applicable or requested. 
9. Other information as necessary to assist Architect/Engineer's evaluation. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Substitution Procedures 
01 25 00 - 2 

 

 

D. A request constitutes a representation that Contractor: 
1. Has investigated proposed product and determined that it meets or exceeds quality level of 

specified product. 
2. Will provide same warranty for substitution as for specified product. 
3. Will coordinate installation and make changes to other Work that may be required for the 

Work to be complete with no additional cost to Owner. 
4. Waives claims for additional costs or time extension that may subsequently become apparent. 
5. Will coordinate installation of the accepted substitute, making such changes as may be 

required for the Work to be complete in all respects. 
6. Will reimburse Owner for review or redesign services associated with reapproval by 

authorities having jurisdiction. 
 

E. Substitutions will not be considered when they are indicated or implied on Shop Drawing or 
Product Data submittals without separate written request or when acceptance will require revision 
to Contract Documents. 

 
F. Substitution Submittal Procedure: 

 
1. Submit requests for substitutions in writing. 
2. Submit electronic files of Request for Substitution for consideration. Limit each request to one 

proposed substitution. 
3. Submit Shop Drawings, Product Data, and certified test results attesting to proposed product 

equivalence. Burden of proof is on proposer. 
4. Architect/Engineer will notify Contractor in writing of decision to accept or reject request. 

 
1.5 INSTALLER SUBSTITUTION PROCEDURES 

 
A. Engineer will consider requests for substitutions only within 15 days after date of Owner- 

Contractor Agreement. 
 

B. Document each request with: 
1. Installer's qualifications. 
2. Installer's experience in work similar to that specified. 
3. Other information as necessary to assist Architect/Engineer's evaluation. 

 
C. Substitution Submittal Procedure: 

1. Submit electronic files of Request for Substitution for consideration. Limit each request to one 
proposed substitution. 

2. Engineer will notify Contractor in writing of decision to accept or reject request. 
 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION - Not Used 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Administrative Requirements 
01 30 00 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 30 00 - ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS 
 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
 

A. Coordination and Project conditions. 
 

B. Preconstruction meeting. 
 

C. Site mobilization meeting. 
 

D. Progress meetings. 
 

E. Preinstallation meetings. 
 

F. Closeout meeting. 
 

G. Alteration procedures. 
 

1.2 COORDINATION AND PROJECT CONDITIONS 
 

A. Coordinate scheduling, submittals, and Work of various Sections of Project Manual to ensure 
efficient and orderly sequence of installation of interdependent construction elements, with 
provisions for accommodating items installed later. 

 
B. Verify that utility requirements and characteristics of operating equipment are compatible with 

building utilities. Coordinate Work of various Sections having interdependent responsibilities 
for installing, connecting to, and placing operating equipment in service. 

 
C. Coordinate space requirements, supports, and installation of mechanical and electrical Work 

indicated diagrammatically on Drawings. Follow routing shown for pipes, ducts, and conduit 
as closely as practical; place runs parallel with lines of building. Use spaces efficiently to 
maximize accessibility for other installations, for maintenance, and for repairs. 

 
D. Coordinate interruptions of all utilities and services. All work shall be in accordance with the 

requirements of the applicable utility company or agency involved. 
 

E. In finished areas except as otherwise indicated, conceal pipes, ducts, and wiring within 
construction. Coordinate locations of fixtures and outlets with finish elements. 

 
F. Coordinate completion and clean-up of Work of separate Sections in preparation for 

Substantial Completion and for portions of Work designated for Owner's partial occupancy. 
 

G. After Owner's occupancy of premises, coordinate access to Site for correction of defective 
Work and Work not complying with Contract Documents, to minimize disruption of Owner's 
activities. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Administrative Requirements 
01 30 00 - 2 

 

 

 

1.3 PRECONSTRUCTION MEETING 
 

A. Engineer will schedule and preside over meeting after the Agreement has been executed and 
all bonds and insurance are in affect for the project. 

 
B. Attendance Required: Engineer, Owner, Inspector, and Contractor. 

 
C. Minimum Agenda: 

1. Execution of Owner-Contractor Agreement. 
2. Submission of executed bonds and insurance certificates. 
3. Distribution of Contract Documents. 
4. Submission of list of Subcontractors, list of products, schedule of values, and Progress 

Schedule. 
5. Security and housekeeping procedures. 
6. Application for payment procedures. 
7. Designation of personnel representing parties in Contract and Engineer. 
8. Procedures and processing of requests for interpretations, field decisions, submittals, 

substitutions, Applications for Payments, proposal request, Change Orders, and Contract 
closeout procedures. 

9. Scheduling. 
10. Scheduling activities of Contractor. Procedures of testing. 
11. Procedures for maintaining record documents. 
12. Inspection and acceptance of work during construction period. 

 
1.4 PROGRESS MEETINGS 

 
A. Schedule and administer meetings throughout progress of the Work at monthly intervals. 

 
B. Engineer will make arrangements for meetings, prepare agenda with copies for participants, 

and preside over meetings. 
 

C. Attendance Required: Job superintendent, major Subcontractors and suppliers, and Engineer, 
as appropriate to agenda topics for each meeting. 

 
D. Minimum Agenda: 

1. Review minutes of previous meetings. 
2. Review of Work progress. 
3. Field observations, problems, and decisions. 
4. Identification of problems impeding planned progress. 
5. Review of submittal schedule and status of submittals. 
6. Maintenance of Progress Schedule. 
7. Corrective measures to regain projected schedules. 
8. Planned progress during succeeding work period. 
9. Coordination of projected progress. 
10. Maintenance of quality and work standards. 
11. Effect of proposed changes on Progress Schedule and coordination. 
12. Other business relating to Work. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Administrative Requirements 
01 30 00 - 3 

 

 

 

1.5 PREINSTALLATION MEETINGS 
 

A. When required in individual Specification Sections, convene preinstallation meetings at 
Project Site before starting Work of specific Section. 

 
B. Require attendance of parties directly affecting, or affected by, Work of specific Section. 

 
C. Notify Engineer four days in advance of meeting date. 

 
D. Prepare agenda and preside over meeting: 

1. Review conditions of installation, preparation, and installation procedures. 
2. Review coordination with related Work. 

 
1.6 CLOSEOUT MEETING 

 
A. Schedule Project closeout meeting with sufficient time to prepare for requesting Substantial 

Completion. Preside over meeting and be responsible for minutes. 
 

B. Attendance Required: Contractor, Engineer, Owner, and others appropriate to agenda. 
 

C. Notify Engineer ten days in advance of meeting date. 
 

D. Minimum Agenda: 
1. Contractor's inspection of Work. 
2. Contractor's preparation of an initial "punch list." 
3. Procedure to request Engineer inspection to determine date of Substantial Completion. 
4. Completion time for correcting deficiencies. 
5. Inspections by authorities having jurisdiction. 
6. Certificate of Occupancy and transfer of insurance responsibilities. 
7. Partial release of retainage. 
8. Final cleaning. 
9. Preparation for final inspection. 
10. Closeout Submittals: 

a. Project record documents. 
b. Operating and maintenance documents. 
c. Operating and maintenance materials. 
d. Affidavits. 

11. Final Application for Payment. 
12. Contractor's demobilization of Site. 

 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Administrative Requirements 
01 30 00 - 4 

 

 

 

3.1 ALTERATION PROCEDURES 
 

A. Designated areas of existing facilities will be occupied for normal operations during progress 
of construction. Cooperate with Owner in scheduling operations to minimize conflict and to 
permit continuous usage. 
1. Perform Work not to interfere with operations of occupied areas. 
2. Keep utility and service outages to a minimum and perform only after written approval of 

Owner. 
3. Clean Owner-occupied areas daily. Clean spillage, overspray, and heavy collection of 

dust in Owner-occupied areas immediately. 
 

B. Materials: As specified in product Sections; match existing products with new products for 
patching and extending Work. 

 
C. Employ original and/or skilled and experienced installer to perform alteration and renovation 

Work. 
 

D. Cut, move, or remove items as necessary for access to alterations and renovation Work. 
Replace and restore at completion. Comply with Section 01 70 00 - Execution and Closeout 
Requirements 

 
E. Remove unsuitable material not marked for salvage, including rotted wood, corroded metals, 

and deteriorated masonry and concrete. Replace materials as specified for finished Work. 
 

F. Remove debris and abandoned items from area and from concealed spaces. 
 

G. Prepare surface and remove surface finishes to permit installation of new Work and finishes. 
 

H. Close openings in exterior surfaces to protect existing Work from weather and extremes of 
temperature and humidity. 

 
I. Remove, cut, and patch Work to minimize damage and to permit restoring products and 

finishes to original or specified condition. 
 

J. Refinish existing visible surfaces to remain in renovated rooms and spaces, to specified 
condition for each material, with neat transition to adjacent finishes. 

 
K. Where new Work abuts or aligns with existing Work, provide smooth and even transition. 

Patch Work to match existing adjacent Work in texture and appearance. 
 

L. When finished surfaces are cut so that smooth transition with new Work is not possible, 
terminate existing surface along straight line at natural line of division and submit 
recommendation to Engineer for review. 

 
M. Where change of plane of 1/4 inch or more occurs, submit recommendation for providing 

smooth transition to Engineer for review. 
 

N. Patch or replace portions of existing surfaces that are damaged, lifted, discolored, or showing 
other imperfections. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Administrative Requirements 
01 30 00 - 5 

 

 

 

O. Finish surfaces as specified in individual product Sections. 
 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Construction Progress Schedule 
01 32 16 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 32 16 - CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS SCHEDULE 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
 

A. Submittals. 
 

B. Quality assurance. 
 

C. Format for network analysis schedules. 
 

D. Network analysis schedules. 
 

E. Bar chart schedules. 
 

F. Review and evaluation. 
 

G. Updating schedules. 
 

H. Distribution. 
 

1.2 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Within 10 days after date of Owner-Contractor Agreement, submit proposed preliminary 
network diagram defining planned operations for first 60 days of Work, with general outline 
for remainder of Work. 

 
B. Participate in review of preliminary and complete network diagrams jointly with Engineer. 

 
C. Within 20 days after joint review of proposed preliminary network diagram, submit draft of 

proposed complete network diagram for review. Include written certification that major 
Subcontractors have reviewed and accepted proposed schedule. 

 
D. Within 10 days after joint review, submit complete network analysis consisting of network 

diagrams and mathematical analyses. 
 

E. Submit updated network schedules with each Application for Payment. 
 

F. Submit one opaque reproduction. 
 

G. Post as electronic file to Project website. 
 

H. Submit network schedules under transmittal letter form specified in Section 01 33 00 - 
Submittal Procedures. 

 
I. Schedule Updates: 

1. Overall percent complete, projected and actual. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Construction Progress Schedule 
01 32 16 - 2 

 

 

 

2. Completion progress by listed activity and subactivity, to within five working days prior 
to submittal. 

3. Changes in Work scope and activities modified since submittal. 
4. Delays in submittals or resubmittals, deliveries, or Work. 
5. Adjusted or modified sequences of Work. 
6. Other identifiable changes. 
7. Revised projections of progress and completion. 

 
J. Narrative Progress Report: 

1. Submit with each monthly submission of Progress Schedule. 
2. Summary of Work completed during the past period between reports. 
3. Work planned during the next period. 
4. Explanation of differences between summary of Work completed and Work planned in 

previously submitted report. 
5. Current and anticipated delaying factors and estimated impact on other activities and 

completion milestones. 
6. Corrective action taken or proposed. 

 
1.3 QUALITY ASSURANCE 

 
A. Scheduler: Contractor's personnel specializing in CPM scheduling with two years' minimum 

experience in scheduling construction work of complexity comparable to the Project, and 
having use of computer facilities capable of delivering detailed graphic printout within 48 
hours of request. 

 
B. Contractor's Administrative Personnel: two years' minimum experience in using and 

monitoring CPM schedules on comparable Projects. 
 

1.4 FORMAT FOR NETWORK ANALYSIS SCHEDULE 
 

A. Listings: Reading from left to right, in ascending order for each activity. Identify each activity 
with applicable Specification Section number. 

 
B. Diagram Sheet Size: 22 inches high x 34 inches wide. 

 
C. Scale and Spacing: To allow for notations and revisions. 

 
1.5 NETWORK ANALYSIS SCHEDULES 

 
A. Prepare network analysis diagrams and supporting mathematical analyses using critical path 

method. 
 

B. Illustrate order and interdependence of activities and sequence of Work; how start of given 
activity depends on completion of preceding activities, and how completion of activity may 
restrain start of subsequent activities. 

 
C. Illustrate complete sequence of construction by activity, identifying Work of separate stages. 

Indicate dates for submittals, including dates for Owner-furnished items, and return of 
submittals; dates for procurement and delivery of critical products; and dates for installation 
and provision for testing. Include legend for symbols and abbreviations used. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Construction Progress Schedule 
01 32 16 - 3 

 

 

 

D. Mathematical Analysis: Tabulate each activity of detailed network diagrams using calendar 
dates, and identify for each activity: 
1. Preceding and following event numbers. 
2. Activity description. 
3. Estimated duration of activity, in maximum 30-day intervals. Status of critical activities. 
4. Earliest start date. 
5. Earliest finish date. 
6. Actual start date. 
7. Actual finish date. 
8. Latest start date. 
9. Latest finish date. 
10. Total and free float; accrue float time to Owner and to Owner's benefit. 
11. Monetary value of activity, keyed to Schedule of Values. 
12. Percentage of activity completed. 
13. Responsibility. 

 
E. Analysis Program: Capable of compiling monetary value of completed and partially 

completed activities, of accepting revised completion dates, and of recomputing of scheduled 
dates and float. 

 
F. Required Sorts: List activities in sorts or groups: 

1. By preceding Work item or event number from lowest to highest. 
2. By longest float, then in order of early start. 
3. By responsibility in order of earliest possible start date. 
4. In order of latest allowable start dates. 
5. In order of latest allowable finish dates. 
6. Contractor's periodic payment request sorted by Schedule of Values list. 
7. List of basic input data-generating report. 
8. List of activities on critical path. 

 
G. Prepare subschedules for each stage of Work identified in Section 01 10 00 - Summary. 

 
H. Coordinate contents with Schedule of Values in Section 01 33 00 - Submittal Procedures. 

 
1.6 BAR CHART SCHEDULES 

 
A. Format: Bar chart Schedule, to include at least: 

1. Identification and listing in chronological order of those activities reasonably required to 
complete the Work, including: 
a. Subcontract Work. 
b. Major equipment design, fabrication, factory testing, and delivery dates including 

required lead times. 
c. Move-in and other preliminary activities. 
d. Equipment and equipment system test and startup activities. 
e. Project closeout and cleanup. 
f. Work sequences, constraints, and milestones. 

2. Listings identified by Specification Section number. 
3. Identification of the following: 

a. Horizontal time frame by year, month, and week. 
b. Duration, early start, and completion for each activity and subactivity. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Construction Progress Schedule 
01 32 16 - 4 

 

 

 

c. Critical activities and Project float. 
d. Subschedules to further define critical portions of Work. 

 
1.7 REVIEW AND EVALUATION 

 
A. Participate in joint review and evaluation of schedules with Engineer at each submittal. 

 
B. Evaluate Project status to determine Work behind schedule and Work ahead of schedule. 

 
C. After review, revise schedules incorporating results of review, and resubmit within 10 days. 

 
1.8 UPDATING SCHEDULES 

 
A. Maintain schedules to record actual start and finish dates of completed activities. 

 
B. Indicate progress of each activity to date of revision, with projected completion date of each 

activity. Update schedules to depict current status of Work. 
 

C. Identify activities modified since previous submittal, major changes in Work, and other 
identifiable changes. 

 
D. Upon approval of a Change Order, include the change in the next schedule submittal. 

 
E. Indicate changes required to maintain Date of Substantial Completion. 

 
F. Submit sorts as required to support recommended changes. 

 
G. Prepare narrative report to define problem areas, anticipated delays, and impact on schedule. 

Report corrective action taken or proposed and its effect including effects of changes on 
schedules of separate Contractors. 

 
1.9 DISTRIBUTION 

 
A. Following joint review, distribute copies of updated schedules to Contractor's Project site file, 

to Subcontractors, suppliers, Engineer, Owner, and other concerned parties. 
 

B. Instruct recipients to promptly report, in writing, problems anticipated by projections shown in 
schedules. 

 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION - Not Used 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Submittal Procedures 
01 33 00 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 33 00 - SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES 
 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
A. Submittal procedures. 
B. Construction progress schedules. 
C. Proposed product list. 
D. Product data. 
E. Samples. 
F. Design data. 
G. Test reports. 
H. Certificates. 
I. Manufacturer's instructions. 
J. Manufacturer's field reports. 
K. Contractor review. 
L. Engineer review. 

 
1.2 SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES 

 
A. Submittals shall be directly from the Contractor. Submittals from others (i.e., suppliers or 

subcontractors) shall not be accepted. 
 

B. Transmit each submittal on an Engineer accepted form. 
 

C. Sequentially number transmittal forms. Mark revised submittals with original number and 
sequential alphabetic suffix. 

 
D. Identify Project, Contractor, subcontractor and supplier; pertinent drawing and detail number, 

and specification section number, appropriate to submittal. 
 

E. Apply Contractor's stamp, signed or initialed certifying that review, approval, verification of 
products required, field dimensions, adjacent construction Work, and coordination of 
information is in accordance with requirements of the Work and Contract Documents. 

 
F. Schedule submittals to expedite Project, and deliver to Engineer at business address. 

Coordinate submission of related items. 
 

G. For each submittal for review, allow 15 days excluding delivery time to and from Contractor. 
 

H. Identify variations from Contract Documents and product or system limitations which may be 
detrimental to successful performance of completed Work. 

 
I. Allow space on submittals for Contractor and Engineer review stamps. 

 
J. When revised for resubmission, identify changes made since previous submission. 

 
K. Distribute copies of reviewed submittals as appropriate. Instruct parties to promptly report 

inability to comply with requirements. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Submittal Procedures 
01 33 00 - 2 

 

 

 

L. Submittals not requested will not be recognized or processed. 
 

M. Incomplete Submittals: Engineer will not review. Complete submittals for each item are 
required. Delays resulting from incomplete submittals are not the responsibility of Engineer. 

 
1.3 CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS SCHEDULES 

 
A. Comply with Section 01 32 16 - Construction Progress Schedule (when required) 

 
1.4 PROPOSED PRODUCT LIST 

 
A. Within 15 days after date of Notice to Proceed, submit list of major products proposed for use, 

with name of manufacturer, trade name, and model number of each product. 
 

B. For products specified only by reference standards, indicate manufacturer, trade name, model 
or catalog designation, and reference standards. 

 
1.5 PRODUCT DATA 

 
A. Product Data: Action Submittal: Submit to Engineer for review for assessing conformance 

with information given and design concept expressed in Contract Documents. 
 

B. Submit electronic submittals via email as PDF electronic files. 
 

C. Mark each copy to identify applicable products, models, options, and other data. Supplement 
manufacturers' standard data to provide information specific to this Project. 

 
D. Indicate product utility and electrical characteristics, utility connection requirements, and 

location of utility outlets for service for functional equipment and appliances. 
 

E. After review, produce copies and distribute according to "Submittal Procedures" Article and 
for record documents described in Section 01 70 00 - Execution and Closeout Requirements. 

 
1.6 ELECTRONIC CAD FILES OF PROJECT DRAWINGS 

 
A. Electronic CAD Files of Project Drawings: May only be used to expedite production of Shop 

Drawings for the Project. Use for other Projects or purposes is not allowed. 
 

B. Electronic CAD Files of Project Drawings: Distributed only under the following conditions: 
1. Use of files is solely at receiver's risk. Engineer does not warrant accuracy of files. 

Receiving files in electronic form does not relieve receiver of responsibilities for 
measurements, dimensions, and quantities set forth in Contract Documents. In the event 
of ambiguity, discrepancy, or conflict between information on electronic media and that 
in Contract Documents, notify Engineer of discrepancy and use information in hard-copy 
Drawings and Specifications. 

2. CAD files do not necessarily represent the latest Contract Documents, existing 
conditions, and as-built conditions. Receiver is responsible for determining and 
complying with these conditions and for incorporating addenda and modifications. 

3. User is responsible for removing information not normally provided on Shop Drawings 
and removing references to Contract Documents. Shop Drawings submitted with 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Submittal Procedures 
01 33 00 - 3 

 

 

 

information associated with other trades or with references to Contract Documents will 
not be reviewed and will be immediately returned. 

4. Receiver shall not hold Engineer responsible for data or file clean-up required to make 
files usable, nor for error or malfunction in translation, interpretation, or use of this 
electronic information. 

5. Receiver shall understand that even though Engineer has computer virus scanning 
software to detect presence of computer viruses, there is no guarantee that computer 
viruses are not present in files or in electronic media. 

6. Receiver shall not hold Engineer responsible for such viruses or their consequences, and 
shall hold Engineer harmless against costs, losses, or damage caused by presence of 
computer virus in files or media. 

 
1.7 SHOP DRAWINGS 

 
A. Shop Drawings: Action Submittal: Submit to Engineer for assessing conformance with 

information given and design concept expressed in Contract Documents. 
 

B. Indicate special utility and electrical characteristics, utility connection requirements, and 
location of utility outlets for service for functional equipment and appliances. 

 
C. When required by individual Specification Sections, provide Shop Drawings signed and 

sealed by a professional Engineer responsible for designing components shown on Shop 
Drawings. 
1. Include signed and sealed calculations to support design. 
2. Submit Shop Drawings and calculations in form suitable for submission to and approval 

by authorities having jurisdiction. 
3. Make revisions and provide additional information when required by authorities having 

jurisdiction. 
 

D. Submit number of opaque reproductions Contractor requires, plus two copies Engineer will 
retain. 

 
E. After review, produce copies and distribute according to "Submittal Procedures" Article and 

for record documents described in Section 01 70 00 - Execution and Closeout Requirements. 
 

1.8 SAMPLES 
 

A. Samples: Action Submittal: Submit to Engineer for assessing conformance with information 
given and design concept expressed in Contract Documents. 

 
B. Samples for Selection as Specified in Product Sections: 

1. Submit to Engineer for aesthetic, color, and finish selection. 
2. Submit Samples of finishes, textures, and patterns for Engineer selection. 

 
C. Submit Samples to illustrate functional and aesthetic characteristics of products, with integral 

parts and attachment devices. Coordinate Sample submittals for interfacing work. 
 

D. Include identification on each Sample, with full Project information. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Submittal Procedures 
01 33 00 - 4 

 

 

 

E. Submit number of Samples specified in individual Specification Sections; Engineer will retain 
one Sample. 

 
F. Reviewed Samples that may be used in the Work are indicated in individual Specification 

Sections. 
 

G. Samples will not be used for testing purposes unless specifically stated in Specification 
Section. 

 
H. After review, produce copies and distribute according to "Submittal Procedures" Article and 

for record documents described in Section 01 70 00 - Execution and Closeout Requirements. 
 

1.9 TEST REPORTS 
 

A. Submit test reports to the Engineer for assessing conformance and compliance to the Contract 
Documents. 

 
1.10 DESIGN DATA 

 
A. Submit for Engineer's knowledge as contract administrator or for Owner. 

 
B. Submit for information for limited purpose of assessing conformance with information given 

and design concept expressed in Contract Documents. 
 

1.11 TEST REPORTS 
 

A. Informational Submittal: Submit reports for Engineer's knowledge as Contract administrator 
or for Owner. 

 
B. Submit test reports for information for assessing conformance with information given and 

design concept expressed in Contract Documents. 
 

1.12 CERTIFICATES 
 

A. Informational Submittal: When specified in Technical Specifications, submit certification by 
manufacturer, installation/application Subcontractor, or Contractor to Engineer, in quantities 
specified for Product Data. 

 
B. Indicate material or product conforms to or exceeds specified requirements. Submit supporting 

reference data, affidavits, and certifications as appropriate. 
 

C. Certificates may be recent or previous test results on material or product but must be 
acceptable to Engineer. 

 
1.13 MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS 

 
A. Informational Submittal: When specified in Technical Specifications, submit manufacturer's 

installation instructions for Engineer's knowledge as Contract administrator or for Owner. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Submittal Procedures 
01 33 00 - 5 

 

 

 

B. Submit printed instructions for delivery, storage, assembly, installation, startup, adjusting, and 
finishing, to Engineer for delivery to Owner in quantities specified for Product Data. 

 
C. Indicate special procedures, perimeter conditions requiring special attention, and special 

environmental criteria required for application or installation. 
 

1.14 MANUFACTURER'S FIELD REPORTS 
 

A. Informational Submittal: Submit reports for Engineer's knowledge as Contract administrator 
or for Owner. 

 
B. Submit report in duplicate within three days of observation to Engineer for information. 

 
C. Submit reports for information for limited purposes of assessing conformance with 

information given and design concept expressed in Contract Documents. 
 

1.15 ERECTION DRAWINGS 
 

A. Informational Submittal: Submit Drawings for Engineer's benefit as Contract administrator or 
for Owner. 

 
B. Submit Drawings for information assessing conformance with information given and design 

concept expressed in Contract Documents. 
 

C. Data indicating inappropriate or unacceptable Work may be subject to action by Engineer or 
Owner. 

 
1.16 CONTRACTOR REVIEW 

 
A. Review for compliance with Contract Documents and approve submittals before transmitting 

to Engineer. 
 

B. Contractor: Responsible for: 
1. Determination and verification of materials including manufacturer's catalog numbers. 
2. Determination and verification of field measurements and field construction criteria. 
3. Checking and coordinating information in submittal with requirements of Work and of 

Contract Documents. 
4. Determination of accuracy and completeness of dimensions and quantities. 
5. Confirmation and coordination of dimensions and field conditions at Site. 
6. Construction means, techniques, sequences, and procedures. 
7. Safety precautions. 
8. Coordination and performance of Work of all trades. 

 
C. Stamp, sign or initial, and date each submittal to certify compliance with requirements of 

Contract Documents. 
 

D. Do not fabricate products or begin Work for which submittals are required until approved 
submittals have been received from Engineer. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Submittal Procedures 
01 33 00 - 6 

 

 

 

1.17 ENGINEER REVIEW 
 

A. Do not make "mass submittals" to Engineer. "Mass submittals" are defined as six or more 
submittals or items in one day or 15 or more submittals or items in one week. If "mass 
submittals" are received, Engineer's review time stated above will be extended as necessary to 
perform proper review. Engineer will review "mass submittals" based on priority determined 
by Engineer after consultation with Owner. 

 
B. Informational submittals and other similar data are for Engineer's information, do not require 

Engineer's responsive action, and will not be reviewed or returned with comment. 
 

C. Submittals made by Contractor that are not required by Contract Documents may be returned 
without action. 

 
D. Submittal approval does not authorize changes to Contract requirements unless accompanied 

by Change Order, Field Order, or Work Change Directive. 
 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION - Not Used 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Quality Requirements 
01 40 00 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 40 00 - QUALITY REQUIREMENTS 
 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
 

A. Quality control. 
 

B. Tolerances. 
 

C. References. 
 

D. Labeling. 
 

E. Testing and inspection services. 
 

F. Manufacturers' field services. 
 

1.2 QUALITY CONTROL 
 

A. Monitor quality control over suppliers, manufacturers, products, services, Site conditions, and 
workmanship, to produce Work of specified quality. 

 
B. Comply with manufacturers' instructions, including each step in sequence. 

 
C. When manufacturers' instructions conflict with Contract Documents, request clarification from 

Engineer before proceeding. 
 

D. Products, materials, and equipment may be subject to inspection by Engineer and Owner at 
place of manufacture or fabrication. Such inspections shall not relieve Contractor of 
complying with requirements of Contract Documents. 

 
E. Supervise performance of Work in such manner and by such means to ensure that Work, 

whether completed or in progress, will not be subjected to harmful, dangerous, damaging, or 
otherwise deleterious exposure during construction period. 

 
1.3 TOLERANCES 

 
A. Monitor fabrication and installation tolerance control of products to produce acceptable Work. 

Do not permit tolerances to accumulate. 
 

B. Comply with manufacturers' recommended tolerances and tolerance requirements in reference 
standards. When such tolerances conflict with Contract Documents, request clarification from 
Engineer before proceeding. 

 
C. Adjust products to appropriate dimensions; position before securing products in place. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Quality Requirements 
01 40 00 - 2 

 

 

 

1.4 REFERENCES 
 

A. For products or workmanship specified by association, trade, or other consensus standards, 
comply with requirements of standard except when more rigid requirements are specified or 
are required by applicable codes. 

 
B. Conform to reference standard by date of issue current as of date for receiving Bids except 

where specific date is established by code. 
 

C. Obtain copies of standards and maintain on Site when required by product Specification 
Sections. 

 
D. When requirements of indicated reference standards conflict with Contract Documents, 

request clarification from Engineer before proceeding. 
 

E. Neither contractual relationships, duties, or responsibilities of parties in Contract nor those of 
Engineer shall be altered from Contract Documents by mention or inference in reference 
documents. 

 
1.5 LABELING 

 
A. Attach label from agency approved by authorities having jurisdiction for products, assemblies, 

and systems required to be labeled by applicable code. 
 

B. Label Information: Include manufacturer's or fabricator's identification, approved agency 
identification, and the following information, as applicable, on each label: 
1. Model number. 
2. Serial number. 
3. Performance characteristics. 

 
C. Manufacturer's Nameplates, Trademarks, Logos, and Other Identifying Marks on Products: 

Not allowed on surfaces exposed to view in public areas, interior or exterior. 
 

1.6 TESTING AND INSPECTION SERVICES 
 

A. Owner will employ and pay for specified services of an independent firm to perform testing 
and inspection. 

 
B. Independent testing firm will perform tests, inspections, and other services specified in 

individual Specification Sections and as required by Engineer. In the event of a conflict in the 
Contract Documents concerning sampling and testing frequency, the more stringent standard 
shall be enforced, unless otherwise approved by the Engineer. 
1. Laboratory: Authorized to operate in State of Texas. 
2. Laboratory Staff: Maintain full-time Professional Engineer on staff to review services. 
3. Testing Equipment: Calibrated at reasonable intervals with devices of an accuracy 

traceable to National Bureau of Standards or accepted values of natural physical 
constants. 

 
C. Testing, inspections, and source quality control may occur on or off Project Site. Perform off- 

Site testing as required by Engineer or Owner. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Quality Requirements 
01 40 00 - 3 

 

 

 

D. Cooperate with independent testing firm; furnish samples of materials, design mix, equipment, 
tools, storage, safe access, and assistance by incidental labor as requested. 
1. Notify Engineer and independent testing firm 48 hours before expected time for 

operations requiring services. 
2. Make arrangements with independent testing firm and pay for additional Samples and 

tests required for Contractor's use. 
 

E. Testing and employment of testing agency or laboratory shall not relieve Contractor of 
obligation to perform Work according to requirements of Contract Documents. 

 
F. Retesting or re-inspection required because of nonconformance with specified or indicated 

requirements shall be performed by same independent testing firm on instructions from 
Engineer. Payment for retesting or re-inspection will be charged to Contractor by deducting 
testing charges from Contract Sum/Price. 

 
G. Independent Testing Firm Responsibilities: 

1. Test Samples of mixes submitted by Contractor. 
2. Provide qualified personnel at Site. Cooperate with Engineer and Contractor in 

performance of services. 
3. Perform indicated sampling and testing of products according to specified standards. 
4. Ascertain compliance of materials and mixes with requirements of Contract Documents. 
5. Promptly notify Engineer and Contractor of observed irregularities or nonconformance of 

Work or products. 
6. Perform additional tests required by Engineer. 
7. Attend preconstruction meetings and progress meetings. 

 
H. Material Testing Reports: After each test, Independent Testing Firm shall promptly submit 

two copies of testing reports to Engineer, Contractor, and other entities as directed, indicating 
observations and results of tests and compliance or noncompliance with Contract Documents. 
At a minimum, include the following information in testing reports: 
1. Date issued. 
2. Project title and number. 
3. Name of inspector/testing technician. 
4. Date and time of sampling or inspection. 
5. Identification of product and Specification Section. 
6. Location in Project. 
7. Type of inspection or test. 
8. Date of test. 
9. Results of tests. 
10. Compliance or noncompliance with Contract Documents. 
11. Special observations, if any. 

 
Submit final report indicating correction of Work previously reported as noncompliant. Log 
all test results in an electronic spreadsheet for each test procedure and provide updated 
versions to Engineer at agreed upon time interval. 

 
I. Limits on Independent Testing Firm: 

1. Independent Testing Firm may not release, revoke, alter, or enlarge on requirements of 
Contract Documents. 

2. Independent Testing Firm may not approve or accept any portion of the Work. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Quality Requirements 
01 40 00 - 4 

 

 

 

3. Independent Testing Firm may not assume duties of Contractor. 
4. Independent Testing Firm has no authority to stop the Work. 

 
1.7 MANUFACTURER'S FIELD SERVICES 

 
A. When specified in individual Specification Sections, require material or product suppliers or 

manufacturers to provide qualified staff personnel to observe Site conditions, conditions of 
surfaces and installation, quality of workmanship, startup of equipment, testing, adjusting, and 
balancing of equipment as applicable, and to initiate instructions when necessary. 

 
B. Submit qualifications of observer to Engineer 30 days in advance of required observations. 

Observer is subject to approval of Engineer. 
 

C. Report observations and Site decisions or instructions given to applicators or installers that are 
supplemental or contrary to manufacturer's written instructions. 

 
D. Refer to Section 01 33 00 - Submittal Procedures, "Manufacturer's Field Reports" Article. 

 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION - Not Used 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 50 00 - TEMPORARY FACILITIES AND CONTROLS 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
 

A. Temporary Utilities: 
1. Temporary electricity. 
2. Temporary lighting for construction purposes. 
3. Temporary ventilation. 
4. Temporary water service. 
5. Temporary sanitary facilities. 

 
B. Construction Facilities: 

1. Field offices and sheds. 
2. Vehicular access. 
3. Parking. 
4. Progress cleaning and waste removal. 
5. Project identification. 
6. Traffic regulation. 
7. Fire-prevention facilities. 

 
C. Temporary Controls: 

1. Barriers. 
2. Enclosures and fencing. 
3. Security. 
4. Water control. 
5. Dust control. 
6. Erosion and sediment control. 
7. Noise control. 
8. Pest and rodent control. 
9. Pollution control. 

 
D. Removal of utilities, facilities, and controls. 

 
1.2 REFERENCES 

 
A. ASTM International: 

1. ASTM E 84 - Standard Test Method for Surface Burning Characteristics of Building 
Materials. 

2. ASTM E 90 - Standard Test Method for Laboratory Measurement of Airborne Sound 
Transmission Loss of Building Partitions and Elements. 

3. ASTM E 119 - Standard Test Methods for Fire Tests of Building Construction and 
Materials. 

 
1.3 TEMPORARY ELECTRICITY 

 
A. Provide and pay for power service required from utility source as needed for construction 

operation. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 2 

 

 

 

B. Provide temporary electric feeder from electrical service at location as directed by Engineer. 
Do not disrupt Owner's use of service. 

 
C. Complement existing power service capacity and characteristics as required for construction 

operations. 
 

D. Provide power outlets with branch wiring and distribution boxes located as required for 
construction operations. Provide suitable, flexible power cords as required for portable 
construction tools and equipment. 

 
E. Provide main service disconnect and overcurrent protection at feeder switch at source 

distribution equipment. 
 

F. Permanent convenience receptacles may be used during construction. 
 

G. Provide distribution equipment, wiring, and outlets for single-phase branch circuits for power 
and lighting. 
1. Provide 20-ampere duplex outlets, single-phase circuits for power. 
2. Provide 20-ampere, single-phase branch circuits for lighting. 

 
1.4 TEMPORARY LIGHTING FOR CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES 

 
A. Provide and maintain lighting for construction operations. 

 
B. Provide branch wiring from power source to distribution boxes with lighting conductors, 

pigtails, lamps, and the like, for specified lighting levels. 
 

C. Maintain lighting and provide routine repairs. 
 

D. Permanent lighting may be used during construction. 
 

1.5 TEMPORARY WATER SERVICE 
 

A. Owner will pay cost of temporary water. Exercise measures to conserve energy. Use Owner's 
existing water system, extended and supplemented with temporary devices as needed to 
maintain specified conditions for construction operations. 

 
B. Extend branch piping with outlets located so that water is available by hoses with threaded 

connections. Provide temporary pipe insulation and heat tape to prevent freezing. 
 

1.6 TEMPORARY SANITARY FACILITIES 
 

A. Provide and maintain required facilities and enclosures. Existing facility use is not permitted. 
Provide facilities at time of Project mobilization. 

 
B. At end of construction, return existing facilities used for construction operations to same or 

better condition as original condition. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 3 

 

 

 

1.7 FIELD OFFICES AND SHEDS 
 

A. Field Office: Weathertight, with lighting, electrical outlets, heating, cooling and ventilating 
equipment, and equipped with sturdy furniture including drawing display table. 

 
B. Provide space for Project meetings, with table and chairs to accommodate six persons. 

 
C. Locate field offices and sheds a minimum distance of 30 feet from existing and new 

structures. 
 

D. Do not use permanent facilities for field offices or for storage. 
 

E. Construction: Portable or mobile buildings, or buildings constructed with floors raised 
aboveground, securely fixed to foundations with steps and landings at entrance doors. 
1. Construction: Structurally sound, secure, weathertight enclosures for office and storage 

spaces. Maintain during progress of Work; remove enclosures when no longer needed. 
2. Thermal Resistance of Floors, Walls, and Ceilings: Compatible with occupancy and 

storage requirements. 
3. Exterior Materials: Weather-resistant, finished in one color acceptable to Engineer. 
4. Interior Materials in Field Offices: Sheet-type materials for walls and ceilings, 

prefinished or painted; resilient floors and bases. 
5. Interior Materials in Storage Sheds: As required to provide specified conditions for 

storage of products. 
 

F. Environmental Control: 
1. Heating, Cooling, and Ventilating for Offices: Automatic equipment to maintain comfort 

conditions. 
2. Storage Spaces: Heating and ventilating as needed to maintain products according to 

Contract Documents; lighting for maintenance and inspection of products. 
 

G. Storage Areas and Sheds: Size to storage requirements for products of individual Sections, 
allowing for access and orderly provision for maintenance and inspection of products to suit 
requirements in Section 01 60 00 - Product Requirements. 

 
H. Preparation: Fill and grade Sites for temporary structures sloped for drainage away from 

buildings. 
 

I. Installation: 
1. Install field office spaces ready for occupancy 15 days after date established by Owner- 

Contractor Agreement. 
2. Employee Residential Occupancy: Not allowed on Owner's property. 

 
J. Maintenance and Cleaning: 

1. Weekly janitorial services for field offices; periodic cleaning and maintenance for sheds 
and storage areas. 

2. Maintain walks free of mud, water, snow, and the like. 
 

K. Removal: At completion of Work remove buildings, foundations, utility services, and debris. 
Restore areas to same or better condition as original condition. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 4 

 

 

 

1.8 VEHICULAR ACCESS 
 

A. Construct temporary all-weather access roads from public thoroughfares to serve construction 
area, of width and load-bearing capacity to accommodate unimpeded traffic for construction 
purposes. 

 
B. Construct temporary bridges and culverts to span low areas and allow unimpeded drainage. 

 
C. Extend and relocate vehicular access as Work progress requires and provide detours as 

necessary for unimpeded traffic flow. 
 

D. Location as approved by Engineer. 
 

E. Provide unimpeded access for emergency vehicles. Maintain 20 foot-wide driveways with 
turning space between and around combustible materials. 

 
F. Provide and maintain access to fire hydrants and control valves free of obstructions. 

 
G. Provide means of removing mud from vehicle wheels before entering streets. 

 
H. Use designated existing on-Site roads for construction traffic. 

 
1.9 PARKING 

 
A. Construct temporary gravel surface parking areas to accommodate construction personnel. 

 
B. Location as approved by Engineer. 

 
C. If Site space is not adequate, provide additional off-Site parking. 

 
D. Use of existing on-Site streets and driveways used for construction traffic is not permitted. 

Tracked vehicles are not allowed on paved areas. 
 

E. Use of designated areas of existing parking facilities used by construction personnel is not 
permitted. 

 
F. Do not allow heavy vehicles or construction equipment in parking areas. 

 
G. Do not allow vehicle parking on existing pavement. 

 
H. Designate one parking space for Engineer and Owner. 

 
I. Permanent Pavements and Parking Facilities: 

1. Before Substantial Completion, bases for permanent roads and parking areas may be used 
for construction traffic. 

2. Avoid traffic loading beyond paving design capacity. Tracked vehicles are not allowed. 
3. Use of permanent parking structures is not permitted. 

 
J. Maintenance: 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 5 

 

 

 

1. Maintain traffic and parking areas in sound condition free of excavated material, 
construction equipment, products, mud, snow, ice, and the like. 

2. Maintain existing and permanent paved areas used for construction; promptly repair 
breaks, potholes, low areas, standing water, and other deficiencies, to maintain paving 
and drainage in original condition. 

 
K. Removal, Repair: 

1. Remove temporary materials and construction before Substantial Completion. 
2. Remove underground Work and compacted materials to depth of 2 feet; fill and grade 

Site as indicated. 
3. Repair existing facilities damaged by use, to original condition. 

 
L. Mud from Site vehicles: Provide means of removing mud from vehicle wheels before entering 

streets. 
 

1.10 PROGRESS CLEANING AND WASTE REMOVAL 
 

A. Maintain areas free of waste materials, debris, and rubbish. Maintain Site in clean and orderly 
condition. 

 
B. Remove debris and rubbish from pipe chases, plenums, attics, crawl spaces, and other closed 

or remote spaces, before enclosing spaces. 
 

C. Broom and vacuum clean interior areas before starting surface finishing, and continue 
cleaning to eliminate dust. 

 
D. Collect and remove waste materials, debris, and rubbish from Site periodically and dispose of 

off-Site. 
 

E. Open free-fall chutes are not permitted. Terminate closed chutes into appropriate containers 
with lids. 

 
F. Comply with all applicable local, state, and federal requirements regarding excess and waste 

material, including methods of handling and disposal. 
 

1.11 PROJECT IDENTIFICATION 
 

A. Project Identification Sign: 
1. One painted sign, 32-sq ft area, bottom 4 feet aboveground. 
2. Content: 

a. Project number, title, logo, and name of Owner. 
b. Names and titles of authorities. 
c. Names and titles of Engineer and Consultants. 
d. Name of Prime Contractor. 

3. Graphic Design, Colors, and Style of Lettering: Designated by Engineer. 
 

B. Project Informational Signs: 
1. Painted informational signs of same colors and lettering as Project identification sign or 

standard products; size lettering for legibility at 100-foot distance. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 6 

 

 

 

2. Provide sign at each field office and storage shed, and provide directional signs to direct 
traffic into and within Site. Relocate as Work progress requires. 

3. No other signs are allowed without Owner's permission except those required by law. 
 

C. Design sign and structure to withstand 70-mph wind velocity. 
 

D. Sign Painter: Experienced as professional sign painter for minimum of three years. 
 

E. Finishes, Painting: Adequate to withstand weathering, fading, and chipping for duration of 
construction. 

 
F. Show content, layout, lettering, color, foundation, structure, sizes, and grades of members. 

 
G. Sign Materials: 

1. Structure and Framing: New wood, structurally adequate. 
2. Sign Surfaces: Exterior grade plywood with medium-density overlay, minimum of 3/4 

inches thick, standard large sizes to minimize joints. 
3. Rough Hardware: Galvanized. 
4. Paint and Primers: Exterior quality, two coats; sign background of color as selected. 
5. Lettering: Exterior quality paint, contrasting colors as selected. 

 
H. Installation: 

1. Install Project identification sign within 15 days after date established by Notice to 
Proceed. 

2. Erect at designated location. 
3. Erect supports and framing on secure foundation, rigidly braced and framed to resist wind 

loadings. 
4. Install sign surface plumb and level, with butt joints. Anchor securely. 
5. Paint exposed surfaces of sign, supports, and framing. 

 
I. Maintenance: Maintain clean signs and supports; repair deterioration and damage. 

 
J. Removal: Remove signs, framing, supports, and foundations at completion of Project and 

restore area. 
 

1.12 TRAFFIC REGULATION 
 

A. Signs, Signals, and Devices: 
1. Post-Mounted and Wall-Mounted Traffic Control and Informational Signs: As approved 

by authorities having jurisdiction. 
2. Traffic Control Signals: As approved by local jurisdictions. 
3. Traffic Cones, Drums, Flares, and Lights: As approved by authorities having jurisdiction. 
4. Flag Person Equipment: As required by authorities having jurisdiction. 

 
B. Flag Persons: Provide trained and equipped flag persons to regulate traffic when construction 

operations or traffic encroach on public traffic lanes. 
 

C. Flares and Lights: Use flares and lights during hours of low visibility to delineate traffic lanes 
and to guide traffic. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 7 

 

 

 

D. Haul Routes: 
1. Consult with authorities having jurisdiction and establish public thoroughfares to be used 

for haul routes and Site access. 
2. Confine construction traffic to designated haul routes. 
3. Provide traffic control at critical areas of haul routes to regulate traffic and to minimize 

interference with public traffic. 
 

E. Traffic Signs and Signals: 
1. Provide signs at approaches to Site and on Site, at crossroads, detours, parking areas, and 

elsewhere as needed to direct construction and affected public traffic. 
2. Provide, operate, and maintain traffic control signals to direct and maintain orderly flow 

of traffic in areas under Contractor's control and areas affected by Contractor's 
operations. 

3. Relocate signs and signals as Work progresses, to maintain effective traffic control. 
 

F. Removal: 
1. Remove equipment and devices when no longer required. 
2. Repair damage caused by installation. 
3. Remove post settings to depth of 2 feet. 

 
1.13 FIRE-PREVENTION FACILITIES 

 
A. Prohibit smoking within buildings under construction and demolition. Designate area on Site 

where smoking is permitted. Provide approved ashtrays in designated smoking areas. 
 

B. Establish fire watch for cutting, welding, and other hazardous operations capable of starting 
fires. Maintain fire watch before, during, and after hazardous operations until threat of fire 
does not exist. 

 
C. Portable Fire Extinguishers: NFPA 10; 10-pound capacity, 4A-60B: C UL rating. 

1. Provide one fire extinguisher at each facility. 
2. Provide minimum of one fire extinguisher in every construction trailer and storage shed. 
3. Provide minimum of one fire extinguisher on roof during roofing operations using heat- 

producing equipment. 
 

1.14 BARRIERS 
 

A. Provide barriers to prevent unauthorized entry to construction areas, to allow for Owner's use 
of Site, and to protect existing facilities and adjacent properties from damage from 
construction operations and demolition. 

 
B. Provide barricades and covered walkways required by authorities having jurisdiction for 

public rights-of-way. 
 

C. Tree and Plant Protection: Preserve and protect existing trees and plants designated to remain. 
1. Protect areas within drip lines from traffic, parking, storage, dumping, chemically 

injurious materials and liquids, ponding, and continuous running water. 
2. Provide 4-foot-high barriers around drip line, with access for maintenance. 
3. Replace trees and plants damaged by construction operations. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 8 

 

 

 

D. Protect non-owned vehicular traffic, stored materials, Site, and structures from damage. 
 

1.15 ENCLOSURES AND FENCING 
 

A. Construction: Commercial-grade chain-link fence or orange plastic construction netting. 
 

B. Provide 6-foot-high fence around construction Site; equip with vehicular and pedestrian gates 
with locks. 

 
C. Provide orange plastic construction netting around open excavations. 

 
D. Exterior Enclosures: 

1. Provide temporary weathertight closure of exterior openings to accommodate acceptable 
working conditions and protection for products, to allow for temporary heating and 
maintenance of required ambient temperatures identified in individual Specification 
Sections, and to prevent entry of unauthorized persons. Provide access doors with self- 
closing hardware and locks. 

 
1.16 WATER CONTROL 

 
A. Grade Site to drain. Maintain excavations free of water. Provide, operate, and maintain 

necessary pumping equipment. 
 

B. Protect Site from puddles or running water. Provide water barriers as required to protect Site 
from soil erosion. 

 
1.17 DUST CONTROL 

 
A. Execute Work by methods that minimize raising dust from construction operations. 

 
B. Provide positive means to prevent airborne dust from dispersing into atmosphere. 

 
1.18 EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL 

 
A. Plan and execute construction by methods to control surface drainage from cuts and fills from 

borrow and waste disposal areas. Prevent erosion and sedimentation. 
 

B. Minimize surface area of bare soil exposed at one time. 
 

C. Provide temporary measures including berms, dikes, drains, and other devices to prevent water 
flow. 

 
D. Construct fill and waste areas by selective placement to avoid erosive surface silts and clays. 

 
E. Periodically inspect earthwork to detect evidence of erosion and sedimentation. Promptly 

apply corrective measures. 
 

1.19 NOISE CONTROL 
 

A. Provide methods, means, and facilities to minimize noise produced by construction operations. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Temporary Facilities and Controls 
01 50 00 - 9 

 

 

 

1.20 POLLUTION CONTROL 
 

A. Provide methods, means, and facilities to prevent contamination of soil, water, and 
atmosphere from discharge of noxious, toxic substances and pollutants produced by 
construction operations. 

 
B. Comply with pollution and environmental control requirements of authorities having 

jurisdiction. 
 

C. Control dust caused by the work and comply with pollution control regulations of governing 
authorities. Sprinkling or similar methods will be permitted to control dust. Use of petroleum 
products or chlorides is prohibited. Sprinkling must be repeated as needed to keep the 
disturbed area damp. Dust control shall be performed as the work proceeds whenever a 
potential for dust nuisance or hazard occurs. 

 
D. Burning is not allowed on this project. 

 
E. Blasting is not allowed on this project. 

 
1.21 REMOVAL OF UTILITIES, FACILITIES, AND CONTROLS 

 
A. Remove temporary utilities, equipment, facilities, and materials before Final Application for 

Payment inspection. 
 

B. Remove underground installations to minimum depth of 2 feet. Grade Site as indicated on 
Drawings. 

 
C. Clean and repair damage caused by installation or use of temporary Work. 

 
D. Restore existing and permanent facilities used during construction to original condition. 

Restore permanent facilities used during construction to specified condition. 
 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION - Not Used 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Product Requirements 
01 60 00 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 60 00 - PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS 
 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
 

A. Products. 
 

B. Product delivery requirements. 
 

C. Product storage and handling requirements. 
 

D. Product options. 
 

E. Equipment electrical characteristics and components. 
 

F. Product substitutions and procedures. 
 

1.2 PRODUCTS 
 

A. Specified products define standard of quality, type, function, dimension, appearance, and 
performance required. 

 
B. Furnish products of qualified manufacturers that are suitable for intended use. Furnish 

products of each type by single manufacturer unless specified otherwise. Confirm that 
manufacturer's production capacity can provide sufficient product, on time, to meet Project 
requirements. 

 
C. Domestic Products: Except where specified otherwise, domestic products are required and 

interpreted to mean products mined, manufactured, fabricated, or produced in United States or 
its territories. 

 
D. Do not use materials and equipment removed from existing premises except as specifically 

permitted by Contract Documents. 
 

E. Furnish interchangeable components from same manufacturer for components being replaced. 
 

1.3 PRODUCT DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. Transport and handle products according to manufacturer's instructions. 
 

B. Promptly inspect shipments to ensure products comply with requirements, quantities are 
correct, and products are undamaged. 

 
C. Provide equipment and personnel to handle products; use methods to prevent soiling, 

disfigurement, or damage. 
 

1.4 PRODUCT STORAGE AND HANDLING REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. Store and protect products according to manufacturer's instructions. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Product Requirements 
01 60 00 - 2 

 

 

 

B. Store products with seals and labels intact and legible. 
 

C. Store sensitive products in weathertight, climate-controlled enclosures in an environment 
suitable to product. 

 
D. For exterior storage of fabricated products, place products on sloped supports aboveground. 

 
E. Cover products subject to deterioration with impervious sheet covering. Provide ventilation to 

prevent condensation and degradation of products. 
 

F. Store loose granular materials on solid flat surfaces in well-drained area. Prevent mixing with 
foreign matter. 

 
G. Provide equipment and personnel to store products; use methods to prevent soiling, 

disfigurement, or damage. 
 

H. Arrange storage of products to permit access for inspection. Periodically inspect to verify 
products are undamaged and are maintained in acceptable condition. 

 
1.5 PRODUCT OPTIONS 

 
A. Products Specified by Reference Standards or by Description Only: Products complying with 

specified reference standards or description. 
 

B. Products Specified by Naming One or More Manufacturers: Products of one of manufacturers 
named and complying with Specifications; no options or substitutions allowed. 

 
C. Products Specified by Naming One or More Manufacturers with Provision for Substitutions: 

Submit Request for Substitution for any manufacturer not named, according to Section 
01 25 00 - Substitution Procedures. 

 

PART 2 PRODUCTS – Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION - Not Used 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Execution and Closeout Requirements 
01 70 00 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 01 70 00 - EXECUTION AND CLOSEOUT REQUIREMENTS 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES 
 

A. Field engineering. 
 

B. Closeout procedures. 
 

C. Project record documents. 
 

D. Product warranties and product bonds. 
 

E. Examination. 
 

F. Preparation. 
 

G. Execution. 
 

H. Cutting and patching. 
 

I. Protecting installed construction. 
 

J. Final cleaning. 
 

1.2 FIELD ENGINEERING 
 

A. Owner will locate and Contractor shall protect survey control and reference points. Promptly 
notify Engineer of discrepancies discovered. 

 
B. Control datum for survey is established by Owner-provided survey indicated on Drawings. 

 
C. Contractor shall verify setbacks and easements; confirm Drawing dimensions and elevations. 

 
D. Protect survey control points prior to starting Site Work; preserve permanent reference points 

during construction. 
 

E. Promptly report to Engineer loss or destruction of reference point or relocation required 
because of changes in grades or other reasons. 

 
F. Contractor shall retain Engineer to replace dislocated survey control points based on original 

survey control. 
 

1.3 CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES 
 

A. Prerequisites to Substantial Completion: Complete following items before requesting 
Certification of Substantial Completion, either for entire Work or for portions of Work: 
1. Submit maintenance manuals, Project record documents, digital images of construction 

photographs, and other similar final record data in compliance with this Section. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Execution and Closeout Requirements 
01 70 00 - 2 

 

 

 

2. Complete facility startup, testing, adjusting, balancing of systems and equipment, 
demonstrations, and instructions to Owner's operating and maintenance personnel as 
specified in compliance with this Section. 

3. Conduct inspection to establish basis for request that Work is substantially complete. 
Create comprehensive list (initial punch list) indicating items to be completed or 
corrected, value of incomplete or nonconforming Work, reason for being incomplete, and 
date of anticipated completion for each item. Include copy of list with request for 
Certificate of Substantial Completion. 

4. Obtain and submit releases enabling Owner's full, unrestricted use of Project and access 
to services and utilities. Include certificate of occupancy, operating certificates, and 
similar releases from authorities having jurisdiction and utility companies. 

5. Deliver tools, spare parts, extra stocks of material, and similar physical items to Owner. 
6. Make final change-over of locks and transmit keys directly to Owner. Advise Owner's 

personnel of change-over in security provisions. 
7. Discontinue or change over and remove temporary facilities and services from Project 

Site, along with construction tools, mockups, and similar elements. 
8. Perform final cleaning according to this Section. 

 
B. Prerequisites for Final Completion: Complete following items before requesting final 

acceptance and final payment. 
1. When Contractor considers Work to be complete, submit written certification that: 

a. Contract Documents have been reviewed. 
b. Work has been examined for compliance with Contract Documents. 
c. Work has been completed according to Contract Documents. 
d. Work is completed and ready for final inspection. 

2. Submittals: Submit following: 
a. Final punch list indicating all items have been completed or corrected. 
b. Final payment request with final releases and supporting documentation not 

previously submitted and accepted. Include certificates of insurance for products and 
completed operations where required. 

c. Specified warranties, workmanship/maintenance bonds, maintenance agreements, 
and other similar documents. 

d. Accounting statement for final changes to Contract Sum. 
e. Contractor's affidavit of payment of debts and claims on Contractor's Affidavit of 

Payment of Debts and Claims. 
f. Contractor affidavit of release of liens on Contractor's Affidavit of Release of Liens. 
g. Consent of surety to final payment on Consent of Surety to Final Payment Form. 

3. Perform final cleaning for Contractor-soiled areas according to this Section. 
 

1.4 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS 
 

A. Maintain on Site one set of the following record documents; record actual revisions to the 
Work: 
1. Drawings. 
2. Specifications. 
3. Addenda. 
4. Change Orders and other modifications to the Contract. 
5. Reviewed Shop Drawings, product data, and Samples. 
6. Manufacturer's instruction for assembly, installation, and adjusting. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Execution and Closeout Requirements 
01 70 00 - 3 

 

 

 

B. Ensure entries are complete and accurate, enabling future reference by Owner. 
 

C. Store record documents separate from documents used for construction. 
 

D. Record information concurrent with construction progress, not less than weekly. 
 

E. Specifications: Legibly mark and record, at each product Section, description of actual 
products installed, including the following: 
1. Manufacturer's name and product model and number. 
2. Product substitutions or alternates used. 
3. Changes made by Addenda and modifications. 

 
F. Record Drawings and Shop Drawings: Legibly mark each item to record actual construction as 

follows: 
1. Include Contract modifications such as Addenda, supplementary instructions, change 

directives, field orders, minor changes in the Work, and change orders. 
2. Include locations of concealed elements of the Work. 
3. Identify depth of buried utility lines and provide dimensions showing distances from 

permanent facility components that are parallel to utilities. 
4. Dimension ends, corners, and junctions of buried utilities to permanent facility 

components using triangulation. 
5. Identify and locate existing buried or concealed items encountered during Project. 
6. Measured depths of foundations in relation to vertical datum. 
7. Measured horizontal and vertical locations of underground utilities and appurtenances, 

referenced to permanent surface improvements. 
8. Measured locations of internal utilities and appurtenances concealed in construction, 

referenced to visible and accessible features of the Work. 
9. Field changes of dimension and detail. 
10. Details not on original Drawings. 

 
G. Submit marked-up paper copy documents to Engineer with claim for final Application for 

Payment. 
 

H. Submit PDF electronic files of marked-up documents to Engineer with claim for final 
Application for Payment. 

 
1.5 PRODUCT WARRANTIES AND PRODUCT BONDS 

 
A. Obtain warranties and bonds executed in duplicate by responsible Subcontractors, suppliers, 

and manufacturers within ten days after completion of applicable item of Work. 
 

B. Execute and assemble transferable warranty documents and bonds from Subcontractors, 
suppliers, and manufacturers. 

 
C. Verify documents are in proper form, contain full information, and are notarized. 

 
D. Co-execute submittals when required. 

 
E. Include table of contents and assemble in three D side ring binder with durable plastic cover. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Execution and Closeout Requirements 
01 70 00 - 4 

 

 

 

F. Submit prior to final Application for Payment. 
 

G. Time of Submittals: 
1. For equipment or component parts of equipment put into service during construction with 

Owner's permission, submit documents within ten days after acceptance. 
2. Make other submittals within ten days after date of Substantial Completion, prior to final 

Application for Payment. 
3. For items of Work for which acceptance is delayed beyond Substantial Completion, 

submit within ten days after acceptance, listing date of acceptance as beginning of 
warranty or bond period. 

PART 2 PRODUCTS - Not Used 

PART 3 EXECUTION 
 

3.1 EXAMINATION 
 

A. Verify that existing Site conditions and substrate surfaces are acceptable for subsequent Work. 
Beginning new Work means acceptance of existing conditions. 

 
B. Verify that existing substrate is capable of structural support or attachment of new Work being 

applied or attached. 
 

C. Examine and verify specific conditions described in individual Specification Sections. 
 

D. Verify that utility services are available with correct characteristics and in correct locations. 
 

3.2 PREPARATION 
 

A. Clean substrate surfaces prior to applying next material or substance according to 
manufacturer's instructions. 

 
B. Seal cracks or openings of substrate prior to applying next material or substance. 

 
C. Apply manufacturer-required or -recommended substrate primer, sealer, or conditioner prior 

to applying new material or substance in contact or bond. 
 

3.3 EXECUTION 
 

A. Comply with manufacturer's installation instructions, performing each step in sequence. 
Maintain one set of manufacturer's installation instructions at Project Site during installation 
and until completion of construction. 

 
B. When manufacturer's installation instructions conflict with Contract Documents, request 

clarification from Engineer before proceeding. 
 

C. Verify that field measurements are as indicated on approved Shop Drawings or as instructed 
by manufacturer. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Execution and Closeout Requirements 
01 70 00 - 5 

 

 

 

D. Secure products in place with positive anchorage devices designed and sized to withstand 
stresses, vibration, physical distortion, or disfigurement. 
1. Secure Work true to line and level and within specified tolerances, or if not specified, 

industry-recognized tolerances. 
2. Physically separate products in place, provide electrical insulation, or provide protective 

coatings to prevent galvanic action or corrosion between dissimilar metals. 
3. Exposed Joints: Provide uniform joint width and arrange to obtain best visual effect. 

Refer questionable visual-effect choices to Engineer for final decision. 
 

E. Allow for expansion of materials and building movement. 
 

F. Climatic Conditions and Project Status: Install each unit of Work under conditions to ensure 
best possible results in coordination with entire Project. 
1. Isolate each unit of Work from incompatible Work as necessary to prevent deterioration. 
2. Coordinate enclosure of Work with required inspections and tests to minimize necessity 

of uncovering Work for those purposes. 
 

G. Mounting Heights: Where not indicated, mount individual units of Work at industry 
recognized standard mounting heights for particular application indicated. 
1. Refer questionable mounting heights choices to Engineer for final decision. 
2. Elements Identified as Accessible to Handicapped: Comply with applicable codes and 

regulations. 
 

H. Adjust operating products and equipment to ensure smooth and unhindered operation. 
 

I. Clean and perform maintenance on installed Work as frequently as necessary through 
remainder of construction period. Lubricate operable components as recommended by 
manufacturer. 

 
3.4 CUTTING AND PATCHING 

 
A. Employ skilled and experienced installers to perform cutting and patching. 

 
B. Submit written request in advance of cutting or altering elements affecting: 

1. Structural integrity of element. 
2. Integrity of weather-exposed or moisture-resistant elements. 
3. Efficiency, maintenance, or safety of element. 
4. Visual qualities of sight-exposed elements. 
5. Work of Owner or separate contractor. 

 
C. Execute cutting, fitting, and patching including excavation and fill to complete Work and to: 

1. Fit the several parts together, to integrate with other Work. 
2. Uncover Work to install or correct ill-timed Work. 
3. Remove and replace defective and nonconforming Work. 
4. Remove samples of installed Work for testing. 
5. Provide openings in elements of Work for penetrations of mechanical and electrical 

Work. 
 

D. Execute Work by methods to avoid damage to other Work and to provide proper surfaces to 
receive patching and finishing. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Execution and Closeout Requirements 
01 70 00 - 6 

 

 

 

E. Cut masonry and concrete materials using masonry saw or core drill. 
 

F. Restore Work with new products according to requirements of Contract Documents. 
 

G. Refinish surfaces to match adjacent finishes. For continuous surfaces, refinish to nearest 
intersection; for assembly, refinish entire unit. 

 
H. Identify hazardous substances or conditions exposed during the Work to Engineer for decision 

or remedy. 
 

3.5 PROTECTING INSTALLED CONSTRUCTION 
 

A. Protect installed Work and provide special protection where specified in individual 
Specification Sections. 

 
B. Provide temporary and removable protection for installed products. Control activity in 

immediate Work area to prevent damage. 
 

C. Prohibit traffic from landscaped areas. 
 

3.6 FINAL CLEANING 
 

A. Execute final cleaning prior to final Project assessment. 
 

B. Clean debris from drainage systems. 
 

C. Clean Site; sweep paved areas, rake clean landscaped surfaces. 
 

D. Remove waste and surplus materials, rubbish, and construction facilities from Site. 
 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
31 25 12 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 31 25 12 – STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SUMMARY 
 

A. Section Includes: 
1. Documentation to be prepared and signed by Contractor before conducting construction 

operations, in accordance with the Texas Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(TPDES) Construction General Permit Number TXR 150000, latest issue date (the 
Construction General Permit). 

2. Implementation, maintenance inspection, and termination of storm water pollution 
prevention control measures including, but not limited to, erosion and sediment controls, 
storm water management plans, waste collection and disposal, off-site vehicle tracking, 
and other appropriate practices. 

3. Review of the Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWP3) implementation in a 
meeting with Engineer prior to start of construction. 

 
B. Related Sections: Not Applicable 

 
1.2 UNIT PRICE - MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 

 
A. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan: 

1. Basis of Measurement: Lump Sum. 
2. Basis of Payment: Payment for Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan shall be made at 

the lump sum bid for “Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan.” Payment for all work 
prescribed under this item shall be full compensation for the Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan including all preparation, submittals, notices, updates, and revisions. 

 
B. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan Implementation: 

1. Basis of Measurement: Lump Sum. 
2. Basis of Payment: Includes all aspects of implementing the SWP3, from Notice of Intent 

through Notice of Termination. 
 

1.3 REFERENCES 
 

A. Construction General Permit (TPDES No. TXR 150000). 
 

B. Clean Water Act. 
 

1.4 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Section 01 33 00 - Submittal Procedures: Requirements for submittals. 
 

B. Submit one copy of the SWP3 to Engineer for record retention purposes only. Engineer will 
not review or approve the SWP3. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
31 25 12 - 2 

 

 

 

1.5 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Section 01 70 00 - Execution and Closeout Requirements: Requirements for submittals. 
 

1.6 QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 

A. Perform Work in accordance with the SWP3 as per the submission of the Notice of Intent. 
 

B. Maintain one copy of the SWP3 document on site. 
 

1.7 PRE-INSTALLATION MEETINGS 
 

A. Section 01 30 00 - Administrative Requirements: Pre-installation meeting. 
 

B. Convene minimum one week prior to commencing work of this section. 
 

PART 2 PRODUCTS 
 

Not Used. 
 

PART 3 EXECUTION 
 

3.1 SITE SPECIFIC STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWP3) 
 

A. Fulfill all TPDES Construction General Permit (TXR 150000) requirements. 
 

B. Contractor shall fulfill the role of Primary Operator as defined by the TPDES Construction 
General Permit (TXR 150000) for this project. 

 
C. Prepare and submit all required documentation and pay all applicable fees to TCEQ required 

by the TPDES Construction General Permit (TXR 150000). This includes but is not limited 
to: 
1. Notice of Intent. 
2. Site Notices. 
3. Notice of Termination. 
4. Notification of MS4 Operator. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
31 25 12 - 3 

 

 

 
 

D. SWP3: 
1. Prepare a SWP3 following Part III of the TPDES Construction General Permit (TXR 

150000). 
2. Update or revise the SWP3 as needed during the construction following Part III, Section 

E of the TPDES Construction General Permit (TXR 150000). 
3. Submit the SWP3 and any updates or revisions to the Engineer for review and address 

comments prior to commencing, or continuing, construction activities. 
4. Conduct inspections in accordance with TPDES Construction General Permit (TXR 

150000). 
5. Maintain copies of SWP3, inspection reports, and other documentation as required by 

TPDES Construction General Permit (TXR 150000). 
 

3.2 SWP3 IMPLEMENTATION 
 

A. Implement SWP3 utilizing state of the art Best Management Practice controls as required by 
the Construction General Permit, the site specific SWP3, and local government. 

 
B. Inspect and maintain controls throughout the course of construction per the Construction 

General Permit requirements. 
 

C. Remove controls per the Construction General Permit requirements. 
 

D. On-Site Waste Material Storage: 
1. On-site waste material storage shall be self-contained and shall satisfy appropriate locate, 

state, and federal rules and regulations. 
2. Prepare list of waste material to be stored on-site. Update list as necessary to include up- 

to-date information. Keep a copy of updated list with the SWP3. 
3. Prepare description of controls to reduce pollutants generated from on-site storage. 

Include storage practices necessary to minimize exposure of materials to storm water, and 
spill prevention and response measures consistent with best management practices. Keep 
a copy of the description with the SWP3. 

 
 

END OF SECTION 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Manhole Grade Adjustment 
33 01 31 - 1 

 

 

 

SECTION 33 01 31 - MANHOLE GRADE ADJUSTMENT 
 
 

PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 SUMMARY 
 

A. Section Includes: 
1. Raising manhole frames and covers. 
2. Replacing manhole frames and covers. 

 
1.2 UNIT PRICE - MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 

 
A. Raising Manhole Frames and Covers: 

1. Basis of Measurement: By each. 
2. Basis of Payment: Includes removal and reinstalling manhole frame and cover, manhole 

rings and joint sealant. 
 

B. Repairing Manhole Frames and Covers: 
1. Basis of Measurement: By each. 
2. Basis of Payment: Includes removal of old frame and cover, installing new frame and 

cover, and joint sealant. 
 

1.3 REFERENCES 
 

A. ASTM International: 
1. ASTM A48/A48M - Standard Specification for Gray Iron Castings. 
2. ASTM C32 - Standard Specification for Sewer and Manhole Brick (Made from Clay or 

Shale). 
3. ASTM C531 - Standard Test Method for Linear Shrinkage and Coefficient Mortars, 

Grouts, Monolithic Surfacings, and Polymer Concretes. 
4. ASTM C642 - Standard Test Method for Density, Absorption, and Voids in Hardened 

Concrete. 
5. ASTM C672 - Standard Test Method for Scaling Resistance of Concrete Surfaces 

Exposed to Deicing Chemicals. 
6. ASTM C990 - Standard Specification for Joints for Concrete Pipe, Manholes, and Precast 

Box Sections Using Preformed Flexible Joint Sealants. 
7. ASTM D395 - Standard Test Method for Rubber Property - Compression Set. 
8. ASTM D412 - Standard Test Methods for Vulcanized Rubber and Thermoplastic 

Elastomers-Tension. 
9. ASTM D573 - Standard Test Method for Rubber-Deterioration in an Air Oven. 
10. ASTM D575 - Standard Test Methods for Rubber Properties in Compression. 
11. ASTM D2240 - Standard Test Method for Rubber Property-Durometer Hardness. 
12. ASTM F593 - Standard Specification for Stainless Steel Bolts, Hex Cap Screws, and 

Studs. 
13. ASTM F1554 - Standard Specification for Anchor Bolts, Steel, 36, 55, and 105-ksi Yield 

Strength. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Manhole Grade Adjustment 
33 01 31 - 2 

 

 

 

1.4 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Section 01 33 00 - Submittal Procedures: Requirements for submittals. 
 

1.5 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Section 01 70 00 - Execution and Closeout Requirements: Requirements for submittals. 
 

B. Project Record Documents: Record actual grade adjustment elevation of manhole. 
 

1.6 QUALIFICATIONS 
 

A. Manufacturer: Company specializing in manufacturing Products specified in this section. 
 

B. Installer: Company specializing in performing work of this section. 
 

1.7 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING 
 

A. Accept materials on site in undamaged, unopened container, bearing manufacturer’s original 
labels. Inspect for damage. 

 
B. Protect materials from damage by storage in secure location. 

 
1.8 FIELD MEASUREMENTS 

 
A. Verify field measurements prior to fabrication. 

 

PART 2 PRODUCTS 
 

2.1 MANHOLE FRAMES, GRATES, RINGS AND COVERS 
 

A. Manufacturers: 
1. East Jordan Iron Works (EJ Group. Inc.) 
2. Neenah Foundry (Neenah Enterprises, Inc.) 

 
2.2 RISER RINGS 

 
A. Rubber Adjustment Riser Rings: 

1. Flat or tapered. 
2. Physical properties as follows: 

 
 
 

 
Physical Properties 

Test Results Test Method 

Density ±1.098 g/cm3 ASTM C642 
Durometer Hardness  Based on ASTM D2240 
Molded Surface 75A ±10 points  
Interior Surface 73A ±10 points  



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Manhole Grade Adjustment 
33 01 31 - 3 

 

 

 
Tensile Strength 232 psi (not less than 145 

psi) 
ASTM D412 

Compression Deformation under 145 psi Based on ASTM D575 
Initial Compression Deformation 6 ±4 percent  
Final Compression Deformation 6 ±4 percent  

Compression Set 0.4 percent (no more than 
4 percent) under 145 psi 

Based on ASTM D395 

Freeze and Thaw When Exposed 
to Deicing Chemicals 

No loss after 50 cycles ASTM C672 

Coefficient of Thermal Expansion 6x10-5in/in/degree F ASTM C531 
Weathering (70 hours at 158 degree 

F) 
ASTM D573 

Hardness Retained 100 percent ±5 percent  

Compressive Strength Retained 100 percent ±5 percent  
Tensile Strength Retained 100 percent ±5 percent  
Elongation Retained 100 rcent ±5 percent  

 

B. Nuts and Bolts: 
1. Hot-dipped galvanized ASTM F1554 – Standard Specification for Anchor Bolts, Steel, 

36, 55 and 105-ksi Yield Strength. 
 

C. Accessories: 
1. Joint Sealant: ASTM C990 – Standard Specification for Joints for Concrete Pipe, 

Manholes, and Precast Box Sections Using Preformed Flexible Joint Sealants. 
2. Riser Rings. 

 

PART 3 EXECUTION 
 

3.1 EXAMINATION 
 

A. Section 01 30 00 - Administrative Requirements: Verification of existing conditions before 
starting work. 

 
B. Verify and locate manholes requiring grade adjustment. 

 
3.2 CONSTRUCTION METHODS 

 
A. Frames, grates, rings and covers shall be constructed of the materials as specified and shall be 

placed carefully to the lines or grades as directed by the City. 
 

B. All welding shall conform to the requirements of the AWS-D-1-72 – Structural Welding 
Code. Welded frames, grates, rings and covers shall be hot-dipped galvanized (ASTM F1554 
– Standard Specification for Anchor Bolts, Steel, 36, 55, and 105-ksi Yield Strength). 

 
C. Painting of gray iron castings will not be required, except when used in conjunction with 

structural steel shapes. 



City of Bastrop 
Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements 

October 2019 

Manhole Grade Adjustment 
33 01 31 - 4 

 

 

 

3.3 EXISTING WORK 
 

A. Saw cut existing paving, excavate, clean manholes, remove existing manhole frames and 
covers, and repair waterproofing. 

 
3.4 ADJUSTING MANHOLE FRAMES AND COVERS 

 
A. Locate and raise manholes to grade. 

 
B. Use flat or tapered rubber manhole rings to achieve elevation indicated for frame and cover. 

 
C. Do not adjust elevation more than 6 inches with rubber manhole rings. 

 
D. Seal joints between manhole top, rubber rings, and frame with sealant. 

 
E. Reinstall removed manhole frame and cover. 

 
3.5 REPLACING MANHOLE FRAMES AND COVERS 

 
A. Remove existing manhole frames and covers to enable reuse. 

 
B. Deliver removed manhole frames and covers to Owner as maintenance materials in 

accordance with Section 01 70 00 - Execution and Closeout Requirements. 
 

C. Install new frames and covers for manholes as indicated on Drawings. Adjust to match 
finished grade as indicated on Drawings. Seal joints between manholes and manhole frames. 

 
3.6 PAVING RESTORATION 

 
A. Restore bituminous paving areas in accordance with TxDOT Item 351. 

 

END OF SECTION 



 

 

 
 
 
 

Technical Specifications for TxDOT 
 
 

The Texas Department of Transportation “Standard Specifications for Construction and Maintenance of 
Highways, Streets, and Bridges,” 2014 Edition, is incorporated herein by reference for all intents and 
purposes. If a standard specified in that document conflicts with a standard included withing a bid 
specifications document, the standard in the bid specifications document controls. If the standard is still 
unclear, the Engineer will determine which standard controls and his determination shall be final. 



MAIN STREET

FA
R
M

 S
T
R
E
E
T

S
PR

IN
G

 S
T
R
E
E
T

G

G
G G G G

G
G

W
M

W
MW

MW
M

0 15' 30'

Scale: 1" = 30'

DATENO. DESCRIPTION BY

305 East Huntland Drive
Suite 200
Austin, Texas 78752
p: 512.453.0767
f: 512.453.1734

PLOTTED:

JOB NO:

9/28/2019

TBAE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 1452
TBPE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: F-1416
TBPLS FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 10065600

345-03

MAIN STREET FIELD ENGINEERING
LAYOUT PLAN

BASTROP, TEXAS 78602

EX-1
MAIN STREET LAYOUT PLAN

FARM ST. TO SPRING ST.



S
PR

IN
G

 S
T
R
E
E
T

MAIN STREET

C
H

E
S
T
N

U
T
 S

T

W
M

G
G

0 15' 30'

Scale: 1" = 30'

DATENO. DESCRIPTION BY

305 East Huntland Drive
Suite 200
Austin, Texas 78752
p: 512.453.0767
f: 512.453.1734

PLOTTED:

JOB NO:

9/28/2019

TBAE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 1452
TBPE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: F-1416
TBPLS FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 10065600

345-03

MAIN STREET FIELD ENGINEERING
LAYOUT PLAN

BASTROP, TEXAS 78602

EX-2
MAIN STREET LAYOUT PLAN

SPRING ST. TO CHESTNUT ST.



T

MB

MB

T

C
H

E
S
T
N

U
T
 S

T

MAIN STREET

PI
N

E
 S

T
R
E
E
T

A
LL

E
Y
 B

 S
T
R
E
E
T

G
M

T

MB

MB

E.
BX

W
M

W
M

T

C
.O

.

G
M

EL
EC

 B
X

EL
EC

 B
X

EL
EC

 B
X

EL
EC

 B
X

GG

0 15' 30'

Scale: 1" = 30'

DATENO. DESCRIPTION BY

305 East Huntland Drive
Suite 200
Austin, Texas 78752
p: 512.453.0767
f: 512.453.1734

PLOTTED:

JOB NO:

9/28/2019

TBAE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 1452
TBPE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: F-1416
TBPLS FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 10065600

345-03

MAIN STREET FIELD ENGINEERING
LAYOUT PLAN

BASTROP, TEXAS 78602

EX-3
MAIN STREET LAYOUT PLAN
CHESTNUT ST. TO PINE ST.



T

MB

MB

T M
B

PI
N

E
 S

T
R
E
E
T

A
LL

E
Y
 B

 S
T
R
E
E
T

MAIN STREET

W
A
LN

U
T
 S

T
R
E
E
T

G
M

EM

W
M

G
M

T

MB

MB

E.
BX

W
M

W
M

W
MG

M

G

W
M

IV

IV

G
M

T M
B

0 15' 30'

Scale: 1" = 30'

DATENO. DESCRIPTION BY

305 East Huntland Drive
Suite 200
Austin, Texas 78752
p: 512.453.0767
f: 512.453.1734

PLOTTED:

JOB NO:

9/28/2019

TBAE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 1452
TBPE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: F-1416
TBPLS FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 10065600

345-03

MAIN STREET FIELD ENGINEERING
LAYOUT PLAN

BASTROP, TEXAS 78602

EX-4
MAIN STREET LAYOUT PLAN

PINE ST. TO WALNUT ST.



MAIN STREET

A
U

S
T
IN

 S
T
R
E
E
T

W
A
LN

U
T
 S

T
R
E
E
T

0 15' 30'

Scale: 1" = 30'

DATENO. DESCRIPTION BY

305 East Huntland Drive
Suite 200
Austin, Texas 78752
p: 512.453.0767
f: 512.453.1734

PLOTTED:

JOB NO:

9/28/2019

TBAE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 1452
TBPE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: F-1416
TBPLS FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 10065600

345-03

MAIN STREET FIELD ENGINEERING
LAYOUT PLAN

BASTROP, TEXAS 78602

EX-5
MAIN STREET LAYOUT PLAN
WALNUT ST. TO AUSTIN ST.



A
U

S
T
IN

 S
T
R
E
E
T

M
AI

N 
ST

RE
ET

MAIN STREET

0 15' 30'

Scale: 1" = 30'

DATENO. DESCRIPTION BY

305 East Huntland Drive
Suite 200
Austin, Texas 78752
p: 512.453.0767
f: 512.453.1734

PLOTTED:

JOB NO:

9/28/2019

TBAE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 1452
TBPE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: F-1416
TBPLS FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 10065600

345-03

MAIN STREET FIELD ENGINEERING
LAYOUT PLAN

BASTROP, TEXAS 78602

EX-6
MAIN STREET LAYOUT PLAN
AUSTIN ST. TO FERRY PARK



A
U

S
T
IN

 S
T
R
E
E
T

WATER STREET

M
AI

N 
ST

RE
ET

MAIN STREET

0 15' 30'

Scale: 1" = 30'

DATENO. DESCRIPTION BY

305 East Huntland Drive
Suite 200
Austin, Texas 78752
p: 512.453.0767
f: 512.453.1734

PLOTTED:

JOB NO:

9/28/2019

TBAE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 1452
TBPE FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: F-1416
TBPLS FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 10065600

345-03

MAIN STREET FIELD ENGINEERING
LAYOUT PLAN

BASTROP, TEXAS 78602

EX-7
MAIN STREET LAYOUT PLAN
AUSTIN ST. TO WATER ST.























































































































 

   

 

                        STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019                AGENDA ITEM:   10A 
 
TITLE:   
City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.074 to conduct 
an annual performance evaluation of the City Manager as required by her employment 
agreement. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:   
Lynda K. Humble, City Manager 
 



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019      AGENDA ITEM:  10B 
 
TITLE:   
City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.072 of the 
Texas Government Code to deliberate the acquisition of outstanding easements on Main Street. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
   



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019      AGENDA ITEM:  10C 
 
TITLE:   
City Council shall convene into closed executive session for a Legal Briefing by the City Attorney 
pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.071 regarding legal aspects of the City of 
Bastrop’s Personnel Policies Manual. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
   



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019      AGENDA ITEM:  10D 
 
TITLE:   
City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.072 of the 
Texas Government Code to deliberate the acquisition of property located on MLK Drive. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
   



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019      AGENDA ITEM:  10E 
 
TITLE:   
City Council shall convene into closed executive session for a Legal Briefing by the City Attorney 
pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.071 regarding the law applying to the formation, 
adoption and implementation of land use, construction, and development codes, including public 
notices, public hearings, and public communications. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
   



 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   December 10, 2019      AGENDA ITEM:  11 
 
TITLE:   
Take any necessary or appropriate action on matters posted for consideration in closed/executive 
session 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
   


	December 10 2019 Agenda - Executed
	4A - 1 Mayor's Report
	4A - 2 Mayor's Report
	4B - 1 Councilmember's Report
	4C - 1 City Manager's Report
	5A - 1 Workshop on Budget Amendments Staff Report
	6A - 1 Monthly Financials Staff Report September
	6A - 2 Monthly Rpt Sept
	6B - 1 Monthly Financials Staff Report October
	6B - 2 Monthly rpt Oct
	7 - Citizen Comments
	8A - 1 Minutes Staff Report
	8A - 2 MINUTES 11-26-2019
	8B - 1 Staff Report Council Meeting Schedule
	8B - 2 Resolution Council Meeting Schedule
	8B - 3 Exhibit A Council Meeting Schedule
	8C -  0 - Planning & Zoning Rezoning Staff Report - 1706 Farm
	8C - 1 - Ordinance
	8C - 2 - Exhibit A - Location Map - Farms End, Lot 3
	8C - 3 - Attachment 1 - Place Type Change Request - Rec 2019-09-20_1706 Farm
	8C - 4 - Attachment 2 - Notice - 1706 Farm St - 32810
	25354_Farms End Estates Lot 3_1706 Farm

	8C - 5 - Attachment 3 - Location Map - Zoning - 1706 Farm St
	8C - 6 - Attachment 4 - Future Land Use - 1706 Farm
	8D - 0 - Staff Report_1302 SH 95_32405
	8D - 1 - Ordinance_1302 SH 95
	8D - 2 - Location Map - Exhibit A - 1302 SH 95
	8D - 3 - Attachment 1 - Place Type Change Request- Rec 2019-09-30_1302 SH 95
	8D - 4 - Attachment 2- Notice - 1302 SH 95 - 32405
	25631_0.683 acres of Farm Lot 37 East of Main Street_1302 State Highway 95

	8D - 5 - Attachment 3 - Location Map - Zoning - 1302 SH 95
	8D - 6 - Attachment 4 - Future Land Use - 1302 SH 95
	8E - 0 - Staff Report_1110 Water St_R33610
	8E - 1 - Ordinance_1110 Water
	8E - 2 - Location Map - Exhibit A - 1110 Water St
	8E - 3 - Attachment 1 - Place Type Change Request- Rec 2019-10-08_1110 Water Street_Jensen
	8E - 4 - Attachment 2 - Notice - 1110 Water St - 33610
	33610_ 0.193 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street _1110 Water Street

	8E - 5 - Attachment 3 - Location Map - Zoning - 1110 Water St
	8E - 6 - Attachment 4 - FLU - 1110 Water
	8E - 7 - Attachment 5 - Responses
	Response to 1110 Water.pdf
	Response to 1110 Water (2).pdf
	Response to 1110 Water (3).pdf

	8F - 0 - Staff Report_703 Farm_33624
	8F - 1 - Ordinance_703 Farm
	8F - 2 - Exhibit A - Location Map
	8F - 3 - Attachment 1 - Place Type Change Request- Rec 2019-10-08_703 Farm Street_Taylor
	8F - 4 - Attachment 2 - Notice - 703 Farm - 33624
	33624_ 0.129 acres of Building Block 6 West of Water Street _703 Farm Street

	8F - 5 - Attachment 3 - Location Map - Zoning - 703 Farm St
	8F - 6 - Attachment 4 - Future Land Use - 703 Farm
	8F - 7 - Attachment 5 - Responses
	Response to 703 Farm (2).pdf
	Response to 703 Farm.pdf

	8G -  0 - Staff Report_1028 Main_33792
	8G  - 1 - Ordinance_1028 Main
	8G  - 2 - Exhibit A - Location Map - 1028 Main
	8G  - 3 - Attachment 1 - Place Type Change Request- Rec 2019-10-08_1028 Main
	8G  - 4 - Attachment 2 - Notice - 1028 Main St - 33792
	33792_Building Block 8, West of Water Street_1028 Main Street

	8G  - 5 - Attachment 3 - Location Map - Zoning - 1028 Main St
	8G  - 6 - Attachment 4 - FLU - 1028 Main
	8G  - 7 Attachment 5 - Responses
	Response to 1028 Main.pdf
	Response to 1028 Main (2).pdf

	8H  - 0 CC Rezoning Staff Report
	8H  - 1 Ordinance - 701 Austin
	8H  - 2 Exhibit A - Location Map - 701 Austin St
	8H  - 3 Attachment 1 - Place Type Change Request - 701 Austin Street
	8H - 4 Attachment 2 - Notice - 701 Austin St - 32846
	32846_0.214 acres of Building Block 1, West of Water_701 Austin

	8H - 5 Attachment 3 - Zoning - 701 Austin St
	8H - 6 Attachment 4 - Future Land Use - 701 Austin
	8H - 7 Attachment 5 - Responses
	8I - 0 CC Rezoning Staff Report
	8I - 1 Ordinance 1903 Main
	8I - 2 Exhibit A - Location Map - 1903 Main St
	8I - 3 Attachment 1 - Property Owner Request to Change Zoning - 1903 Main - Fosslers - Rec 2019-10-08
	8I - 4 Attachment 2 - Surrounding Property Owner Notice - 1903 Main St - 28823
	28823_Bradford Subdivision, Lot 2 Fraction_1903 Main Street

	8I - 5 Attachment 3 - Zoning Map - 1903 Main St
	8I - 6 Attachment 4 - Future Land Use - 1903 Main
	8I - 7 Attachment 5 - Response 1903 Main
	7 - Attachment 5 - 1903 Main - 28823 - Zone Change - Fossler Response 1903 Main
	Responses - 11-15-19
	Responses - 11-18-19 - 2
	Responses - 11-18-19

	8J - 0 1910 Main Street Rezoning Staff Report
	8J - 1 Ordinance
	8J - 2 Exhibit A - Location Map - 1910 Main
	8J - 3 Attachment 1 - Property Owner Request -1910 Main
	8J - 4 Attachment 2 - Property Owner Notice - 1910 Main St - 29031 and 47880
	29031 & 47880_0.760 acres of Farm Lot 5, West of Main Street and 2.467 acres of Farm Lot 5 West of Main Street_1910 Main Street

	8J - 5 Attachment 3 - Zoning - 1910 Main St
	8J - 6 Attachment 4 - Future Land Use - 1910 Main
	8J - 7 Attachment 5 - Responses for 1910 Main - 29031_47880
	7 - Attachment 5 - Responses for 1910 Main - 29031_47880
	1910 Main - 29031  47880 - Zone Change - Fossler Response 1903 Main
	1910 Main - 29031  47880 - Zone Change - Fossler Response 1909 Main

	Response  11-15-19
	Response  11-18-19

	8K - 1 ZBA ord Staff Report
	8K - 2 Ordinance on ZBA board final after legal rev
	9A - 1 Staff Report 1305 Pine Street
	9A - 2 Resolution 1305 Pine Street
	9A - 3 Exhibit A - Historic Landmark Designation Agreement
	9A - 4 Attachment 1 - Location Map
	9A - 5 Attachment 2 - Site Layout
	9A - 6 Attachment 3 - National Register Information - Beverly & Lula Kerr House - 1305 Pine
	9A - 7 Attachment 4 - 2019 Pictures
	9A - 8 Powerpoint
	Slide Number 1
	Location
	History
	Site
	Structure
	Historic Landmark Commission Recommendation
	Staff Recommendation

	9B - 1 Budget Planning Calendar Staff Report Form
	9B - 2 Resolution Budget Calendar
	RESOLUTION NO. R-2019-131
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS, THAT:
	SECTION 2.   Any prior resolution of the City Council in conflict with the provisions contained in this resolution are hereby repealed and revoked.
	SECTION 3.   Should any part of this resolution be held to be invalid for any reason, the remainder shall not be affected thereby, and such remaining portions are hereby declared to be severable.

	9B - 3 Bastrop FY21 Budget Calendar
	FY21 Council > voter approved 

	9C - 1 Budget Amendment Staff Report
	9C - 2 Budget Amendment Ord 2019-76
	ORDINANCE NO. 2019-76

	9C - 3 Exhibit A FY20 Budget Amendment
	9C - 4 FS - 1 All Fund Summaries FY20
	9D - 1 Reimbursement Resolution Staff Report
	9D - 2 Reimbursement Resolution Certificate-11.2019
	9E - 1Staff Report Resolution to approve Amendment to task order No. BAS.006C to KSA  for additional boring services in the amount of $121,500.00
	9E - 2Resolution to approve Amendment to Task Order No. BAS.006C to KSA for Bore Engineering services in the amount of $121,500.00
	RESOLUTION NO. R-2019-120

	9E - 3Amendment to task order No. BAS.006C to KSA for Bore Engineering services in the amount of $121,500.00
	9F - 1 Main street rehab
	9F - 2  resolution Main Street rehab
	9F - 3 Bastrop Main DT Bid Review
	9F - 4 BIDTAB_Bastrop_MainDT
	9F - 5 Draft contract
	1 Front_End
	DIVISION 00 - PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS
	00 01 10 Table of Contents ....................................................................................................... 2
	PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS
	00 11 16 Advertisement for Bids .............................................................................................. 1
	00 21 15 Instructions to Bidders ............................................................................................... 10
	00 41 43 Bid Form .................................................................................................................... 7
	00 42 43 Bid Bond .................................................................................................................... 2
	CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS
	00 45 00 Notice of Award......................................................................................................... 1
	00 46 00 Notice to Proceed ....................................................................................................... 1
	00 52 15 Agreement Form ........................................................................................................ 6
	00 61 00 Performance Bond...................................................................................................... 2
	00 61 50 Payment Bond ............................................................................................................ 2
	00 72 15 General Conditions .................................................................................................... 39
	00 73 13 Supplementary Conditions......................................................................................... 5
	00 91 13 Addenda ..................................................................................................................... 1
	Non-Collusion Affidavit ............................................................................................ 1
	Sample Forms
	Work Change Directive ..................................................................................... 1
	Field Order......................................................................................................... 1
	Change Order ..................................................................................................... 2
	Contractor’s Application for Payment ............................................................... 4
	Certificate of Substantial Completion................................................................ 1
	DIVISION 31 – EARTHWORK
	31 25 12 Storm Water Pollution Prevention ................................................................................ 3
	DIVISION 33 – UTILITIES
	33 01 31 Manhole Grade Adjustment .......................................................................................... 4
	The Texas Department of Transportation “Standard Specifications for Construction and Maintenance of Highways, Streets, and Bridges,” 2014 Edition, is incorporated herein by reference for all intents and purposes. If a standard specified in that docume...
	3005 – Scrub Seal Treatment
	3028 – Frictional Asphaltic Surface Preservation Treatment
	1. Special Provisions
	2. General Notes
	3. Program Maintenance Maps A: Overview
	A1 A2 A3
	4. Program Maintenance Basis of Estimate
	5. Program Preventative Maintenance Maps B: Overview
	B1 B2 B3
	6. Program Preventative Maintenance Basis of Estimate
	END OF TABLE OF CONTENTS
	City of Bastrop
	Separate sealed bids for Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements
	Project for City of Bastrop will be received by the Engineer at Bastrop City Hall, 1311
	Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas 78602, until 2:00 PM, July 22, 2019 and then publicly opened
	and read aloud shortly thereafter at the same location, on the same day.
	The information for Bidders, Form of Bid, Form of Contract, Plans Specifications, and Forms of Bid Bond, Performance and Payment Bond, and other contract documents may be examined at the following:
	MWM DesignGroup
	305 E. Huntland Drive, Suite 200, Austin, Texas 78752
	Copies of the bidding documents can be obtained electronically online from CivCast (www.civcastusa.com). For more information, contact Tony Buonodono, P.E., PMP at tonyb@mwmdesigngroup.com
	The owner reserves the right to waive any informalities or to reject any or all bids.
	Each bidder must deposit with his bid, security in the minimum amount of 5% of the greatest amount of bid. The bid bond and surety's power of attorney must both carry the date of the bid opening.
	No bidder may withdraw his bid within 60 days after the actual date of the opening
	thereof.
	July 4, 2019  _______________________ Date   Engineer
	Advertisement for Bids
	00 11 16 - 1
	ARTICLE 1 - DEFINED TERMS
	1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated below:
	A. Issuing Office--The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued and where the bidding procedures are to be administered.

	ARTICLE 2 - COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS
	2.01 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents in the number and for the payment sum, if any, stated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid may be obtained from the Issuing Office. The payment is nonrefundable.
	2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor Engineer assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete sets of Bidding Documents.
	2.03 Owner and Engineer, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, do so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not confer a license or grant for any other use.

	ARTICLE 3 - QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS
	3.01 To demonstrate Bidder’s qualifications to perform the Work, within five days of Owner’s request, Owner may request the Bidder to submit written evidence such as financial data, previous experience, present commitments, and such other data as may ...

	ARTICLE 4 - EXAMINATION OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS, OTHER RELATED DATA, AND SITE
	4.01 Subsurface and Physical Conditions
	A. The Supplementary Conditions identify:
	1. Those reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site that Engineer has used in preparing the Bidding Documents.
	2. Those drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface and subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) that Engineer has used in preparing the Bidding Documents.
	B. Copies of reports and drawings referenced in Paragraph 4.01.A will be made available by Owner to any Bidder on request. Those reports and drawings are not part of the Contract Documents, but the  “technical data” contained therein upon which Bidder...
	other data, interpretations, opinions or information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings.
	4.02 Underground Facilities

	A. Information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based upon information and data furnished to Owner and Engineer by owners of such Underground Facilitie...
	4.03 Hazardous Environmental Condition

	A. The Supplementary Conditions identify those reports and drawings relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition identified at the Site, if any, that Engineer has used in preparing the Bidding Documents.
	B. Copies of reports and drawings referenced in Paragraph 4.03.A will be made available by Owner to any Bidder on request. Those reports and drawings are not part of the Contract Documents, but the  “technical data” contained therein upon which Bidder...
	4.04 Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to subsurface conditions, other physical conditions and Underground Facilities, and possible changes in the Bidding Documents due to dif...
	4.05 On request, Owner will provide Bidder access to the Site to conduct such examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, and studies as Bidder deems necessary for submission of a Bid. Bidder shall fill all holes and clean up and restore the Si...
	4.06 Reference is made to Article 7 of the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of the general nature of other work that is to be performed at the Site by Owner or others (such as utilities and other prime contractors) that relates to the W...
	4.07 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to:
	A. examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents, and any Addenda;
	B. visit the Site and become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work;
	C. become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work;
	D. carefully study all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site (excep...
	E. obtain and carefully study (or accept consequences of not doing so) all additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning conditions  (surface, subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or ...
	F. agree at the time of submitting its Bid that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for performance of the Work at the price(s) bid and within the times and in a...
	G. become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents;
	H. correlate the information known to Bidder, information and observations obtained from visits to the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and d...
	I. promptly give Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder; and
	J. determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance of the Work.
	4.08 The submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article 4, that without exception the Bid is premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by...

	ARTICLE 5 - PRE-BID CONFERENCE
	5.01 There will not be a pre-bid conference.

	ARTICLE 6 - SITE AND OTHER AREAS
	6.01  The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. Easements for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities are to be obtained and paid for by Owner unless otherwise provided in the Bidding Documents. All additional lands and...

	ARTICLE 7 - INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA
	7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to Engineer in writing. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Engineer in response to such questions will be issued by Addenda mailed or de...
	7.02 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Documents as deemed advisable by Owner or Engineer.

	ARTICLE 8 - BID SECURITY
	8.01 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of five (5) percent of Bidder’s maximum Bid price and in the form of a certified check or bank money order or a Bid Bond (on the form attached) issued by a surety meetin...
	8.02 The Bid security of the Successful Bidder will be retained until such Bidder has executed the Contract Documents, furnished the required contract security and met the other conditions of the Notice of Award, whereupon the Bid security will be ret...
	8.03 Bid security of other Bidders whom Owner believes do not have a reasonable chance of receiving the award will be returned within seven days after the Bid opening.

	ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT TIMES
	9.01 The Contractor shall have 90 consecutive calendar days to complete the proposed work in accordance with Article 4.02 of the Agreement.

	ARTICLE 10 - LIQUIDATED DAMAGES
	10.01 Liquidated damages in the amount of $500.00 shall be assessed each day after the number of days specified as the contract time as set forth in Article 9, above and in accordance with Article 4.03 of the Agreement.

	ARTICLE 11 - SUBSTITUTE AND “OR-EQUAL” ITEMS
	11.01 The Contract, if awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents, or those substitute or “or-equal” materials and equipment approved by Engineer and identified by Addendum. The materials a...

	ARTICLE 12 - SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS
	12.01 If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities to be submitted to Owner in advance of a specified date prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, the apparent Successful Bid...
	12.02 If apparent Successful Bidder declines to make any such substitution, Owner may award the Contract to the next lowest Bidder that proposes to use acceptable Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities. Declining to make requested substit...
	12.03 Contractor shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity against whom Contractor has reasonable objection.

	ARTICLE 13 - PREPARATION OF BID
	13.01 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents. Additional copies may be obtained from Engineer.
	13.02 All blanks on the Bid Form shall be completed by printing in ink or by typewriter and the Bid signed in ink. Erasures or alterations shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the Bid Form. A Bid price shall be indicated for each section, B...
	13.03 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by the president or a vice-president or other corporate officer accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The corporate seal shall be affixed and attested by the secretary or an ...
	13.04 A Bid by a partnership shall be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner (whose title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The official address of the partnership shall be shown below th...
	13.05 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member and accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of formation of the firm and the official address of the firm shall be shown below the signature.
	13.06 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder’s name and official address.
	13.07 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by each joint venturer in the manner indicated on the Bid Form. The official address of the joint venture shall be shown below the signature.
	13.08 All names shall be typed or printed in ink below the signatures.
	13.09 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall be filled in on the Bid Form.
	13.10 The address and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall be shown.
	13.11 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder’s authority and qualification to do business in the state where the Project is located or covenant to obtain such qualification prior to award of the Contract.  Bidder’s state contractor license number, i...

	ARTICLE 14 - BASIS OF BID; COMPARISON OF BIDS
	14.01 Unit Price
	A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a unit price basis for each item of Work listed in the Bid schedule.
	B. The total of all estimated prices will be the sum of the products of the estimated quantity of each item and the corresponding unit price. The final quantities and Contract Price will be determined in accordance with Paragraph 11.03 of the General ...
	C. Discrepancies between the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in favor of the unit prices. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the co...
	14.02 The Bid price shall include such amounts as the Bidder deems proper for overhead and profit on account of cash allowances, if any, named in the Contract Documents as provided in Paragraph 11.02 of the General Conditions.
	14.03 Bid prices will be compared after adjusting for differences in the time designated by Bidders for Substantial Completion. The adjusting amount will be determined at the rate set forth in the Contract  Documents for liquidated damages for failing...

	ARTICLE 15 - SUBMITTAL OF BID
	15.01 The Bid Form is to be completed and submitted with the Bid Security.
	15.02 A Bid shall be submitted no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and shall be enclosed in an opaque sealed envelope plainly marked with the Project title (and, if applicable...

	ARTICLE 16 - MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID
	16.01 A Bid may be modified or withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the manner that a Bid must be executed and delivered to the place where Bids are to be submitted prior to the date and time for the opening of Bids.
	16.02 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened, any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with Owner and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a material and substantial mistake in the preparation ...

	ARTICLE 17 - OPENING OF BIDS
	17.01 Bids will be opened at the time and place indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and, unless obviously non-responsive, read aloud publicly. An abstract of the amounts of the base Bids and  major alternates, if any, will be made avai...

	ARTICLE 18 - BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE
	18.01 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid Form, but Owner may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of this period.

	ARTICLE 19 – EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT
	19.01 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. Owner further reserves the right to reject the Bid of any Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inq...
	19.02 More than one Bid for the same Work from an individual or entity under the same or different names will not be considered. Reasonable grounds for believing that any Bidder has an interest in more  than one Bid for the Work may be cause for disqu...
	19.03 In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed requirements, and such alternates, unit prices and other data, as may be requested in the Bid Form or prior to the Notice of Award.
	19.04 In evaluating Bidders, Owner will consider the qualifications of Bidders and may consider the qualifications and experience of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities proposed for those portions of the Work for which the ide...
	19.05 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to establish the responsibility, qualifications, and financial ability of Bidders, proposed Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities to perform the Work in accordance with...
	19.06 If the Contract is to be awarded, Owner will award the Contract to the Bidder whose Bid is in the best interests of the Project.

	ARTICLE 20 - CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE
	20.01 Article 5 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets forth Owner’s requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the Successful Bidder delivers the executed Agreement to Owner, it s...

	ARTICLE 21 - SIGNING OF AGREEMENT
	21.01 When Owner gives a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the required number of unsigned counterparts of the Agreement with the other Contract Documents which are identified in the Agreement as attached thereto. Wi...
	ten days thereafter, Owner shall deliver one fully signed counterpart to Successful Bidder with a complete set of the Drawings with appropriate identification.

	ARTICLE 22 - SALES AND USE TAXES
	22.01 Owner is exempt from Texas state sales and use taxes on materials and equipment to be incorporated in the Work. Said taxes shall not be included in the Bid. Refer to Paragraph SC-6.10 of the Supplementary Conditions for additional information.

	ARTICLE 23 - RETAINAGE
	23.01 The amount of retainage shall be 5% of the Work as approved on the “Contractor’s Application for Payment,” in which 5% shall be retained on each payment application until the Final Payment.
	City of Bastrop
	Downtown Main Street Sidewalk and Roadway Improvements Project
	Engineer’s Project No. R345-03

	TABLE OF ARTICLES
	Article Article No.
	Bid Recipient 1
	Bidder’s Acknowledgements 2
	Bidder's Acceptance of Instructions 3
	Bidder's Representations 4
	Further Representations 5
	Basis of Bid 6
	Time of Completion 7
	Attachments to this Bid 8
	Defined Terms 10
	Bid Submittal 11
	1.01 This Bid is submitted to:
	City of Bastrop
	1311 Chestnut Street
	Bastrop, TX 78602

	2.01  The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement with Owner in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or indicated in the Bidding Documents for the prices and wi...
	3.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Instructions to Bidders, including without limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. This Bid will remain subject to acceptance for 60 days after the Bid opening, or for s...
	4.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents that:
	A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents, and the following Addenda, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged.
	Addendum No. Addendum Date
	B. Bidder has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
	C. Bidder is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress and performance of the Work.
	D. Bidder has carefully studied all reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Sit...
	E. Bidder has obtained and carefully studied (or accepts the consequences for not doing so) all additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies and  data concerning conditions (surface, subsurface and Underground...
	F. Bidder does not consider that any further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work at the price(s) bid and within the times and in accordance wit...
	G. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents.
	H. Bidder has correlated the information known to Bidder, information and observations obtained from visits to the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, st...
	I. Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder.
	J. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance of the Work for which this Bid is submitted.
	K. Bidder will submit written evidence of its authority to do business in the state where the Project is located not later than the date of its execution of the Agreement.
	5.01 Bidder further represents that:
	A. this Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed individual or entity and is not submitted in conformity with any agreement or rules of any group, association, organization or corporation;
	B. Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false or sham Bid;
	C. Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and
	D. Bidder has not sought by collusion to obtain for itself any advantage over any other Bidder or over Owner.
	6.01 Bidder will complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents for the following price(s):
	Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Amount
	Total Bid Price  $
	Unit Prices have been computed in accordance with Paragraph 11.03.B of the General Conditions.

	Bidder acknowledges that estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids, and final payment for all Unit Price Bid items will be based on actual quantities, determined as provided in the Contract Documents.
	7.01 Bidder agrees that the Work will be substantially complete within 80 calendar days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in Paragraph 2.03 of the General Conditions, and will be completed and ready for final payment i...
	14.07.B of the General Conditions within 90 calendar days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run.
	7.02 Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages in the event of failure to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
	8.01 The following documents are attached to and made a condition of this Bid:
	A. Required Bid security in the form of Bid Bond, Certified Check, or Bank Money Order
	B. Affidavit of Non-Collusion
	C. List of Proposed Subcontractors
	D. List of Proposed Suppliers
	E. List of Project References
	F. Required Bidder Qualification Statement with Supporting Data
	10.01 The terms used in this Bid with initial capital letters have the meanings stated in the Instructions to Bidders, the General Conditions, and the Supplementary Conditions.
	11.01 This Bid submitted by: If Bidder is:
	An Individual
	Name (typed or printed):
	By:  (SEAL)
	(Individual’s signature)
	Doing business as:
	A Partnership
	Partnership Name:  (SEAL)
	By:
	(Signature of general partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign)
	Name (typed or printed):
	A Corporation
	Corporation Name:  (SEAL)
	State of Incorporation:
	Type (General Business, Professional, Service, Limited Liability):
	By:
	(Signature -- attach evidence of authority to sign)
	Name (typed or printed):
	Title:  (CORPORATE SEAL)
	Attest
	A Joint Venture
	Name of Joint Venture:
	First Joint Venturer Name:  (SEAL)
	By:
	(Signature of first joint venture partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) Name (typed or printed):
	Title:
	Second Joint Venturer Name:  (SEAL)
	By:
	(Signature of second joint venture partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) Name (typed or printed):
	Title:
	(Each joint venturer must sign. The manner of signing for each individual, partnership, and corporation that is a party to the joint venture should be in the manner indicated above.)
	Bidder's Business Address
	Phone No.  Fax No.
	SUBMITTED on , 20 .
	State Contractor License No.  . (If applicable)
	BIDDER SURETY

	Notice of Award
	Notice to Proceed
	EJCDC
	STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	GENERAL CONDITIONS

	These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (No. C-700) and other provisions of the Contract Documents as indicated below. All provisions which are not so amended or supplemented rema...
	SC-4.02 Delete Paragraphs 4.02.A and 4.02.B in their entirety and insert the following:
	A. No Geotechnical Report is known to Owner or Engineer.
	SC-4.06 Delete Paragraphs 4.06.A and 4.06.B in their entirety and insert the following:
	A. No reports or drawings related to Hazardous Environmental Conditions are known to Owner or Engineer.
	B. Left Blank Intentionally.
	SC-5.04 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 5.04.B:
	CONTRACTOR’S Insurance. Before commencing the work, and as a condition of payment, the CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain insurance that will protect it from the claims arising out of its operations under this Agreement, whether the operations are...
	C. Minimum Limits of Liability. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain insurance with limits of liability equal to the limits of liability as set forth below.
	1. Workers Compensation
	A. Statutory Workers Compensation Benefits
	B. Employer Liability:
	Bodily Injury by Accident - $1,000,000 Each Accident Bodily Injury by Disease - $1,000,000 Policy Limit Bodily Injury by Disease - $1,000,000 Each Employee
	2. Commercial General Liability
	$1,000,000 Combined Single Limit of Bodily Injury Liability and Property Damage Liability Per Occurrence
	$2,000,000 General Aggregate Limit
	$2,000,000 Products & Completed Operations Aggregate Limit
	$1,000,000 Personal and Advertising Injury Limit
	Products and Completed Operations Coverage must be maintained for not less than two full years after final payment.
	3. Business Auto Liability
	A. $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit of Bodily Injury Liability and Property Damage Liability
	4. Excess Liability
	A. $2,000,000 Each Occurrence Limit
	$2,000,000 Aggregate Limit
	D. Number of Policies. Commercial General Liability Insurance and other liability insurance may be arranged under a single policy for the full limits required or by a combination of underlying policies with the balance provided by an Excess or Umbrell...
	E. Additional Insured. The CONTRACTOR shall endorse all policies identified in Subparagraph 5.04(C) (with the exception of Workers Compensation) to name Owner as an Additional Insured. On the Commercial General Liability Policy, the Owner shall be giv...
	F. Waiver of Subrogation Endorsements. The CONTRACTOR shall endorse all policies identified in Subparagraph 5.04(C) with a Waiver of Subrogation in favor of the Owner. The CONTRACTOR shall also require similar waivers from its subcontractors in favor ...
	G. Acceptable Insurance Companies. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain in effect all insurance coverages under this Agreement at the CONTRACTOR’S sole expense and with insurance companies acceptable to the Owner and which have an A. M. Best Company rating o...
	H. Notice of Cancellation or Non-Renewal. The CONTRACTOR’S insurance policies identified in Subparagraph 5.04(C) shall contain a provision that coverage will not be cancelled or non-renewed until at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice has bee...
	I. Certificates of Insurance. Certificates of insurance showing required coverage to be in force pursuant to Subparagraph 5.04(C) shall be filed with the Owner prior to commencement of the CONTRACTOR’S work. In the event the CONTRACTOR fails to obtain...
	J. Continuation of Coverage. The CONTRACTOR shall continue to carry Completed Operations Liability Insurance for at least two years after either ninety (90) days following substantial completion of the work or final payment to the CONTRACTOR, whicheve...
	SC-5.06.A. Delete Paragraph 5.06.A in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
	A. Contractor shall purchase and maintain property insurance upon the Work at the Site in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof.
	1. This insurance shall:
	a. include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, Engineer and any other individuals or entities identified herein, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents and other consultants and subcontractors of any of them each of w...
	b. be written on a Builder’s Risk “all-risk” or open peril or special causes of loss policy form that shall at least include insurance for physical loss and damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and equipment in transit and...
	c. include expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property (including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects);
	d. cover materials and equipment stored at the Site or at another location that was agreed to in writing by Owner prior to being incorporated in the Work, provided that such materials and equipment have been included in an Application for Payment reco...
	e. allow for partial utilization of the Work by Owner;
	f. include testing and startup; and
	g. be maintained in effect until final payment is made unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Owner, Contractor and Engineer with 30 days written notice to each other additional insured to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued.
	2. Contractor shall be responsible for any deductible or self-insured retention.
	3. The policies of insurance required to be purchased and maintained by Contractor in accordance with this Paragraph SC-5.06.A shall comply with the requirements of paragraph 5.06.C of the General Conditions.
	SC-5.06.E. Delete Paragraph GC-5.06.E in its entirety.
	SC-6.02 Add a new sentence immediately after Paragraph 6.02A:
	A1. The scope of Contractor’s work does not require a need for line and grade staking. The Engineer will provide direction for locations and details of work in the field during construction, on behalf of the Owner, and at no expense to the Contractor.
	SC-6.10 Add a new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.10.A:
	B. Owner is exempt from payment of sales and compensating use taxes of the Texas and of cities and counties thereof on all materials to be incorporated into the public streets, drainage, and sanitary sewer portions of the Work.
	1. Owner will furnish the required certificates of tax exemption to Contractor for use in the purchase of supplies and materials to be incorporated into the Work.
	2. Owner’s exemption does not apply to construction tools, machinery, equipment, or other property purchased by or leased by Contractor, or to supplies or materials not incorporated into the Work.
	A. Should Contractor cause damage to the work or property of any other contractor at the Site, or should any claim arising out of Contractor’s performance of the Work at the Site be made by any other contractor against Contractor, Owner, Engineer, or ...
	B. Contractor shall, to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, indemnify and hold harmless Owner, Engineer, the construction coordinator and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents and other consultants and subcontractors o...
	C. If Contractor is delayed at any time in performing or furnishing Work by any act or neglect of another contractor, and Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as to the extent of any adjustment in Contract Times attributable thereto, Contractor ma...
	remedy with respect to Owner, Engineer, and construction coordinator for any delay, disruption, interference, or hindrance caused by any other contractor. This paragraph does not prevent recovery from Owner, Engineer, or construction coordinator for a...
	This Addendum forms a part of Contract and clarifies, corrects or modifies original Bid Documents, dated
	. Acknowledge receipt of this addendum in space provided on Bid Form. Failure to do so may subject bidder to disqualification.
	1)
	2)
	3)
	Approved by:
	Engineer
	Addendum 00 91 13 - 1
	A. GENERAL INFORMATION
	B. COMPLETING THE CHANGE ORDER FORM



	2 Tech
	TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS
	Technical Specifications for TxDOT

	3 Bastrop_Main_DT
	4 Construction_Standards1_DETAILS
	DR-01 - Storm Sewer Line Bedding Detail (Existing P
	DR-02 - Storm Sewer Line Bedding Detail (Non-Paved 
	DR-05 - Bolted Stormsewer Manhole Cover and Frame D
	DR-06 - Non-Bolted Stormsewer Manhole Cover and Fra
	DR-07 - Storm Sewer Inlet Cover and Frame Detail (0
	EC-01 - Stabilized Construction Entrance Detail (04
	EC-02 - Silt Fence Detail (04-22-08) Model (1)
	EC-03 - Curb Inlet Protection Detail (04-22-08) Mod
	EC-04 - Area Inlet Protection Detail (04-22-08) Mod
	EC-05 - Tree Protection Notes (04-22-08) Model (1)
	EC-06 - Tree Protection Tree Wells (04-22-08) Model
	EC-07 - Tree Protection Fence Locations (04-22-08) 
	EC-08 - Tree Protection Fence - Chain Link (04-22-0
	ST-01 - Sidewalk Detail (04-22-08) Model (1)
	ST-02 - Concrete Driveway Detail (Residential) (04-
	ST-03 - Concrete Driveway Detail (Commercial or Mul
	ST-04 - Laydown and Ribbon Curb Detail (With Curb E
	ST-05 - Spill and Catch Curb Detail (With Curb Expa
	ST-06 - Concrete Valley Gutter Detail (04-22-08) Mo
	ST-07 - Sidewalk Pedestrian Ramp Detail (Type 1) (0
	ST-08 - Sidewalk Pedestrian Ramp Detail (Type 2) (0
	ST-13 - Fire Lane Marking Detail (04-22-08) Model (
	ST-14 - Concrete Driveway Detail (Ribbon Curb or Ru
	WT-01_-_water_service_casing_detail_04-01-10 Model 
	WT-02 - Single 5-8'', 3-4'' or 1'' Water Meter Deta
	WT-03 - Single 1 1-2'' or 2'' Water Meter Detail (0
	WT-04 - Dual 5-8'', 3-4'' or 1'' Water Meters Detai
	WT-05 - Fire Hydrant Assembly Detail (04-22-08) Mod
	WT-06 - Valve Box Assembly Detail (04-22-08) Model 
	WT-06A (04-22-08) Model (1)
	WT-06B(04-22-08) Model (1)
	WT-07 - Waterline Bedding and Pavement Repair Detai
	WT-08 - Waterline Bedding and Surface Repair Detail
	WT-09 - Waterline and Storm Sewer Line Crossing Det
	WT-10 - Waterline and Storm Sewer Line Crossing Det
	WT-11 - Vertical Valve Installation Detail (04-22-0
	WT-12 - Horizontal Valve Installation Detail (04-22
	WT-13 - Compound Water Meter Vault Detail (04-22-08
	WT-14 - 1'' Thru 2'' Air Release Valve Installation
	WT-15 - 1'' Thru 2'' Air Release Valve Installation
	WT-16 - Pipe Encasement Detail (04-22-08) Model (1)
	WW-01 - Precast Concrete Wastewater Manhole Detail 
	WW-02 - Precast Concrete Wastewater Manhole with Dr
	WW-03 - Precast Concrete Wastewater Manhole with Dr
	WW-05 - Manhole Vent for Below Ground Installation 
	WW-06 - Manhole Vent for Above Ground Installation 
	WW-07 - Bolted Wastewater Manhole Cover and Frame D
	WW-08 - Non-Bolted Wastewater Manhole Cover and Fra
	WW-09 - Precast 48'' Concentric Concrete Cone Secti
	WW-10 - Flexible ''Seal Boot'' Resilient Connector 
	WW-11 - Wastewater Flow Patterns for Invert Channel
	WW-12 - Wastewater Service Detail (04-22-08) Model 
	WW-13 - Wastewater Clean-Out Detail (Paved Surface)
	WW-14 - Wastewater Clean-Out Detail (Non-Paved Surf
	WW-15 - Wastewater Manhole Abandonment Detail (04-2
	WW-16 - Wastewater Lateral Connection to Existing W
	WW-17 - Wastewater Line Bedding and Pavement Repair
	WW-18 - Wastewater Line Bedding and Surface Repair 


	10A - Executive Session City Manager Evaluation
	10B - Main Street Easements
	10C - Personnel Policies
	10D - Property Acquisition on MLK Drive
	10E - Consult with City Attorney
	11 - Executive Session Action

	Proposed Place Type Zoning from the notice: P3 Neighborhood
	Requested Place Type Zoning: P4 Mixed Use
	Reason for Requested Place Type  Why I would like to change my zoning 1: 
	Reason for Requested Place Type  Why I would like to change my zoning 2: We have a sideyard that we'd like to use to build a *small* take-out
	Reason for Requested Place Type  Why I would like to change my zoning 3: commercial kitchen (house-based form), serving just 1 hour each weekday. 
	Reason for Requested Place Type  Why I would like to change my zoning 4: We plan for The "Bastrop Whistle Stop" to be open Monday through Friday
	Reason for Requested Place Type  Why I would like to change my zoning 5:  from 12-1p to serve fresh food to the community, especially for residents
	Reason for Requested Place Type  Why I would like to change my zoning 6: of the North End District. It will probably be 2020 before we can 
	Reason for Requested Place Type  Why I would like to change my zoning 7: submit our building plans and permits. This P-4 Mixed Use designation would
	Reason for Requested Place Type  Why I would like to change my zoning 8: allow us to dream this into reality and serve our town!
	Property Owner Name: Steve & Kerry Fossler
	Property AddressParcel ID: 1903 Main St, Bastrop, TX 78602 / R28823


